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ABSTRACT 

The increasing complexity of financial reporting requirements, especially accounting 

standards, leads many countries to consider moving to simpler reporting requirements 

for small and medium enterprises (SMEs) in order to reduce reporting burdens.  In 

response to such concern, the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) also 

released the IFRS for SMEs, an international accounting standard intended for SMEs 

worldwide.  In Thailand, SMEs are required by law to prepare and publish general 

purpose financial statements for statutory reporting, but the Thai financial reporting 

framework is complex.  Thus, it would be beneficial for Thai SMEs if their reporting 

burdens were reduced.  The IFRS for SMEs might be considered as an alternative set 

of accounting standards in Thailand, so its suitability to Thai SMEs is worth 

evaluating. 

This present study examines SME reporting in Thailand to ascertain its features and to 

evaluate its costs and benefits to SME stakeholders.  Both qualitative and quantitative 

approaches are adopted in the study.  Semi-structured interviews of SMEs, users and 

other stakeholders are conducted and the data are analysed using Strauss and Corbin’s 

grounded theory approach.  A questionnaire survey of directors or managers of SMEs 

and a review of SME financial statements are also undertaken.  Univariate and 

multivariate data analysis is carried out with these two data sets.   

Overall, the interview and survey research concludes that SMEs in Thailand prepare 

and publish their financial reporting largely in order to meet legal requirements.  They 

rely on their accountants in fulfilling these reporting obligations.  For SME directors, 

costs of reporting are not considered to be an undue burden.  Tax authorities, entities’ 

managements and lenders, in order, are perceived to be the most important users.  

However, it appears that the financial information in SME financial is unable to meet 

the needs of these main users.  Preparation of financial statements with tax motivation, 

limited disclosures and out-of-date information are identified as the main weaknesses 

in SME financial statements.  The analysis of SME financial statements shows that: 

the majority of SMEs engage in simple business transactions and non-compliance 

with mandatory accounting standards exists among many SMEs.  SME stakeholders 

generally support using simpler accounting standards for SMEs.  The IFRS for SMEs 
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seems to be too complicated for many Thai SMEs and inconsistency with tax rules is 

an issue.  The findings of this study are of interest to standard setters and other SME 

stakeholders in Thailand and other countries.  The study also provides implications for 

SMEs, their accountants and their stakeholders. 
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CHAPTER 1 BACKGROUND AND OVERVIEW OF THE STUDY 

1.1 Introduction 

This dissertation is a report of research on financial reporting by small and medium 

enterprises in Thailand.  The study has been undertaken with SMEs, users and other 

stakeholders during a period of changes in Thai accounting standards.   

SMEs represent a major part of business entities in Thailand and the sector generates 

significant economic and social contributions to the Thai economy.  According to the 

statistical data of the Office of Small and Medium Enterprises Promotion (OSMEP, 

2009b), there were an estimated 2.8 million enterprises in the private sector in 2008, 

of which 99.7 percent were SMEs.  This SME sector shared about 76 percent of the 

total employment in private sector and generated nearly 40 percent of GDP. Given the 

important role of SMEs in economic development, the survival and growth of SMEs is 

vital to the overall health of the economy.  The Thai government has implemented a 

broad range of policies and programmes to enable them to grow, innovate and 

compete (OSMEP, 2008; Tambunan, 2009).  

Accounting and reporting of SMEs are typically governed by accounting standards 

and other requirements.  However, such accounting rules are often not designed 

specifically for them (Mandeep, Kumar, Goyal, & Thiruvengdam, 2008; UNCTAD, 

2000).  Consequently, many SMEs, especially those lacking resources and expertise, 

have difficulties when they are required to apply such rules and, in particular, to 

produce financial statements in compliance with accounting standards.  Thai SMEs 

have been faced with this problem since the reform of accounting regulations and 

standards in 2000.  In recent years, the issues of financial reporting by SMEs, 

especially costs relative to benefits of preparing and publishing financial statements, 

have become more apparent as a result of converging Thai Accounting Standards with 

the International Financial Reporting Standards (World Bank, 2008b).   
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1.2 Background and rationale of the study 

1.2.1 SME financial reporting 

SME financial reporting has been a controversial issue. A debate on simplified 

accounting standards for SMEs has continued for decades, as a result of an increased 

complexity of accounting standards (Harvey & Walton, 1996; Holmes, Kent, & 

Downey, 1991; Walton, 1992).  The development of SME accounting standards by the 

International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) in 2004 has led to a renewed 

interest in SME financial reporting.  Besides, as a part of a policy to reduce regulatory 

burdens for business entities, financial reporting regulations have been identified as a 

burdensome requirement imposed on SMEs (Davies, 2007).  Reducing compliance 

costs for SMEs in an area of financial reporting is high on the agenda of many 

government and national regulators, such as the European Commission, the UK and 

New Zealand (BIS/FRC, 2011; EC, 2009b; Ministry of Economic Development, 

2011). 

The main argument for simplifying financial reporting requirements for SMEs is that 

SMEs are disproportionately affected by the costs resulting from requiring them to 

comply with the same financial reporting regulations as large entities (Eierle, 2008), 

especially relative to the benefits of financial reporting by very small companies or 

micro entities (BIS, 2011; EC, 2009a).  Apart from the issue of cost reduction, there 

exists an argument about the needs of SME financial statement users.  The primary 

financial statement users of SMEs are not the same as those of large entities and such 

a difference also exists between larger and smaller SMEs (Di Pietra et al., 2008; Evans 

et al., 2005).  So far, different reporting regime for SMEs has been introduced in many 

jurisdictions to ease financial reporting burdens on SMEs (Devi, 2003; Sian & 

Roberts, 2006).  However, there is little agreement on the approach to simplified 

financial reporting for SMEs. The extent of concessions and relaxations from the 

financial reporting obligations granted to SMEs varies between jurisdictions.  

Another issue in SME financial reporting concerns the conceptual framework for 

financial reporting.  Given SME financial reporting is often derived from reporting by 

large entities; it is based on the same conceptual framework for financial reporting 

(such as the IFRS Framework), it can be argued that the framework is not suitable for 
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SMEs (Baskerville & Cordery, 2006; Evans et al., 2005).  Several characteristics of 

SMEs differ from those of public large entities.  For example, SMEs are likely to have 

little or no separation between ownership and control since the directors or managers 

of SMEs are typically identical to shareholders (Fearnley & Hines, 2007; John & 

Healeas, 2000).  They also tend to rely on debt finance rather than equity (Holmes, 

Hutchinson, Forsaith, Gibson, & McMahon, 2003). 

1.2.2 Regulatory framework for financial reporting by SMEs in Thailand  

In Thailand, preparation and publication of general-purpose financial statements is 

required for statutory financial reporting.  Financial reporting requirements are largely 

determined by legal forms.  All limited liability entities, e.g. companies and registered 

partnerships, regardless of their size, are required to prepare and file their annual 

financial statements with the Department of Business Development (‘the Registrar’s 

Office’) and these published financial statements are available for public inspection.   

In the past, the same set of accounting standards have been applied to limited liability 

entities, regardless of their size.  In 2002, Thai national standard setters adopted one 

set of accounting standards, with exemption from certain accounting standards, to ease 

reporting burdens for SMEs.  However, this different reporting was not based on the 

size of entity; the legal form of businesses was employed as a criterion.  Only limited 

liability entities other than public companies were allowed to use the option of 

accounting standard exemption. Examples of exempt accounting topics are cash flow 

statements, consolidation of financial statements and related party disclosures.  In 

2009, a separate set of accounting standards for non-publicly accountable entities was 

proposed and is implemented for the financial reporting period of 2011.  Again, no 

size test is adopted in this simplified framework for financial reporting.  

With regard to filing requirements, non-public companies are not required to prepare 

and file consolidated financial statements or cash flow statements.  Statutory audit is 

compulsory for companies, but the audit exemption is given to small registered 

partnerships, defined in the Accounting Act 2000.  These statutory filing and audit 

requirements have not changed since 2002.  Finally, under Thai accounting 

regulations, the preparer of accounts of a company or registered partnership (internal 
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or external accountant) is required to have a level of minimum educational 

qualification and practice.      

1.2.3 IFRS for SMEs 

The International Financial Reporting Standards for Small and Medium-sized Entities 

(IFRS for SMEs) is a self-contained accounting standard issued by the IASB for use 

by SMEs, which the standard refers to as entities that are not publicly accountable and 

that publish general purpose financial statements for external users.   The IFRS for 

SMEs is developed on user needs and costs and benefit considerations.  The 1989 

IASB’s conceptual framework and accounting principles of the International Financial 

Reporting Standards (hereinafter full IFRS) is adopted as a basis for the IFRS for 

SMEs, but modifications and simplifications have been made in accounting treatments 

and disclosure requirements.  As compared to the full IFRS, the IFRS for SMEs is 

much simpler international accounting standards for SMEs (Pacter, 2009b).  Since the 

issuance of the standards in 2009, there has been widespread adoption of the IFRS for 

SMEs (as a permitted option, at least) by over 70 countries around the world.   

1.3 Problem Identification 

The Thai financial reporting regulatory framework is complex, especially for small-

sized entities, representing the vast majority of the SME sector.  Any opportunity for 

reducing the reporting burden could represent a benefit to an important sector of the 

Thai economy.  The new IASB IFRS for SMEs is one potential route towards 

simplifications that is worth evaluating.    

To date there has been limited research on financial reporting by SMEs and even less 

is known about the users and uses of SME financial statements in the context of 

developing economies (Evans et al., 2005; Sian & Roberts, 2006).  Furthermore, in the 

debate on SME financial reporting presently occurring in various countries, there are 

contentions made on the lack of empirical evidence on the financial reporting needs of 

SMEs.   

This current study seeks to examine financial reporting by SMEs in Thailand.  It is 

expected that the empirical findings of this study will be of interest to national 
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regulators and accounting standards setters in Thailand and other countries, especially 

those who are considering simplifying financial reporting requirements for SMEs.   

1.4 Objectives of the study 

As mentioned earlier, this current study is undertaken during changes in the regulatory 

reporting framework in Thailand: Thai accounting standards are in the process of 

being converged with the IFRS and another simplified set of Thai accounting 

standards for non-publicly accountable entities has been developed, but not yet 

finalised.  This recent change in Thai financial reporting framework implies that, as 

with IFRS, the objective of financial reporting is geared toward decision usefulness 

and its focus is on the needs of large and listed companies.   

In Thailand, SMEs not only represent the vast majority of businesses, but also play 

significant roles in a country’s social and economic development (see further 

discussion in section 2.2).  In other jurisdictions, such as the European Union and the 

UK, there have been long-term initiatives aiming to reduce reporting burdens for 

SMEs, as it is recognised that excessive regulatory burdens could impede the growth 

of SMEs and in turn limit their ability to make full contributions to the country’s 

economy.  Formulation of financial reporting policy that can meet the reporting needs 

of SMEs in a cost effective manner would benefit SMEs and the Thai economy.  It is, 

therefore, crucial to consider the reporting needs of SMEs and the existing SME 

reporting costs and benefits.   

So far, the research studies regarding the needs of SMEs and their stakeholders are 

limited and mainly conducted in developed economies.  The aims of this present study 

are to: 

� Identify the main users of SME financial statements 

� Investigate the uses of SME financial statements by different user groups 

� Examine the perceptions of SMEs, users and other stakeholders on the costs 

and benefits of SME financial reporting  

� Evaluate the likely costs and benefits of adopting IFRS for SMEs 

� Inform worldwide debate on SME financial reporting through evidence-based 

critical evaluation of prior research 
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In this study, the research questions are the following (see section 3.5):  

1. Who are the users of SME financial statements? 

2. How do different user groups use SME financial statements? 

3. To what extent do SME stakeholders require independent attestation (e.g. audit)? 

4. What are the costs and benefits of SME financial reporting as perceived by SMEs, 

users of their financial statements and other stakeholders? 

5. What is the quality of SME financial statements? 

6. What are the potential costs and benefits of adopting the IFRS for SMEs to SME 

stakeholders? 

1.5 Overview of the study 

1.5.1 Research methodology 

A concurrent mixed methods study approach is adopted in this research; both 

qualitative and quantitative methods for data collection and analysis are combined.  In 

this study, face-to-face interviews with directors or managers of SMEs, users and 

other stakeholders are undertaken.  A grounded theory approach of Strauss and Corbin 

is adopted for analysing the interview data.  At the same time, a survey of SMEs is 

conducted using web-based and paper-based questionnaires and statistical methods are 

employed for analysing of the survey responses.  Finally, published financial 

statements of SMEs are reviewed to assess disclosure quality, frequency and 

importance of accounting items.  The data from the SME financial statements are 

statistically analysed. 

1.5.2 Scope of the study 

The official definition of SMEs is available in the 2000 SME Promotion Act, but for 

statutory financial reporting purpose, the legal form of business is used as the main 

criterion to specify the extent of financial reporting obligations; all limited liability 

entities are required to prepare and publish financial statements.  Thus, this research 

study focuses on non-listed private limited liability entities (i.e. companies and 

registered partnerships) in non-financial sector.  The sample of SMEs is drawn from 

this target group of entities without taking into account the size criteria.  Nevertheless, 

in order to facilitate the data analysis, the sample of these non-listed entities is 

classified into different size classes (see further detail in section 4.6.5.3). 
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This study involves financial reporting by SMEs in Thailand.  The term ‘small and 

medium enterprises (SMEs)’ used in this study refers to non-listed private companies 

and registered partnerships.  Finally, it is noted that, based on the report of the Office 

of Small and Medium Enterprises Promotion, almost all limited liability entities, 

either companies or registered partnerships, (98.6%) are small and medium-sized 

entities (OSMP, 2009b).   

1.5.3 Key findings of the study 

The results of the study showed that the primary users of SME financial statements 

were tax authorities, entities’ managements and financiers (e.g. banks).  Larger SMEs 

are more likely to have financiers as main users.  Furthermore, the vast majority of 

SMEs had directors or managers who were the entities’ shareholders.   

All external user groups (i.e. tax authorities, banks and venture capitalists) employed a 

variety of information sources for their decision making.  However, they considered 

SME financial statements as an important source of information, but in its current 

form small benefits were gained from SME financial statements.   Likewise, they 

perceived an audit of SME financial statements to be of little benefit. 

Overall, SME directors had little concern over reporting costs or burdens, including 

propriety costs.  The extent of internal and external uses of financial statements by 

SMEs varied significantly; however, many SME directors used their accounts to 

estimate tax liability and support borrowing from banks or other financial institutions.  

The study also found that the majority of SME directors were not aware of financial 

reporting regulations and related issues and relied on their accountants to comply with 

financial reporting requirements.  Non-compliance with disclosures required by 

accounting standards existed among many SMEs; the level of mandatory compliance 

was, on average, 71 percent.  A higher level of compliance was found in entities with 

loans to/from directors and those whose accounts were prepared by internal 

accounting staff. 

There was overall support for the development of accounting standards for SMEs.  No 

serious concerns were raised by external users and SME directors as a result of the 

introduction of a simpler set of accounting standards for SMEs.  The IFRS for SMEs 



8 

 

was considered to be onerous for Thai SMEs and concern over inconsistency with tax 

rules was pointed out.   

1.6 Structure of the thesis 

Figure 1.1 illustrates the structure of the thesis.  In this introductory chapter, the 

background and rationale for the study is provided.  This is followed by an overview 

of the study in terms of the aims of the study and research methods.  The remainder of 

the thesis is organised into seven chapters as follows: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 1.1 Structure of the thesis 

Chapter 2:   A review of literature relevant to the objectives of this study is 

presented.  The theoretical framework of financial reporting by SMEs 

and related issues are discussed.  

Chapter 3: This chapter provides an overview of the institutional environment for 

financial reporting in Thailand.  The focus of the discussion is on the 

Thai regulatory reporting framework for SMEs. The chapter concludes 

with the research questions of the study.   

Chapter 1-3 Identification of research questions 

1. Who are the users of SME financial statements? 
2. How do different user groups use SME financial statements? 
3. To what extent do SME stakeholders require independent attestation (e.g. audit)? 
4. What are the costs and benefits of SME financial reporting as perceived by SMEs, users of their 
financial statements and other stakeholders? 
5. What is the quality of SME financial statements? 
6. What are the potential costs and benefits of adopting the IFRS for SMEs to SME stakeholders? 

Chapter 4 Research methodology 

 Interviews with users and 
other stakeholders 

Questionnaire survey of 
SMEs 

Review of SME financial 
statements 

Chapter 5-8 Analysis and results 

Chapter 5  
Interviews  

Chapter 6 

Questionnaire survey 
Chapter 7 

SME financial statements 

Chapter 8 Conclusion 

Integrated findings, implications, limitations and future research 

Chapter 1 

Introduction  

Chapter 2 

Literature review 

Chapter 3  

Thai context 
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Chapter 4: Research design and methods are explained in this chapter.  It begins 

with an overview of a mixed-methods approach.  Then, the research 

process and the justification for each research element are described and 

discussed. 

Chapter 5: The findings from the interviews with director-managers of SMEs, 

users and other stakeholders are presented.  The discussion is based on 

the main categories that emerged from the analysis of interview data 

derived from Strauss and Corbin’s grounded theory approach. 

Chapter 6: The results from the survey of SMEs are presented and discussed in this 

chapter.  This includes the findings from the analysis of data using 

univariate and bivariate statistical tests.   

Chapter 7: This chapter deals with the results of the preliminary and main surveys 

of published financial statements of SMEs.  It provides the discussion 

of balance sheet structure, disclosure quality and other important 

findings from SME financial statement data. 

Chapter 8 The results from interviews, surveys and SME financial statement 

analysis are integrated and presented in relation to research questions.  

This is followed by a discussion of the key findings.  Implications and 

limitations of the study are presented and directions for future research 

are recommended. This chapter ends with the contributions of this 

present study.  
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CHAPTER 2 FINANCIAL REPORTING BY SMEs 

2.1 Introduction 

The aim of this chapter is to discuss and analyse the literature that relates to SME 

financial reporting, focusing largely on two main issues; users and uses of SME 

financial statements and the costs and benefits of SME financial reporting.   

This chapter begins with a discussion of the importance of small and medium 

enterprises (SMEs) in a country’s economic development.  This is followed by 

theoretical background of financial reporting by SMEs, which the discussion is 

divided into five main parts.  First, a brief explanation in relation to the rationale and 

broad objective of financial reporting is provided.  Second, the conceptual framework 

for financial reporting issued by accounting standards setters e.g. FASB, IASB and 

ASB is explained with the focus on the scope and objectives of financial reporting.  

The third part presents the conceptual framework for financial reporting by SMEs 

described in the IFRS for SMEs.  This includes a brief discussion of how SMEs are 

defined and a comparison of SME definitions employed for various purposes.  The 

next two parts of this chapter review previous studies regarding users and uses of 

financial statements of SMEs and costs and benefits of SME financial reporting before 

summarising the main issues of financial reporting by SMEs. 

2.2 Economic and social contributions of SMEs 

This section demonstrates and discusses the role of SMEs to the economic 

development in various countries, starting with the data on SME share of total 

employment and of total business enterprises.  The final part presents the public policy 

pertaining to statutory financial reporting of SMEs.    

2.2.1 SME statistical data  

Before a discussion of the contributions of SMEs based primarily on statistical data, it 

is crucial to be aware of a limitation of SME data.  Typically, the statistical data of 

SMEs in both national and international level are incomplete and unavailable.  The 

lack of consensus on SME definition and the huge number of non-registered SMEs, 

for instance, cause such incompleteness.  As a result, it is difficult to obtain accurate 

figures for the numbers of SMEs or other relevant SME data.  The compilation of 
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numbers and contributions of SMEs in different countries for a comparison purpose 

for instance has to be based on more than one source of data which are more than 

likely to be collected using different criteria.  In some cases, at a country level, 

although the SME data is available, it is found that there is discrepancy in SME data 

provided by different government agencies.  Such difficulties lead to limitations in the 

uses and interpretation of such SME data that need to be borne in mind when 

comparing data and research results from different countries.   

According to the data from Eurostat (2005), the number of all non-financial business 

enterprises in the European countries is estimated to be 19.65 millions, 99.8 percent of 

these enterprises are SMEs with less than 250 employees and the SME business sector 

accounted for 67.1 percent of total employment in the private business sector.  In 

particular, very small (or micro) enterprises, employing less than 10 employees, were 

around 92 percent by number of all European SMEs.  This similar pattern also occurs 

elsewhere in Asia and North America, as shown in Table 2.1.  

Table 2.1  Number and share of employment of SMEs in selected OECD countries in 2003 

Country 

Share of total enterprises (%) Number of person 

employed  

(% of private sector) 
SMEs Micro Small Medium 

France 99.8 92.2 6.5 1.1 60.9 

Germany 99.4 82.4 14.4 2.7 65.3 

Japan 99.2 71.6 13.0 14.6 72.0 

Korea 98.8 50.3 25.6 22.9 72.0 

Netherlands 99.7 88.1 9.9 1.8 55.9 

New Zealand 99.5 90.7 8.0 0.8 58.6 

Spain 99.9 92.2 6.9 0.8 79.1 

United Kingdom 99.6 86.8 11.0 1.8 59.2 

United States 99.6 77.6 20.3 1.7 37.5 

Note. 

(1) Classification of businesses by size of employee number: SME with less than 250, micro 

enterprises (0-9); small enterprises 10-49; medium enterprises (50-249) except USA; large 

enterprises hiring more than 500. 

(2) All data except share of total enterprise data in Germany were extracted from OECD Structural 

and Demographic Business Statistics 1996-2003. 

Source. OECD (2003, 2006)  

 

More than half of all enterprises in Japan and Korea are micro enterprises and 

approximately 72 percent of the total employees worked in this SME sector.  In the 

United States, almost all small businesses with employees up to 499 persons 

comprised 37.5 percent in the total enterprises’ employment.  Similarly, SMEs are 
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significant to the Thai economy.  According to the report of the Office of Small and 

Medium Enterprises Promotion (2009b), SMEs constitutes around 99 percent of total 

business enterprises, operating in a wide range businesses, including manufacturing, 

trading, and services (see Table 2.2).  Although its contribution to gross domestic 

product (GDP) is relatively less than that of larger businesses, the SME sector is 

considered a main source of job creation and job distribution across the region.  Of all 

total private sector employment in all types of enterprises, SMEs have been steady 

accounting for around 76 percent in 2005-2007.  In terms of shares of GDP and value 

of exports, SMEs accounted for around two-fifth of total GDP and about 30 percent of 

total exports.  

Table 2.2 Economic contributions of Thai SMEs in 2005-2008 

 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Share of total enterprises (%) 99.53 99.61 99.62 99.69 

Employment in total enterprises (%) 76.06 76.57 76.00 N/A 

Share of gross domestic product (GDP) (%) 39.60 38.90 38.20 37.90 

Share of total exports (%) 29.70 29.10 30.10 28.90 

Share of total imports (%) 32.40 32.70 29.83 29.80 

Note. 

(1) The share of GDP was estimated from SMEs in non-agricultural sector. 

(2) In 2008, there is the adjustment of the database used to estimate the number and employment of 

SMEs, so the figure of employment is not available. 

Source. OSMEP (2008, 2009b) 

2.2.2 SME contributions 

The importance of small and medium enterprises has been recognised by many 

governments worldwide.  During the economic crisis, the role of SMEs to the 

economy recovery had been witnessed in various countries.  In the United States, 

during 1990s, at that time facing the crisis, small firms regenerated competitiveness, 

innovation, and job creation to the U.S. economy (Audretsch, 2002).  Similarly, 

during the financial crisis period in the 1990s SMEs in Asian and South-Pacific 

countries were a major source of job generation, in particular SMEs in Thailand 

accounted for around 9 percent of employment growth rate while larger enterprises’ 

rate was only 4 to 6 percent (Anil, 2003).   

The SME statistical data so far indicates that SMEs are not only structurally important 

but also play a key role in the country’s economy.  The following discusses in detail 

the contributions of SMEs to job generation and innovation.  
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2.2.2.1 Job creation 

The contribution of SMEs to job creation has been a topic of debate, particularly the 

claim that SMEs generate higher proportion of net new jobs than those of larger 

enterprises (Carree & Thurik, 1998; Storey, 1994).  A significant number of studies 

have been conducted on the ability of SMEs to create new jobs and the findings were 

inconsistent.  The work of Birch provided the first evidence suggesting that small 

firms play a major role in job creation.  Using the U.S. data between 1969 and 1976 

obtained from Dun & Bradstreet database to examine employment generation within 

different types and sizes of businesses, Birch (1979) found that firms hiring 20 

employees or fewer created 66 percent of all net new jobs in the United States, 

whereas about 13 percent of all jobs were generated by large firms.  This study was, 

however, criticised for using an inappropriate database and containing several 

methodological errors (Davis, Haltiwanger, & Schuh, 1996; Haltiwanger & Krizan, 

1999).  For example, the measurement of employment change in relation to size by 

using net job creation rate without taking the rate of gross new jobs as well as the 

migration across size band into account led to misinterpreting the data.  In their 

analysis using different data sources and methods, Davis et al. (1996) found that in the 

period of 1973 to 1988 the share of small manufacturing firms in gross new jobs was 

greater than that of large firms, but they were not in terms of net new job rate.   

Many subsequent studies have been conducted in the United States and other countries 

(for example Ayyagari, Demirguc-Kunt, & Maksimovic, 2011; Gallagher, Thomason, 

& Daly, 1991; Neumark, Wall, & Zhang, 2008).  The results suggested that small 

firms accounted for higher job creation rate than larger ones do, but the SME job 

creation rate is much lower than the results suggested by the Birch’s findings.  

Following the methods of Birch (1979) and Davis et al. (1996), Neumark et al. (2008), 

for instance, used a new data set of all industries in the private sector to examine 

whether small firms create more jobs.  They found that small enterprises employing 

less than 100 persons had their net job creation rate around 8 percent, while others had 

the rate of net employment generation lower than 2 percent.    
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2.2.2.2 Innovation 

In today’s global economy, innovation is a source of competitiveness and a key to 

survival for businesses (Anil, 2003).  SMEs are considered as an important source of 

innovation, new products or new processes, although their ability to innovate might 

not be equal to that of larger firms (Edmiston, 2007; Johnson, 2007; Tether, 1998).  

SMEs’ success in the niche market as well as e-business could be examples of their 

innovative abilities (Burns, 2007; Stringer, 2000).   

Nevertheless, whether the role of SMEs in contribution to innovation is superior to 

larger firms has been debated (Edmiston, 2007; Tether, 1998).  Stringer (2000), for 

example, stated that SMEs are likely to have advantages in innovation because of their 

“less bureaucratic and little emotional or economic investment” (p. 74).  The survey 

study of over 4,000 firms in the United Kingdom to investigate their share in 

innovative activities in relation to their share of research and development 

expenditures indicated that firms employing fewer than 1,000 employees produced 

higher rate of innovative activities per employment (Pavitt, Robson, & Townsend, 

1987).  Likewise, the evidence from the United Stated using similar measures 

suggested that smaller firms were more innovative than larger enterprises (Acs & 

Audretsch, 1988). 

Many argued that the measure of innovation using research and development 

expenditures, the number of patents, and the number of new product introduced 

without considering the quality of innovation, such as the commercial value, might 

lead to misinterpreting the research findings (Curran, 1999; Tether, 1998).  Using the 

UK data to examine whether the sale value of innovation is different between small 

and large firms, the evidence was shown that the sale value of innovation in a smaller 

firm tended to be lower than a large firm’s (Tether, 1998).  Therefore, the claim that 

smaller firms are more efficient in innovation than that of large enterprises is valid to 

some extent.  

Regardless of such shortcomings, the evidence from the study in the industry level by 

Acs and Audretsch (1987) has shown that the innovation rate of large firms was 

greater than that of SMEs in some industries, such as tyres and chemicals while in 

other industrial sectors SMEs were more innovative. This implied that neither SMEs 
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nor larger businesses are more important in terms of innovation. Indeed, large firms 

are likely to produce new products while SMEs are keen on introducing differentiated 

products to the market (Burns, 2007).  Similarly, Bannock (2005) suggested that the 

roles of SMEs are complementary to the large companies.  Typically, larger firms 

focus on delivering mass products to consumers, resulting from the economies of 

scale production.  Smaller firms on the contrary are likely to offer differentiated 

products and personal services, leading to a wider choice of goods and services in the 

market.  In addition, in some business sectors large firms might not be able to operate 

because the market is too small, so smaller firms will carry out this function.   

2.2.3 Policy to simplify financial reporting requirements for SMEs 

SMEs’ perceived abilities to generate economic and social contributions have led 

many governments worldwide to implement public policies and measures supporting 

the growth and development of SMEs.  This includes improving the business 

environment that would enable them to grow and make their full contributions to the 

country’s economy.  In this respect, simplifications of financial reporting requirements 

for SMEs have been introduced in many countries and by international organisations.  

For example, in New Zealand, Malaysia, and Sri Lanka differential financial reporting 

was implemented because an increase in sophistication and complexity of financial 

reporting standards imposed excessive reporting burdens on SMEs (Devi, 2003). Also, 

the more recent proposals of the European Commission on removing micro 

companies’ financial reporting obligations and on revision to the European 

Accounting Directives were introduced in order to minimise undue regulatory burdens 

on micro and small companies in Europe (EC, 2010a).   

However, Busuioc (2011) asserted that in order to create a suitable level of the 

reporting requirements for SMEs, country’s governments or policy makers should 

carefully consider the following issue:  

Reforms to SME financial reporting have to balance two conflicting objectives: (i) 

making financial reporting by SMEs more formal in order to improve SMEs access to 

external finance; and (ii) – “keeping it simple” in order to optimize SMEs’ costs of 

doing business associated with financial reporting obligations. (p. 2) 

 

For instance, the imposition of financial reporting standards on SMEs has to find an 

appropriate balance between the aim of facilitating “improved financial information 



16 

 

for investment, lending and other purposes” and the objective of “reducing regulatory 

burden for SMEs” (Busuioc, 2011, p. 1).   

To sum up, SMEs are important to a country’s competitiveness and economic 

development.  As a part of government initiatives to reduce administrative burdens for 

SMEs and to cut ‘red tape’ for business so as to stimulate the growth, differentiations 

in financial reporting requirements for small, medium and large entities have been 

established.  Examples include a simpler set of accounting standards for SMEs, filing 

choice and audit exemption. It was, however, suggested that not only costs of 

reporting but also benefits of such reporting requirements should be taken into 

consideration before deregulation of financial reporting for SMEs (Jarvis & Collis, 

2003).   

2.3 Financial reporting regulation: rationale and broad objective 

Given that financial reporting of business entities in Thailand is legally required and 

this statutory financial reporting is applied to all limited liability entities, so a starting 

point for an analysis of financial reporting by SMEs is to examine the rationale of 

financial reporting regulation and perceived broad objective for regulating financial 

reporting of business entities.   

The argument whether financial reporting of business entities should be regulated is 

normally based on two schools of thought: free-market and pro-regulation.  In the free 

market approach, the assumption is that “accounting information is an economic good 

similar to other goods or services” (Mathews & Perera, 1996, p. 118). The preparation 

of financial statements is therefore subject to the demand and supply forces of users 

and preparers of such information.  In private contracting, for example, preparers will 

voluntarily provide financial information for users even in the absence of reporting 

regulations; otherwise, the users would withhold the resources that preparers need 

(Flower, 2002, p. 73).   

The pro-regulation approach, however, argues that because accounting information is 

a public good, users can obtain accounting information without paying for the 

production of the information, so producers have less incentive to supply the 

information. This might lead to the underproduction of accounting information.  
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Moreover, the imperfect market or potential market failure, e.g. lack of competition 

and information asymmetry, might occur.  Therefore, the regulation of financial 

reporting is necessary to address the market imperfections and the public good nature 

of financial information (Deegan & Unerman, 2006; Mathews & Perera, 1996).  

However, Beaver (1989, p. 182) contended that the costs of production of information 

are borne by preparers, not users who demand of information.  The users might 

overstate their demand and thus lead to overproduction of information.  

In practice, the broad objective of financial reporting regulations can be classified into 

macroeconomic and microeconomic approaches (Nobes, 1984).  The former focuses 

on the uses of accounting information for taxation and national economic planning. In 

other words, the financial statements of business entities provide information as the 

basis for income tax calculation so as to facilitate proper collection of a nation’s 

revenues.  The financial statement information is also used for management of the 

national economy, such as monitoring private business investment and performance in 

relation to the growth of a nation’s economy.  The government is therefore considered 

as a main user.  In addition, taxation reporting strongly influences the financial 

reporting practice. In terms of setting financial reporting rules and regulations, the 

government dominates this process.  For example, in France financial reporting of 

business enterprises is regulated and designed to support the macro-economic policies.   

Unlike macro-user orientation, a microeconomic approach emphasises the uses of 

financial statements for individual enterprises.  The main users are shareholders and 

creditors of business entities. For example, shareholders use financial information to 

monitor management’s performance or to make decisions on trading their shares. In 

contrast to the macroeconomic approach, the financial reporting rules regarding the 

pattern of reports or accounts are less standardised.  Private sectors such as 

accountancy professions and securities exchange agencies strongly influence financial 

reporting standard setting.  The United States, the United Kingdom, and Australia, for 

instance, are classified as having this regulatory pattern.   

Apart from the above objectives, there has been an argument that the requirement for 

incorporated businesses to prepare and publish financial reports is the price of limited 

liability entities (Davies, 2007; Harvey & Walton, 1996).  As those who have invested 
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in the business could benefit from limited liability, transparency and accountability 

from this incorporated business was regarded as a tool to protect the entity’s 

shareholders and the public who deal with the entity (Blair, 2000).  Likewise, the 

restriction on the distribution and use of the company’s assets, known as capital 

maintenance rule, is often required for the protection of creditors (Simões, 2012).  As 

the rule usually limits the amount of capital that a company can distribute to its 

shareholders and/or has to maintain, accounting requirements imposed on businesses 

are necessary to determine whether capital has been maintained.  For SME financial 

reporting, fostering financial discipline is also cited as a reason for financial reporting 

requirements.  It is believed that the requirement would result in small businesses 

having financial information to use for their business decisions (Ministry of Economic 

Development, 2011).  This, in turn, is believed to contribute to both the public’s 

confidence and the economic development of the nation’s economy. 

2.4 Conceptual framework for financial reporting 

The preparation and publication of financial statements by business entities is not 

governed by only accounting laws and related regulations.  Accounting standards are 

also a part of the financial reporting framework of business entities.  In some 

countries, e.g. the United States, accounting standards are mandatory to only publicly 

listed companies while in many countries such requirement was extended to non-listed 

entities, including small entities (Pacter, 2004).  For the latter, simplified or less 

extensive financial reporting standards might be introduced for SMEs or private 

entities.   

This section begins with an overview of the role of conceptual framework for 

financial reporting before moving on to the scope and objective of financial reporting.  

In this respect, further discussion of the IASB’s conceptual framework in general and 

its scope and objective of financial reporting in particular is presented.     

2.4.1 Overview 

A conceptual framework for financial reporting has been developed in various 

jurisdictions, such as Australia, New Zealand, the United Kingdom, and the United 

States.  The framework of the U.S. Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) 

was the first to be developed in 1970s and defined a conceptual framework as a 
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constitution, a coherent system of interrelated objectives and fundamentals to 

consistent standards and that prescribes the nature, function and limits of financial 

accounting and financial statements (Zeff, 1999, p. 105). 

The frameworks developed by the above standards setters intend to provide 

fundamental principles on which accounting standards are based, as such it serves as a 

guide to standards setters in developing financial reporting standards and in dealing 

with accounting issues not addressed in the accounting standards or pronouncements 

(Alfredson et al., 2009).  For example, the International Accounting Standards Board 

(IASB) which published its conceptual framework in 1989 viewed a framework as 

“the concepts that underlie the preparation and presentation of financial statements for 

external users” (IASB, 2009, p. 4).  Likewise, in the Statement of Principles for 

Financial Reporting of the UK Accounting Standards Board (ASB), the purpose of the 

framework is “to provide a coherent frame of reference to be used by the Board in the 

development and review of accounting standards and by others who interact with the 

Board during the standard-setting process” (ASB, 1999, par. 2). Both IASB and ASB 

also stated that the framework will assist those who produce or use financial 

statements i.e. preparers, users and auditors.  In this respect, some researchers, such as 

Christensen (2010) stressed the role of the conceptual framework to provide a set of 

consistent principles to guide regulation and reporting of financial information as part 

of the political decision process.   

2.4.2 Scope and objective of financial reporting 

The conceptual framework typically sets out objectives, broad criteria, and concepts to 

guide regulation and reporting of financial information.  Scott (2002) conducted an 

analysis of the conceptual framework statements of IASB and national accounting 

standards boards of the US, Canada, the UK, Australia and New Zealand and found 

that they are similar in many respects, including its scope and objective of financial 

reporting.   

There are two main objectives of financial reporting adopted in the conceptual 

frameworks: providing decision useful information for external users and reporting the 

stewardship of management.  The stewardship reporting was originally cited as a 

single objective of financial reporting, as a result of the growth of large corporations, 
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the separation of ownership and control and the need to assess whether the resources 

entrusted to management have been used for the intended purposes (Flower, 2002; 

Maingot & Zeghal, 2006).  Later, the focus has been shifted to decision-usefulness 

reporting, as it is widely adopted as a primary objective of financial reporting in all of 

the conceptual statements (Scott, 2002).  The FASB’s and IASB’s objective of 

financial reporting, for instance, are similar in its decision usefulness orientation 

(Whittington, 2008).  Further discussion about decision usefulness and stewardship 

reporting objective is presented in section 2.4.3.3.   

In terms of its scope, the IASB’s framework is similar to the FASB’s and ASB’s 

frameworks.  It intends to apply to all business enterprises that issue general purpose 

financial statements, which refers to the financial reports prepared and presented by an 

entity to satisfy the common information needs of a wide range of users (Alfredson et 

al., 2009).  In the UK ASB framework, the general purpose financial statements 

includes the financial reports, such as annual financial statements, interim financial 

statements and summary financial statements, but not special purpose financial reports 

prepared to meet the information needs of a particular user group, such as a report to 

tax authorities (ASB, 1999).   

The IASB has achieved its significance worldwide, as many countries have adopted or 

are moving toward adopting the IASB standards (i.e. IFRS), so this section will 

discuss the IASB conceptual framework regarding its scope and objective of financial 

reporting in detail.    

2.4.3 IASB conceptual framework 

The IASB is collaborating with the FASB to redraft and harmonise their conceptual 

frameworks.  Two new chapters of a revised framework have been issued (IASB, 

2010) and may be revised when the project is finalised.  The first part of this section 

presents the scope and objective in the Framework for the Preparation and 

Presentation of Financial Statements of 1989, followed by the revised objective of 

financial reporting published in the first two chapters of a revised conceptual 

framework.   



21 

 

2.4.3.1 IASB’s 1989 conceptual Framework 

The IASB’s 1989 framework stated the first objective of financial statements is to 

provide information about the financial position, financial performance and cash flow 

of an entity that is useful to a wide range of users in making economic decision 

(IASB, 2009, par. 12).  Another objective is to report the results of the stewardship of 

management or the accountability of management for the resources entrusted to it 

(IASB, 2009, par. 14).  Many, however, contended that the stewardship or 

accountability objective received little attention or development whereas a strong 

orientation was given to decision usefulness (Ma, 1997; Scott, 2002). 

The framework is designed to satisfy information needs of users who are unable to 

obtain information in addition to that contained in the general purpose financial 

statements and must rely on the financial statements to meet their information needs 

(IASB, 2009, par. 6).  Internal users such as managers are also excluded in its scope 

on the ground that they have access to inside information (IASB, 2009, par. 11).  In 

this respect, Schiebel (2008) concluded that the financial statements prepared under 

the IASB framework are “designed to reduce information asymmetries between the 

‘insiders’ of a reporting entity and the various ‘outsiders’ making economic decisions 

involving that entity” (p. 4). 

Financial statement users and their information needs identified in the IASB 

framework include investors, employees, lenders, suppliers and other trade creditors, 

customers, government and their agencies and the public (IASB, 2009, par. 9).  

Nevertheless, many viewed that the IASB’s focuses on the information needs of 

investors since it is assumed that if the information need of investors is satisfied, it 

also meets the needs of other user groups (Deegan & Unerman, 2006). 

The IASB’s 1989 conceptual framework has been criticised in its several 

shortcomings.  For example, it is well established in the literature that decision 

usefulness and stewardship objectives are not compatible, as the information required 

by each objective is inconsistent (Christensen, 2010; Gassen, 2008; Walker, 2003). 

The provision of decision usefulness information to users requires the information to 

assess the firm’s future performance, indicating the need for the data about the current 

value of assets while the evaluation of stewardship of management requires the 
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information to confirm and correct prior expectations, implying the needs for a 

historical record of the past transactions (Scott, 2002; Walker, 2003). 

Given that the decision usefulness objective is to provide information for economic 

decision making, it is assumed that users are rational economic decision makers, but 

actual users behave irrationally (Page, 1992; Young, 2006).  Some researchers viewed 

that the framework was wrong to ignore owners and managers who use financial 

information to run a business on a daily basis (Eierle & Schultze, 2009; Flegm, 2006).  

Flegm (2006) agreed that this user group has ability to obtain whatever information it 

needs, but the focus of decision usefulness objective on forward-looking valuation 

implied that a company needs to keep another set of accounts in addition to existing 

two sets of accounts; one for operation and management and another one for income 

tax reporting.   

In sum, the general purpose financial statements under the IASB framework are 

directed toward external users in terms of providing them useful financial information 

for decision making, such as to hold or sell their investment in the entity or whether to 

reappoint or replace the entity’s management.  The users having a power to obtain 

inside information from the reporting entity are not included in its scope. 

2.4.3.2 Revised IASB conceptual Framework 

The joint IASB and the FASB conceptual framework project has been undertaken in 

order to improve and converge the conceptual frameworks of both organisations 

(Crook, 2008).  The FASB/IASB preliminary view document on the objective and 

qualitative characteristics of financial reporting issued in July 2006 has raised many 

concerns among constituents and one of the controversial issues was related to the 

Board’s exclusion of stewardship as a primary objective of financial reporting (Gore 

& Zimmerman, 2007; PAAinE, 2007).   

Many viewed that stewardship should be a separate objective of financial reporting.  

For instance, Page and Hines (2006) criticised the Board for not understanding 

stewardship reporting, which aims at “controlling the behaviour of management” (p. 

4).  They indicated that financial reporting in fact had an effect on the management’s 

decisions and information relevant to this stewardship purpose had no conflict in 
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general with decision useful information but they were different only in some 

measurement rules.  Similarly, Lennard (2007) argued that the emphasis of decision 

usefulness and stewardship was different but they were “complementary rather than 

contradictory”, even though information useful for investment decision-making 

purpose might not encompass the information needs for stewardship reporting (p. 65).   

In 2010, a part of the proposed conceptual framework regarding the objective of 

financial reporting was completed and it provides that (IASB, 2010): 

The objective of general purpose financial reporting is to provide information about 

the reporting entity that is useful to existing and potential investors, lenders and 

other creditors in making decisions about providing resources to the entity.  Those 

decisions involve buying, selling or holding equity and debt instruments, and 

providing or settling loans and other forms of credit. (p. 9) 

From the revised objective, the provision of useful information for resource allocation 

decisions is a sole objective of financial reporting.  The scope of the objective also 

expands to financial reporting, not just financial statements and this implied the 

application of the standards to financial reporting other than by means of financial 

statements (Crook, 2008; Lennard, 2007).  Capital providers are the primary users to 

whom general purpose financial reports are directed and expand to potential investors 

and creditors.  Other stakeholders such as employees, suppliers, government agencies 

and public are not identified.  However, loan providers typically have a power to 

demand information to satisfy their information needs and when new equity capital 

was acquired, financial information in additional to financial statements was often 

provided to potential investors (Page & Hines, 2006). 

In addition to the focus objective of decision-usefulness, the revised conceptual 

framework replaced the qualitative characteristic of reliability by faithful 

representation which requires information to be complete, neutral and free from error 

(Henry & Holzmann, 2011).  Furthermore, ‘prudence’ which is viewed as a basic 

characteristic of information for stewardship function was eliminated in response to 

the focus objective of decision-usefulness (Peasnell, Dean, & Gebhardt, 2009).  

However, the framework project has not yet finalised, so the consideration of the 

boundaries of financial reporting as well as other important issues might be dealt with 

in a later phase of the project.   
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Given the current stand of the revised conceptual framework, financial reporting by 

SMEs is difficult to fit with the new conceptual framework.  For SMEs, the ownership 

and management of SMEs is rarely separated.  External finance providers, such as 

banks are often able to obtain additional information from SMEs and other sources of 

information are also used for their credit decisions, so they are less likely to depend on 

the general purpose financial statements.  Also, customers and suppliers who might be 

interested in SME financial statements for business contact decisions are not included 

as users in the revised framework. 

2.4.3.3 Stewardship and decision-usefulness 

As mentioned in section 2.4.3.3, two main objectives of financial statements: 

stewardship and decision usefulness are identified in the IASB’s 1989 conceptual 

framework for financial reporting.  This section discusses these two financial 

reporting objectives in detail. 

Stewardship/Accountability 

The terms stewardship and accountability reporting is used interchangeably (PAAinE, 

2007).  It refers to “accounting by an agent (manager) for the use of resources that the 

principal (owner) has supplied directly or indirectly” (Myddelton, 2004, p. 29).  

Financial reporting therefore has an important role in supporting accountability 

relationship between two parties: an agent and the principal, created by laws, 

contracts, or other obligations (Ijiri, 1975). 

In the IASB’s conceptual framework for financial reporting, the stewardship role of 

financial statement is to show the results of the stewardship of managers to a wide 

range of users.  In particular, the stewardship reporting to the owners of the firm is 

associated with agency relationship, where the separation between ownership and 

control exists and might lead to the situation when the interests of agent conflicts with 

the principal’s (agency problem).  In this aspect, accounting information was also 

considered as “a control and contracting device” (O'Connell, 2007, p. 218).  Lennard 

(2007), however, viewed that the role of stewardship reporting was beyond 

monitoring or controlling how management uses the resources, but it was a means to 

regularly communicate between management and its shareholders.   
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Company management 

According to Page and Hines (2006), the effect of financial reporting in decision-

usefulness and stewardship model is different.  The stewardship reporting is directed 

at ‘controlling the behaviour of management’, as financial reporting has an influence 

on the predictive model of management and thus their decisions (see Figure 2.1).   

    

 

 

 

 

Source.  Page and Hines (2006, p. 6)  

Figure 2.1 The Cybernetic model of stewardship/accountability  

Stewardship reporting requires revealing and evaluating the past actions of the entity 

or management, so it needs a measure which is less disputable, for example, historical 

cost valuation is a preferred method (Ijiri, 1975, p. 36).  The discretionary choice 

available to managers of companies with respect to what information to disclose or 

report should be limited (Page & Hines, 2006).   

Decision usefulness 

The decision usefulness approach is based on the premise that “the basic objective of 

accounting is to aid the decision making process of certain ‘users’ of accounting 

reports by providing useful, or relevant, accounting data” (Godfrey, Hodgson, Tarca, 

Hamilton, & Holmes, 2010, p. 24).  Thus, identifying the users of financial 

information and their uses of information is of primary importance (Staubus, 2004, p. 

275).  Also, it could imply that only information that is useful for making decision 

should be disclosed and subjective information might be encouraged if it is useful for 

user’s decision (Ijiri, 1975).   

The decision usefulness objective for financial reporting was originated in 1970s in 

the United States (Myddelton, 2004).  The Trueblood Committee Report of the 

American Institute of Certified Public Accountants suggested financial statements 
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should “provide useful information for making economic decisions” and centred on 

providing users the information that enables them to predict, compare, and evaluate 

the firms’ ability to generate cash flows (Cyert & Ijiri, 1974, p. 35).  This decision 

usefulness has been widely adopted by accounting standard setters e.g. FASB, IASB, 

and ASB as the basis for the conceptual framework for financial reporting.   

Unlike stewardship reporting, the decision-usefulness objective of financial reporting 

mainly affects users’ decisions rather than management’s decisions (Page & Hines, 

2006), as shown in Figure 2.2. 

 

 

 

Source.  Page and Hines (2006, p. 6)  

 Figure 2.2 The Decision-usefulness linear model 

The decision usefulness approach to financial reporting in the conceptual framework 

has focused on provision of decision useful information for investors and requires 

information that is relevant to the enterprise’s future cash flow (Staubus, 2004, p. 

272).   This typically refers to the use of accounting information for valuation 

purposes, where the emphasis is on reporting future oriented information or measuring 

the current value (Benston, 2003; Fulbier & Gassen, 2010).  According to such a 

narrower focus, the contributions of financial reporting to other purposes would be 

limited (Gjesdal, 1981; Young, 2006).   

2.5 Conceptual framework for financial reporting by SMEs 

The IASB was not the first to develop a set of accounting standards for SMEs.  In the 

UK, for example, the Financial Reporting Standard for Smaller Entities (FRSSE) was 

published in 1997 with the intention to reduce accounting burdens of small companies 

(McAleese, 2001). The objective of the FRSSE is as follows (ASB, 2008): 

to ensure that reporting entities falling within its scope provide in their financial 

statements information about the financial position, performance and financial 

adaptability of the entity that is useful to users in assessing the stewardship of 

management and for making economic decisions, recognising that the balance 

between users’ needs in respect of stewardship and economic decisions’ making for 

smaller entities is different from that for other reporting entities.  (p. 14) 
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From the FRSSE objective, the roles of financial statements in decision making and 

stewardship were identified and the distinguished role of stewardship of management 

was recognised for the financial statements of small entities.  However, there was no 

further explanation on how the two objectives differed and significant simplification 

was on disclosure requirements, rather than measurement rules (Jarvis & Collis, 

2003).  The report on the survey of Irish accounting practitioners by McAleese (2001) 

and interviews with key constituencies of small company financial reporting by John 

and Healeas (2000) revealed that the FRSSE was not simplified enough to meet the 

information needs of users of small company’s financial statements and to 

significantly reduce financial reporting burdens on small companies.  

In recent years, a distinct set of accounting standards for SMEs or entities outside 

capital markets was implemented in many countries, regardless of whether the full 

IFRS was adopted or not. For example, Canadadeveloped its own separate set of 

accounting standards, called the Accounting Standards for Private Enterprises, which 

were built on the same conceptual framework for financial reporting of publicly 

accountable enterprises and focused primarily on the needs of investors and creditors 

(AcSB, 2009).  A significant number of countries, however, decided to adopt the IFRS 

for SMEs, as of September 2011 there were 74 countries worldwide adopted or plan to 

adopt the IFRS for SMEs (Pacter, 2011a).   

A brief overview of the development of the IFRS for SMEs is first presented. This is 

followed by the discussion of its scope and objectives of financial statements.   

2.5.1 Overview of the development of IFRS for SMEs 

Although the IASB believed that all entities, regardless of type and size, should follow 

the same basic accounting principles and concepts for the preparation of financial 

statements, they recognised a need for a simpler set of accounting standards for SMEs, 

resulting from the perceived complexity of the full IFRS and from legal requirements 

for SMEs to comply with the full IFRS in many jurisdictions (Devi, 2003; Epstein & 

Jermakowicz, 2007).  The IASB’s project to develop the accounting standards for 

SMEs was therefore initiated in response to such demand and with the objectives of 
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meeting the needs of SMEs’ financial statement users and reducing the reporting 

burden of SMEs.   

The IASB published the Discussion paper: Preliminary Views on Accounting 

Standards for SMEs in 2004.  The responses to its preliminary views showed strong 

support for the IASB to develop the accounting standards for SMEs.  The Board 

developed the standards by applying the existing conceptual framework in the IASB’s 

1989 Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements and 

viewed that the information needs of external users of SME financial statements were 

similar in most ways to those of publicly accountable entities’ financial statements 

(IASB, 2004).  The content of the accounting standards for SMEs therefore extracted 

from the full IFRS, a so-called ‘top-down approach’.  The differences in the 

application of the concepts in the framework or the modifications to the content of the 

full IFRS were justified on the basis of user needs, cost-benefit considerations, and 

accounting expertise of SMEs (Pacter, 2009a).   

After seeking out comments and suggestions on possible simplifications for 

measurement and recognition principles and disclosure requirements through 

questionnaire survey and public meetings, the exposure draft of the IFRS for SMEs 

was published in 2007.  Field testing was also conducted with SMEs in different 

countries so as to identify the problems in implementation of the proposed IFRS for 

SMEs.  The following summarises several key concerns identified in the comment 

letters received by the IASB on the discussion paper and the exposure draft of the 

proposed IFRS for SMEs as well as the literature regarding the exposure draft of IFRS 

for SMEs.     

First, while many supported the use of the framework of full IFRS for development of 

the standards for SMEs, in the response to the IASB’s preliminary views, Evans et al. 

(2005) argued that the IASB’s 1989 conceptual framework was biased towards large 

publicly accountable entities, thus was not suitable for SMEs.  SMEs were different 

from large and listed entities in terms of reporting objectives, accountability 

relationships and strategies.  For example, many of SMEs have no or little separation 

between ownership and control and they often focus on survival more than profit 

maximisation or growth. 
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Second, based on the analysis of the responses to the IASB’s preliminary views, 

Baskerville and Cordery (2006) indicated that some stakeholders suggested a greater 

emphasis on the stewardship purpose of SMEs’ financial statements.  Botosan et al. 

(2006), however, argued that the stewardship role of financial reports was important to 

both public and private enterprises, so the stewardship purpose was not “a 

distinguishing need of the users of private company financial statements” (p. 186). 

Third, the definition of SMEs was a major issue addressed in the comment letters.  

The Board decided to define SMEs as entities without public accountability and no 

size criteria was employed in the definition.  The term ‘public accountability’ and 

‘fiduciary capability’ were imprecise words (IFAC, 2007), so this would make it 

difficult to determine which entity was qualified for application of the IFRS for SMEs.   

Some argued that the definition was too broad and thus resulted in covering a wide 

range of entities, from micro entities with less than 10 employees to large but non-

listed entities.  This implied that the standards would have a large audience, which 

their information needs, especially between the smallest and larger SMEs were 

different (Evans et al., 2005).  Thus, the standards might not be able to meet the needs 

of SME financial statement users.   Also, using the term ‘SMEs’ to describe non-

public accountable entities did not convey its meaning and was thus confusing.  SMEs 

implied entities meeting size criteria.  Conversely, entities within the IASB’s SME 

definition might be large or small entities without public accountability (Pacter, 

2009b).  

Fourth, in order to determine the content of the accounting standards for SMEs, the 

IASB used a SME with 50 employees as a guideline for developing the accounting 

standards for SMEs (IASB, 2007). This was contrary to the fact that micro entities, 

which were subsumed in SMEs, accounted for the majority of SME sector (Sian & 

Roberts, 2006).  Although the Board claimed that the standard was applicable for 

micro entities, many viewed that it was suitable for medium and large entities and in 

particular some measurement principles were too burdensome for micro entities or 

even for SMEs with 50 employees and thus not suitable for smaller SMEs (for 

example IFAC, 2007; Shearer, 2007; UNCTAD, 2007). 
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According to the IASB’s report of field testing results of the draft IFRS for SMEs 

undertaken with 116 SMEs from 20 countries during 2007 (IASB, 2008), the 

participated entities with an average of 56 employees and prepared general purpose 

financial statements indicated that they faced few problems in the implementation, but 

some of them expressed their concerns over the complexity of financial instrument 

measurement and some disclosure requirements which were time and cost consuming.  

At a country level, the field testing results of 25 UK small companies by ACCA 

(2008) showed that accountants had “no or minor problem” (p. 8) in the conversion of 

their accounts prepared under UK GAAP to that of the IFRS for SMEs, as the two 

standards had no major differences.  The result of field testing with 15 German SMEs, 

however, reported a negative view, as most participating SMEs considered the 

proposed standards “too costly to apply” (ASCG, 2008, p. 7). 

Finally, the draft identified a broad range of external users e.g. non-participating 

owners, creditor, credit rating agencies, and employees as external users of general 

purpose financial statements, but it appeared that the number of SME financial 

statement users was limited.  For example, the survey of German SMEs concerning 

the exposure draft of the IFRS for SMEs found only banks and owners were SME 

financial statement users (Haller & Eierle, 2007).  This finding is in line with the 

claim of the IFAC (2007) that the main external users of SMEs were likely to be 

creditors. 

Apart from the above concerns, other aspects of the IFRS for SMEs’ development 

process were criticised, for example, inadequate studies of SME user needs, lack of 

explanations about the basis used for modifying the full IFRS and lack of participation 

from users and SMEs (Evans, 2010).  Particularly, it was questioning by Di Pietra et 

al. (2008) that “[if] the IFRS for SMEs is of greatest relevance to developing 

economies, are these economies’ needs and circumstances considered?” (p. 43). 

Before being finalised, the standard was tentatively renamed firstly to ‘the IFRS for 

Private Entities’ and then ‘the IFRS for Non-Public Accountable Entities’.  In July 

2009, however, it was issued as ‘the International Financial Reporting for Small and 

Medium-sized Entities’ (IFRS for SMEs) even though it is acknowledged that it is 
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also applicable to large unlisted entities.  The scope and objectives of the final version 

of the IFRS for SMEs are discussed below.   

2.5.2 Scope and objective of IFRS for SMEs 

The IFRS for SMEs is intended for SMEs that do not have public accountability and 

publish general purpose financial statements that are useful for the economic decision 

making of a broad range of users, such as non-manager owners, credit rating agencies, 

lenders, suppliers, other creditors and employees.   SMEs often prepare financial 

statements only for owner-managers and/or for the uses of tax authorities or other 

government agencies.  Such financial statements are not considered as general-

purpose financial statements (IASB, 2009, par. 11).   

The IFRS for SMEs describes SMEs as non-public accountable entities without size 

criteria.  An entity is a public accountable entity if (1) its debt or equity is traded in a 

public market (or is in the process of being issued for trading in public market) or (2) 

it holds assets in a fiduciary capacity for a broad group of outsiders as one of its 

primary businesses (IASB, 2009, par. 1.2-1.3). The latter criterion includes such as 

banks, credit unions, insurance companies, pension funds, or mutual funds.  

This IASB approach was contrary to the fact that most jurisdictions developed their 

own definition of SMEs for a variety of purposes, including for different financial 

reporting requirements, on the basis of legal form and quantitative measures such as 

turnover, total assets, and number of employees (Kozak, 2007).  Thus, SME 

stakeholders would be more familiar with quantitative SME definitions than SMEs as 

‘non-publicly accountable entities’.  Since the IASB did not specify which SMEs 

should be permitted to use the standards, but left this issue to each jurisdiction to 

decide.  The criteria for adoption of the IFRS for SMEs might be inconsistent.   

Holgate (2007) indicated that this SME definition would include private equity 

companies and other large privately-held companies, which their size might be equal 

to companies listed in capital markets and have economic significance in terms of “an 

employer, supplier, or taxpayer, polluter or other stakeholder” (p. 82).  It was 

therefore questioning whether this type of entities should be allowed to apply the 

IFRS for SMEs or required to comply with the full IFRS or another accounting 
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standards.  This issue of SME definition had been cautioned by Jarvis (2003) 

regarding how large unlisted entities should be addressed in the standards. 

It was also argued that the IASB’s definition of public accountability did not clarify 

enough to assess whether entities have public accountability.  In the Future of UK 

GAAP project, the UK Accounting Standards Board viewed that an entity holding 

assets in a fiduciary capacity did not refer to banks or credit institutions, so in the 

ASB’s definition of public accountability developed for the Future of UK GAAP 

project the term ‘deposit-taking entities’ was added (ASB, 2010, p. 60).  Moreover, 

some of the responses to the Future of UK GAAP project indicated that it was unclear 

what the meaning of broad group of outsiders (ACCA, 2011; ICAEW, 2011a), 

especially the term ‘broad’ whether it referred to the size or diversity of the groups or 

combination of the two (ICAS, 2011).  Some respondents also raised concerns 

regarding whether small credit unions should report under the full IFRS, as by the 

definition this entity group would be classified as publicly accountable entities and not 

allowed to use the IFRS for SMEs. 

In terms of the objectives of SME financial statements, in addition to identification of 

the decision usefulness and management stewardship roles of SME financial 

statements, the emphasis on excluding ‘insiders’ was made (IASB, 2009): 

The objective of financial statements of a small or medium-sized entity is to provide 

information about the financial position, performance and cash flows of the entity that is 

useful for economic decision-making by a broad range of users who are not in the 

position to demand reports tailored to meet their particular information needs.   

Financial statements also show the results of the stewardship of management–the 

accountability of management for the resources entrusted to it. (par. 2.2-2.3) 

Although the objective of SME financial statements has recognised the dual roles of 

SME financial reporting, it was criticised for its narrow focus.   For example, Bertoni 

and De Rosa (2010) contended that in many jurisdictions SME financial statements 

served as a basis for tax calculation and dividend distribution, but the IFRS for SMEs 

did not take it into consideration.  Fulbier and Gassen (2010) also argued that the 

focus on general purpose financial statements of the IFRS for SMEs implied its 

orientation toward a decision usefulness objective.  In SME financial reporting, the 
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roles of financial reporting in contractual relationships with e.g. tax authorities and 

creditors were more important.   

In line with the above argument, the empirical studies found that many small 

companies produce financial statements primarily for tax authorities, owner-managers 

and banks (Evans et al., 2005; Sian & Roberts, 2006).  Nevertheless, tax reporting and 

management purpose were explicitly identified that they are not a part of the IFRS for 

SMEs’ financial reporting objective.   

To sum up, the IFRS for SMEs is an international set of accounting standards catered 

for a worldwide application by the IASB.  It was released in July 2009, after taking a 

five year development and consultation process.  The term ‘SMEs’ in its title is 

somewhat misleading. The standard in fact is intended for a broader group of entities 

that is non-publicly accountable entities and produce general purpose financial 

statements for external users who do not have access to the entity’s information.  

However, many viewed that it was suitable for large or medium-sized entities, rather 

than smaller entities.   

2.5.3 Main features and responses to IFRS for SMEs  

This sub-section first highlights the main features of the IFRS for SMEs and the 

adoption decisions of jurisdictions around the world.  This is followed by the 

responses of SMEs and their stakeholders to the IFRS for SMEs found in several 

studies, including those undertaken as a part of consultation process.   

2.5.3.1 Main features 

As mentioned earlier, the conceptual framework and content of the IFRS for SMEs are 

based on the full IFRS, but simplifications for both disclosure requirements and 

measurement and recognition methods have been made as the following examples: 

� topics less relevant to SMEs are excluded, such as earning per share, segment 

information and interim reporting 

� disclosure requirements are significantly reduced, from around 3,000 items in 

the full IFRS to approximately 300 items in the IFRS for SMEs (Pacter, 

2011b) 
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� some options in relation to fair value accounting are not available e.g. 

revaluation of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 

� some measurement and recognition methods in several areas, such as financial 

instruments, impairment of assets and borrowing costs are simplified, for 

example 

� basic financial instruments e.g. cash and trade accounts receivable and 

payable is measured at amortised costs 

� borrowing costs and research and development costs must  be 

recognised as expenses 

Apart from this, the standard has been drafted as ‘stand alone’ document i.e. no 

reference to other sources of authority (e.g. full IFRS) and arranged by accounting 

topics, resulting in ease of use and avoiding frequent changes in the full IFRS.  The 

IFRS for SMEs is, however, not without criticisms.  In its exposure draft, several 

concerns and issues have been raised, such as the framework for developing the 

standards and the absence of user needs study (see section 2.5.1).  As it stands, many 

e.g. Toma (2011) contended that the IFRS for SMEs was simplified, but it was not 

tailored to the needs of SMEs and their stakeholders.   

2.5.3.2 Adoption of IFRS for SMEs 

The adoption of the IFRS for SMEs is voluntary and each jurisdiction can decide 

which entities should be required or permitted to use the IFRS for SMEs (IASB, 

2009).  After its publication, the number of jurisdictions that accepted the IFRS for 

SMEs for statutory reporting or other purposes has gradually increased.  In September 

2011, there were 74 countries required, permitted, or in the process of adoption the 

IFRS for SMEs (Pacter, 2011a).  In the United States, the IFRS for SMEs is available 

as a basis for reporting by private entities (i.e. unlisted entities) since there is no 

regulation for statutory financial reporting.  In Europe, the UK is considering using it 

for medium and large non-publicly accountable entities; the proposed Financial 

Reporting Standard for Medium-sized Entities (FRSME) is based on the IFRS for 

SMEs, but with modifications to fit with UK business environment and company law 

requirements. 
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The results from a survey regarding the adoption of the IFRS for SMEs carried out 

with national standards setters participating in the World Standards Setters Meeting in 

September 2011 revealed how the IFRS for SMEs was adopted by jurisdictions and 

what were the reasons for non-adoption (Pacter, 2011a), as shown in Table 2.3.   

Table 2.3 Responses to the IFRS for SMEs by some jurisdictions 
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Africa & Middle East:           

Sierra Leone �  �        

South Africa �   �       

Tunisia     �      

Lebanon    �      Not formally adopted 

Asia & Pacific:           

Cambodia �  �        

Hong Kong  �  �      
Some change in 
Sec.29: Income Taxes 

India     �    �  

Indonesia     � �     

Japan     �   �  Not adopt full IFRS 

Malaysia         �  

Singapore �  �        

Taiwan     � �   �  

Australia     �     
Reduced disclosure 
requirements 

Europe:           

Austria     �  �    

Belgium     � � �    

Czech Republic     �      

Denmark     �   � � 
Possible conflict with 
EU directives 

Germany     �      

Kosovo        �  
No requirements for 
micro entity 

Malta     �      

Netherlands     �      

Poland     �      

Slovakia     �  �    

North America& Others:           

Canada     �      

USA  �   �      Can opt for US GAAP 

Argentina �   �       

Brazil  � �       
Eliminate some 
allowed alternative 

Mexico     �      

Bahamas �  �        

Trinidad �  �        

Albania     �      

Norway     �    �  

Russian Federation     � � �    

Total 8 2 6 5 20 4 4 3 5  

Note. If the IFRS for SMEs is optional, full IFRS, national GAAP and other basis is permitted. 
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About 67 percent of all respondents indicated that their countries did not adopt the 

IFRS for SMEs, including all countries in Europe.  The main reason for non-adoption 

was that they already had local GAAP for SMEs.  Some national standards setters 

further identified that the IFRS for SMEs was too difficult for their SMEs and/or their 

SMEs preferred tax accounts.  Of the IFRS for SMEs adopters, 45 percent reported 

that the IFRS for SMEs was not mandatory and other basis rather than the full IFRS 

were permitted.  For instance, South Africa who were the first to adopt the IFRS for 

SMEs decided to make the IFRS for SMEs as optional and SMEs below the threshold 

can choose other bases for financial statement preparation.  The adoption with some 

minor changes was made in Hong Kong and Brazil.   

The respondents also raised the issue regarding financial reporting by micro entities 

(IASB, 2011).  Some of them indicated that although the IFRS for SMEs was 

simplified, it was still burdensome for micro entities in their jurisdictions and not 

tailored to their needs and capabilities.  All respondents thought that the IASB’s 

guidance for financial reporting by micro entities that produce general purpose 

financial statements was necessary.  As many jurisdictions require micro entities to 

prepare financial statements, they have developed or in the process of developing 

local accounting standards for micro entities.   

2.5.3.3 Responses to IFRS for SMEs 

As the IFRS for SMEs was recently published, a limited amount of literature has been 

published on the IFRS for SMEs and most of them mainly aim to explore the views of 

stakeholders on its application to SME financial reporting.     

The European Commission, for example, published its consultation on the IFRS for 

SMEs in 2009 so as to seek opinions of European SMEs’ stakeholders on the potential 

application of the IFRS for SMEs in Europe.  According to the European 

Commission’s summary of the responses to the questionnaire regarding the IFRS for 

SMEs (EC, 2010b), the majority of the respondents1 from 13 member states e.g. 

Denmark, Spain, the UK and Ireland considered the IFRS for SMEs applicable to 

SME financial reporting, whereas a higher proportion of the respondents from 9 

                                                           
1According to the summary report of the consultation on the IFRS for SMEs by the European 
Commission, the results were based on the responses of stakeholders who are not public authorities or 
standards setters from EU member states.  The responses from lobbyists were also excluded.     
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countries, including Germany, France and Belgium, opposed to it.  The supporters 

claimed that SMEs, especially those with overseas business activities and subsidiaries 

or branches would benefit from international comparability of financial statements for 

which the IFRS for SMEs could provide and this in turn would support cross border 

trades and investments.  Those against it concerned with the complexity of the 

standards, possibly leading to higher audit fees and undue account preparation costs 

for SMEs, and problems with tax and dividend distribution rules.  The results, 

however, showed a strong support for permitting the IFRS for SMEs in the European 

accounting framework and many supporters suggested applying the standard to e.g. 

medium and large companies and international groups of companies reporting under 

the full IFRS.   

Given the IFRS for SMEs was considered as a basis for statutory reporting in Europe, 

Canham (2010, p. 2) pointed out that “technically IFRS for SMEs cannot be used in 

Europe” because the results from the study of compatibility of the IFRS for SMEs and 

the EU Accounting Directives by EFRAG showed that several elements in the IFRS 

for SMEs conflicted with the current EU Accounting Directives.  The summary report 

of European Commission (2010b) also stated that in a country where there was a 

strong linkage between accounting, taxation, and profit distribution, the application of 

the IFRS for SMEs could result in “duplicating reporting requirements” (p. 2) i.e. 

companies need to prepare multiple sets of accounts for tax and statutory financial 

reporting. 

Quagli (2010) analysed the responses to the questionnaire of the European 

Commission’s consultation on the IFRS for SMEs and found a low level of 

participation by users, as compared to that of other groups.  The user groups were in 

favour of application of the IFRS for SMEs and inclusion of it in the EU accounting 

framework while preparers were not. The analysis also revealed that country’s specific 

factors influenced the respondents’ adoption decision; the respondents from “German 

speaking and Latin countries” were more likely to reject the IFRS for SMEs (p. 19).  

The latter finding is in line with the study of Sian and Roberts (2008) undertaken with 

the exposure draft of the IFRS for SMEs. They conducted focus group interviews with 

owners, accountants, and users of small companies in both developed and developing 

countries, such as the UK and Kenya. The results of the study demonstrated that all 
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small company stakeholders generally agreed that the proposed IFRS for SMEs was 

too complex for micro entity’s reporting. The respondents in Kenya were keen to have 

accounting standards for small companies, but those in the UK did not.  This reflected 

a difference in financial reporting framework of these two countries, as noted by Sian 

and Roberts (2008), in Kenya all companies were required to apply the full IFRS, 

whereas UK small companies are permitted to produce their accounts under FRSSE.   

Another study conducted by Eierle and Haller (2009) to examine how size of entities 

influence perceived costs and benefits of applying the exposure draft of IFRS for 

SMEs.  The analysis of 410 responses from German SMEs whose annual turnover was 

equal to €8 million and more revealed that many respondents including those from 

small entities, engaged in cross border transactions, but the majority of them perceived 

little or no benefit from international comparability of financial statements.  The 

study’s results also suggested small entities had a lower level of IFRS knowledge than 

those of larger entities and this might in turn have influenced their perceived costs and 

benefits of the proposed IFRS for SMEs.   

The analysis of SME financial statements by Schutte and Buys (2011) also suggested 

a limited relevance of the framework of the IFRS for SMEs to SMEs in South Africa.  

Around 60 percent of SMEs had loans from its shareholders, implying a close 

relationship between the entity’s management and its shareholders.  Furthermore, the 

structure of balance sheet indicated the use of debt finance, rather than equity by the 

majority of SMEs. Therefore, SMEs was less likely to have investors as main users of 

financial statements. 

In sum, there were consistent views that the IFRS for SMEs was not suitable for micro 

entities, as the burden on micro entities seemed to outweigh the benefits they could 

derive. With regard to the application of the IFRS for SMEs to SME financial 

reporting, the views of stakeholders were diverse; however, Quagli (2010) asserted 

that “not all the SMEs could really be interested in the IFRS for SMEs, depending on 

their size and their specific finance and operating peculiarities” (p. 7).   
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2.5.4 Defining SMEs 

When different financial reporting requirements are introduced, the issue of SME 

definition would be a main concern among stakeholders.  This section provides a brief 

overview of approaches used to define an SME, followed by a discussion of the SME 

definitions used for the purpose of financial reporting.   

2.5.4.1 Approach in defining SMEs 

There is a general agreement that SMEs are not miniatures of larger businesses 

(Burns, 2007; Storey, 1994; Welsh &White, 1981); however, a generally accepted 

definition of SMEs is lacking.  What criteria should be used to differentiate small and 

medium enterprises from large one has been debated (Johnson, 2007).  Typically, 

qualitative and quantitative approaches are employed in defining an SME.  Each 

approach has its strengths and weaknesses, so sometimes to satisfy particular 

objectives, a combination of the two might be applicable (Greene & Mole, 2006, p. 

10). 

The main assumption underpinned qualitative based approach is that “small firms are 

fundamentally different to large firms” (Curran & Blackburn, 2001, p. 14), so the 

qualitative based definition of SMEs was developed from such differences.  

Nevertheless, there was an argument over which characteristics of SMEs is important 

and should be included in the SME definition.  For example, the form of ownership 

and the management of organisation were employed to describe the nature of small 

business in Australia; small business stakeholders agreed that a firm is considered as a 

small firm if it has independent ownership and operations closely controlled by 

owners or managers who owned most or all of operating capital, and owners or 

managers make principal decisions (Australian Bureau of Statistics, 1999, p. 137).  

The economic approach was also incorporated in the definition of UK small business 

provided in the Bolton’s Report (1971); a business is considered small if it has no 

market power and it is independent (i.e. not part of or controlled by another firm) and 

managed in “a personalised way” (p. 1).  However, it was argued that some small 

firms might not posses such feature, for example, a small firm operating in a niche 

market with few competitors might have a substantial market share (Stanworth & 

Curran, 1976; Storey, 1994).   
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The qualitative definition might be better in explaining the distinctive nature of small 

businesses (Brooksbank, 1991).  However, it was difficult to be implemented.  Some 

characteristics, such as closely controlled management, might not be easily observable 

or measureable, especially in classifying the large number of enterprises (Forsaith, 

Fuller, Pattinson, Sutcliffe, & Vicente, 2001).  This impracticality, for instance, led 

the Bolton’s Committee to develop the quantitative definitions of small businesses to 

facilitate their study.   In addition, it was argued that some qualitative nature of 

business might not always correlate with firm size, as Holmes and Zimmer (1994) 

pointed out that the non-separation between ownership and control feature, which is 

often used in SME definitions, could be found in some large firms, especially large 

family-businesses. 

For quantitative approaches, different thresholds of employment number, turnover, 

and total assets are often used to classify SMEs.  As compared to the qualitative based 

definition, the quantitative definitions of SMEs are simple and objective not only for 

measurement but also for manipulation in statistical analysis (Curran & Blackburn, 

2001).  This practicality leads to the use of numerical definitions for both statistical 

and policy purposes.  

It was, however, argued that the numerical definitions lack underpinning theory; most 

cut-off points were chosen from experience and personal judgment (Brooksbank, 

1991).  Also, the definition based on financial terms, such as total assets, annual 

turnover, or capital employed faces with the problems of inflation and valuation 

(Curran & Blackburn, 2001).  This results in the need for regular revision of the 

threshold for such financial measures.  Given the fact that each industry utilises 

different level of resources, any definition based on e.g. the employment number or 

operating capital value would suffer from the industry differences, as Bridge, O'Neill, 

and Cromie (2003) indicated “...what is relatively small in one industry may be 

relatively large in another” (p. 224).  As a result, varying SME definitions by industry 

is also sometimes adopted.   

In practice, a variety of criteria has been employed to differentiate small and medium 

entities from large ones.  According to the country-level database provided by the 

International Finance Corporation,  the number of employees is commonly used in 
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most countries to define micro, small, and medium entities but each country has 

developed their own SME definitions (Kozak, 2007).  It is thus likely to find that an 

entity considered as a large entity in one country might be qualified as a small entity 

in another.  Table 2.4 compares the official definitions of SMEs based on the number 

of employees in selected countries with the European Commission’s.  The EU defines 

an SME as a business hiring up to 250 employees and an entity hiring less than 10 

employees is considered as a micro.  An entity in the United States is a small business 

if it employs a maximum of 499 employees.   

Table 2.4 Comparison of SME definitions by employee number in selected jurisdictions 

Country Micro Small Medium Large 

Australia < 5 < 20 < 200 200+ 

European Union Countries   < 10 < 50 < 250 250+ 

New Zealand < 20 20+ 

Thailand: 

- Manufacturing and Service  

 

N/A 

 

< 50 

 

< 200 

 

200+ 

- Retail N/A < 15 < 30 30+ 

- Wholesale N/A < 25 < 50 50+ 

United States < 500 500+ 

Note. 

(1) For European countries, some of them include criteria based on turnover or balance sheet 

amounts. 

(2) For New Zealand, SMEs are defined as enterprises with 19 or fewer employees, no separate 

category for each group.   

(3) The definition of the U.S. small business is mainly used for the manufacturing and mining 

industry.  Other industries have different definitions of SMEs based on the employment number or 

average annual receipts. 

Source. Australian Bureau of Statistics (2001), EC (2003), Ministry of Economic Development 

(2009), OSMEP (2008), U.S. Small Business Administration (2008) 

 

The Ministry of Industry in Thailand also used quantitative criteria to define SMEs 

with the variation by industries (see Table 2.5).  An entity qualified as an SME if 

satisfies with either the number of employees or the value of fixed assets, excluding 

land.  For example, in manufacturing or service sector, a business is small or medium 

sized if having less than 200 employees and a maximum of 200 million baht fixed 

asset.  The trading sector, however, requires fewer numbers of employees and value of 

fixed asset.  If a business fails into two categories, the lower between its number of 

employees and its amount of fixed assets is used to decide the size of entity. 

  



42 

 

Table 2.5 Official SME definition of Thailand 

 

Maximum 

Manufacturing/ Service Retail Wholesale 

Small Medium Small Medium Small Medium 

Number of employees 50 200 15 30 25 50 

Fixed assets total (million THB) 50 200  30  60 50  60 

Note. 

(1) Total amount of fixed assets excludes the value of land.  

(2) 1 pound equal to approximately 50 baht.  

Source.  OSMEP (2009a) 

 

2.5.4.2 SME definition for financial reporting purpose 

Quantitative and/or qualitative criteria are used as a basis for classifying SMEs for 

financial reporting obligations.  In the European accounting framework, for example, 

the European Commission uses only size criteria based on turnover, assets, or 

employee number to prescribe accounting requirements for SMEs.  Many, such as 

Devi (2003), Di Pietra et al. (2008) and Jarvis (2003), contended that the size of entity 

was not a suitable indicator to identify the entities eligible for financial reporting 

exemptions, in particular the exemption based on cost-benefit consideration and 

different user needs.  Other qualitative characters such as the separation between 

ownership and control were suggested as an indicator of existence of financial 

statement users.  

The IASB’s definition of SMEs is somewhat different. The nature of SMEs, not their 

size is used to define SMEs.  In the IFRS for SMEs, the IASB describes SMEs as (1) 

non-public accountable entities and (2) publish general purpose financial statements 

for external users.  If an entity meets either one of the following conditions, it is 

considered as a public accountable entity (IASB, 2009): 

its debt or equity is traded in a public market or is in the process of being issued for 

trading in public market) or   

 
it holds assets in a fiduciary capacity for a broad group of outsiders as one of its 

primary businesses.  This latter category includes such as banks, credit unions, 

insurance companies, pension funds, or mutual funds.  (p. 10) 

This IASB’s definition of public accountability was criticised for its broad description 

(for example IFAC, 2007; Evans et al., 2005), since the inverse of the above definition 

covers a wide range of entities, so called Non-Publicly Accountable Entities (NPAEs), 

ranging from large entities without public accountability to owner-managed small 
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companies.  However, the IASB’s concept of public accountability was widely 

adopted to prescribe the requirement of accounting standard application, but other 

criteria, e.g. listing status, legal form and firm size based on quantitative measures 

were also incorporated in their criteria (PWC, 2011a). 

Nevertheless, the use of this IASB’s definition in some cases might be problematic.  

In the UK where the IFRS for SMEs was used as a basis for developing the proposed 

Financial Reporting Standard for Medium-sized Entities (FRSME), for example, the 

consultation paper regarding the Future of Financial Reporting in the UK and 

Republic of Ireland revealed the ASB’s consideration to remove the definition of the 

public accountability so as to allow a broader group of entities, such as credit unions 

and building societies (i.e. financial institutions offer lending and deposit taking) to be 

eligible for application of the FRSME (Carter, 2011).  Otherwise, these entities had to 

apply the EU-adopted IFRS, which imposed undue burden on them. 

To conclude, it is practically difficult to find an appropriate definition of SMEs since 

this sector is heterogeneous.  Which characteristics of SMEs should be used to 

differentiate small and medium enterprises from large one is still questionable.  In 

respect of financial reporting requirements, it seems that the quantitative based 

definition was not suggested since they were less likely to signify the needs of users or 

costs and benefits of financial reporting.  The use of qualitative criteria might perform 

better in such tasks, but it was argued that such non-quantified criteria might be too 

vague and resulted in different interpretations and made it difficult to implement.  

2.6 Users and uses of SME financial statements 

Financial reporting by business entities, including SMEs is typically based on 

financial reporting model where the focus objective is on providing useful information 

to users.  The identification of users and uses of financial statements is thus 

fundamentally important, especially when developing or simplifying financial 

standards for SMEs. 

 

This section starts with an overview of the empirical findings with regard to main 

users of SME financial statements.  Then, the review of how different classes of user 

groups use financial statements of SMEs is discussed.   
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2.6.1 Main users of SME financial statements 

In the IFRS for SMEs, financial statement users envisaged by the IASB are banks, 

suppliers or trade creditors, credit rating agencies, customers and shareholders that are 

not managers (ACCA, 2008).  The results from the empirical studies on SME 

financial statement users showed a narrower and different range of user group.  The 

earlier research pertaining to small company financial reporting carried out with 

auditors and directors of SMEs in Ireland and the UK (Barker & Noonan, 1996; 

Carsberg, Page, Sindall, & Waring, 1985; Page, 1981; Page, 1984) showed that the 

most important use of SME statutory financial statements was to provide information 

to the entity’s directors, followed by tax authorities and banks or lenders, but 

shareholders, trade creditors and other business contracts were perceived less 

important.  However, as found in the work of Page (1984), most of the directors of 

small companies were also major shareholders.   

 

The findings from subsequent studies conducted with UK small entities and their 

accountants supported the results of previous UK studies.  In the work of Collis and 

Jarvis (2000), for example, the questionnaire responses of 385 independent, active 

small companies filing full audited accounts revealed that small company statutory 

accounts were mainly provided to banks and other finance providers (69.1%), tax 

authorities (45.2%), and small company directors who are not shareholders (19%).  

Sian and Roberts (2009) undertook a similar survey but extended their study to a 

wider group of small entities; both incorporated and unincorporated small businesses 

were included in the samples. The analysis of responses from 299 small business 

owners and 398 accountants showed that overall both groups of respondents perceived 

small business owners, tax authorities and banks as main users of financial statements, 

while few small business owners (3.8%) reported providing their accounts to 

customers and suppliers.  The report of POBA (2006) further suggested that larger 

companies were more likely to provide their annual accounts to external users such as 

banks; the majority of companies with annual turnover less than £1 million did not 

regularly supply their annual accounts to external stakeholders. 
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The findings from non-UK based studies of financial reporting by small entities such 

as that conducted by Maingot and Zeghal (2006) did not differ significantly from 

those of UK-based research in terms of the array of user groups.  Based on the 

responses to the questionnaire survey with 162 stakeholders of Canadian small 

entities, including owners, managers, and accountants, they found that the three most 

important uses of small entity financial statements were tax purposes, bank lending 

and management uses.  However, the limited range of users was found in the study 

undertaken in Vietnam (Dang-Duc, Marriott, & Marriott, 2006).   The qualitative 

interviews undertaken with a sample of 19, including owners of small companies, 

accountants, loan officers, and government agencies, showed that the perceived main 

users of small company’s financial statements were tax authorities and government 

agencies.  Likewise, in the questionnaire survey of 589 Thai SMEs located in the 

Bangkok area, tax authorities, shareholders and management, in order, were perceived 

to be important users of SME financial statements by the majority of respondents 

(Srijunpetch, 2009).   

  

A review of the literature on users of SME financial statements and their information 

needs was carried out by several authors, such as Di Pietra et al. (2008), Evans et al. 

(2005), and Sian and Roberts (2006).  These studies found that many small companies 

produce financial statements primarily for tax authorities, owner-managers and banks.  

They also reached a similar conclusion that there were unclear about the users and 

their uses of SME financial statements.  Evans et al. (2005) further asserted that 

difference in users and their needs existed within SMEs, especially between very 

small entities and larger SMEs.   

 

Given the IASB defined SMEs as non-public accountable entities, the findings from 

the studies of financial reporting of private entities, especially in the context of 

different reporting standards were of interest.  The earlier findings from the studies in 

Australia (McCahey & Ramsey, 1989) and in the United States (Nair & Rittenberg, 

1983) which focused mainly on identifying external users of private entities revealed 

that lenders were perceived as important external users.  This is consistent with the 

evidence found by Rennie and Senkow (2009).  The survey of 81 Canadian private 

companies without public accountability who were eligible for differential reporting 
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framework showed that the main external users of private company’s financial 

statements were lenders and shareholders.  This study, as indicated by Rennie and 

Senkow, suffered from non-response bias since the response rate was very low. 

 

In summary, it was apparent from the results of the research studies that entity’s 

management, tax authorities and lenders were identified as main users of small entity 

financial statements.  For most small companies, shareholders were unimportant as 

this user group was involved in business management, but accounting standards 

setters viewed them as the principal users of financial statements and the two main 

users of SME financial statements i.e. tax authorities and management were 

disregarded.   

2.6.2 Uses of SME financial statements 

2.6.2.1 Management 

The research to date, mainly from the UK studies, has shown that small entities’ 

financial statements were used by the entities’ management. The results from studies 

suggested that the important use made of financial statements was confirmatory of 

past performance and most owner-managers did not find their statutory accounts 

useful for day-to-day managerial purposes.  For example, the study of Carsberg et al. 

(1985) found that small company directors indicated that the accounts were used for 

their decision about dividends and directors’ pay.  Collis and Jarvis (2000) further 

found that small company statutory accounts were perceived to be most useful for 

“deciding director’s pay and bonuses, comparing performance with prior periods and 

in connection with loans or finance” (p. 57), but as compared to management 

information e.g. management accounts, bank statements, and budget, the statutory 

accounts were perceived to be less useful for management purposes.  The findings 

from the work of Collis and Jarvis (2002) also suggested a positive association 

between the use of management accounts and the small company director’s perception 

that statutory accounts were not a useful source of information for management 

purposes.  A subsequent study of Sian and Roberts (2009) undertaken with the sample 

of owner-managed small businesses showed similar results except that the accounts 

were not viewed as useful information sources for deciding director’s remuneration.   

 



47 

 

Dugdale, Hussey, and Jarvis (1998) indicated that the perceived usefulness of the 

statutory accounts as a source of management information was likely to be in very 

small firms and would decrease as a business grows and develops its management 

information system. Computerised accounting systems, including accounting software 

packages were widely used among SMEs (Collis & Jarvis, 2002; Sian & Roberts, 

2009; McMahon, 1998).  This implies that not only annual accounts but also more 

frequent and detailed management reports could be easily generated from the 

computerised system.  The findings from several studies have shown that many SMEs 

used a computerised accounting system to keep records and to produce management 

information (for example, Marriott & Marriott, 2000; Sian & Roberts, 2009).  Given 

management information could be easily generated for management’s uses, it is 

expected that the perceived usefulness of financial information in the annual accounts 

for management purposes would decrease.     

2.6.2.2 Shareholders 

From a legal perspective, companies are usually required to send annual accounts to 

their shareholders.  In the United Kingdom, for example, the Companies Act 2006 in 

relation to accounting requirement requires directors of a small and medium company 

to send annual accounts to its shareholders (Davies, 2008; French, Mayson, & Ryan, 

2008).  This legal requirement is similar to Thai company laws, which the annual 

accounts of companies must be prepared and submitted to every shareholder before 

the general meeting (DBD, 2009e). 

 

Another important function of companies’ published accounts is for profit distribution 

to shareholders.  Typically, a dividend has to be paid from the company’s profit 

available for distribution and this is reported in the accounts.  The distribution of 

profits must not be a return of capital of its shareholders and the profit is determined 

by GAAP accounting which is a basis for preparation of financial statements (French 

et al., 2008).  Similarly, according to Thai company laws, a dividend must not be paid 

if there is a loss from the company’s operations (DBD, 2009e).   
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Research studies, however, suggested that management and ownership of small 

businesses was rarely separated.  Page (1984) found that the vast majority of directors 

of 413 UK small companies owned 50 percent or more of the share capital.  More 

recent studies conducted with UK small companies of Collis (2008) and Collis and 

Jarvis (2000) showed a similar result; most of small companies were owner-managed 

and had a small number of shareholders, ranging from one to four persons.   This also 

implied that the owners or shareholders could observe the behavior of an employed 

manager on a daily basis, resulting in less onerous monitoring costs (McMahon & 

Stanger, 1995). 

 

It was therefore argued that the financial reporting requirement for small companies to 

produce accounts for the benefit of shareholders was largely pointless, as most of 

them were managers or directors of the business (Davies, 2008; Page, 1984).  Collis 

and Jarvis (2000) also asserted that the majority of owners or shareholders certainly 

had access to financial information for controlling and monitoring purposes and thus 

made the stewardship role of financial reporting to owners or shareholders 

“redundant” (p. 31). 

Likewise, based on the discussion with private enterprise financial statement users in 

Canada, many minority shareholders of private firms, especially small and medium 

entities, “seem to have family or employee relationships” (AcSB, 2007, p. 55), so they 

have access into internal financial information.  Nevertheless, non-managing 

owners/shareholders were likely to be important users of SME accounts since “they 

gain a significant amount of their wealth from this single investment and they do not 

gain from the diversification advantages open to investors in the stock market” (Sian 

& Roberts, 2006, p. 17).  Without an active-market, annual financial statements might 

be the only source of information about the company these minority shareholders 

receive (AcSB, 2007). 

2.6.2.3 Tax authorities 

As discussed earlier, the studies in both developed countries and emerging economies 

showed that the tax authorities were one of the principal users of small company 

accounts.  For example, in their survey study, Barker and Noonan (1996) 

demonstrated that tax authorities used financial statements, for example, to assess 
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gross profit, to examine directors’ fees and expenses, and to see whether a company’s 

accounts were accompanied by a qualified auditor report.  For accounting standards 

setters such as the IASB, tax reporting is not in the scope of general purpose financial 

statements, as each jurisdiction has its own taxation rules, so it is not practicable for 

setting accounting standards to meet those needs (Sian & Roberts, 2006) and tax 

authorities in fact have a power to require additional information they consider 

necessary from the entity.  

From the regulators’ standpoint, financial reporting and taxation have different 

objectives; financial reporting provides information for users while tax reporting 

serves as a basis for determining taxable income, even though they both have in 

common the needs for information of financial position and operating performance 

(Eberhartinger, 1999).  However, many small entity owners perceived financial 

reporting as a legal obligation for tax filing (Walton, Haller, & Raffournier, 2003).   

2.6.2.4 Banks  

A significant number of studies have shown that banks were the most important 

external users of small entity financial statements.  This finding is in line with the 

evidence obtained from the study carried out in different countries and found that 

bank loans were one of main sources of debt finance for SMEs (Berger & Udell, 1998; 

Berry & Robertson, 2006).  In particular, smaller firms were more reliant upon 

internal sources of finance (Mac An Bhaird & Lucey, 2010).  Bruns and Fletcher 

(2008) further suggested that SME owners prefer to acquire debt finance rather than 

equity funding because they can maintain the control over their businesses. A postal 

survey of Australian small businesses also demonstrated that annual and periodic 

financial statements, future-oriented financial statements and business plan were 

provided to finance providers when seeking for debt or equity finance (McMahon, 

1999).  

In SME lending practice, two approaches; going concern and gone concern approach, 

are adopted (Berry, Grant, & Jarvis, 2004).  The going concern approach focuses on 

the “cash-generating ability” of a borrower to repay loan and interest in the future.  

Business plan, accounting information, and interviews, for example, are sources of 

information used in this approach.  The gone concern approach, in contrast, places 
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much emphasis on securing the loan repayment in case of default, so the value of 

assets, collateral, or guarantee is a major concern of bankers.  Berry et al. (2004) 

indicated that on lending to small entities European banks operating in the UK 

employed both going and gone concern approaches, while the UK banks were likely 

to adopt gone concern approach.   

 

In the process of bank lending, making decision to grant loan and subsequent 

monitoring of loans were two main activities (Berry, Faulkner, Hughes, & Jarvis, 

1993).  A lender “has to ensure that credit is granted to customers who are capable and 

willing to repay the loan and interest” (Bruns & Fletcher, 2008, p. 173).  However, it 

is widely known that smaller entities lack credible financial information and this is a 

major obstacle of external funding acquisition (Brewer, 2007).  When audited 

financial statements are unavailable for financial statement lending, other lending 

technologies have been introduced to reduce such problem, for instance, asset-based 

lending and credit scoring and relationship lending (Berger & Udell, 2002).  This 

implies that multiple sources of information, such as credit scoring and so called ‘soft 

information’ are used to assess financial stability, ability to repay loan, or profitability 

of small business clients.  

 

However, research studies suggested that financial statements played an important 

role in bank lending decision.  Bank loan officers converted the financial statement 

information of a prospective borrower into a standardised form for loan evaluation 

(Berry, Crum, & Waring, 1993; McCahey & Ramsey, 1989).  In the process of 

granting loans to SMEs by German Banks, financial statements were a key source of 

information in bank internal rating process (Zuelch & Burghardt, 2010, p. 55).  Apart 

from financial statements, a business plan was indicated as an important document for 

loan application of small enterprises by many authors (Burns, 2007; McMahon, 1999; 

Richbell, Watts, & Wardle, 2006).  The work of Bruns and Fletcher (2008), however, 

showed that it had no effect on lending decision making of Swedish banks.  Moreover, 

for the entity’s business plan usually containing past and future financial statements of 

a business for several years, the study of Mason and Stark (2004) revealed that 

bankers were more interested in the “financial aspects” of SME business plans rather 

than markets, ability of management, or products (p. 227).   
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Dang-Duc, Marriott and Marriott (2008) also examined the use of SME financial 

statements by bank lending officers in Vietnam.  Similar to prior studies, bankers 

converted financial statement information into a standardised form, but they viewed 

that small entity financial statements were less useful in loan decision making. Site 

visit and direct communication with clients, for example, were used as alternative 

sources of information.  The results of this study also suggested that the bank’s use of 

SME financial statements was influenced by the directors’ perceptions of the role of 

accounting, but not by the uses of accounting standards and financial statement audit.   

The use of different reporting standards for the production of financial reports of 

SMEs had no significant effect on bank loan officers’ lending decisions (Kent & 

Munro, 1999).  In a similar study, Zuelch and Burghardt (2010) indicated that from 

German bankers’ standpoints, provision of financial statements prepared according to 

the IFRS rather than those of German GAAP, in some cases, received a ‘rating bonus’ 

in bank internal credit rating process.  Nevertheless, the audit exemption for smaller 

company in the UK affected on the use of accounts by bankers.  According to the 

POBA report (2006), the British bankers indicated that following change to audit 

exemption thresholds; they did not routinely request statutory accounts from their 

small business clients who borrow a small amount of loan, but used other information 

such as clients’ bank accounts for monitoring purposes.  In this respect, according to 

the report on a survey with bankers in various countries by IFAC/The Banker, audited 

financial statements were of value for banks in considering SME loan application, as 

around 66 percent of 164 respondents indicated their lending policies required some 

form of assurance on financial statements and financial statement audit was ranked as 

the most favourable level of assurance by the respondents (IFAC/The Banker, 2009).   

To sum up, banks seemed to place less reliance on audited financial statements than 

formerly; both financial and non-financial information e.g. annual accounts, 

management accounts and market prospect were used to make lending decisions and 

to perform a subsequent monitoring.  Nevertheless, bank’s uses of financial statements 

in lending decisions were likely to depend on several factors e.g. bank’s lending 

practice and availability of financial statements.   
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2.6.2.5 Venture capitalists  

Venture capitalists have been suggested as potential users of small company financial 

statements since they are providers of finance to SMEs (Sian & Roberts, 2006).  

Unlike bankers, this group of equity investor shares in any capital gain and their 

primary concerns are the growth potential of the business and the potential return, so 

they are interested in financial aspects, market, and management capability (Mason & 

Stark, 2004).  Their investment decision is a multi-stage process, consisting of initial 

screening, project evaluation and post-investment activities.  In the valuation of the 

investment proposal, venture capitalists placed more emphasis on financial 

information, especially in projections (Manigart et al., 2000).  However, gathering of 

information on the non-public companies, its management, and its future prospects 

was more difficult since they were subject to few legal information requirements 

(Manigart, Wright, Robbie, Desbrires, & De Waele, 1997).  

Research studies regarding the use of information by venture capitalists suggested that 

a variety of sources of information is used in the valuation process, including business 

plan data, due diligence reports, sales and product information, interviews with the 

company management, industry data.  For example, Manigart et al. (1997) carried out 

the survey with European venture capitalists and found that the venture capitalists’ 

own due diligence reports, overall coherence of the business plan, and financial 

statement information (from the past and projected the future) were perceived as the 

most important source of information for valuation.  Venture capitalists in India, Hong 

Kong, Singapore placed less emphasis on accounting and financial data in business 

plans than that in the United States (Lockett, Wright, Sapienza, & Pruthi, 2002).   

In the monitoring process, reporting requirements from investee firms varied 

according to investors’ demand (Robbie, Wright, & Chiplin, 1997).  The investee 

firms were typically required to supply monthly management accounts, consisting of a 

balance sheet, profit and loss account and cash flow statement, but the disclosed 

information in the management accounts were more than that of statutory accounts 

(Mitchell, Reid, & Terry, 1997).   

It was apparent that various sources of information were employed by venture 

capitalists and financial statement information is very important in their investment 
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decisions.  As stated in the report of POBA (2006), venture capitalists relied on their 

own procedures and process in evaluation investment proposal, rather than financial 

accounts.  However, how venture capitalists used the information varied.  In 

particular, whether or to what extent venture capitalists use the financial statements of 

SMEs is not clear. 

2.6.2.6 Business partners and other users 

Trade credit was indicated as another source of finance for SMEs and financial 

statements were used to determine creditworthiness of SMEs.  As mentioned earlier, 

the studies found that only a small number of SMEs provided their accounts to 

customers and suppliers/creditors.  In practice, as pointed out by John and Healeas 

(2000), trade creditors did not depend on statutory accounts for their credit decisions, 

but they tended to “pursue their own independent sources before extending credit” (p. 

33).  Nevertheless, the published accounts of other business were found to be an 

information source for small companies themselves; of 385 UK small companies, 

around 33 percent reported reading the published statutory accounts of their major 

customers and about 24 percent of the respondents indicated reading the published 

accounts of major suppliers/creditors (Collis & Jarvis, 2000, p. 47).  The report of 

POBA (2006) asserted that many SMEs used other company’s accounts to assess the 

creditworthiness of prospective customers before granting trade credit (p. 37).  This 

was supported by the results’ study of Kitching, Kasperova, Blackburn, and Collis 

(2011).  Of 149 small companies who responded to the questionnaire survey, about 24 

percent indicated using abbreviated accounts of potential customers.  However, the 

results of interviews revealed that some small companies thought the published 

abbreviated accounts were beneficial because of their lack of ability to require 

financial information from current and potential business partners (p. 46).   

 

Credit rating agencies were identified as external users of SME financial statements 

(IASB, 2009). The report from discussion with credit reference agencies by ICAEW 

(2009) demonstrated that the published accounts were used for assessing credit risk of 

companies.  The result from the survey of UK credit agencies showed that they were 

dissatisfied with the usefulness of published small company accounts.  Filing choice 

for small companies which permits filing abbreviated accounts and unaudited 
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accounts caused difficulty in the assessment of SMEs’ creditworthiness (POBA, 

2006). 

 

In summary, with regard to the uses of financial statements, there was evidence that 

several external user groups, such as finance or equity providers, credit rating 

agencies, and tax authorities used financial statements of SMEs, but the extent of their 

uses varied significantly.  Nevertheless, it seemed to suggest that most of these 

external users were less likely to depend on financial statements, as a variety of 

information sources were often employed in their business decision making.  For 

SMEs, shareholders were often in position of the directors, so they certainly had 

access to internal information of the entity. 

2.7 Costs and benefits of SME financial reporting 

2.7.1 Costs and/or burdens of financial reporting to SMEs 

Financial reporting requirements for all companies incur not only costs of preparation 

and dissemination of statutory reports such as audit fees and staff salaries but also 

indirect costs e.g. opportunity costs for use of limited resources, competitive 

disadvantages and breach of privacy resulting from publication and disclosure of the 

company accounts (Arrunada, 2008; Carsberg et al., 1985).  It is often argued that the 

requirements to prepare and publish the accounts impose disproportionate costs on 

smaller entities.  Much of the regulatory compliance costs are fixed, while small 

entities lack time and expertise to administer such legal requirements and are unable 

to spread the costs across large scale of operation, so smaller entities are typically 

subject to proportionately higher costs than larger firms (Kitching, 2006).  Arrunada 

(2008), however, contended that proprietary costs for small companies were likely to 

be small, in comparison with that of large and medium companies.  For privacy costs, 

it was difficult to quantify and incorporated businesses who benefit from limited 

liability need to disclose some financial information for the benefit of potential 

creditors.    
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2.7.1.1 Argument on cost and benefit of SME financial reporting 

The issue in relation to costs and benefits of reporting requirements for SMEs is 

controversial.  The EU Commission, for instance, proposed exempting micro entities 

from the obligation to prepare and publish annual accounts (EC, 2009a).  The main 

argument was that such reporting obligations imposed undue burdens on micro 

entities and this proposal would produce cost savings for micro entities of around 

£1,000 per year.  However, many argued that both micro companies and their 

stakeholders would receive no benefit from this exemption (ACCA/EFAA, 2010; 

UEAPME, 2010).  The anticipated cost reduction might be marginal or non-existent 

because micro entities would still need to prepare financial reports for other purposes 

e.g. tax filing, bank finance and potential business contacts.  In turn, the exemption 

would lead to less secure business environment, as the financial reporting rules aiming 

to ensure adequate information available for those who deal with the companies no 

longer existed.  

Arrunada (2008) also criticised the EU Commission for underestimation of the 

benefits of published accounts and indicated that published financial information 

would create externalities, especially in terms of information for credit assessment by 

third parties e.g. banks, trade creditors or other business partners.  In addition, if there 

was no filing requirement, communication of financial information directly between 

contractual parties might be costly, as compared to making it publicly available.  

Similarly, Davies (2007) cautioned that the absence of financial reporting regulation 

would reduce the company’s financial discipline and increase the potential for 

financial crime.  He further pointed out that as compared to other regulatory 

requirements the financial reporting rules were not on the list of “the top grievance of 

SMEs, either in cost or time terms” (p. 32).   

With regard to financial reporting by micro entities, the discussion paper regarding 

simpler reporting for the smallest entities of the UK Department for Business 

Innovation & Skills (BIS/FRC, 2011) suggested using a cash accounting basis for 

preparing the financial reports so as to better meet information needs of micro 
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entities2. Tax authorities and trading partners were their main users, while other user 

groups, such as banks and credit rating agencies, did not rely on published financial 

information since they tended to have a power to demand information from the 

businesses.  This implied that for micro companies the costs of producing GAAP 

financial statements outweighed the derived benefits.  The ICAEW (2011c), however, 

argued that the disclosed information prepared on an accrual basis was necessary and 

beneficial to the accountability relationship between incorporated businesses and non-

managing owners and third parties.  Cash based accounts were not appropriate for 

management purposes and would result in information that was misleading to third 

party users.  The CIMA (2011) stressed that cash basis accounting was only relevant 

to micro entities with up to three employees and extending such basis to larger sizes of 

entities would result in unintended consequences; however, they viewed that the 

emphasis on cash flow information would support credit risk assessment of finance 

providers rather than traditional financial statements.   

2.7.1.2 Perceptions of SMEs and other stakeholders 

The evidence from the U.S. study has shown that in the absence of regulatory 

financial reporting requirements, small entities, regardless of legal form, have benefits 

from preparing GAAP financial statements.  Using the data from 2003 National 

Survey of Small Business Finances, Allee and Yohn (2009) found that small entities 

with financial statements prepared on the basis of accrual accounting had better access 

to external finance and small entities with audited financial statements were more 

likely to have a lower cost of capital. 

In the context where financial reporting was legally required, the findings from 

research studies regarding this issue are inconsistent.  The earlier research studies in 

the UK suggested that SMEs did not perceive compliance with financial reporting 

requirements as burdensome (Carsberg et al., 1985).  It was, however, argued that the 

lack of concern with reporting burdens might result from the lack of awareness of 

financial reporting issues among small entities.  Likewise, Keasey and Short (1990) 

conducted questionnaire-based interviews with small entities and found that in general 

the perception of accounting burdens was not related to firm’s characteristics e.g. firm 

                                                           
2 Micro entity is defined as a company with a turnover of less than £440,000, having total assets of less 
than £220,000 and employing fewer than 10 employees. 
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size, business age or number of employees.  Only half of the sample entities ranked 

the requirement of annual accounts in the top half of a list of administrative burdens. 

Furthermore, about 60 percent indicated the production of annual accounts was 

beneficial for e.g. management and bank purposes.   

With regard to the perception of SMEs toward the benefits of statutory accounts, the 

findings from the interview study carried out with owner-mangers of UK small 

companies showed that small company owner-managers with limited accounting skills 

perceived small benefits gained from the accounts (Marriott & Marriott, 1999).  More 

recent qualitative interview research with various stakeholders of small and medium 

companies in Vietnam also indicated that most of respondents were not aware of costs 

and benefits of financial reporting, but they viewed financial reporting as a function of 

legal requirements (Dang-Duc et al., 2006).   

Nevertheless, in the survey by Collis and Jarvis (2000) of private companies who filed 

full audited accounts with the Companies Registrar, small company owner-managers 

identified confirmation and verification of financial results as the main benefits of 

financial reports, whereas the perceived disadvantages were costs in money and time 

terms.  For proprietary costs, they had no concern over loss of competitiveness 

advantages from disclosure of information.  The study also suggested that the 

perceived costs and benefits of financial reporting were associated with firm size; 

companies with a turnover of £1 million and above tended to report benefits, while 

those with a turnover of under £1 million were more likely to identify disadvantage of 

financial reporting.  The results from the survey of accountants, however, revealed 

that costs were the main weaknesses of financial reporting requirements.  For instance, 

accounting practitioners in Canada viewed that the existing financial reporting 

standards for small business entities were time consuming, too complex and too 

costly.  They suggested reducing the burdens from production of financial statements 

by using computerised system and simplifying the existing standards, but did not 

agree with complete exemption of reporting requirements for small entities (Maingot 

& Zeghal, 2006).   
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The findings from several studies pertaining to SME financial reporting options in the 

UK and other countries also indicated that SMEs themselves did not view costs of 

financial reporting as a major burden because many of them prepared or disclosed 

financial information more than the minimum requirements i.e. some companies had 

their financial statements audited or filed full accounts even though they were eligible 

for exemptions  (e.g. Collis, 2008; Collis, 2010a; Collis, Jarvis, & Skerratt, 2004).  For 

example, the evidence from the questionnaire survey of SME directors who filed 2006 

annual accounts showed that the main influence on filing and audit decisions of SME 

directors was consistency with prior accounting period rather than cost savings 

(Collis, 2008).  From the sample of private companies qualified as small companies 

under the EU size criteria in the UK and Denmark, the analysis of responses revealed 

that cost of audit was not considered as a substantial expense (Collis, 2010a).  

Notably, for the UK studies, as Collis et al. (2004) and Collis (2010a) discussed, the 

smallest companies were not represented and private companies filed abbreviated 

accounts were not included in the sample.  Moreover, the studies were not based on 

directors’ actual audit choice.   

Using the sample companies eligible for filing option and audit exemption from prior 

study of Collis (2008) to investigate factors influencing their actual financial reporting 

choice in micro and small companies, Collis (2010b) found that in both size groups 

the cost was not a determinant of voluntary audit and voluntary filing full accounts.  

This implied that micro and small companies perceived that the derived benefits 

would outweigh the costs of providing information in the accounts. This study also 

suggested that small companies were less concerned with disadvantages resulting 

from disclosure of turnover in the accounts.  In this aspect, the work of Dedman and 

Lennox (2009) conducted with the sample of UK medium-sized private companies 

filing accounts in 2003 and 2004 to examine their disclosure choice; full or 

abbreviated profit and loss accounts, revealed that manager’s perceived competition 

was positively associated with the amount of information disclosed; the higher the 

level of competition faced by the companies, the lesser the disclosure of information 

about companies’ sales or costs of sales. 
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Given the reduction of financial reporting costs was a main justification for 

simplifying or exempting financial reporting requirements for SMEs, Rennie and 

Senkow (2009) examined whether Canadian private companies experienced additional 

costs and/or cost savings from application of differential reporting standards.  

Although the generalisation of the study’s results is restricted by very low response 

rate, it provides insightful information about this issue. Of 16 respondents who opted 

for differential reporting and could determine the savings, the majority identified costs 

savings in terms of reducing audit/accountant fee around 10 percent or less, but no 

additional cost incurred.  However, Rennie and Senkow (2009) further stated that “it 

was questionable what has been lost from non-uniformity of financial reporting 

standards” (p. 63).   

Filing option, either full or abbreviated accounts, is another measure to reduce 

reporting costs for SMEs and in particular to protect the business from disclosing too 

much information to other parties e.g. competitors or business partners; however, such 

concession might lead to negative consequences (Eierle, 2008).  For example, it would 

impair the usefulness of the financial statements and might incur costs resulting from 

preparing another set of accounts in addition to a full set of financial statements 

prepared for shareholders.  In the UK, Kitching et al. (2011) conducted a study with 

small companies, users of small company’s accounts, and accountants to elicit their 

views regarding the value of small company abbreviated accounts.  The results 

indicated that accountants played a key role in filing decision.  From small company 

directors’ viewpoints, a choice of filing abbreviated accounts was of importance, as it 

was a means to keep confidentiality of business operations or personal finance.  The 

potential disadvantages resulting from reduced transparency, such as lower sales or 

limited access to finance, were perceived as insignificant.  The account users e.g. 

banks and credit rating agencies identified that the abbreviated accounts were 

important sources of information for assessing creditworthiness of small companies 

which they could easily acquire at a low cost.  However, it was only a part of 

information used for making credit decisions.  They further indicated that the 

company accounts were out of date, as they were required to file within nine months.  

The limited content of abbreviated accounts also resulted in more restriction on 

granting credits. 
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2.7.1.3 Role of accountants  

A significant number of studies regarding SME financial reporting suggested an 

important role of accountants in financial reporting decisions and preparation of 

statutory accounts of SMEs (e.g. Eierle & Haller, 2009; Kitching et al., 2011; POBA, 

2006).  In particular, the use of services from external accountants to support 

accounting and reporting tasks was pervasive among SMEs.  For instance, the surveys 

of SMEs in the US, UK, Spain, Germany and Hong Kong indicated that accountants 

were used most for accounting and tax compliance work (Berry, 2006).  Other studies 

of UK small companies also found that the annual accounts of over 80 percent of 

small companies were prepared by external accountants (Collis & Jarvis, 2002; 

POBA, 2006; Sian & Roberts, 2009).  Nevertheless, the advisory role of external 

accountants was also found in other studies carried out in various countries 

(Blackburn & Jarvis, 2010; Devi & Samujh, 2010; Marriott, Marriott, Collis, & Dang-

Duc, 2008).  Everaert, Sarens, and Rommel (2007) investigated the reason for 

outsourcing accounting tasks of 121 SMEs in Belgium and found that cost savings 

was not their main concern but it was the need for accounting expertise.   

In conclusion, a significant number of studies were conducted on the issue of costs 

and benefits of SME financial reporting, but the findings are mixed.  From a supply 

side, it seems that many SMEs did not consider financial reporting as burdensome and 

the concerns over loss of competitiveness from disclosure financial information was 

less prominent, especially among small companies.  Despite a few studies undertaken 

to assess the effects of simplified reporting requirements for SMEs on the uses of 

SME financial statements, permitting SMEs to disclose less information e.g. filing 

abbreviated accounts might limit the usefulness of the accounts, leading to negative 

consequences such as financing constraints.   
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2.7.2 SME statutory audit  

Among the differentiations of financial reporting requirements for small, medium and 

large entities, audit exemptions have been introduced by many jurisdictions to reduce 

the burdens of financial reporting on SMEs.  For instance, in the UK the recent 

government consultation paper revealed that around 87 percent of non-dormant 

companies, including small companies were exempted from statutory audit 

requirement and the extension of audit exemptions to more UK SMEs was proposed 

(BIS, 2011).  In many EU countries, the audit exemption thresholds have been raised 

to allow more SMEs to benefit from non-mandatory audit (ACCA, 2010a).  The 

ICAEW (2009) also indicated that there was an increasing trend in providing audit 

exemptions to non-listed companies, including SMEs worldwide.   

The main argument supporting the SME exemption from audit suggested that the 

benefits of mandatory SME audits relative to the costs associated with it were 

unjustified.  The ownership structure of SMEs, specifically micro companies was 

concentrated on a small number of shareholders and the major shareholders of small 

companies were likely to be involved in the management of the company (Fearnley, 

Hines, McBride, & Brandt, 2000; Keasey, Watson, & Wynarczyk, 1988; Kitindi, 

2004; Page, 1991).  Thus, the separation of ownership and control rarely existed, so 

the audit for the benefit of shareholders was not necessary.  With respect to the 

benefits of audit to financial statement users, as indicated in the consultation 

document regarding audit exemptions and accounting framework of the UK 

Department for Business Innovation & Skills (BIS, 2011), tax authorities and banks 

were the main creditors of small companies, but these user groups were in a strong 

position to require a company to provide more information and in particular to 

demand an audit as a condition for granting credit.  Therefore, a lack of mandatory 

audit would not lead to more difficulty in the access to finance of SMEs.   

For those who oppose the exemption, negative consequences of non-mandatory audit 

of SMEs were pointed out e.g. reduction in the quality of financial information 

produced by businesses and lower users’ confidence in financial statements (Smith, 

2011).  In addition to tax authorities and finance providers who have an ability to 

require financial information they desire, there were “less powerful stakeholders” who 

carried out business contacts with SMEs (ACCA, 2010b, p. 6).  Without access to 
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reliable businesses’ financial information, this group of stakeholder might be at risk.  

The Federation of European Accountants further indicated that the beneficial role of 

accounting and auditing requirements was beyond agency relationships or private 

contracting; such requirements could lead to “a well-functioning and sustainable 

economy” by enhancing the quality of internal management and controls and 

transparency and reducing potential fraud activities in SMEs, for example (FEE, 2007, 

p. 3). 

Several research studies regarding the perceptions of SME directors toward statutory 

audit requirement revealed that many small company directors perceived the value of 

audit not only in a role of safeguarding the interests of shareholders and outside 

stakeholders but also providing managerial benefits to the companies.  For instance, 

the findings from a postal survey of UK small companies with turnover between £0.5 

million and £4.2 million filing full accounts by Collis et al. (2004) indicated that 63 

percent of 385 respondents would opt for an audit if it was not legally required; 

however, larger companies were more likely to have a voluntary audit.  The results of 

the study also suggested that a voluntary audit decision was influenced by several 

factors e.g. the existence of agency relationships between small companies and non-

managing shareholders or finance providers and the directors’ perceived benefits from 

the audit in terms of improving financial information quality and providing a check on 

internal records.  It was, however, noted that these results were not representative of 

small companies filing abbreviated accounts. 

In the study of Collis (2008), the analysis of 1,294 responses received from directors 

of small and medium-sized companies revealed that the most perceived benefits of 

audit was a check on accounting records, indicated by 74 percent of the respondents.  

Almost half of them also agreed that the audit would, for instance, improve  internal 

control systems and the quality of the financial information and have a positive effect 

on the credit rating score, but around a third of directors viewed the costs of audit 

exceeded the benefits.  Nevertheless, of 592 small companies eligible for audit 

exemption, only 39 percent actually opted for a voluntary audit and 32 percent 

indicated their companies would benefits from such audit choice.  With respect to a 

cost saving, among small companies who discontinued an audit after raising audit 
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exemption threshold in 2003, 54 percent have not experienced a decrease in total 

accounting fees.   

In the report of POBA (2006), accounting practitioners stated that small companies 

who chose a voluntary audit were likely to consider the audit as “a cost effective 

solution for their internal needs and those of their stakeholders”, while small 

companies’ major reason for discontinuing the audit was “the absence of external 

stakeholders for whom the audit could be helpful” (p. 35).  This is consistent with the 

findings from the survey with SMEs’ directors by SERTeam for POBA (2005); about 

half of small company directors whose accounts were voluntarily audited indicated 

that the audit was useful to banks and other lenders and provide companies’ 

management confidence in control.  The results from qualitative interviews with 

directors of SMEs also suggested that the directors’ views on the value of audit were 

diverse (Marriott, Collis, & Marriott, 2006).  Some of them perceived no benefits or 

viewed it as fulfilling legal requirement, whereas those who had a voluntary audit 

indicated the benefits of the audit to present and potential investors and business 

partners.   

Similar research studies on audit of SME financial statements were carried out in 

other countries and the findings are in line with the UK research.  In Malta, Tabone 

and Baldacchino (2003) conducted a postal survey of owner-managed companies and 

auditors and found that the respondents from both groups agreed that statutory audit 

played an important role in protection of the interests of third parties e.g. banks, trade 

creditors and tax authorities.  The statutory audit was useful for improving the 

reliability of the financial statements and in particular the auditor’s report added 

credibility to the financial statements used as a supporting document for contacting 

with credit providers and government agencies.  The respondents also indicated that 

the statutory audit requirement had a positive effect on owner-managers and staff.  It 

imposed financial discipline on owner-managers, deterred errors and frauds in 

companies and provided financial expertise to companies.  In a comparison study of 

SME audit in the UK and Denmark (Collis, 2010a), SMEs in both countries 

considered improving the quality of financial information and providing a check on 

internal records as the main benefits from the audit, while the audit cost was not 

viewed as burdensome.  However, the needs of shareholder and lenders were main 
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factors affecting voluntary audit decision of SMEs in Denmark, but in the UK the 

shareholders’ need was found only in not wholly family-owned companies, whereas 

the lenders’ needs had no influence.   

From the viewpoints of users of SME financial statements toward audit exemption, 

the interviews undertaken with external users of small company accounts by POBA 

(2006) indicated that credit reference agencies were more concerned with non-

compulsory audit than other user groups.  The Institute of Credit Management viewed 

that the audit was important for assessment of companies’ creditworthiness and non-

audited accounts would lead to lower credit scores.  For tax authorities and bankers, 

whether the accounts being audited or not were less important.  British Bankers’ 

Association, for instance, stated that they placed less reliance on audit and if the 

audited accounts were not available, other sources of information e.g. management 

accounts were used to indicate “good financial governance” of small companies (p. 

37).   

Likewise, the findings from interviews with banks and credit references agencies in 

the UK by the ICAEW (2009) revealed that a variety of information sources were 

used by these user groups, but credit reference agencies primarily used information in 

SME annual accounts to assess credit risk, as it was less costly in comparison to other 

sources of information.  However, it was found that adding credibility to SME 

financial statements by either audit or another assurance was important to these 

account users, particularly in terms of enhancing the confidence in financial 

information the companies produce.  For bankers, SMEs providing audited financial 

statements reflected a positive signal of the firms’ characteristics, such as their 

monitoring systems and management attitudes.  Similarly, credit rating agencies stated 

that the audit provided confidence in internal control of companies and was useful for 

a source of business advice to the companies.  With regard to a concern with negative 

impacts resulting from non-mandatory audit for SMEs, the evidence found in the 

POBA (2006) study suggested that the SME accounts whether audited or not tended to 

have a similar quality.  Based on a review of small company’s accounts filed at the 

Companies House, the POBA indicated that some technical disclosure or minor 

computation errors were found across sets of accounts, regardless of who prepared the 

accounts, having them audited or not, and type of firms.    
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Nevertheless, the more recent study of UK private companies to examine the impact 

of audit showed that negative consequences might result from not having mandatory 

audit.  Dedman and Kausar (2011) used the sample of 4,873 independent, small and 

private companies filing full accounts for 2003 and 2004 from the FAME database 

and compared the credit scores and the financial reporting quality of the sample 

companies.  They found that the companies who retained the audit had higher credit 

scores than those who discontinued the audit.  Also, the unaudited companies were 

more likely to recognise gains earlier and losses later after they opted out from the 

audit.  A similar study was also undertaken by using the same database and reporting 

year with the exclusion of those who filed abbreviated accounts to examine the impact 

of the change in the UK audit regime on private companies (Lennox & Pittman, 

2011).  The results from the analysis of the data of 5,139 companies indicated the 

companies who continued to have their accounts audited received higher credit 

ratings, whereas the credit scores of those who stopped the audit were lower.  Lennox 

and Pittman, however, argued that non-mandatory audit environment provided some 

advantages; companies were able to inform their finance providers about their types of 

companies.   

While the audit exemption was suggested to reduce the burden of SMEs, the results 

from several studies showed the value of statutory audit to some entities’ 

managements, financial statement users and other outside parties.  At various times, 

alternatives such as limited scope attestation (“a review”) or a standard audit 

qualification have been suggested as ways of reducing that audit burden (Farrugia and 

Baldacchino, 2005; ICAEW, 2009; Page, 1991).   
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2.7.3 Quality of SME financial statements 

The usefulness of SME financial statements depends on the quality of the statements.  

It may be pointless to expend resources on refining standards for SMEs if there is 

widespread non-compliance, for example.  Based on the U.S. empirical evidence, 

Botosan et al. (2006) asserted that GAAP financial statements can meet the 

information needs of users of small business financial statements; however, “where 

the cost of providing such information outweighs the benefits, market forces lead to 

deviations from GAAP”(p. 188).   

Research studies in the UK (Carsberg et al., 1985; POBA, 2006) and Ireland (Barker 

& Noonan, 1996) were carried out to assess the compliance level or the quality of 

disclosure of SMEs. It is noted that at the time the first two studies were conducted 

existing accounting standards were applicable to all sizes of entities and thus small 

companies were required to comply with full reporting standards.  The results of the 

studies showed that financial reporting standards designed mainly for large companies 

were of less relevance to small companies.  With regard to the extent of compliance 

with accounting standards, the studies provided mixed-results.  In structured interview 

survey with 50 accountants providing services to small companies (Carsberg et al., 

1985), around 56 percent of them indicated complying with accounting standards was 

a major burden, while 36 percent of them reported they did “not always comply with 

accounting standards” (p. 88).  In this study, reviewing the published accounts also 

provided the evidence of non-compliance with accounting standards.  Of 113 sets of 

small company accounts, non-compliance with requirement of depreciation of 

building was 34 percent and non-disclosure of accounting policy regarding inventory 

valuation method was found around 18 percent.  In another study of 144 Irish auditors 

by Barker and Noonan (1996), 83 percent of them perceived compliance with the 

existing accounting standards to be burdensome, but they assessed themselves as “a 

high level of compliance with the accounting standards and with company law” (p. 

41). Only 2 percent of all respondents reported non-compliance with financial 

reporting regulations, Baker and Noonan, however, argued that the respondents tended 

to report higher level of compliance than occurred in practice. 

Recently, the UK compliance study undertaken by POBA (2006) was different from 

the previous UK studies.  A total of 355 sets of companies’ accounts filed with the 
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Companies House were examined by accounting experts from e.g. POBA, ACCA, 

ICAEW, and ICAS so as to identify whether the reports were compliant with relevant 

accounting standards and the Companies Act and contained material errors in 

computation or presentation.  Notably, this assessment of the financial report quality 

was subjective although a general guideline explaining the steps for reviewing the 

accounts was provided to the accounting experts.  The report of POBA provided the 

overall results3 indicating that “the majority of the accounts were generally 

informative but appeared to include some technical disclosure or minor computational 

errors” (p. 25). For example, non-disclosures in the notes to the accounts required by 

accounting standards were found e.g. notes to fixed-assets and inventory valuation and 

no details of opening or closing balances.  POBA also found a “sizeable minority” had 

more serious issues, including balance sheet that had materially different totals (p. 25).  

Typically, the financial statements of SMEs were prepared by external accountants 

and accountants played an important role in filing and/or audit decisions (for instance 

Carsberg et al., 1985; Collis & Jarvis, 2000; Kitching et al., 2011; POBA, 2006).  The 

work of Bollen (1996) revealed that external accountants were helpful in improving 

the quality of financial statements.   

There has been some non-UK research on quality.  Findings from qualitative 

interviews with users of small company financial statements, consisting of tax 

authorities, banks and statistics agencies, indicated that external users perceived low 

quality of financial information provided by Vietnamese small companies (Dang-Duc 

et al., 2006).  Increase in the reliability and timeliness of financial statements was 

suggested by these users so as to make the reports valuable for their uses.  All users 

also thought that the negative perception of SME directors toward the role of 

accounting was a main factor for such poor quality financial reports.  In this respect, 

there is evidence that lack of information or low information quality would limit 

SMEs’ access to external finance (Sarapaivanich & Kotey, 2006; Van Caneghem & 

Van Campenhout, 2009).   

Research studies pertaining to factors influencing compliance with such accounting 

standards by SMEs indicated the level of compliance was associated with several 

factors; however, as might be expected, such influential factors were somewhat 

                                                           
3 The report does not give percentages. 
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different.  The results from a study of 36 small and closely-held companies in Bahrain 

by Joshi and Ramadhan (2002) revealed that factors affecting adoption of 

international accounting standards by small companies were firm’s management, 

finance providers and auditors.  However, the findings from a recent study undertaken 

in Vietnam did not fully support the prior study.  In the context of a transitional 

economy, the perceptions of 152 SME internal accountants indicated legal 

requirements and perceived external users of financial statements were main reasons 

for compliance with accounting standards, but the perception of costs and benefits and 

accounting skills had a limited impact (Dang-Duc, 2011).    

In Thailand, there is evidence indicating non-compliance with accounting standards 

among business entities (Srijunpetch, 2004; Sutthachai, 2006; Revenue Department, 

2009).  Sutthachai (2006), for example, found the level of compliance with accounting 

standards among listed firms during the reporting years of 1993 to 2002 ranged from 

64 percent to 82 percent.  However, most studies focused on the assessment of the 

level of compliance with accounting standards of listed companies.  

To sum up, the findings from a significant number of studies suggested that 

compliance problems existed in SMEs and non-compliance with accounting standards 

would lower the quality of financial statements.  Consequently, the usefulness of 

financial statements was reduced.  As many argued, such as Di Pietra et al. (2008) and 

Fearnley and Hines (2007), the applicability of sophisticated financial reporting 

standards, such as the IFRS for SMEs, to SMEs might not result in better quality of 

financial statements, but would amplify the compliance problem if such adoption was 

too onerous or costly for SMEs.   

2.8 Summary 

The review of literature in this chapter has examined the conceptual framework for 

financial reporting with the focus on the financial reporting needs of SMEs and their 

stakeholders and costs and benefits of SME financial reporting.   

It is apparent that SMEs are important to most countries’ economy, including 

Thailand.  The SME sector constitutes the vast majority of all business entities and 

play significant roles in the country’s economic development.  Many governments, 
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including Thailand have paid attention to SME development.  Simplifying the 

regulatory environment for SMEs is a part of their programs.  However, there is no 

consensus on what constitutes “SMEs”; difference in SME definition exists across 

jurisdictions or even within individual jurisdictions.   

The literature has shown that the general purpose financial reporting model is 

typically adopted for financial reporting by SMEs.  This model sets out the decision-

usefulness and stewardship functions of financial statements for external users as its 

main objectives.  However, it has been argued that such general purpose model is 

biased toward listed entities.  The characteristics of SMEs are different from those of 

listed entities; for instance, the separation of management from ownership control in 

SMEs is rare and they often lack of resources and accounting expertise.  Thus, it was 

not appropriate for SMEs.   

Previous studies of the users and uses of SME financial statements produced mixed 

results and conclusions.  Nevertheless, the users of SME financial statements found in 

the literature were quite limited, primarily the entity’s management, tax authorities 

and banks.  The uses of SME financial statements by various user groups and their 

perceived benefits of SME financial statements varied considerably.  However, most 

of these user groups employed a variety of information sources as a basis for their 

decision making.  The inconsistent findings were also found in the studies on costs 

and benefits of SME financial reporting, especially the association between the size of 

entity and costs and benefits of financial reporting.  However, these studies have noted 

the importance of accountants’ roles in SME financial reporting.  Finally, very little 

was known about the quality of SME financial statements.   

The following chapter presents the financial reporting context of SMEs in Thailand.  It 

provides an overview of Thai regulatory reporting framework.  That chapter then 

concludes with research questions arising from literature review.   
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CHAPTER 3 ECONOMIC AND FINANCIAL REPORTING 

CONTEXT IN THAILAND 

3.1 Introduction 

This main purpose of this chapter is to provide the background to financial reporting 

by Thai SMEs in terms of business environment, financial reporting rules and 

regulations.  An overview of Thai business environment is firstly presented from both 

historical and economic perspectives, such as financial and tax system and legal forms 

of business entities.  The remainder of this chapter describes the financial reporting 

regulatory framework and other institutional environments for financial reporting in 

Thailand.  This begins with a discussion of the broad aim of financial reporting, 

followed by a brief overview of government and private agencies related to the 

imposition of reporting requirements on business entities.  The main features of 

existing reporting requirements, especially for SMEs in Thailand are summarised and 

then compared with the requirements in other jurisdictions.  The chapter concludes 

with a discussion of research questions drawn from the literature.   

3.2 Historical perspectives 

3.2.1 Political and legal system 

Thailand is a Southeast Asian country with population of approximately 66.3 million 

in 2008, as shown in Figure 3.1.  After the revolution in 1932, the form of government 

in Thailand was changed to a constitutional monarchy in which the King acts as the 

head of the state while the leader of the government is the Prime Minister.  As the 

head of state, the King has the authority to exercise sovereign power through the 

National Assembly, the Council of Ministers, and the Courts. The Prime Minister 

functions in the name of the King, and is responsible for all royal commands 

regarding the affairs of the State (Thailand Board of Investment, 2010). 
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  Figure 3.1 Map and country facts of Thailand 

The judicial and legal systems of Thailand are based on the democratic nation’s 

constitution.  The legislative power is exercised through a bicameral National 

Assembly in the Parliament and the judicial power is exercised through the Court of 

the first instance, the Court of Appeal and the Supreme Court.  The form of the Thai 

legal system has both civil and common law elements, being influenced by Western 

nations, such as Britain and France, and Japan (Hickling, 1972; Munger, 2007).  

Commercial treaties with Britain in 1826 and with the United States in 1838 also 

enabled Thailand to organise and adopt the western ideas in the administration of, for 

instance, a cabinet of ministers, regular court of justice, and a civil and commercial 

code of law (Angus-Leppan, 1997).   

3.2.2 Overview of Thai economy 

Thailand, a middle-income country, has made important progress in social and 

economic development, even though it has suffered from the economic crisis in 1997 

and has been impacted by political uncertainty since the military coup in 2006 (World 

Bank, 2008a).   In mid-1990s, the Thai economy was one of the fastest-growing in the 

world, at an average of gross domestic product (GDP) 8 to 9 percent a year (Warr, 

2007; World Bank, 2006b).  Warr (2007) indicated that the economic growth of 

Thailand, especially during the economic boom period has been mainly driven by the 

COUNTRY FACTS 

Official name: Kingdom of Thailand 

Form of state: Constitutional monarchy 

Total area: 514,000 sq km 

Population: 66.3 million (2008) 

Capital:  Bangkok 

Language: Thai 

Currency: Baht (THB)  

Exchange rate: 34.90 (per USS$, 2008) 

 

Source.  Economist Intelligence Unit (2009)  
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high level of private investment, both domestic and foreign in physical capital.  

Specifically, the net foreign direct investment (FDI) sharply increased from 13 billion 

baht in 1980s to 83 billion baht in 1990s (Manprasert, 2004).  After recovering from 

the 1997-1998 financial crisis, the GDP, however, had been growing at an average of 

5.1 percent during 2001-2007 and dropped to 2.5 and -2.3 percent in 2008 and 2009, 

resulting from the global economic recession and domestic political condition 

(Vimolsiri, 2010).  Table 3.1 illustrates key economic indicators of the Thai economy 

for the period 2004-2008.   

Table 3.1 Key economic indicators of Thai economy in 2004-2008 

2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Real GDP growth (at 1988 price %) 6.3 4.6 5.2 4.9 2.5 

Origin of GDP (% change): 

Agriculture -2.4 -1.8 4.6 1.8 5.0 

Industry 7.9 5.4 5.7 5.7 3.4 

Services 6.8 5.2 4.9 4.7 1.2 

Expenditure to GDP (%): 

Private  6.2 4.6 3.0 1.6 2.5 

Public  5.7 11.3 2.4 9.2 0.5 

Gross fixed investment 13.2 10.5 3.9 1.3 1.1 

Exports  9.6 4.2 9.1 7.1 5.4 

Imports  13.4 9.0 3.3 3.4 7.5 

Population and income: 

    Population (million) 65.1 65.1 65.3 65.7 66.3 

    GDP per head (US$ at PPP) 6,353  6,838  7,407  7,926  8,235  

    Recorded unemployment (average %) 2.1  1.8  1.5  1.4   .4  

Source. Economist Intelligence Unit (2009) and Office of National Economic and Social 

Development Board (2008b) 

Although the economic structure of Thailand has dramatically transformed from 

agricultural economy to industry and services for the past forty years, it still depends 

heavily on exports.  Since the 1950s, the proportion of agricultural products in annual 

GDP has been continuously decreasing, from an average of 35 percent in 1950s to 

only 11 percent in 1990s (Office of National Economic and Social Development 

Board, 2008a).  The structure of Thai GDP has shown that manufacturing has become 

a main sector in the economy.  The report of the Bank of Thailand (2008) indicated 

that manufacturing sectors accounted for about 40.1 percent of total GDP in 2008, 

followed by service and trading sectors at 37 and 13.8 percent, respectively.  

Electronics, electrical appliances, and vehicles and parts were major export items.  
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However, even though the role of the agricultural sector in terms of its contribution to 

GDP was only 8.9 percent in 2008, its share of total employment was almost 40 

percent (Bank of Thailand, 2008).  Besides, the business trade and service survey of 

2009 carried out by the Thai National Statistic Office found that only 0.4 percent of 

businesses had foreign shareholders or partners (National Statistic Office of Thailand, 

2008).   

As mentioned earlier, the economic strategies of the Thai government before the 

financial crisis were export-led economic growth driven by industrial large businesses 

and agricultural sector.  The role of SMEs in the economic development had been 

neglected, especially from the political viewpoint (Brimble, Oldfield, & Monsakul, 

2002).  However, during 1993 to 1994 the needs of supporting industries for industrial 

multinational enterprises, particularly in manufacturing of such products as auto and 

electronic parts, had led to the initial development of local manufacturing SMEs to 

operate as subcontractors in such industries (Yoshimatsu, 2003).   

After the financial crisis, Thai manufacturing sector lost its competitive advantages of 

cheaper-labour costs to foreign competitors, like China.  The Thai economic strategies 

then turned to restructuring the industrial sector and promoting SMEs so as to 

stimulate the overall economic growth.  In 2000, the SME Promotion Act B.E. 2000 

(2543) was enacted, leading to establishment of the Office of Small and Medium 

Enterprises Promotion and the first comprehensive SME policy, called SME 

Development Master Plan.  Under the new policy of the Thai government, SMEs are 

considered as new key driving forces to the overall growth of the economy 

(Pisitpaibool, 2008).   

Nevertheless, SMEs have been faced with several problems and constraints that 

prevented them from making their full contributions to the country’s economy.  

According to the report of the Office of Small and Medium Enterprises Promotion, 

Thai SMEs have problems in relation to limited management skills, lack of funding 

and qualified human resources, and lack of reliable accounting system (OSMEP, 

2007).  Consequently, the government’s policy broadly aims to promote the 

development of SMEs in three aspects: legal and institutional system, financial 

promotion, and skill and capacity development, as shown in Table 3.2. 
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Table 3.2 Thai government policy implementations for SME promotion 

Aspects Example of policy implementations 

Legal and institutional 

system 

SME Promotion Act B.E. 2543 (2000)  

SMEs Promotion Action Plan (2002-2006) 

Financial promotion Market for Alternative Investment (MAI), a new stock exchange 

SME Development Bank 

Small Business Credit Guarantee Corporation  

Venture Capital Funds 

Skill and capacity 

development 

Trainings courses arranged by government agencies, 

universities, and networking institutes  

Source. Pisitpaibool (2008) 

The recent structure of business entities by size in 2008 is presented in Table 3.3. 

SMEs represented 99.7 percent of all business entities.  Of all small and medium 

entities, around one-fifth was registered as juristic businesses e.g. registered 

partnerships and companies.  

Table 3.3 Structure of Thai business entities by size and types in 2008 

Size category No. of entities % Registered as juristic entities 

No. of entities % within size category 

Small 2,815,560 99.27 564,788 20.06 

Medium 12,073 0.43 8,704 72.09 

SMEs-subtotal 2,827,633 99.70 573,492 20.28 

Large 4,586 0.16 4,388 95.68 

N/A 4,158 0.14 3,716 89.37 

Total 2,836,377 100.0 581,596  

Note. Juristic entities refer to business entities registered as registered ordinary partnership, 

limited partnership, limited company and other business entities. 

Source. OSMEP (2009b) 

 

3.3 Economic perspectives 

3.3.1 Financial system 

Thailand’s financial system is bank-based, with commercial banks being the major 

providers of funds for household and corporate sectors; however, the capital market 

and other financial markets have been developed and have gained more importance in 

recent years (Nakornthab, 2007).  As seen in the below figure, the relative market size 

of financial institution loans has decreased, from almost 70 percent at the end of 1996 

to only 44 percent in 2006, while the capital markets, including equity and bond 

markets, represents for 50 percent in 2006.  The bond market, however, is dominated 

by public debt instruments.     
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Note. Financial institution loans refer to loans extended by commercial banks, 
finance and credit foncier companies, and specialized financial institutions and 
outstanding domestic bonds value at par. 
 
Source. Nakornthab (2007) 

            Figure 3.2 Composition of Thai financial system 

According to the recent report of International Monetary Fund (2009), the financial 

sector assets in 2007 were 14,924 billion baht, representing 175.9 percent of GDP.  Of 

this total assets, commercial banks account for 60 percent, specialised financial 

institutions, which are government-owned, in most cases are deposit-taking, and are 

intended to promote the government’s social and economic development, account for 

another 14 percent. Nonbank financial institutions hold the remaining 25 percent of 

financial assets.  Many of them (e.g. leasing, asset management, insurance, and 

securities companies) are subsidiaries of local banking groups.  In 2004, the Bank of 

Thailand, the regulator of this financial sector, launched a ten-year term reform plan, 

namely the Financial Sector Master Plan (FSMP), leading to restructuring in deposit-

taking financial institutions, including banks, financial institutions, and finance 

companies.  As of March 2010, there were 32 commercial banks, 3 finance 

companies, and 3 credit foncier companies in Thailand (Baxter, 2010). 

The first stock exchange of Thailand, called Bangkok Stock Exchange, was 

established in 1962 by a private group, but due to a lack of official government 

support and a limited investors’ understanding of the equity market, the market finally 

stopped its operation in the early 1970s.  Seeing the potential growth in the capital 

market, the Thai government hired an external consultant, Professor Sidney M. 

Robbins, a former chief economist of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, 

to study and make recommendations on the development of Thai capital market (SET, 

2009).  In May 1974, the legislation establishing the Securities Exchange of Thailand 

was enacted, followed by the changes in tax rules to provide tax benefits for listed 
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firms and investors and the development of accounting and auditing standards 

(Jaikengkit, 2002).  After basic legislative framework was in place, on April 30, 1975, 

the Securities Exchange of Thailand officially started trading.  Later, in January 1991, 

its name was formally changed to the Stock Exchange of Thailand. 

Recognising that many Thai businesses are SMEs, the SET later established the 

Market for Alternative Investment (MAI) on 21 June 1999 to provide new fund-

raising opportunities for innovative business with high potential growth as well as 

offer a greater range of investment alternatives for investors.  By September 2001, 

MAI started trading.  At the end of 2006, the market capitalisation of Thai equity 

markets was equivalent to 75 percent of GDP (IMF, 2009).  As of April, 2010 the total 

number of listed companies was 540, of which 66 companies were listed in MAI 

(Table 3.4).   

Table 3.4 Highlights of Thai equity market from 2008 to 2010 

 2008 2009 2010 

SET Index 449.96 734.54 1032.76 

MAI Index 162.93 215.3 272.79 

Number of listed Companies  525 535 540 

   Number of listed companies in MAI 49 60 66 

Market capitalisation (USD million) 103,350 177,278 279,381 

Daily average trading value (USD million) 460 547 968 

Source. SEC (2011) and SET (2011) 

3.3.2 Tax system   

Thailand’s tax administration uses the concept of self-assessment; taxpayers have a 

legal duty to declare their income and pay tax to the authorities and the income 

declared and tax paid are assumed to be correct, but the assessments may be 

conducted by the authorities in certain circumstances, such as failure to file tax returns 

or filing of false or inadequate tax returns (Rochananonda, 2006).  Taxes are not only 

the most important source of Thai government revenue, but also have been used as 

policy instruments, for instance, to support certain sectors, such as SMEs and listed 

companies (Sujjapongse, 2005). 

Corporate income tax, a direct tax levied by the central government on company and 

registered partnerships established under Thai or foreign laws, is governed by the 

Revenue Code and administered by the Revenue Department, the Ministry of Finance.  

In general, companies and registered partnerships are taxed at the rate of 30 percent on 
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their net profit, calculated on accrual basis, which generally follows accounting 

practice (PWC, 2011b).  If a company receives dividends from another company, a 

half of or all of dividends may be excluded from taxable income of a recipient 

company if conditions are met.  The allowed deductible expenses are subjected to 

conditions commonly found in corporate income tax laws of most countries 

(Sujjapongse, 2005).  Unlike in many jurisdictions, Thai tax rule does not allow 

business entities to deduct borrowing costs which are considered as an investment 

expenditure.  Such costs have to be capitalised as part of the cost of an asset, but are 

then eligible for writing down allowances. Corporate taxpayers must file and pay 

corporate tax twice a year.  An annual corporate income tax return must be 

accompanied with the company’s audited balance sheet and profit and loss accounts.  

Under the Revenue Code, the annual accounts accompanied with annual corporate tax 

returns must be audited by tax auditors (TAs) or certified public accountants (CPAs). 

Tax auditors are permitted to audit only small registered partnerships with issued 

share capital not exceeding £100,000, total assets not exceeding £600,000, and 

turnover not exceeding £600,000 (THB 5 million, 30 million, and 30 million, 

respectively)4, while certified public accountants can audit all types and sizes of 

entities.  Tax auditors have to follow auditing and ethics standards prescribed by the 

Revenue Department, while CPAs have to comply with the auditing standards issued 

by Thai Auditing Standard Board of the Federation of Accounting Professions (FAP).    

In practice, the corporate accounts prepared according to financial reporting standards 

are used as a starting point for preparation of corporate tax returns and tax filing.  Tax 

accounting differs from financial accounting in its objectives and rules; however, in 

practice, the tax authority has influenced accounting practice of business entities, 

especially non-listed private companies (Angus-Leppan, 1997) and accounting 

standards setting, as Saudagaran and Diga (2000) pointed out: 

The Thai Revenue Department also exercises strong influence on accounting 

practice by requiring companies to use the same accounting policies for financial 

and tax reporting purposes.  Thus, deliberations on proposed accounting standards 

always take into consideration the potential tax effect on the companies. (p. 13) 

                                                           
4 £ 1.00 is approximately equal to 50 baht 
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However, if an individual taxpayer receives dividends from companies or 

partnerships, he or she is entitled to claim a tax credit for the amount of dividends 

received.  In terms of statutory requirements, sole-traders are only required to prepare 

file tax returns, but there is no legal requirement to keep accounts and file their 

financial statements.  However, from financial providers’ perspectives, sole 

proprietorships are risky businesses since they depend solely on a single person and 

there is a lack of financial reporting regulation and disclosure (Holmes et al., 2003).  

Therefore, the capital of sole proprietorships is mainly provided by family members, 

trade-creditors, and banks’ short-term loans. 

3.3.3.2 Partnerships 

According to the Civil and Commercial Code B.E. 2472 (1929), at least two members 

are needed to form a partnership with the choices of ordinary partnership and limited 

partnership.  The members of an ordinary partnership can opt to register with the 

Ministry of Commerce while the formation of limited partnership is legally required to 

make a registration.  Table 3.5 summarises some differences and similarities between 

each type of partnership in several aspects. The following section briefly discusses 

about ordinary partnerships and limited partnerships.   

Table 3.5 Some similarities and differences between different types of partnerships 

                      Type 

Aspect            

Ordinary Partnership Limited Partnership 

Non-registered Registered 

Commercial registration Not required Required Required 

Type of partners Only partners with unlimited liability 

 

Limited partners and at least 

one unlimited partners 

Tax rate  Personal income tax Corporate tax 

Statutory reporting Not required Required 

Source. DBD (2009e) and Deloitte (2009) 

 

Ordinary partnerships (non-registered and registered)   

In essence, non-registered and registered ordinary partnerships are similar in which all 

partners are jointly and wholly unlimitedly liable to all obligations of the partnership.  

However, in case of a registered ordinary partnership, the creditors have to firstly 

claim the payment from the partnership’s assets before requesting any payment from 

the partners (DBD, 2009e).  For tax purposes, non-registered ordinary partnerships are 

similar to sole-traders in which they are treated as an individual and taxed as a 
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personal income tax with a rate up to 37 percent of taxable income.  By contrast, the 

registered ordinary partnership has a separate legal entity apart from its partners 

because its registration made it become a juristic person.  Consequently, it is taxed 

with a corporate income tax rate with normally a flat 30 percent of net profits and 

required to file statutory financial reports.    

Limited partnerships 

A limited partnership consists of two types of partners: limited and unlimited liability 

partners.  The Commercial and Civil Code stated that at least one member has to have 

unlimited liability partner, responsible for all the obligations of the partnership.  

Typically, the limited partnership is managed by general partners with unlimited 

liability.  If partners with limited liability take part in the management of the 

partnership, such partners becomes jointly liable with partnerships’ obligations.  It 

seems that in this respect the limited partnerships are unable to make the use of 

limited liability for all partners.  The advantage of this limited partnership might be 

tax benefits. Through legal registration, the limited partnership becomes a juristic 

person, leading to a separate legal entity. Therefore, corporate tax regulations are 

applied to this type of entity.  However, the limited partnerships have to comply with 

the same financial reporting regulations as registered ordinary partnerships and private 

limited companies.   

In terms of financing, like sole proprietorships, all types of partnerships have limited 

access to finance.  Holmes et al. (2003) indicated that although the partnerships have 

more resources contributed by partners, they are still considered as vulnerable and 

risky businesses.  Unlike in other countries, Thai accounting law imposes accounting 

and reporting requirements on registered ordinary partnerships and limited 

partnerships.  In the US, for example, there is no statutory reporting requirement for 

unlisted entities, and in the UK ordinary or limited partnerships are not subject to 

statutory reporting requirements.  As discussed later in section 3.4.1, the earlier Thai 

accounting laws, such as the Announcement of the National Executive Council No. 

285 issued in 1972 imposed record keeping and/or filing requirements for sole traders, 

partnerships (ordinary or limited), and limited companies (private or public).  The 

main goal of the requirements was to support tax collection and to facilitate the 

country’s economic development.  Later, when the current accounting law i.e. the 
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Accounting Act B.E. 2543 was issued in 2000, the accounting and/or reporting 

requirements for sole traders and non-registered ordinary partnerships were abolished 

(see Table 3.9 for the current accounting and reporting requirements in section 3.4.3). 

3.3.3.3 Limited Company 

Private and public limited companies are two corporate forms offering the limited 

liability to shareholders, leading to the complete separation of owners from their 

business.  This choice of business organisation is similar to a company established in 

other countries.  Shareholders in both corporate forms are only liable for obligations 

of the company to the amount unpaid, if any, on the shares held.  According to the 

Civil and Commercial Code B.E. 2472 (1929) as amended in B.E. 2551 (2008), only 

three or more members can register a business as a private limited company.  The 

public limited company, however, is more complicated in the formation process, 

organizational structure, and regulatory requirements.  For example, a public limited 

company is required at least fifteen members to form a business and subject to the 

requirements in the Public Companies Limited Act B.E. 2535 (1992).  Furthermore, if 

the public companies are listed their shares in a stock market, the Securities and 

Exchange Act B.E. 2535 (1992) and stock market regulations issued by the Securities 

and Exchange Commission of Thailand are also applied to such listed companies.   

3.3.3.4 Other business entities 

Joint ventures and foreign business companies are other types of business enterprises 

formed or operated in Thailand. The formation of joint ventures is required to have 

one or more entities in the status of juristic person.  This arrangement allows entities 

to share their capitals and resources with other entities so as to run a specified 

purposed-business.  Through registration under tax regulations, the joint venture is 

subject to corporate taxation and has duties to keep accounts and file statutory 

financial statements, according to the Accounting Act B.E. 2543 (2000).  A foreign 

company may set up a branch or a representative or regional office in Thailand and it 

is governed by the Foreign Business Act B.E. 2542 (1999).  In brief, this type of 

entities has to obtain permission from the Department of Business Development to 

operate their businesses in Thailand.  Similarly, the foreign business companies are 
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subject to statutory financial reporting requirements and the corporate tax regulations 

are applied.  

The data of business registration at the end of 2008 provided by the Department of 

Business Development, as shown in Table 3.6, revealed that of all existing registered 

businesses under Thai company laws, less than 1 percent was operated in the forms of 

registered partnerships and public companies.  The limited partnerships accounted for 

about 43 percent, and the remaining was in the form of private limited companies.  Of 

all new establishments during the year, 27,685 businesses were incorporated (i.e. 

private or public companies), representing 64.7 percent, followed by 15,012 limited 

partnerships, accounting for 35.1 percent.   

Table 3.6 Number of business registration in 2008 

Business form Beginning Establishment 
Dissolution 

Ending % dissolved/ 

defunct 
bankrupt others total 

Registered ordinary 
partnerships 

4,570  79  61 -   6  67  4,582    0.82  

Limited partnerships 235,978  15,012  11,712 152  281  12,145  238,845  42.92  

Private limited 
company 

303,815  27,654  18,639 276  376  19,291  312,178  56.10  

Public limited 
company 

851  31  4           2  2  8  874 0.16 

Total  545,214         42,776     30,416       430    665  31,511  556,479  100.00  

Source. DBD (2009d) 

However, the business registration data do not reflect the whole picture of preferred 

option for new start-ups or existing business owners in consideration of changing their 

business form.  According to recent Industrial Census (see Table 3.7), the vast 

majority of business establishments in non-government and private sectors were 

operated in the form of sole proprietorship, compared to other business structures.  

The businesses with 50 or less employees, which might be considered as small 

enterprises, were operated in sole proprietorship format, accounting for about 92 

percent of all establishments.  
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Table 3.7 Industrial census by business form and employee number in 2007 

Business form 
Number of establishment 

1-50 51-200 200+ Total % 

Sole proprietorship 2,017,634       1,387         194   2,019,215  92.27 

Partnership 37,757       1,055         144         38,956  1.78 

Company 89,578     10,389      4,428       104,395  4.77 

Others 23,759       1,747         343         25,849  1.18 

Total 2,168,728     14,578      5,109    2,188,415  100.00 

Note. ‘Establishments’ relate to the place of business so that, for example, a sole proprietorship with 

two branches is counted twice.  As partnerships and companies are more likely to operate from more 

than one establishment, the table probably under-estimates the numerical dominance of sole 

proprietorships. 

Source. National Statistic Office of Thailand (2007) 

Freedman (1994) conducted a survey by using postal questionnaire and telephone 

interview with small business owners in the UK and found that the main reasons for 

non-incorporation were to retain personal control over the business, easy to operate, 

and simple accounting requirements while the lack of limited liability and difficulty in 

raising finance, for instance, were cited as disadvantages of non-corporate forms (p. 

561).  The findings from the recent study undertaken with small business stakeholders 

regarding an appropriate legal form for small businesses were similar to the prior 

research.  Small business owners listed their reasons for choosing the existing legal 

structure were to satisfy with the regulatory requirements of industry they wish to do 

business and to accommodate the family business (Channon, Edwards, & James, 

2002).  These researchers further found that non-economic goal reasons, such as to 

gain a good image for themselves and the businesses, were also cited by the 

respondents.  Although the generalisation of these empirical findings is restricted, it 

provided sound explanation why small business owners chose to operate in its existing 

form.   

In conclusion, it is apparent that each business form might be in better position than 

others in several aspects, but in respect to regulatory requirements, it is likely to differ 

between such forms.  This includes financial reporting requirements. Overall, as 

compared to public companies, private entities are subject to lesser financial reporting 

and disclosure requirements.  Further detail of financial reporting requirements is 

discussed later in section 3.4.3.    
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3.4 Financial reporting regulatory framework in Thailand 

3.4.1 Broad aim of financial reporting  

The accounting laws and regulations related to statutory financial reporting of private 

business entities in Thailand were developed in several steps in response to changes in 

the business environments and economic level of the country. The development of 

accounting regulations was divided into four main phases, starting from the early 

requirements prescribed in the Civil and Commercial Code in 1914 to the current 

accounting laws and regulations, the Accounting Act B.E. 2543 (2000). 

Phase I  

The early development of financial reporting regulations in Thailand focused on the 

needs of government regarding creditor protection and tax collection purposes 

(Saudagaran & Diga, 1998).  The Civil and Commercial Code B.E. 2457 (1914) and 

amended in B.E. 2472 (1929) imposed reporting requirements on limited companies 

so as to protect the interests of interested parties and to support fair tax collection  

(Angus-Leppan, 1997).  This included the requirements from limited companies to 

prepare annual statutory accounts, have them audited and published such audited 

accounts for shareholders and for the government agency.  The notion of “true 

accounts” and the appointment of statutory auditor who may be a shareholder of a 

company in Thai Civil and Commercial Code reflect the influences of the UK 

Companies Act and German and Japanese commercial codes (Craig & Diga, 1996). 

Although the Accounting Act B.E. 2482 (1939) and the Accounting Act (No.2) B.E. 

2496 (1953) were later enacted to keep pace with the growing number of private 

sector business in the economy by requiring all types of businesses, including 

proprietorships and corporations engaged in specified businesses, to have commercial 

registration and to keep accounts, the broad objective of such requirements was still in 

line with the Civil and Commercial Code of 1929, especially the aim of creditor 

protection in case of bankruptcies (Srijunpetch, 2004; Sutthachai, 2006).  The Act, 

however, had no statutory audit requirement for proprietorships.   
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Phase II  

After the introduction of the Auditor Act B.E. 2505 (1962) to regulate auditing 

profession, a new accounting law, called the Announcement of the National Executive 

Council No. 285 B.E. 2515 (1972), was introduced to replace the former accounting 

laws.  This new Act mainly intended to facilitate the national economic development 

and to provide information for tax collection purpose.  The Act added detailed 

requirements of bookkeeping and financial reporting from all business entities 

including foreign jurisdiction businesses and imposed more detailed statutory audit 

requirement on partnerships, foreign businesses, and limited companies.  In order to 

enhance the comparability of the accounts and support taxation purposes, the Ministry 

of Commerce was later issued the Ministerial Announcement No.2 in 1976 to 

prescribe the uniform formats and contents of entities’ statutory accounts (Sutthachai, 

2006).   

Phase III  

An increase in the complexity of business activity as well as the establishment of a 

securities market in 1975 led to gradually change the focus of financial reporting 

regulations to be more micro-user oriented.  As pointed out by Saudagaran and Diga, 

(1998, p. 36), the development of accounting regulations in Thailand has shifted from 

a more conservative, creditor-oriented and tax-driven accounting system, similar to 

those in Germany and Japan, toward a more extensive disclosure requirements and 

based on standards widely accepted in the UK and the US.  Many contended that such 

accounting standard development was mainly in response to the demands of the 

capital market (Angus-Leppan, 1997; Saudagaran & Diga, 2000; Srijunpetch, 2004). 

However, the compliance with the Thai accounting standards was not mandatory by 

law.     

Phase IV  

The economic crisis in 1997 has led to the reform of the statutory financial reporting 

and accounting professions in Thailand.  The Accounting Act B.E. 2543 (2000), 

which repealed the former Accounting Act, was enacted to enhance the standard and 

quality of financial reporting of private businesses and this would benefit for financial 

report users at corporate level (DBD, 2009a).  It was also expected to improve 
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management of a business in making better policy decisions, leading to attraction of 

investments from foreign investors (Dhasanapongsakul, 2004).  The Act increased the 

accountability of business entities and accountants of such businesses in financial 

accounting and reporting by clearly specifying the responsibilities of account 

preparers and entity’s management.  It also explicitly stated that the preparation of 

statutory financial statements must be in compliance with facts and accounting 

standards, later referring to Thai Accounting Standards (TASs).  This in turn 

supported government authorities to enforce this legislation.   

To sum up, the focus the financial reporting requirements prescribed in the company 

laws and regulations in each phase has reflected the board objectives of financial 

reporting.  Thai financial reporting regulations have initially developed to serve tax 

purposes and creditor protection, but after the capital market has developed so as to 

attract the overseas investors, the focus of accounting regulations has turned to satisfy 

the needs of shareholders and investors, especially in listed companies.  However, the 

current accounting requirements for maintaining books of accounts and preparing 

financial reports in prescribed formats from all business entities suggested that the 

Thai financial reporting regulations also have aspects of macroeconomic purpose.  

3.4.2 Government and private agencies related to financial reporting 

The accounting and financial reporting development in Thailand had been controlled 

by the government rather than the accounting profession. This included making 

commercial registration laws, prescribing minimum accounting and auditing 

procedures, and licensing auditors and monitoring their audit practice.  Saudagaran 

and Diga (2000) indicated that, compared to those in other ASEAN countries, “the 

Thai government exercises a significantly more interventionist role in regulating 

financial reporting” (p. 13).  However, in the past decade, many changes have been 

made.  The role of accounting professional bodies has increased, especially in self-

regulation of the accounting profession and accounting standards setting.   

The following section outlines the responsibilities of major government agencies and 

private organisations who have involved in formulating accounting and financial 

reporting requirements for business enterprises.   
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3.4.2.1 Department of Business Development 

The Department of Business Development, the Ministry of Commerce is a principal 

government agency responsible for prescribing, administering and implementing basic 

accounting and financial reporting requirements for all business entities.  Before the 

Accounting Professions Act B.E. 2547 (2004) was enacted, the roles of regulating and 

monitoring auditors was undertaken by the Board of Supervision of Auditing Practice, 

administered by the Minister of Commerce.  At present, this duty is carried out by the 

Federation of Accounting Professions.  The Bureau of Business Supervision (later 

renamed the Bureau of Business Accounting) of the Department of Business 

Development is mainly responsible for monitoring compliance with accounting and 

financial reporting requirements laid out in the Accounting Act B.E. 2000.  The main 

activities of the Bureau of Business Supervision include inspecting bookkeeping and 

statutory financial reports of business entities, providing consultations to business 

entities concerning implementation of the Accounting Act, and supporting the 

development of the capability of bookkeepers or accountants (DBD, 2010).   

Under the new regulatory framework, the accounting professions has considerably 

increased their roles in regulating the accounting professions and accounting standards 

setting, but the government agencies still oversee such activities through the Oversight 

Committee on Accounting Professions, comprising representing members from such 

as the Department of Business Development, the Revenue Department, the Auditor 

General of Thailand and the Bank of Thailand (see section 3.4.2.3). 

3.4.2.2 Thai Securities and Exchange Commission 

Under the Securities and Exchange Act of 1992, the Thai Securities and Exchange 

Commission (SEC) is responsible for regulating the capital markets, including equity 

and debt instrument markets, as shown in Figure 3.4.  The agency not only issues rules 

and regulations governing the functioning of the markets but also imposes additional 

financial reporting requirements on listed companies and companies offering 

securities to public.  For example, it requires these entities to prepare quarterly, half-

yearly and annual financial statements according to Thai Accounting Standards and 

disclose additional financial and non-financial information, such as annual reports and 

a checklist for disclosure of related party transactions.  Also, the auditors of listed 



88 

 

firms and companies offering securities to public must be SEC-approved auditors, 

who have been inspected by the FAP Quality Screening Committee and approved by 

the SEC (World Bank, 2008b).   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Source.  SET (2009) 

Figure 3.4 Structure of Thai capital market 

3.4.2.3 Thai Federation of Accounting Professions 

Under the Accounting Professional Act B.E. 2547 (2004), repealed the Auditor Act 

B.E. 2505 (1962), the Federation of Accounting Professions (FAP) was established 

and empowered to self-regulate the accounting professions which are specified in the 

Act as  auditing, accounting/bookkeeping, managerial accounting, tax accounting, and 

accounting education and technology and other accounting services.  It is important to 

note that the distinction between accountants and auditors as a separate profession is 

clearly identified by the Accounting Professions Act B.E. 2547 (2004). Accountants 

or bookkeepers typically refer to internal employees of entities or external accountants 

whose function is to keep accounting records and prepare the financial statements for 

statutory purpose.  Auditors in contrast are certified public accountants whose 

function is to audit the financial statements.  Accountants and auditors are controlled 

professions, so corporate accountants or bookkeepers and auditors must be members 

of the FAP and perform their duties in accordance with the accounting, auditing, and 

ethical standards prescribed in the Act.  Profession qualifications and restrictions of 

accounting practice of accountants and auditors are described later in section 3.4.3.2; 

for accountants see ‘qualification of accountants or bookkeepers’ and for auditors see 

‘statutory audit’. 
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In general, the FAP is responsible for promoting and supporting its members and the 

accounting professions and monitoring members, especially certified public 

accountants.  It also has authorities in, for example, registering all accounting firms, 

licensing accounting professional license for individual, and establishing the Code of 

Conduct for all accounting professions.  In practice, accountants who work as 

bookkeepers of business entities are under supervision of the Department of Business 

Development, the Ministry of Commerce, while auditors are regulated by the FAP 

(ACCA, 2007).   

The activities of the FAP are, however, supervised by the Oversight Committee on 

Accounting Professions whose members comprise of representatives from government 

agencies, private sectors and other experts on accounting and laws.  From Figure 3.5, 

half of the members of the Oversight Committee represent government agencies, 

reflecting the intervention of the government in formulating the accounting 

regulations.  This includes the accounting standards and auditing standards setting 

process.  Every Thai accounting standard and auditing standard has to be reviewed 

and approved by the Oversight Committee on Accounting Professions before 

imposing on business entities or auditors.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Note. The members of the Oversight Committee on Accounting Professions come from (1) the Office 

of Insurance Commission, (2) the Revenue Department, (3) the Department of Business Development, 

(4) the Auditor General of Thailand, (5) the Bank of Thailand, (6) the Office of the Securities and 

Exchange Commission, (7) the Federation of Accounting Professions, (8) the Federation of Thai 

Industries, (9) the Thai Bankers Association, and (10) the Thai Chamber of Commerce.   

Source.  DBD (2009b) 
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The process of standards setting is similar to that of professional bodies in most 

countries.  The Accounting Standards Committees is responsible for setting Thai 

Accounting Standards.  The members of the Accounting Standards Committee are a 

mixture of individual experts and representatives from public authorities and major 

international accounting firms in Thailand.   

With regard to the enforcement of accounting rules and other standards, the FAP and 

other regulatory authorities or government agencies are responsible for monitoring 

and enforcing compliance with financial reporting requirements of companies or other 

legal entities (Narongdej, 2008).  Examples include the Ministry of Finance, the 

Revenue Department (i.e. tax authorities), the Department of Business Development, 

the Office of Insurance Commission, and the Security Exchange Commission.  

However, the Committee on Professional Ethics (see Figure 5.3) has duties to carry 

out investigation on misconduct or non-compliance with the professional standards of 

accounting practitioners reported by the above authorities.   From the report of the 

World Bank on Accounting and Auditing in Thailand (2008b), this monitoring of 

compliance with accounting, audit, and ethic standards of accounting practitioners was 

not undertaken “on a regular basis” (p. 9) and “[t]he statutory regulatory bodies rely 

heavily on the auditors for ensuring compliance with accounting standards” (p. 20).   
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3.4.3 Accounting regulations 

3.4.3.1 Overview 

The current accounting and financial reporting requirements in Thailand comprise 

several pieces of legislation and stock exchanges rules as shown in Table 3.8.  

Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) therefore is primarily influenced 

by company laws, accounting laws and securities laws and regulations.   

Table 3.8 Accounting regulations in Thailand 

Year Title Main Objective 

1992 Civil and Commercial Code Book III 

(amended ) B. E. 2535 (1929 amended 

1992) 

Regulating ordinary partnership, registered 

partnership, and private limited company  

1992 Public Limited Companies Act B.E. 

2535  

Prescribing publication of the accounts together 

with the audit report to shareholders  

1992 Securities and Exchange Act B.E. 

2535 

Establishing the Securities and Exchange 

Commission with authority to oversee the Thai 

capital market e.g. licensing auditor and reporting 

requirements for listed companies 

2000 Accounting Act B.E. 2543 Prescribing accounting and financial reporting 

requirements for the following business entities: 

� Registered partnership 

� Limited company 

� Public limited company 

� Juristic person established under a foreign 

law carrying on business in Thailand 

� Joint venture under the Revenue Code 

2004 Accounting Professions Act B.E. 2547 Governing accounting professions with the 

prescriptions for e.g. accounting standards setter, 

auditing standards, licensing of auditors and 

regulating accounting/bookkeeping professional 

qualifications and registration    

Note. 

(1) For public limited companies, the additional financial reporting requirements are identified in the 

Public Companies Act B.E. 2535 (1992).   

(2) Listed public companies are also required to report and disclose information in compliance with 

securities laws and regulations laid down by the Securities and Exchange Commission.   

(3) There are also several legislations specifically governing banking sector and insurance industry in 

Thailand e.g. Commercial Banking Act B.E. 2505 (1942) and Life Insurance Act B.E. 2535 (1992). 

Source. World Bank (2008b), DBD (2009a, 2009b, 2009e) 

In general, statutory financial reporting by business entities are governed by the Code 

and the Accounting Act.  The Civil and Commercial Code Book III, amended in 1992, 

prescribes financial requirements for limited companies.  The Accounting Act B.E. 

2543 (2000) and related Ministerial regulations further specified accounting and 

financial reporting requirements in detail, including entities subject to statutory 
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reporting and the formats and contents in the financial statements.  Business entities 

having duty to keep accounts and file their annual financial statements are registered 

partnership, limited companies, public companies, joint venture, and other juristic 

entities.   

For public companies subject to the Public Limited Companies Act, annual report is 

also required to submit within one month after shareholder’s general meeting with the 

Department of Business Development.  Additional filing and disclosures are required 

from listed companies by listing rules and regulations, such as quarterly financial 

reports and consolidated financial statements if there are subsidiary companies.   

The following discussions are based mainly on the existing accounting rules and 

regulations effective for financial year 2010.  In addition, the study focuses on SMEs.  

Thus, only basic accounting rules prescribed in the Civil and Commercial Code and 

the Accounting Act and accounting standards applicable for preparing financial 

statements until 2009 will be described in detail.  It is noted that during the period of 

this present study, Thai Accounting Standards were in the process of being converged 

with IFRS and the development of another set of accounting standards for SMEs was 

initiated.  Both projects were finalised and have become effective in 2011 and 

onwards.   

3.4.3.2 Accounting and Companies Laws 

Thai financial reporting regulatory framework is a fairly complex system. The 

requirements are imposed on not only business entities subject to statutory financial 

reporting but also accountants who perform duties of accounting for business entities.  

Table 3.9 summarises basic statutory reporting requirements by each business form, as 

of the reporting year ending 2010.  Further discussions of the reporting requirements 

in terms of qualification of accountants i.e. bookkeepers of business entities, 

publication of accounts, application of accounting standards and statutory audit are 

presented as follows: 
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Qualification of accountants or bookkeepers  

Under the Accounting Act B.E. 2543 (2000), the entities’ accountants or bookkeepers, 

both internal and external accountants, must have both general and educational 

qualifications.  General qualifications, required from all accountants or bookkeepers, 

include such as Thai language skill, registered address in Thailand.  The requirement 

of educational level of accountant varies by the size of entity.  If a reporting entity has 

issued share capital exceeding £100,000, total assets exceeding £600,000 and turnover 

exceeding £600,000 (THB 5 million, 30 million, and 30 million, respectively)5, the 

lead corporate accountant is required to hold a bachelor degree in accounting, but an 

accountant must hold at least a high vocational or diploma in accounting if companies 

or registered partnerships are below such thresholds.   

In addition, accountants have to continue their professional development by attending 

at least 27 hours of continuing professional development within 3 years and the 

number of training hour must be at least 6 hours per year.  Of the minimum number of 

training hours, these must include training courses or activities involving accounting 

knowledge for at least 18 hours.  Finally, the accounting law requires that an 

accountant must prepare the accounts of no more than 100 clients.  This means that in 

general if an accountant provides the account preparation service for financial 

reporting purpose, he or she can do it by himself/herself to the maximum of 100 

clients.  In case that there are more than 100 clients, the laws further require to have 

one assistant for every additional 100 clients. 

 

  

                                                           
5 All three conditions must be met (£1.00 is approximately equal to 50 baht).  
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Table 3.9 Financial reporting requirements by business form as of reporting year 2010 

Business form 

Keep records 

and file 

accounts 

Qualification of an 

accountant of a business 

entity 

Financial reports required for publication 
Annual 

report 

Accounting 

standards 

exemption 

Audit exemption Format of 

accounts 
BS PL CE CF 

Con

FSs 
NFS 

Com 

Figure 

Sole proprietorship No - - - - - - - - - - - - 

Registered ordinary 

partnership 

Yes Minimum of bachelor 

degree in accounting, 

but allowed for 

accounting diploma 

only if having less 

than 

< 5M* registered 

capital 

< 30M* total assets 

< 30 M*total incomes 

(*Thai baht) 

� � � - - - � - - � Only if having less 

than 

< 5M* registered 

capital 

< 30M* total assets 

< 30M* total incomes 

(*Thai baht) 

Limited partnership 

Yes 

� � � - - - � - - � 

Private limited 

company 

Yes � � � � - - � � - � 

- 

Public limited 

company 

Yes 

Minimum of 

Bachelor degree in 

accounting 

� � � � � � � � � - 
- 

Joint venture Yes � � � � - - � � - � 
- 

Foreign business 

company 

Yes � � � � - - � � - � 
- 

Note.  

(1) BS = balance sheet, PL = profit and loss statement, CE = statement of change in equity, CF = cash flow statement, ConFSs = consolidated financial statements, NFS = 

notes to financial statements, ComFigure = two year comparative financial statements. 

(2) The Department of Business Development has prescribed three formats of financial statements and notes including partnerships, private limited company, and public 

limited company.  Joint venture and foreign business company use the format of private limited company.  Details of wordings or contents are not laid down for explanatory 

note, but only broadly stating that notes should include significant accounting policies and other disclosures required by accounting standards applied in the statutory 

financial statements.  

(3) For accounting standard exemption, entities are permitted to depart from some accounting standards, not fully exemption. 
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Publication of accounts 

The entities having duty to prepare accounts must file their audited annual financial 

statements with the Department of Business Development, the Ministry of Commerce.  

Balance sheet and profit and loss statement are two main accounts required for 

submission.  The publication of a cash flow statement is not required for non-public 

companies.  This is in contrast to the requirement in the accounting standards, in 

which a cash flow statement is a part of a complete set of financial statements.  The 

content and formats of statutory accounts and supporting documents were also 

prescribed by each business form.  The formats are, however, applied only to non-

financial businesses.  Any entity engaging in, for example, insurance and financial 

businesses should conform to specified requirements from the regulatory agencies.  

Although the uniform words and formats for financial statements are already 

provided, the entities are able to make adjustment if it is justified by the requirements 

prescribed in the accounting standards.   

According to the Civil and Commercial Code, the statutory annual accounts of limited 

companies must be distributed to shareholders and be approved by shareholders 

before filing with the regulatory agency.  All limited companies have to submit their 

statutory accounts within one month after their annual shareholder general meeting, 

held within four months after the reporting year end.  Other business types are 

required to submit their accounts within five months after their reporting year end.   

Application of accounting standards  

According to the Accounting Act B.E. 2543 (2000), the statutory financial statements 

must be prepared annually in accordance with the “facts and accounting standards”.  

Thai Accounting Standards issued by the Federation of Accounting Professions are 

thus mandatory for accounting and financial reporting by all business entities that are 

subject to statutory reporting.  However, business entities other than public companies 

are allowed to depart from certain accounting standards such as e.g. impairment of 

assets and cash flow statement, as shown later in section 3.4.4.2.  Under the legal form 

as a criterion, most of SMEs are qualified for the exemption.   
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Statutory audit  

Before discussion about the audit, it is important to note that there are two main types 

of regulatory audit requirements from business entities; the audit of accounts required 

by accounting regulations and the audit of accounts filed with annual tax returns 

required by tax laws; the former is known as financial statement audit and the latter 

refers to tax audit.  As mention in section 3.3.2, the Revenue Code allows a certified 

public accountant to perform the audit for tax reporting purpose.  In practice, the audit 

undertaken to meet the requirement of accounting laws can be used to fulfill the 

obligation of audit under tax laws, serving dual reporting purposes.   

The audit practice of Thai certified public accountants is similar to that implemented 

in other countries.  This includes, for example, the requirements for licensing, 

continuing professional development, and ethical standards.  However, there is a limit 

of 300 audits per year undertaken by one auditor (DBD, 2009b).  Furthermore, 

according to listing rules, in order to undertake the audit of listed companies’ financial 

statements, the auditors must be approved by the Securities and Exchange 

Commission.  The recent report on Accounting and Auditing in Thailand by the World 

Bank (2008b) stated that of total 7,000 CPA members, 110 belonging to 26 audit firms 

were SEC-approved auditors.  The SEC grants the approval for five year period and 

re-approval will be done by using the findings from the review of auditor performance 

carried out by the FAP Quality Screening Committee as a basis for decision.  

The Accounting Act B.E. 2543 (2000) mandates companies and registered 

partnerships to have their accounts audited by certified public accountants.  However, 

small registered partnerships with their issued capital, total assets and turnover less 

than £100,000, £600,000, and £600,000, respectively (THB 5 million, 30 million, and 

30 million)6 are qualified for audit exemption.  Notably, for taxation filing these small 

partnerships are still required to have their financial statements audited either by tax 

auditors whom licensed by the Revenue Department or certified public accountants.   

A company’s auditor, appointed each year at the shareholders' annual general meeting, 

is required to examine the books of account of the company in accordance with 

generally accepted auditing standards, and to give opinion on the financial statements, 

                                                           
6 £1.00 is approximately equal to 50 baht 
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as to whether the accounts present fairly the financial position and results of 

operations for the period under audit.  At present, there was no specific auditing 

standards or guideline issued by Thai Auditing Standards Board of the FAP for 

auditing the small company accounts.  The Board believed that the existing auditing 

standards could be used with the audit of all sizes and types of businesses; however, 

auditors were suggested using the guideline of International Federation of 

Accountants-International Auditing Practice Statements No. 1005-The Special 

Considerations in the Audit of Small Entities (Srijunpetch, 2008).    

3.4.4 Thai Accounting Standards 

3.4.4.1 Overview 

As discussed earlier, the development of the Thai Accounting Standards (TASs) was 

undertaken after 1970 to facilitate the establishment of the securities market.  At that 

time, the standards were developed locally by the accounting professional bodies, 

called the Institution of Accountants and Auditors of Thailand (ICAAT) with strong 

influences from the US and UK accounting concepts (Angus-Leppan, 1997, p. 394).  

However, there were no legal requirements for companies to comply with the 

standards.  The application of accounting standards was more extensive among listed 

entities.    

After the Financial Crisis in 1997, the reform of institutional system of financial 

reporting was undertaken.  Thai Accounting Standards Board, a subcommittee of the 

Federation of Accounting Professions, is now primarily responsible for national 

accounting standards setting (discussed in section 3.4.2.3).  Thai accounting standards 

setting policy was changed to be based mainly on the International Accounting 

Standards (IAS)/International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).  However, the 

IAS/IFRS were not fully adopted; some adjustments were made so as to fit with Thai 

business environment.  Also, some standards were extracted from U.S. GAAP, such as 

accounting for real estate businesses and investment companies.  Consequently, the 

large number of existing TASs was revised and new accounting standards were issued 

in 2000.  As the compliance with TASs is legally required for statutory reporting, this 

accounting standards reform directly affected non-listed businesses, especially SMEs. 
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To relieve accounting burdens on small entities, the exemption from specific TASs 

was granted to non-public companies. 

During 2006 and 2007, another revision of existing TASs was undertaken in order to 

make it equivalent to the IAS and IFRS version 2006.  The revised and new TASs 

(2007 version) were issued and mostly effective for accounting period beginning on 

the 1st of January, 2008 and onwards.  Again, according to the need of Thai securities 

market to remain competitive with other securities market worldwide, the project to 

converge Thai Accounting Standards with the IAS/IFRS was created in 2007 and 

anticipated to be finalised in 2010.  As a result, the revisions in the content of the 

standards and the adjustments in the numbering system and title of the standards have 

been made in comparison with the IAS/IFRS bound volume 2009.   

In 2011, the most recent version of Thai Accounting Standards (TASs) and Thai 

Financial Reporting Standards (TFRSs) were released.  This convergence again 

affected small entities.  At this time, Thai standards setter decided to develop another 

set of accounting standards to provide relief for smaller businesses from the burdens 

of more complex and extensive financial reporting requirements.   

For financial reporting year 2011 and onwards, there are two sets of Thai GAAPs for 

business entities which are required to prepare and publish their annual financial 

statements.  The first framework, called Thai Accounting Standards (TASs) or Thai 

Financial Reporting Standards (TFRSs), is applied mainly to publicly accountable 

entities.  Another set of accounting standards, titled Thai Financial Reporting 

Standards for Non-Publicly Accountable Entities (TFRS for NPAEs), was 

implemented for entities which do not have public accountability.  

3.4.4.2 Thai Accounting Standards for SMEs 

The relief of full application of accounting standards for SMEs originated in 2002, 

two years after the accounting reform.  As noted above, TASs with exemption 

approach were employed.  Initially, there were seven exempted accounting standards, 

and later TAS 46: Interests in Joint Ventures was added into the list.  As a result, in 

2007, non-public companies had options to depart from eight Thai Accounting 

Standards while those operating in the financial sector had only two exempt 

accounting standards, as shown in Table 3.10. 
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Table 3.10 Exempt Thai Accounting Standards for non-public companies in 2007 

Title 
Non-public companies 

Financial 
businesses 

Non-financial 
businesses 

Segment Reporting � � 

Cash Flow Statements - � 

Impairment of Assets - � 

Consolidated and Separated Financial Statements - � 

Investments in Associates - � 

Interests in Joint Venture - � 

Related Party Disclosures � � 

Financial Instruments Disclosure and Presentation - � 

However, the majority of all exempt accounting standards were mainly related to 

disclosure and presentation requirements, which Sakuljitjinda and Sitchawat (2008) 

argued that the exempt standards were typically not relevant to SMEs.  The use of 

legal form as a criterion for the exemption might not be a suitable proxy for indication 

of reporting burdens.  Further improvement of accounting standards that meet the 

needs of users of SME financial statements and the capability of SMEs seemed 

necessary.   

The IFRS for SMEs is viewed as significantly relevant to developing countries; 

especially where the full IFRS or one set of national GAAP is applied to all sizes and 

types of entities.  The comparison between TASs version 2007 with some exemptions 

(a version before being converged with the full IFRS) and the IFRS for SMEs is 

presented in Appendix 1. 

As mentioned earlier, Thai accounting standards setters decided to develop local 

GAAP standards for SMEs.  In March 2010, the exposure draft on Thai Financial 

Reporting Standards for Small and Medium Enterprises was released.  In this 

proposal, the IASB accounting standards for SMEs (IFRS for SMEs) and the 

Financial Reporting Guidelines for Small and Medium-sized Enterprises (SMEGA) 

Level 3 of the UNCTAD was identified as guidance for its development (FAP, 2010).  

Both measurement and recognition and disclosure were substantially simplified, for 

example, there was no requirement for impairment assessment of assets, all leases 

except hire-purchase were treated as operating leases, or any change in accounting 

policies was applied prospectively.   
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A year after its first release for public discussion, the new standard was introduced in 

May 2011 with the new title of Thai Financial Reporting Standards for Non-Publicly 

Accountable Entities (TFRS for NPAEs), which reflects its scope of applicability.  

Non-public accountable entities, regardless of the entity’s size, can choose to adopt it.  

However, there were significant changes between the final draft and the initial 

proposal, especially in measurement and recognition (see Appendix 2 for details of 

TFRS for NPAEs).   

Overall, the NPAE standards are quite similar to TASs version 2007 with exemptions 

that are similar to the old version of full IFRS.  Several accounting principles are 

extracted from the new TASs/TFRSs, but simplifications have been made in some 

accounting topics, such as accounting for employee benefits and investments in 

subsidiaries, associates and joint venture.  It is, however, noted that these types of 

transactions are less relevant to typical SMEs.  Other sources for development of 

TFRS for NPAEs were U.S. GAAP and IFRS for SMEs.  Examples of U.S. GAAP 

include accounting for investments in debt or equity securities and revenue 

recognition of real estate business while no permission to revalue property, plant and 

equipment and amortisation of intangible assets with indefinite useful live for 10 years 

are derived from the IFRS for SMEs.   

In summary, it is apparent that the obligations for preparing and publishing financial 

statements prescribed in Thai accounting and company laws are largely determined by 

the legal form of the business entity.  Although less reporting requirements already 

exist for SMEs, they seem too complex for micro and small entities.  It is therefore 

questionable whether the existing financial reporting requirements for SMEs is 

justified under cost and benefit consideration.  Particularly, the most recent accounting 

standards applicable to SMEs are simplified enough to ease the compliance burden on 

SMEs and to meet the needs of users of SME financial statements. 
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3.4.5 Financial reporting requirements in various jurisdictions 

As discussed earlier, in most jurisdictions all companies are required to prepare and 

publish their financial statements with a government agency.  Recognising that such 

requirements might impose disproportionate burdens on smaller entities, international 

organisations and many governments have attempted to simplify reporting 

requirements for small entities so as to reduce their reporting burdens.  For instance, 

the IASB issued in 2009 the IFRS for SMEs in order to minimise the costs of 

preparing financial statements under the full IFRS.  Under the current revision of 

European accounting framework, the exemption of financial reporting obligations for 

micro entities was purposed (EC, 2011).  Likewise, in the UK where audit exemption, 

filing choice and accounting standards are already provided for small companies, a 

simplified financial reporting requirement for micro entities has been proposed 

(BIS/FRC, 2011).  This trend is also found in non-European countries.  Under the 

proposed financial reporting framework of New Zealand, small and medium 

companies, such as those who are not issuers or are not publicly accountable entities 

are not required to prepare general purpose financial statements and those whose 

shares are owned by less than 10 shareholders are exempted from statutory audit and 

filing requirements (KPMG, 2011).   

Table 3.11 illustrates the financial reporting and auditing requirements in various 

jurisdictions, including Thailand.  Overall, the preparation of financial statements in 

accordance with accounting standards is required from business entities in all 

countries except the United States.  Simplified financial reporting requirements and/or 

exemptions are implemented for certain business entities.  Specifically, a second or 

third tier of reporting standards is provided for uses by SMEs in most countries.  Most 

of these countries have adopted or are planning to adopt the IFRS for SMEs as a basis.  

However, the criteria used for classification of entities into tiers of financial reporting 

regime vary by jurisdiction.   
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Table 3.11 Financial reporting requirements in various jurisdictions as of 2011 

Jurisdiction Accounting standards Audit Filing and publication 

obligation Tier 1 Tier 2 Tier 3 

EU (projected) EU adopted IFRS National GAAP Micro entities are exempted  Compulsory except for micro 

entities 

Compulsory except for micro 

entities 

Germany EU adopted IFRS German GAAP - Compulsory except for small 

entities 

Compulsory 

United 

Kingdom 

 

(see note 1) 

EU adopted IFRS 

 

Financial Reporting Standard 

for Medium-sized Entities  

Financial Reporting Standard 

for Smaller Entities  

Compulsory except for small 

companies and dormant companies 

Compulsory; small companies can 

file full or abbreviated accounts; 

medium companies can file full or 

abbreviated profit and loss account 
Reduced disclosure for 

qualifying subsidiaries 

Reduced disclosure for 

qualifying subsidiaries  

United States No statutory financial reporting requirement for business entities; only public entities quoted in capital markets are subject to listing rules 

New Zealand 

 

(see note 2) 

NZ IFRS NZ IFRS applying reduced 

disclosure 

Special purpose financial 

reporting for prescribed SMEs 

Compulsory except for closely held 

SMEs 

Compulsory for prescribed entities, 

but no requirement for closely held 

SMEs No requirement for small companies qualifying as exempt companies and non-active 

companies 

Widely held SMEs may opt out if 

shareholders agree.   

Malaysia 

 

Malaysia Financial 

Reporting Standards 

Private Entity Reporting 

Standards  

- Compulsory  Compulsory except for exempt 

private companies  

Philippines  

 

Philippines Financial 

Reporting Standards 

Financial Reporting Standards 

for SMEs 

Another acceptable basis for 

micro entities 

Compulsory  Compulsory  

Singapore 

 

Singapore Financial 

Reporting Standards 

Financial Reporting Standards 

for Small Entities 

- Compulsory except for exempt 

private companies and dormant 

companies 

Compulsory  

Thailand 

 

Thai Financial 

Reporting Standards 

Financial Reporting Standards 

for NPAEs 

- Compulsory except for small 

partnerships   

Compulsory 

Note. 

(1) In the UK, the accounting standards requirement is the proposed framework and this is applicable to non-public sector. 

(2) For New Zealand, this information is based on the proposed financial reporting framework for For-Profit-Entities.    

(3) For ASEAN countries, the first tier reporting is largely converged with the full IFRS, while the second tier is based on the IFRS for SMEs except for Thailand and 

Malaysia.  For statutory audit, Singapore: exempt private company refers to companies with turnover of less than $5 million and their shares held directly or indirectly by 

not more than 20 individual shareholders; Malaysia: exempt private companies refer to companies with not more than 20 individual shareholders; Thailand: exempt 

registered partnerships must have its total revenue, total assets and register capital for the year not exceeding THB30 million, THB30 million and THB5 million. 

Source.  ACCA (2007), ASC (2011), Deloitte (2011), ICAEW(2011b), KPMG (2011), MASB (2011) and World Bank (2005, 2006a, 2008b)   
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For instance, the UK Accounting Standards Board proposed three tiers of financial 

reporting standards (ICAEW, 2011b).  First, listed companies or entities with public 

accountability are required to apply the EU adopted IFRS.  The second tier reporting, 

Financial Reporting Standard for Medium-sized Entities (FRSME), are permitted for 

medium and large entities without public accountability and small public accountable 

entities that are prudentially regulated e.g. credit unions.  The third tier accounting 

standards, Financial Reporting Standard for Smaller Entities (FRSSE) is designed for 

small companies, defined as non-public interest entities that meet the size criteria7 

specified in the Companies Act.   

In ASEAN countries such as Malaysia, the current reporting framework consists of 

two sets of accounting standards.  Entities other than private entities, referring to listed 

companies and their subsidiaries or associates, are subject to the Financial Reporting 

Standards (FRS), while for private entities, there is an option for applying a simplified 

set of standards, called Private Entity Reporting Standards (PFRS), in which several 

irrelevant accounting topics, such as interim financial reporting, earning per share, 

business combinations, and related party disclosure in FRS are exempted.  In October 

2011, the Malaysian Accounting Standards Board is in the process of public 

consultation for the adoption of the IFRS for SMEs.  Nevertheless, as noted by Jaffar, 

Selamat, Ismail, and Hamzah (2011), Malaysian SMEs are not legally required to 

publicly disclose their financial reports. 

In Philippines and Singapore, the second tier accounting standards, based on the IFRS 

for SMEs, are designed for non-public accountable entities meeting size criteria.  

However, micro entities in Philippines have an option to prepare their financial 

statements using other basis.  The Singapore exempt private companies i.e. entities 

with less than 20 shareholders have no audit requirement, implying that small 

companies that typically are closely held by a few number of shareholders are likely to 

qualify for this exemption.  

Unlike other ASEAN countries, the only relaxation of the reporting requirement in 

Thailand is an audit exemption for small partnerships, which in other jurisdictions this 

                                                           
7 In 2011, small companies refer to those not exceeding more than two of the followings: 50 employees, 

turnover £6.5 million and assets £3.26 million. 
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type of entities are not subject to statutory reporting obligations.  Besides, the 

simplified accounting standards are developed locally and applicable to all sizes of 

non-public accountable entities, as no size requirement is incorporated in the 

definition of public accountability. As discussed earlier, non-publicly accountable 

entities cover a wide range of entities, from entities with only few owners or 

employees to very large private-owned firms, the TFRS for NPAEs alone might not be 

able to meet the needs of very different users, especially those of micro entities.   

3.5 Summary 

This chapter has examined the economic context and the regulatory framework for 

financial reporting in Thailand.  The discussion above has shown that financial 

reporting of incorporated businesses is regulated by several pieces of legislation and 

accounting standards.  The imposition of statutory reporting requirements on business 

entities is stimulated by the government’s need for good quality financial reporting in 

order to attract foreign investment. Thus, incorporated business entities are required 

not only to prepare their financial statements in accordance with Thai accounting 

standards and according to a prescribed format, but also their accountants who prepare 

the financial statements must meet the qualification requirements laid down in the 

Accounting Act.  This implies the presumption that such requirements would result in 

provision of the entity’s financial reports beneficial to the entity’s stakeholders.  

However, such requirements lead to an increase in the complexity of the statutory 

reporting framework. From SMEs’ perspectives, it is questionable whether there are 

demands for such financial information among SME stakeholders or if it does whether 

such financial reports satisfy their information needs.     

In reviewing the literature, it appears that the development of accounting standards in 

Thailand has been undertaken in response to the needs of large and public companies.  

The needs of smaller entities are less likely to be considered, while the standards are 

revised, as seen from a lack of relevance of a number of revised TASs to SMEs.  The 

exemption from certain TASs has been given to non-public entities, including SMEs 

since 2002.  However, it is noted that this exemption primarily aimed to reduce costs 

of compliance with full accounting standards on SMEs rather than satisfy financial 

reporting needs of SMEs and their financial statement users.  Recently, a simpler set 

of financial reporting standards for NPAEs has been developed.  However, as the 
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standards are designed for NPAEs, the financial reporting needs of a wide range of 

entities in terms of their size and type have to be taken into considerations.  It is 

therefore argued that such a simplified set of NPAE standards could be too complex or 

less relevant for the majority of Thai SMEs.  At international level, the IFRS for 

SMEs, a simplified set of international accounting standards, is developed by the 

IASB for worldwide application, so the assessment of its suitability to SMEs in 

Thailand is of interest.   

As discussed in previous chapter, the review of the literature has shown that little was 

known about SME financial statement users and their information needs.  The 

findings from the studies regarding the issues of costs and benefits of SME financial 

reporting are also inconsistent. Notably, previous research on small entity financial 

reporting in the context of developing countries is limited.  Thus, the Thai financial 

reporting environment provides an interesting setting to the study.     

As mentioned in section 1.4, this study set out with the aim of investigating financial 

reporting by SMEs in Thailand by focusing on the following research questions in the 

context of Thailand:  

1. Who are the users of SME financial statements? 

2. How do different user groups use SME financial statements? 

3. To what extent do SME stakeholders require independent attestations (e.g. audit)? 

4. What are the costs and benefits of SME financial reporting as perceived by SMEs, 

users of their financial statements and other stakeholders? 

5. What is the quality of SME financial statements? 

6. What are the potential costs and benefits of adopting the IFRS for SMEs to SME 

stakeholders? 
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CHAPTER 4 RESEARCH METHODOLOGY 

 

4.1 Introduction  

This chapter presents research design and methods employed to address research 

questions of this study.  The first part of the chapter provides an overall view of 

research philosophical assumptions and research approach.  Then, research methods 

adopted for the study are outlined and linked with research questions.  The second part 

of the chapter provides further detail about how each research method is implemented.  

This starts with the rationale for the data collection method and is then followed by 

research instrument development and sample selection.  Finally, data collection 

administration, responses received and data analysis are discussed.     

4.2 Philosophical assumptions and research approach 

The selection of research design is rooted in the various philosophical underpinnings 

of different research paradigms.  Each paradigm derives from a number of underlying 

philosophical assumptions, which help researchers to address the way they understand 

and inquire into social phenomena (Babbie, 2007).  On a continuum of paradigms, 

positivism and interpretivism are two distinct philosophical stances.  Positivism 

advocates the application of the methods of the natural sciences into the study of 

phenomena (Bryman & Bell, 2007).  It requires theoretical concepts and hypotheses 

being developed before testing them, so it is viewed as hypothetical-deductive 

generalisation (Patton, 1990).  Interpretivism, on the other hand, believes that social 

phenomena derive from meanings in the minds of people and that individuals interact 

by their own wishes, perceptions, and interests (Robson, 2002).  It seeks interpretive 

understanding of social phenomena, leading to the development of theory (Bryman & 

Bell, 2007; Collis & Hussey, 2009).   
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Table 4.1 summarises key features of scientific and naturalistic research approaches, 

which are underpinned by positivist and interpretivist paradigm, respectively. 

Table 4.1 Key features of two distinct research approaches 

 Scientific Interpretive-Naturalistic 

Reality Objective, structured Subjective, unstructured, and socially 

constructed 

Focus Better knowing and representing 

reality (Causal determination, 

prediction, generalisation) 

Understanding the meaning of 

individual’s actions and those around 

them (Illustration, extrapolation) 

Research approach Reductionist-theory driven Interpretive-holistic 

Research process Linear Non-linear 

Research purpose Theory testing Theory discovery 

Analysis Based on the face value of data Based on understanding gained by 

interpreting data 

Source.  Lye, Perera and Rahman (2006, p. 134) 

 

A researcher making knowledge claims based on positivist standpoint is likely to 

design the study with quantitative methodologies using research strategy and data 

collection methods that are predetermined and yield statistical data (Creswell, 2003).  

This methodology results in high reliability of the findings, but it fails to give 

comprehensive explanations for a phenomenon being studied (Collis & Hussey, 2009; 

Lye et al., 2006).  In contrast, interpretivism tends to use qualitative approaches to 

address phenomena under investigation.  It often studies a small number of cases or 

people in-depth, generating rich, detailed information to describe the phenomenon of 

interest or to explain how and why phenomena occur, but one major limitation of the 

qualitative approach is that generalisation of the results is restricted  (Castro, Kellison, 

Boyd, & Kopak, 2010; Johnson & Onwuegbuzie, 2004; Patton, 1990).   

While many researchers consider that the quantitative and qualitative approaches are 

different and incompatible with each other because these approaches are based on two 

distinct research paradigms, others view it as complementary and can be combined 

within a research project (Bryman & Bell, 2011; Robson, 2011).  This was evident 

from the increase in the integration of quantitative and qualitative approaches in 

research studies over recent years (Brannan, 2005; Bryman, 2006).  When the 

qualitative and quantitative methods are used together, it offers the possibility for 

addressing research questions in terms of a range of methods and thus the weaknesses 

in a single method approach can be compensated by countering-balancing strengths of 



 

108 

 

another (Jick, 2007; Molina-Azorίn, 2011).  Moreover, the mixed methods research 

often applies multiple data collection methods, multiple observers, multiple 

methodologies or multiple theories, known as triangulation (Robson, 2011).  It 

therefore allows investigating the same phenomenon from multiple perspectives and 

triangulating one set of research results with another, leading to more confidence in 

the validity of research findings (Denscombe, 2008; Hopper & Hoque, 2006).  The 

application of multiple sources “can also capture a more complete, holistic, and 

contextual portrayal of the unit(s) under study” (Jick, 2007, p. 45).  However, the use 

of a mixed method approach has some limitations.  It requires more time, effort and 

resources (Creswell, 2003; Johnson & Onwuegbuzie, 2004), especially in a research 

project which was administered by a single researcher.  Although the application of 

multiple sources might create a wider set of explanation for the phenomena under 

study, there is a possibility that the findings might not collaborate, so such 

discrepancy in the research results should be taken into consideration (Brown & 

Brignall, 2007; Robson, 2011).   

This study tends towards an interpretive stance, but the positivist approach is also 

adopted.  The elements of both quantitative and qualitative approaches to the 

collection and analysis of data were employed.  This results from the fact that in the 

study there was a broad range of research questions, which were descriptive and 

exploratory in nature and involved fact findings and hypothesis generation rather than 

testing hypotheses within a particular theory.  Additionally, by adding the qualitative 

approach into the study, it provided an opportunity to study the complexity of 

contextual aspects surrounding the phenomena under investigation, leading to better 

understanding of actions or events.  As Bisman (2010) pointed out, because 

accounting phenomena are involved in human behaviours in connection with or as a 

reaction to accounting information, it is inappropriate to “adopt a stance suggesting 

that accounting is produced or used apolitically” (p. 15).  In turn, the application of 

mixed method research would lead to the understanding of the complexities of 

producing and using accounting information. 
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4.3 Research methods 

In this study, the concurrent triangulation research design (Creswell, 2003) was 

adopted; the quantitative and qualitative data were collected and analysed separately 

and then were integrated at the interpretation phase.  As shown in Figure 4.1, three 

data collection methods were carried out to obtain primary information from various 

sources.    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

    Figure 4.1 Research design for the current study 

The first method involved in a semi-structured interview with a sample from four 

different groups, consisting of (1) directors or managers of SMEs, (2) accounting 

practitioners, (3) regulators and accounting standard setters, and (4) external users of 

financial reports.  The second data collection method was a self-completion 

questionnaire survey of SME directors or managers. The last part was a review of 

statutory annual financial statements filed with a regulatory agency.  With respect to 

data analysis method, a grounded theory approach was employed for interview data 

analysis, while the statistical analysis was applied for the analysis of the data acquired 

from questionnaire survey and review of financial statements.  The knowledge gained 

through qualitative data collection process also utilised for the analysis of quantitative 

data and vice versa.  Table 4.2 presents the research questions in which each data 

source can address.   

  

Research questions 

Questionnaire Financial statement data Interview Data collection: 

Data analysis: Qualitative: 

grounded theory 

Quantitative: 

statistical analysis 

Quantitative:  

statistical analysis 

Integrated results and 

discussion 
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Table 4.2 Linkage between research questions and data collection methods 

Research Question 

Data Collection Method 

Interview 
Questionnaire 

survey  

Review of 
financial 
statement 

Directors/

managers 

of SMEs 

Regulators/ 

Standard 

setters 

Accountants/ 

Auditors 

External 

users 

Directors/ 

managers of 

SMEs 

SME 

statutory 

accounts 

1. Who are the users of 

SME financial statements? 
� � � � � - 

2. How do different user 

groups use SME financial 

statements? 

� � � � � - 

3. To what extent do SME 

stakeholders require 

independent attestation (e.g. 

audit)? 

� � � � � - 

4. What are the costs and 

benefits of SME financial 

reporting as perceived by 

SMEs, users of their 

financial statements and 

other stakeholders? 

� � � � � � 

5.  What is the quality of 

SME financial statements? 
- � � � - � 

6. What are the potential 

costs and benefits of 

adopting the IFRS for SMEs 

to SME stakeholders? 

� � � � � � 

Note. External users include tax authorities, venture capitalist, bank loan officers, and credit information 

provider. 

 

4.4 Interviews 

4.4.1 Rationale for interviews 

For the purpose of this research, where the focus was on the examination of the 

external financial reporting process through the perceptions of various SME 

stakeholders, it was considered that interviews should be utilised.  The use of face-to-

face interview allows researchers to obtain points of views of respondents with some 

flexibility to adjust and explain the questions when respondents show their 

expressions of reluctance to answer due to a lack of understanding in the meanings of 

questions or disclosure of sensitive information (Curran & Blackburn, 2001; Fowler, 

1995).   
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Among several types of qualitative interviews, semi-structured interview was chosen 

for this study.  It provided some flexibility to not only interviewers to reword or 

reorder the questions (Johnson & Turner, 2003), but also interviewees to “explain 

their thoughts and to highlight areas of particular interest and expertise that they felt 

they had” (Horton, Macve, Struyven, 2004, p. 340).  This form of interviewing was 

also widely used in qualitative accounting research (Lee & Humphrey, 2006).  

However, the use of interviews might suffer from the effect of interviewer’s bias and 

time consuming nature of data collection and analysis (Johnson & Turner, 2003).   

4.4.2 Development of interview instruments 

The interview instrument was developed from the research questions of this study and 

issues identified in the literature and previous research studies.  Some interview 

questions were derived from related studies (e.g. Dang-Duc et al., 2006; Marriott & 

Marriott, 1999; POBA, 2006), but adjustments were made so as to fit with the context 

of this current study.  In addition to initial interview questions, interview probes and 

prompts were constructed in order to seek further details or clarifications and ensure 

coverage of issues investigated. 

Given interviews were taking place with preparers, users, accountants and regulators, 

separate interview instruments were generated for each group.  The main issues 

addressed in the interview instruments, however, were the same for all interviewee 

groups.  Some additional aspects had been extended for a particular group of 

interviewees.  For example, the questions concerning technical issues regarding 

accounting standards were included in the interview questions for accountant and 

regulator groups.   

Apart from differences in the interview questions which were varied according to 

interviewee’s group, the structure of interview questions was divided into four main 

parts.   In the first section, the interview guideline started with the introduction of the 

researcher and explanation of research aims and project.  Second, the company’s 

and/or interviewee’s profile was obtained.  The third part contained main interview 

questions, which were subdivided into several sub-sections.  The last part of the 

questions provided an interviewee opportunity to comment or suggest on matter 
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discussed or issues in relation to financial reporting by SMEs.  The interview 

instruments of four different groups of interviewees are provided in Appendix 3.  

The interview instruments were constructed in English and then translated into Thai.  

The initial draft of interview instruments was first reviewed by the supervisor of this 

research study.  After translation had been made, the drafts of interview instruments in 

Thai and English were reviewed by two Thai accounting practitioners. The feedback 

from the review led to the adjustment of the wordings and elimination of some 

questions.   

Pre-testing the interview instrument was also carried out with an owner-director of 

small business in Uttaradit, Thailand, as this group of interviewees was in the position 

of both accounts preparers and users of financial statements. This pre-testing not only 

resulted in a number of improvements to the interview instrument in terms of 

wordings and question order but also provided the researcher an opportunity to learn 

how to administer the face-to-face interview.    

4.4.3 Sample selection for interviews 

In the study using grounded theory approach, information obtained should be “most 

potentially relevant to developing theory about the phenomenon under study” (Parker, 

2003, p. 23).    Interviewees were therefore drawn to the study using purposive 

sampling (Patton, 1990), which emphasised sampling for information-rich cases.  This 

refers to the selection of individuals with ability to provide information with respect to 

the issues or phenomenon in the study, more specifically individuals who participated 

in the process or action (Creswell, 2007).  For example, where the accounting standard 

information was needed, the sample needed to be from individuals who were directly 

involved with the accounting standard-setting process.   

A series of interviews were conducted with various groups representing preparers 

(business entities and accountants), users and regulators.  Initially, the researcher had 

planned to conduct at least five interviews in each category, taking into account 

various factors e.g. size of entity, industry sector, type of services, and job 

responsibility when appropriate.  With regard to an interview with a user group, 

commercial and government bank loan officers, tax authorities, venture capitalists, 
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and credit rating agencies were identified as potential users of SME financial 

statements, so at least one interview with each subgroup would be carried out.  

Furthermore, auditors from local and Big-four firms and accounting standards setters 

were chosen because of their knowledge and experience of national and international 

accounting standards and involvement in accounting standards setting.   

After making decision as to whom and how many should be interviewed, the list of 

potential interviewees for each group was generated to provide a general guideline for 

searching and locating the interviewees.  For example, the accountant group was 

firstly classified according to service provided, including accounting or auditing firms, 

and then subcategorised the firms into local and international firms.  This process 

resulted in the list of potential interviewees.  The same strategy was also applied to 

identify potential interviewees in other groups.    

4.4.4 Interview administration  

Several methods were employed to contact target interviewees e.g. telephone calls and 

postal or email invitation letters.  In some cases, the researcher’s own contacts and the 

introductions from friends and relatives were used to approach the target respondents.  

Gaining an access to target respondents was very difficult and took much longer time 

than it was anticipated.  Many interviewees, for example, refused to participate since 

they were busy and did not have time and some interviewees initially accepted the 

invitation, but later had changed their minds.   

All interviews were conducted face-to-face at the interviewees’ offices.  At the 

beginning of each interview, the purpose of the study was informed together with the 

promise of confidentiality and anonymity and the consent form was obtained.  The 

interviews were conducted in Thai language and varied in length, lasting from 30 to 

90 minutes.  All interviews, except one in the director-manager group, were tape 

recorded and transcribed in full.  At this stage, no translation had been made.    

4.4.5 Responses from interviews 

After taking over a three-month period of time to complete all interview sessions, a 

total of 20 interviews were undertaken.  The number of interviewees in each category 

was different from the initial intention; however, a suggested number of interviews for 
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grounded theory study was 20 to 30 (Creswell, 2007).  Therefore, this number of 

interviews conducted in the study should be sufficient for obtaining theoretical 

saturation (Strauss & Corbin, 1998), i.e. the point where the information received 

from interviewees was repetitive and no new theme emerged.  Table 4.3 summarises 

the detailed information of interviews undertaken for each group.  The majority of 

owner-director group was from trading sector with annual turnover more than a 

hundred million baht, (see Panel B).  For the accountant group, four interviews were 

carried out with owners of local accounting or audit firms providing services mainly 

to SMEs; the current number of their clients ranged from 50 to 800.  Another 

interview was also conducted with an engagement partner of a Big-four audit firm.   

Table 4.3 Profile and number of interviews  

Panel A: Number of interview by group 

Group Code Subtotal Description No. of 

interviews 

1. Directors/managers OM 5 Managing director  3 

Assistant managing director 1 

Financial controller 1 

2. Accountants AC 5 Local accounting firm 3 

Local audit firm 1 

International audit firm 1 

3. Regulators  RG 3 Bureau of Business Supervision, the 

Department of Business Development 

1 

Members of committees involving 

accounting standard setting 

2 

4. External users USER 7 Government bank loan officer 1 

Commercial bank loan officer 2 

Tax audit officer, the Revenue 

Department 

2 

Venture capitalist 1 

Credit information provider 1 

Total   20  20 

Panel B: Details of business entities 

Directors-managers OM1 OM2 OM3 OM4 OM5 

Business sector trading service trading trading trading 

Business age 5 14 8 16 30 

Annual turnover (million baht) 110 20 140 150 280 

Number of employees 24 30 15 30 110 

Note. 

(1) Specific positions of interviewees involving standard setting process cannot be provided in order to 

achieve anonymity.   

(2) Venture capitalist invests mainly in small and medium enterprises.   
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Interviewees in the regulator group consisted of regulatory agency and national 

standard setters.  The former is a representative from the Bureau of Business 

Supervision, the Department of Business Development.  This government unit is 

directly responsible for the enforcement of the Accounting Act and related regulations 

e.g. filing of business accounts.  The latter are the members of committees who are 

involved in Thai accounting standard setting under the Thai Federation of Accounting 

Professions; one of them is a current member of Thai Accounting Standards Board.   

The last group of interviewees was external users.  Of this user group, a total of three 

bank loan officers from government and commercial banks were interviewed.  The 

authorisation amount of loan for government bank loan officer is less than 5 million 

baht and for other two commercial bank loan officers were below 20 and 100 million 

baht.  As credit rating agency was mentioned in the literature as a potential user of 

SME financial statements, a company providing credit information of individuals and 

business entities was interviewed.  Unlike credit rating agency in other countries, a 

credit information provider being interviewed currently does not provide the credit 

rating based on businesses’ financial statements.  However, the interview was carried 

out so as to examine what types of financial information of business entities were used 

by this user and for what purposes.     

4.4.6 Data analysis for interviews 

The study adopted grounded theory approach for analysis of interview data.  Among 

qualitative data analysis approaches, it is known that grounded theory method is an 

effective means to “understanding decision making process and human behaviour in 

natural settings” (Lye et al., 2006, p. 135).  It also has an implication for the studies of 

e.g. phenomena where little is known or social process that involves change (Kirk & 

Staden, 2001, p. 178).  In particular, theories developed by this research method not 

only can be related to existing theories but also extend our understandings about 

“what is happening, how thing are done, why and when organization members do what 

they do, and how component parts (people, organizational units, etc.) interact”, which 

are of importance when changes in e.g. environments or policies are anticipated 

(Parker & Roffey, 1997, p. 241).   
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Grounded theory was originally introduced by Glaser and Strauss (1967) and it had 

become popular in many disciplines, including business research studies (Collis & 

Hussey, 2009; Locke, 2005).  This methodological approach aims to develop theory 

inductively from field data through a systematic analysis (Parker & Roffey, 1997).  

Different approaches to grounded theory have been developed to reflect differences in 

epistemological and theoretical viewpoints (Hutchison, Johnston, & Breckon, 2010).  

In accounting research, however, the more structured approach of Strauss and Corbin 

is often adopted (Gurd, 2008).  In this study, an approach to analysis derived from 

Strauss and Corbin (1998) was employed.  This approach permitted the researcher to 

predetermine the focus of phenomenon being studied and provided “more structured 

and practically oriented method steps for generating grounded theory” from a large 

amount of the data collected from the field work (Parker & Roffey, 1997, p. 223).   

The analysis of interview data collected from various SME stakeholder groups was 

undertaken through various stages of coding, meaning “data were fractured, 

conceptualized and integrated to form theory” (Strauss & Corbin, 1998, p. 3) and this 

coding provides “the link between the data and theoretical concept” (Lye et al., 2006, 

p. 137).  A computer software package for qualitative data analysis (NVivo) was used 

to assist coding, categorising and cross referencing the data.  All interview transcripts 

were loaded into this package and analysed in the original language (Thai).  Only 

coded-interview data or quotations were translated into English; however, some parts 

of the original transcripts were informal spoken language, so a paraphrase of the 

original transcripts was made to render it grammatical.   

Following a step-by-step method suggested by Strauss and Corbin (1998), three levels 

of coding, namely open coding, axial coding, and selective coding, were iteratively 

carried out.  Beginning with open coding of interviews, conceptual labels were given 

to the fragment of data by using line-by-line analysis.  Several suggested techniques 

such as the constant comparative method and questioning were employed so as to 

ensure consistency of coding and interpretations.  At this initial stage, over a hundred 

initial open codes are generated, an example of which is presented in Table 4.4.  

However, many modifications and changes in these early coded-concepts were made, 

as is expected in this approach.   
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Table 4.4 Initial open coding of an interview statement 

Initial open coding Interview statement 

Family-owned business 
 
 
Establishing financial 
standing  
 
Meeting legal 
requirements 
 
Use of published accounts 
 

(OM1) I am a managing director holding 20% of share capital but 
other shareholders are my sisters and brothers. 
 
(USER5) Accounts filed can be used as a source of information to 
proof legal existence of an entity and show that you are actually run a 
business.      
 
(AC3) We must accept the fact that SMEs do financial reporting in 
order to meet the legal requirements. 
 
(RG3) We do not know who they are specifically but I can tell that 
there are a lot of people requesting for a copy of accounts from our 
office.    

In the axial coding process, similar concepts identified in early coding process were 

grouped together into categories. The connection between categories and 

subcategories was explored and properties and dimensions were established.  The 

initial list of categories was refined several times before being finalised; some were 

deleted and amalgamated.  This process resulted in ten main categories. It is important 

to note that some statements were fitted into more than one category.  The table 

summarised the main categories of coding is provided in Appendix 6.   

The final stage of selective coding involves identifying a core category and relating 

other categories to this core phenomenon in terms of context, conditions, actions, 

strategies, and outcomes.  The core phenomenon which emerged from the data was 

“external financial reporting” and other categories derived from the axial coding 

process were categorised and related to directly or indirectly to this core category.  

The diagram of this relationship is shown in Figure 5.1 and the discussion of the 

categories and relationships is provided in section 5.5.    

4.5 Questionnaire survey  

4.5.1 Rationale for questionnaire survey 

This study aims to identify users and uses of SME financial statements and to elicit 

the perceptions of directors or managers of SMEs on external financial reporting. A 

questionnaire survey is viewed as an efficient means of data collection when value, 

opinion, or belief is a subject of interest (Nazari, Kline, & Herremans, 2006; Robson, 

2011).  It is also suggested as the most direct approach used to investigate user’s 

information needs (Beattie & Pratt, 2002).   
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The survey research, especially mail questionnaire survey, was commonly employed 

in accounting research (Collier & Wallace, 1992; Van der Stede, Young, & Chen, 

2005) although it had been criticised for its many weaknesses e.g. reliability of data 

(Roberts, 1999).  As compared to other survey methods, cost and ease of 

implementation are major advantages of questionnaire survey; especially it allows a 

study of the perceptions of a large number of persons who are geographically 

dispersed (Bryman & Bell, 2011).  Its major shortcomings, however, are a low 

response rate, especially the use of mail questionnaire in SME research (Marriott & 

Marriott, 1999; Newby, Watson, & Woodliff, 2003; Robson, 2011), and loss of 

opportunity to probe and correct misunderstanding of respondents (Oppenheim, 

1992).   

With regard to questionnaire distribution, the web-based questionnaire suggests 

significant advantages over a mail survey method, especially in aspect of time and 

costs.  It permits access to a large sample sizes at a lower cost of administration (Sue 

& Ritter, 2007).  This includes speed and accuracy of data collection; shorter time for 

distribution and response and direct data entry and analysis (Evans & Mathur, 2005).  

Furthermore, the web survey is a relatively efficient way of launching a pilot testing.  

However, this data collection technique suffers from lower response rate and technical 

issue such as spam filters (Bryman & Bell, 2011; Sue & Ritter, 2007).  It is also 

restricted in sampling coverage; samples selected must have access to the Internet or 

email addresses (Fricker & Ronald, 2008).   

According to its advantages and attractive features, the current study originally 

adopted the web survey, featuring the web-based questionnaire contained on a website 

of an online survey-service-provider, called SurveyMonkey. During the first four 

weeks of data collection for the actual phase, the high rate of inactive email addresses 

and the poor response rate were seen in the web-based questionnaire.  As a result, the 

study design was adapted to use mixed-mode survey.  The paper-based questionnaire 

was employed as an additional data collection method for the study.   

The next three sections explain the development of the questionnaire instrument and 

provide further details of sample selection and the survey administration.    
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4.5.2 Development of questionnaire instrument 

The questionnaire for the current study was developed from the issues found in SME 

financial reporting literature.  Some questions have adopted and adapted the questions 

from the questionnaires used in the previous research undertaken by e.g. Barker and 

Noonan (1996), Collis (2003), Dang-Duc (2007) and Page (1984) with consideration 

whether they fit with the population, context and purposes of the study.  Data 

requirement table for development of questionnaire instrument was presented in 

Appendix 4.1.    

The questionnaire comprised of four main parts.  The first part of the questionnaire 

seeks information about preparation and publication of financial statements of small 

and medium entities in general.  In the second and third sections, the uses of financial 

statements by business entities and their perceptions on accounting standards are the 

main focus.  In the last part of the instrument, demographic information about 

business entities and respondents, e.g. type of business and ownership structure, job 

position and educational level are gathered.  The majority of the questions are closed 

questions with multiple choices and with rating scale, facilitating the different 

perceptions of respondents.   

The draft questionnaire was originally constructed in English and then translated into 

Thai.  The English draft was reviewed by the supervisor of this research study.  After 

the Thai version of the questionnaire was developed, the feedback and comments from 

two Thai accounting practitioners were obtained.  Necessary changes were then made 

in a subsequent version of the questionnaire.  A pilot study was carried out to reveal 

any problems regarding wording or misunderstanding of the questions and the 

approach to data collection in the main data collection phase.  The administration and 

the results from the pilot studies were discussed as follows.    

4.5.2.1 First pilot testing 

In May 2010, the first pilot testing was administered in two versions of the 

questionnaire survey.  First, the paper version of questionnaire was directly delivered 

to small and medium businesses located in Uttaradit, a city in the north of Thailand.  

This approach resulted in 16 returned questionnaires.  Second, the web-based 

questionnaire was undertaken with the first 100 samples of business entities selected 
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from a sampling list of SME Alliance database.  Among the samples selected for the 

pilot, 6 email addresses were inactive.  After the initial mailing, two contacts with link 

embedded in the email (one week and three week after the initial contact) were 

undertaken as a reminder.  Finally, in the period of one month and with two contacts, 

14 web-based questionnaires were returned, of which 8 were completed.  The 

response rate, excluding partially completed questionnaire, was 8.5 percent.   

After reviewing each response from the surveys, it was evident that some respondents 

were not fully reading the questions.  For example, in the case of rating scale 

questions, there was a trend toward so called ‘straight lining’ where respondents 

selected the same response category for all questions.  In a question in which more 

than one answer was permitted, several respondents selected all answers even though 

some answers did not seem to apply to them.  Informal feedback from paper-based 

respondents also indicated that respondents have difficulties with the questions asking 

respondents to state their agreements with costs and benefits of the accounting 

standards, causing skipped questions.  For ease of understanding, the revision of 

question wording into less technical language was suggested from the respondents.  

Consequently, the majority of the changes had been made were in wording, length, 

and format of the questionnaire.  This leads to conducting the second pilot study.   

4.5.2.2 Second pilot testing 

The second pilot study using web survey was run in August 2010 with a sample of 

120 entities selected from a sampling list of SME Alliance.  Similar to the first pilot, 

16 invitation emails (13.3%) were undelivered to the potential respondents.  After 

conducting two follow ups, 7 responses were received, but 6 of them were usable.  

The response rate was around 5.8 percent.  As compared to the first pilot of web 

survey, no skipped questions, except in open ended questions, were found.   

In sum, the result from the pilot study, including feedback from paper-based 

respondents, was reviewed in order to make the necessary changes required to the 

final questionnaire.  No issue of technical concern was noted in the pilot testing of the 

web survey, but the failure to deliver mails to potential respondents found in the pilot 

indicated that the SME Alliance list included out of dated business email addresses.  

Averaged across two pilot studies, the failure rate was around 18 percent, which it was 
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not uncommon for the online survey to see inactive email addresses (Simsek & Veiga, 

2000, p. 97).  At this stage, no attempt had been made to update the email addresses of 

sample entities obtained from SME Alliance.  

The final version of questionnaire (see Appendix 4.3) consists of four main parts with 

a total of 32 questions, excluding questions offering the respondents to provide other 

comments regarding financial reporting by SMEs and to obtain a summary of research 

findings: 

� Part 1: Preparation and publication of financial statements (7 questions) 

� Part 2: Use of financial information (7 questions) 

� Part 3: Accounting standards for SMEs (7 questions) 

� Part 4: Demographic information (11 questions) 

4.5.3 Sample selection for questionnaire survey 

4.5.3.1 Web-based survey 

Originally, the list of business entities was constructed from the SMEs Alliance 

database, a project of Institution for Small and Medium Enterprise Development 

(ISMED) to provide platform for business contacts to existing and new SME 

entrepreneurs in Thailand. The database provides a brief description of businesses 

(both unincorporated and incorporated) and its contact details arranged by the date of 

registration with the SME Alliance.  The availability of business directory with email 

addresses is its main advantage.  The sample entities were firstly selected from the 

SME Alliance on the basis that they were obliged to regulatory financial reporting, 

providing a total of 25,170 entities.  Further, a systematic sample was generated by 

selecting every fifth entity.  Public companies and/or financial institutions were 

excluded from this initial random list.  Any duplicated name and incomplete email 

address were reviewed and deleted.  This results in a total of 3,035 sample entities 

from SME Alliance.   

In the actual survey phase, after 3,035 invitation emails were sent out, 45.6% of those 

emails were undeliverable.  As compared to those found in the pilot testing, which 

selected recently registered SMEs, this undelivered email rate was substantially 

higher.  The large number of undeliverable mails indicates that a business listing in 

SME Alliance database is not updated regularly, so its information is not accurate and 
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recent.  It also suggests that the businesses whose emails were undelivered are 

probably no longer operating.  The additional list of samples was obtained from Thai 

Yellow Pages website, a more up-to-date business directory with e-mail addresses.  

This database, however, contained information of businesses whose legal forms were 

sole proprietary, registered partnerships and limited companies.  Sole-trader 

businesses were excluded since they were not obliged to regulatory financial 

reporting.  This resulted in an apparent total of 42,132 business entities in the formats 

of limited companies and registered partnerships8.   These entities can be grouped by 

location, and/or by type of goods and services.  Nevertheless, there is a discrepancy 

between the number of entities classified by location and by types of goods and 

services.  In addition, one company can appear more than once in the search result.   

Before conducting a systematic sampling, the target entities in Yellow Pages list were 

firstly categorized by types of goods and service, providing a list of 21,106 entities.  

Similar to the compilation of the SME Alliance list, an additional random list of 2,840 

sample entities was created.  A comparison of the Yellow Pages list with the SME 

Alliance list was undertaken in order to identify any duplication.  A combined list of 

SME Alliance and Thai Yellow Pages maximised the possible sample size for web-

based survey to a total of 5,875.  

4.5.3.2 Paper-based survey 

As mentioned earlier, a poor response rate was seen in one month period of 

conducting the web survey, so the SME clients of local accounting firms were selected 

as an additional sample for the study.  Ten purposively-selected local accounting firms 

were agreed to randomly distribute a copy of 10 to 20 questionnaires to their clients 

who were subject to regulatory financial reporting.  These local accounting firms, 

located in and nearby Bangkok, provided accounting and tax services mainly to small 

and medium businesses.  This approach resulted in the distribution of 150 paper 

version of questionnaires to the sample entities.  Potential differences in response 

from the three sample groups were discussed later in section 4.5.5.2.   

                                                           
8 Access to the Yellow Pages database during 14 October to the end of October 2011 
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4.5.4 Questionnaire survey administration 

The survey was administered during the last quarter of the year 2010.  The procedures 

adopted for administration of the survey were based on the guidelines for mail surveys 

suggested by (Dillman, 2007).  Some adjustments, however, had been made so as to 

fit with the web survey.  With respect to the administration of the web-based 

questionnaire, to encourage all potential respondents to complete the questionnaire, 

three contacts were carried out.  All potential respondents were sent an invitation letter 

with a web link embedded in the emails, following by the first and second email 

reminders (see Appendix 4.2).   

In the middle of October 2010, the web-based questionnaires were firstly mailed to the 

original samples, generated from the SME Alliance database, but 1,384 invitation 

emails were returned with “undelivered message”.  The figure, almost half of the list, 

was higher than it was expected.  This lead to re-mailing to another sample of 2,840 

businesses obtained from Thai Yellow Pages website at the beginning of November 

2010.  After mailing another follow-up emails, only 80 responses had been returned 

from the web survey, and such a low response rate was still observed after the end of 

four weeks of actual data collection.   

In an effort to obtain a sufficient number of responses for a reasonable analysis, 

another 150 paper version of questionnaires with stamped addressed envelopes was 

distributed to an additional list of samples accesses through local accounting firms.  

Apart from a slightly difference in the covering letter and the layout, the paper version 

was identical to the web questionnaire in the content, wording and sequence of 

questions.  Since the business names and mail contact addresses of these accounting 

firms’ clients were unavailable, the follow up telephone calls to participated 

accounting firms were undertaken as a reminder.   

4.5.5 Responses from questionnaire survey 

After almost three months of data collection, the adoption of mixed-mode survey 

yielded a total of 241 respondents.  Table 4.5 breaks down the samples and responses 

from each survey, labelling YP group for the responses received from Yellow Pages 

list, SA group for the responses returned from SME Alliance, and PC group for the 

returned paper-based questionnaires from clients of local accounting firms.   
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Table 4.5 Samples and responses from questionnaire surveys 

 
Total 

Web-based Paper-based 

Yellow 

Pages  

(YP) 

SME 

Alliance 

(SA) 

Subtotal 

Accounting 

firm clients 

(PC) 

Sample size:      

Initial sample size 6,025 2,840 3,035 5,875 150 

Less: Undelivered emails 1,543 159 1,384 1,543 - 

Less: Returned emails:      

- Do not want to participate 20 14 6 20 - 

- Business was liquidated 2 2 - 2 - 

- Business is not an SME 2 - 2 2 - 

Remaining sample size  4,458 2,665 1,643 4,308 150 

Responses:      

Returned questionnaire 241 102 79 181 60 

Less: Unusable responses 49 27 16 43 6 

Usable responses 192 75 63 138 54 

Response rate (%) 4.31 2.81 3.83 3.20 36.00 

Note. 

(1) Group YP and group SA are responses received from the web survey, in which YP group refers 

to the generated from Thai Yellow Pages website and Group SA refers to the samples generated 

from SME Alliance database.  Group PC refers to the samples that complete the paper version of 

questionnaires distributed to SMEs through accounting firms. 

(2) Response rate is calculated from the usable responses compared to the remaining sample size 

From the above table, a total of 181 samples responded to the web survey, of which 43 

were partially completed- many responses were abandoned after the first section and 

some skipped the questions related to accounting standards, resulting in an overall 

response rate of 3.2 percent.  A high rate of partial completed survey might result 

from lack of understanding of the questions, since some parts of the questionnaire 

required a certain level of financial reporting understanding.  Unlike the response rate 

in the web survey, 36 percent of response rate for a paper version was achieved with a 

lower rate of unusable responses.   

To permit full comparability across all questions, a total of 49 incomplete responses 

were deleted, which left the researcher with 192 usable responses.  Of which, 

approximately one-fourth of usable responses were from the paper version.  Four of 

the respondents indicated that their businesses are controlled by listed companies.  As 

a result, the analysis is based on the 188 usable responses.  A total response rate, on 

averaged across two modes of survey administration, is 4.31 percent, falling close to 
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those reported by several recent surveys of owner-directors of SMEs (Sian & Roberts, 

2009).   

4.5.5.1 Non-response test 

In a survey research, regardless of how high a response rate is achieved, 

“understanding the magnitude and direction of bias caused by non-responses” is 

suggested (Rogelberg & Stanton, 2007, p. 200).  For the current study, non-response 

bias was assessed by comparing early and late responses, which Oppenheim (1966) 

suggested that late respondents are likely to answer in the similar manner of non 

respondents.  This approach was adopted by previous studies to examine the 

difference between early and late responses in terms of their demographic 

characteristics (Collis, 2003; Dang-Duc, 2007).  The responses received one month 

after the first contact were assigned as early responses, whereas any questionnaire 

received after that or later were considered as late responses.  A series of tests, 

including Chi-square and Mann-Whitney U tests, were conducted for each list on key 

characteristics, including industry, business ages, number of employees, annual 

turnover, level of education, and job position.  The result of the tests indicated no 

significant differences between early and late responses for each group on these 

demographic characteristics of businesses and respondents, suggesting that non-

response bias should not be a problem in this study.   

4.5.5.2 Other sampling issues 

By adding a paper element into the survey, it expanded the coverage of the study to 

the population whose email addresses were not available, but it raised concern over 

difference in responses provided by paper versus web questionnaire and difference 

given by respondents from a different list of business entities.  Further analyses were 

therefore conducted to examine the differences in the survey answers of business and 

respondent characteristics across the groups.  Notably, before conducting a series of 

Chi-square tests, the responses to the demographic questions were re-categorised and 

compared among responses from three groups; YP group representing respondents 

from Yellow Pages database, SA group representing respondents from SME Alliance 

database and PC group representing respondents from accounting firm clients who 



 

126 

 

completed a paper-based questionnaire.  The results of the tests were shown in Table 

4.6.   

Table 4.6 Analysis of business and respondent characteristics by group 

 

Variables 

 

n 

Group (% of total 

respondents for each group) 

Chi-

square 

df p 

YP SA PC 

Business characteristics        

Q27 Type of main business 

  Manufacturing 

  Service 

  Trading 

187  

18.1 

50.0 

31.9 

 

44.3 

31.1 

24.6 

 

27.8 

14.8 

57.4 

 

28.432 

 

4 

 

.000* 

Q28 Business age 

  10 years or lower 

  More than 10 years 

188  

41.7 

58.3 

 

37.1 

62.9 

 

53.7 

46.3 

 

3.417 

 

2 

 

.181 

Q29 Number of employees 

  Less than 10 

  Between 10 and 50 

  More than 50 

188  

34.7 

45.8 

19.4 

 

29.0 

45.2 

25.8 

 

29.6 

48.1 

22.2 

 

1.083 

 

4 

 

.897 

Q30 Annual turnover- in baht 

  5 million or lower 

  6-100 million 

  More than 100 million 

187  

31.9 

43.1 

25.0 

 

30.6 

40.3 

29.0 

 

37.7 

30.2 

32.1 

 

2.432 

 

4 

 

.657 

Respondents’ profile        

Q31 Educational level 

  Bachelor or lower 

  Postgraduate 

187  

52.1 

47.9 

 

53.2 

46.8 

 

85.2 

14.8 

 

17.298 

 

2 

 

.000* 

Q32 Job position 

  Director 

  Manager 

  Owner 

  Staff 

186  

47.2 

26.4 

19.4 

6.9 

 

50.0 

25.0 

16.7 

8.3 

 

42.6 

14.8 

9.3 

33.3 

 

21.449 

 

6 

 

.002* 

*The difference is significant at .05 level  

Note.  

(1) Cramer’s was used for identifying the effect size:  the type of main business (.276), education level 

(.304) and job position (.240).   

(2) Percentage was rounded so in some case a total might be slightly over or under a hundred percent.   

From Table 4.6, the respondents from the YP sample were more likely to be in the 

service sector.  Respondents from paper-based sample had higher educational 

attainment and respondents from the SME Alliance database were slight more likely 

to be directors.  The results from statistical tests indicated that there were significant 

difference between groups with regard to the type of business and the respondents’ 

profiles; however, the strength of this variation was found to be relatively weak.   
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4.5.6 Data analysis for questionnaire survey 

The data obtained from the questionnaire survey were mainly in quantitative form.  

Statistical Package for Social Scientists (SPSS) was selected as a tool for supporting 

statistical analysis.   Descriptive analysis of the responses was conducted to explain 

characteristics of respondents and responses in terms of frequency, percentage, means 

and ranking.  These techniques also provided a check on missing data in the questions 

and violation of assumptions underlying statistical techniques adopted in the study.   

Further analysis of the questionnaire data was carried out in order to support 

explanation of the relationships between variables.  Since most variables obtained 

from the questionnaire survey are categorical (nominal and ordinal) in nature, non-

parametric tests for association and/or difference between two or more independent 

samples, such as the Chi-square test, the Mann-Whitney U test, Kruskal-Wallis test, 

were employed for the analysis.   

The Chi-square test is used to examine the relationship between two or more variables 

which are nominal scale, but this test should not be used if any cell has an expected 

frequency of less than one or if more than 20 percent of cells have expected frequency 

of less than five (Djankov, La Porta, Lopez-De-Silanes, & Shleifer, 2002).   

The non-parametric, Mann Whitney U test is used to test the difference between two 

independent sample groups.  This test is suggested when the data are ordinal and the 

samples are small, no requirement of equal numbers in the two conditions, and there 

has no assumption of normality (Laeven & Woodruff, 2007).  Likewise, the Kruskal 

Wallis test is another non-parametric test which can be applied in order to compare 

two or more independent populations, but the data are either ordinal or interval and 

not normally distributed (Bertrand & Kramarz, 2002). 
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4.6 Review of financial statements 

4.6.1 Rationale for reviewing of financial statements  

A sample of SME statutory financial statements filed at the Bureau of Business 

Documentation, the Department of Business Development was reviewed so as to 

enable an analysis of the frequency and importance of various items in companies’ 

accounts and the creation of a composite balance sheet and income statement for the 

sample.  For example, if few companies have derivatives, then although accounting 

for derivatives maybe costly to a few companies, that may not represent a large 

burden in aggregate.  It also allows the assessment of the social and economic 

significance of small companies by reference to the findings in relation to 

phenomenon of financial statements produced by companies.   

In reviewing the literature, there was a concern over compliance with accounting 

standards by SMEs, as an audit exemption was granted to SMEs as well as many 

SMEs might lack resources or expertise to comply with full reporting (Di Pietra et al., 

2008).  If there was non-compliance with accounting regulations and standards, it 

would affect the usefulness of the financial statements. Also, it was suggested that the 

level of compliance with financial reporting requirements might be related to the costs 

and benefits of disclosure regulations.  Low level of compliance could signify the 

extent of burdens imposed by accounting standards and financial reporting regulations 

(Carsberg et al., 1985).  Likewise, if a significant level of non-compliance exists, it 

might indicate the entity’s attempt to reduce compliance and proprietary costs (Bollen, 

1996).  In addition, as Eierlie and Haller (2009) pointed out, in the process of SME 

accounting standards development, the identification of accounting transactions which 

SMEs typically encounter would enable the accounting standards setters in restricting 

the volume and complexity of accounting standards for SMEs to only relevant topics.    

Altogether, in this current study, the review of published accounts permits an 

examination of the disclosure practice and compliance with the financial reporting 

requirements of SMEs and investigation of the relevance of accounting standards to 

Thai SMEs. 
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4.6.2 Disclosure quality measurement 

4.6.2.1 Overview 

A company discloses its information through various sources such as annual reports, 

statutory financial statements, press releases, and company websites (Healy & Palepu, 

2001; Marston & Shrives, 1991).  In the literature, the investigation of information 

disclosed through companies’ financial reports has been conducted to examine, for 

example, to what extent, in practice, an entity discloses information and complies with 

regulatory financial reporting requirements, such as accounting measurement and 

disclosure requirements.  Hassan and Marston (2010) reviewed the accounting 

literature and found that disclosure quality was measured by directly examining the 

information disclosed in the reports or through the users’ perceptions of disclosure 

practice.   According to Beattie, McInnes, and Fearnley (2004), financial analysts’ 

ratings, disclosure index method and other textual analysis method (e.g. thematic 

content analysis, readability studies, and linguistic analysis) are three major types of 

content analysis used for the studies of disclosure in annual reports and accounts.  

These three approaches assumed that the quantity of disclosure is the proxy of the 

quality of disclosure (Beattie et al.,2004; Beretta & Bozzolan, 2008).  However, the 

disclosure index is also a common approach for determining the disclosure quality 

(e.g. Aljifri, 2008; Cooke, 1993; Hooks, Coy, & Davey, 2002; Yeoh, 2005).   

In this section, an overview of two approaches to measuring the disclosure quality: 

disclosure index and alternative approaches proposed by Beattie et al. (2004) are 

presented.  Then, the subjectivity in disclosure quality measurement is discussed.   

For a disclosure index approach, the level of disclosure or the degree of compliance 

with accounting regulations is used as a proxy of disclosure quality (Beattie et al., 

2004).  The disclosure checklist firstly has to be developed and then used as a tool to 

establish the disclosure score.  The information items contained in the disclosure 

checklist vary in the number and type of disclosure items.  In general, there are two 

main types of disclosure items: mandatory and voluntary items.  The mandated 

disclosures include information derived mainly from legal or regulatory requirements, 

representing a minimum level of disclosure and a degree of compliance, while 

voluntary items are all information other than those required to be disclosed.  
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According to Cooke  (1993), when the disclosure index approach is adopted for the 

study, a classification of disclosure item into mandatory and voluntary items will 

“enhance interpretation of the results” (p. 525).  Marston and Shrives (1991), 

however, cautioned that the disclosure index score does not always represent the 

quality, but only the extent of the disclosure.  Besides, subjectivity and “labour-

intensive” are main methodological disadvantages of this approach, resulting in 

minimising reliability and limiting the sample size, respectively (Core, 2001; Marston 

& Shrives, 1991, p. 452).  Despite its limitations, this approach has been widely 

accepted in assessing the extent of disclosure quality of company’s financial reports. 

Beattie et al. (2004), however, argued that the traditional approach such as disclosure 

index examines “only the presence or absence of a disclosure on a given topic” and 

thus limits its investigation to selected disclosure items (p. 213).  When it comes to 

examining the narratives of annual reports, such approach might not be suitable.  They 

therefore develop a multi-dimensional framework to measure the quality of voluntary 

disclosure in the narrative part of annual reports.  Topic, time, financial and 

quantitative dimensions of the disclosure were taken into consideration.  Both the 

relative amount of disclosure and the spread of disclosure across topics are used for 

measurement of the disclosure quality.  They asserted that such multi-dimensions 

would enable various forms of analysis and result in multidimensional assessment of 

the voluntary disclosure quality in annual reports; however, this approach is a 

laborious process.   

Botosan (1997, p. 333) indicated that subjectivity was inherent in the development and 

application of the disclosure checklist as a research tool to measure the disclosure 

level.  Marston and Shrives (1991) even emphasised that this subjectivity “cannot be 

completely removed, nor is it reasonable to expect that it can be” (p. 208).  Therefore, 

in the research studies regarding the disclosure quality or compliance level, several 

means have been employed to minimise the degree of subjectivity in the process of 

selection items for inclusion in the checklist and scoring the disclosure level.   

Given the basis for determining the disclosure items are varied, a sound judgment is 

required.  Tsalavoutas, Evans, and Smith (2009) indicated that the researchers had to 

ensure that the instrument measures ‘the concept of interest’ (p. 11).  They further 
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suggested that the verification by a group of experts might be a way to increase the 

validity of the instrument.  For example, Al-Shammari, Brown, and Tarca (2008) 

validated their draft self-constructed disclosure checklist through a comparison with 

the disclosure checklist of two international accounting firms and a review by an 

accountant (p. 435).  Similarly, the subjectivity in the scoring process is a threat to the 

reliability of the disclosure checklist.  It is critical to score only items considered 

relevant to a company otherwise “larger and more diversified enterprises would be 

able and likely to disclose more information” (Cooke, 1993, p. 528).  It is, however, 

difficult to ascertain with certainty whether an undisclosed item in the financial 

statements is due to non-compliance or non-applicability. In this case, several 

techniques can be used to reduce such uncertainty.   

First, a researcher should thoroughly read the entire report before scoring an item 

(Cooke, 1993).  This method enables “the researcher to understand the nature and 

complexity of each company’s operations and to form an opinion on whether 

undisclosed items obviously applied to the company” (Al-Shammari, 2005, p. 90).  

Second, reviewing the financial reports of prior and subsequent years might indicate 

any violation of disclosure requirements (Yeoh, 2005).  If the financial statements are 

presented in comparative amounts, Al-Shammari (2005) stated that the non-applicable 

disclosure might be indicated by a dash in front of an item in the current year column.  

Third, logical reasoning should be exercised when reviewing the financial statements 

(Yeoh, 2005).  For example, if a company shows inventory item in its balance sheet, it 

is reasonable to expect that a company should provide accounting policy for inventory 

valuation.  In addition, certain items are applicable to certain companies or industry 

groups.  If a firm operates in conventional manufacturing industry, it should be 

expected to disclose inventories.  Finally, the selection of a number of sample 

companies’ financial reports to be scored by independent persons can be a further 

procedure for evaluating the reliability of the instrument (Marston & Shrives, 1991; 

Yeoh, 2005).   
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4.6.2.2 Disclosure quality measurement of SME financial statements 

A limited number of studies were carried out to assess the compliance level or the 

quality of disclosure of SMEs through the review of SME financial statements.  

Bollen (1996) and Carsberg et al. (1985), for example, constructed the list of reporting 

requirements from financial reporting regulations.  For the work of Bollen (1996), the 

emphasis was on both quantity and quality of compliance with the financial reporting 

regulations, the layout, sequence, and naming of items shown in the face of accounts 

were a part of items used to examine the level of compliance and disclosure quality.  

Unlike the Bollen (1996)’s study, Carsberg et al. (1985) did not focus on counting 

words or phrases in the financial reports. They developed the disclosure checklist 

from the requirements of specific accounting standards and the company laws and 

assessed the overall quality of accounts with five-rating scales: good, fair, satisfactory, 

poor, and very poor, through four aspects: format of accounts, disclosure of 

information, understandability, and audit report.  However, they cautioned that this 

quality rating was subjective in nature, so the results should be carefully interpreted.  

The more recent study on quality undertaken by POBA (2006) was different from the 

previous studies.  The companies’ accounts, auditor’s report, and director’s report 

were examined by accounting experts, such as POBA and accounting practitioners 

from ACCA, ICAEW, and ICAS, so as to identify whether these reports were 

compliant with relevant accounting standards and the Companies Act and contained 

material errors in computation or presentation, representing “a lack of care in 

preparation” (POBA, 2006, p. 25).   

4.6.3 Disclosure checklist development 

Based on the method used to quantify the quality of financial reporting in prior studies 

and the fact that this present study seeks to investigate the disclosure quality of SME’s 

primary financial statements and their accompanying notes, rather than that of 

narrative information disclosed in the annual report, the disclosure index method was 

adopted.  The application of this method aims to assess the quality of mandatory 

disclosure in the statutory financial statements and to facilitate the examination of the 

level of compliance with the disclosure required by financial reporting standards and 

the company laws.  The work of Sutthachai (2006) who studied the financial reporting 

practice of listed Thai companies was also taken into consideration.  However, the use 
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of disclosure index cannot capture the quality of financial reports in other aspects e.g. 

logical error, calculation errors, or unsystematic presentation.  Therefore, while 

reviewing the accounts, these types of errors were also noted by the researcher if they 

were present.  In addition, to facilitate the examination of the relevant accounting 

standards to SMEs, accounting standards topics which were applied by the entities 

were listed. 

In the literature, the construction of disclosure items used to examine the extent of 

financial reporting disclosure was compiled from several sources of information.  As 

in most of studies, the checklist was built on the experience of previous researchers 

(Marston & Shrives, 1991).  The information items can also be selected by their levels 

of importance to user groups and stakeholders of financial reports.  For example, in 

the previous study of disclosure quality in the corporate annual report undertaken with 

companies operating in retail and distribution electric industry in New Zealand, the 

list of disclosure was selected by stakeholder groups such as auditors, lenders 

employees, customers, and directors (Hooks et al., 2002).   

Previous studies and accounting regulation literature were also sources for candidate 

disclosure items.  As mentioned by Marston and Shrives (1991), the adoption of the 

disclosure items from previous research as a research tool for the current study was a 

means to facilitate a comparison with prior studies.  Many studies employed, for 

example, the accounting acts, the listing requirements, the accounting standards, and 

suggestions from standard setter bodies as sources of potential items (e.g. Aljifri, 

2008; Botosan, 1997; Camfferman & Cooke, 2002; Cooke, 1993; Soewarso, Tower, 

Hancock, & Taplin, 2007; Yeoh, 2005).   

In sum, for this present study the disclosure checklist was developed as a means to 

measure the extent of compliance with the disclosure requirements.  The following 

steps were therefore undertaken when developing the disclosure research instrument.   

Step 1: Identify possible disclosure items 

A wide range of candidate items for inclusion in the checklist was generated from 

several sources.  The main sources of disclosure items are the major Thai accounting 

regulations.  These include the Accounting Act B.E. 2543 (2000), Thai Accounting 

Standards, and the Ministerial Announcement prescribing the format and guidelines 
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for financial statement presentation and filing issued by the Department of Business 

Development, the Ministry of Commerce.  In respect of accounting practitioners’ 

practices, the disclosure checklists of two international accounting firms in Thailand, 

were obtained and analysed because they provided a comprehensive list of disclosure 

items required by the accounting standards and related accounting laws and 

regulations in Thai financial reporting environment.   

Step 2: Preliminary survey of SME financial statements  

The preliminary survey of twenty-five financial statements SME financial statements 

was carried out to facilitate the selection of disclosure items in the disclosure 

checklist.  The findings from this preliminary survey were presented in section 7.2.     

Step 3: Development of preliminary disclosure checklist  

Using information derived from previous steps as a basis, a list of mandatory 

disclosure items from Thai Accounting Standards and related accounting regulations 

in effect for the period of the study was firstly generated.  Since the financial sector 

was excluded from the sample selection of the studies and only annual financial 

statements were analysed, the irrelevant accounting standards were eliminated, 

including TAS 27: Disclosure in the Financial Statements of Banks and Similar 

Financial Statements, TAS 42: Accounting for Investment Companies, and TAS 41: 

Interim Financial Reporting.  This resulted in possible disclosure topics in 2007 

annual financial statements, as shown in column (a) of Table 4.7.   

However, further adjustment of the list of possible disclosure topics was made 

according to the findings from the initial survey of accounts, which indicated that it 

was least likely to find the applicability of TAS 7: Accounting for Hire Purchase, TAS 

34: Troubled Debt Restructuring and TAS 54: Discontinued Operation and almost all 

sample entities opted for relaxation from full reporting, so that they did not apply 

exempt reporting standards for non-public limited companies.  Therefore, these 

accounting standard topics were excluded from the mandatory disclosure items.   
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Table 4.7 Disclosure topics of 2007 financial statements  

(a) Possible disclosure topics (b) Disclosure topics in a disclosure checklist 

Financial statement preparation: 

Comparative financial statements 

General information 

Basis for financial statement preparation 

Significant accounting policies e.g. revenue 

recognition 

Other disclosures 

Business Combinations 

Consolidated financial statements 

Balance sheet, profit and loss statement, and 

notes 

Cash and cash equivalent 

Short-term investment  

Accounts and notes receivable  

Accounts receivable from debt restructuring 

Inventories 

Investments in subsidiaries associates and 

joint venture 

Long-term investments (debt/equity 

instruments) 

Related party transactions 

Property, plant and equipment 

Borrowing costs/capitalisation of interest 

cost 

Research and development 

Intangible assets 

Impairment of assets 

Accounts payable from debt restructuring 

Long-term loans 

Lease 

Financial Instruments 

Shareholder’s equity 

Earnings per share 

Discontinued operation 

Segment reporting 

Foreign currency translation 

Provisions and contingencies 

Events after the balance sheet date 

Errors and changes in accounting policies 

Cash flow statements 

Specialised industries: 

Construction contracts 

Revenues from real estate business 

Hire purchase-for hirers 

Financial statement preparation: 

Comparative financial statements 

General information 

Basis for financial statement preparation 

Significant accounting policies e.g. revenue 

recognition 

Other disclosures 

- 

- 

Balance sheet, profit and loss statement, and 

notes 

Cash and cash equivalent 

Short-term investment  

Accounts and notes receivable  

- 

Inventories 

- 

 

Long-term investments (debt/equity 

instruments) 

Related party transactions 

Property, plant and equipment 

Borrowing costs/capitalisation of interest 

cost 

Research and development 

Intangible assets 

- 

- 

Long-term loans 

Lease 

- 

Shareholder’s equity 

Earnings per share 

- 

- 

Foreign currency translation 

Provisions and contingencies 

Events after the balance sheet date 

Errors and changes in accounting policies 

- 

Specialised industries: 

Construction contracts 

Revenues from real estate business 

- 

Nevertheless, the related party disclosure was not mandated, but many entities 

disclosed related party transactions in the notes to financial statements.  Also, the 

details of selling and administration expenses were often disclosed.   As a result, such 
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disclosures were considered as voluntary items in the checklist.  Finally, the disclosure 

items selected for the study were based on twenty-one accounting standards in 

effective for the preparation of the financial statements for the year 2007, as shown in 

column (b) of Table 4.7 

Step 4: Review the preliminary disclosure checklist by accounting experts 

The checklist was reviewed by two accounting practitioners, including accountants 

from international and local accounting firms.  The research instrument was again 

adjusted due to suggestions received from the accounting experts.  

Step 5: Pilot testing the disclosure checklist 

The disclosure checklist was again applied to statutory financial statements to check 

whether it is applicable for measuring the extent of compliance with mandatory 

disclosure requirements in order to make further modification in the instrument.  The 

pilot testing also assisted the researcher in the administration of the review of financial 

statements. 

Finally, the disclosure checklist of this study comprised four main sections.  The first 

two sections provided information about profile and filing practice of sample entities.  

The third section contained the disclosure items in balance sheet, profit and loss 

statement, statement of change in equity, and notes to financial statements (see 

Appendix 5.1).  Of 186 disclosure items contained in the checklist, 14 items were 

voluntary disclosures.   

4.6.4 Scoring process for disclosure checklist 

The disclosure index approach typically uses one of two forms of scoring system.  

Firstly, a weighted score system is generated by surveying perceptions of users such 

as investors, financial analysts, or loan officers, regarding how important various 

disclosure items are to their decision-making.  This responds to the fact that each user 

group has different information needs.  For example, the five-scale system, ranging 

from little importance to very important, is employed to represent the level of 

importance (Hooks et al., 2002).  Secondly, the unweighted score system assumes that 

each disclosure item is equally important.  However, the findings from several 

previous studies employed weighted and unweighted scoring systems have shown no 
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significant difference in the results (Al-Razeen & Karbbhari, 2004; Marston & 

Shrives, 1991).  With regard to the unweighted index, the disclosure score is 

computed by using a dichotomous method.  The item is scored ‘one’ if it is disclosed, 

while it is scored ‘zero’ if it is not disclosed.  However, there is a case in which non-

disclosure of an item might occur because a transaction is irrelevant to the company or 

immaterial for disclosure, or the company was not willing to disclose the item 

although it was relevant (Grundei & Talaulicar, 2002).  If it is found to be the former 

case, there should be no penalisation for such absence.  As a result “not applicable” 

should be assigned to such item.   

For the current study, the unweighted scoring method is used, as this method is less 

subjective since all items are treated equally and no significant difference was found 

in the studies using these two methods.  Moreover, this study does not focus on the 

information needs of a particular user group.  Three types of codes were used to score 

each information item; disclosed, not-disclosed or not applicable.  Nevertheless, a 

potential problem with this scoring system is how to ensure that an undisclosed item is 

due to non-compliance or not-applicable.  In order to minimise this problem and to 

ensure that the scoring was undertaken consistently, the following steps were taken 

when applying the disclosure checklist to the sample financial statements.   

First, the financial statements, accompanying notes, and auditor’s report (if any) were 

reviewed so as to obtain basic information of the sample entities e.g. business 

activities, reporting period, and types of transactions.  While reading the entire 

financial reports, cross referencing items on the face of accounts with its 

accompanying notes and checking for errors in calculations, reconciliation, and 

presentation were also undertaken.   

Second, the score was assigned to a group of items which were obviously relevant to 

the sample companies.  This included items shown on the face of primary financial 

statements and related items to the information in the primary statements, for example, 

if there was the amount of long-term debt in balance sheet, the presence of interest 

amount and notes for the debt were expected.  Also, in the disclosure checklist, there 

were information items which were applicable to all entities, such as general 

information of business, basis for financial statement preparation, and accounting 
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policies for revenue recognition.  Therefore, when applying the checklist to this group 

of items, if there was no such item in the financial statements and accompanying 

notes, or in some case the information item was disclosed but did not comply with 

accounting standards, ‘not-disclosed’ was assigned.    

Third, the last step was to apply the scoring sheet to the items which were required the 

researcher to determine whether the items were relevant to the sample companies.  In 

order to form such opinion, the entire reports were again reviewed in detail and 

several sources of information were taken into consideration and used as an indication 

of the applicability of required disclosure, for example, the industry in which a 

company operates, balance of information items from prior period, type of audit 

opinions and other information found in the auditor’s report.  Then, the researcher 

made the judgment as to the applicability of the items.  If there was no sound evidence 

that the item was relevant or non-compliant, it was assumed as not-applicable.   

After assigning scores to the information items, the disclosure index was calculated 

with exclusion of not-applicable items, so the total number of relevant or applicable 

scores is not the same for every company.  The level of disclosure was measured using 

three indices, labelled aggregated, mandatory, and voluntary disclosure level.  The 

mandatory disclosure index, in other words, could be treated as the level of 

compliance with accounting laws and accounting standards.  The formula used for 

calculation of the indices is the following. 

�� �
∑ X��
��
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where  nj  = number of relevant/applicable items for j company 

xij = one of item is disclosed or zero if the item is not disclosed  
 so that 0 ≤ Ij  ≤ 1 
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4.6.5 Sample selection for financial statements 

4.6.5.1 Selection of sampling frame 

The study involved a survey of small and medium enterprises’ statutory financial 

statements.  As mentioned by Curran and Blackburn (2001), a definitive list of small 

businesses is rarely available. Since the present study focuses mainly on business 

forms that are legally subject to financial statement filing, the list of such business 

types was provided by the Department of Business Development.  Specifically, the 

“Companies in Thailand” database, categoried by Thailand Standard Industrial Code 

(TSIC), provides business registration data and businesses’ profiles, including 

registered capital, board of directors’ names, address, and abbreviated balance sheet 

and income statements.  The number of business entities in existence in 2008 business 

registration was 559,454, in which about 99.85 percent were non-public limited 

companies (see Table 4.8).   

Table 4.8 Number of business entity in existence in 2004-2008 

Business form 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Registered ordinary partnership 4,521  4,530  4,543  4,578  4,592  

% 0.95  0.91  0.87  0.85  0.82  

Limited partnership 210,728  219,399  227,987  236,163  240,604  

%  44.38  44.05  43.46  43.75  43.01  

Private limited company 258,854  273,365  291,236  298,169  313,383  

%  54.51   54.88  55.52  55.24  56.02  

Public limited company 768  827  834  852  875  

% 0.16  0.17  0.16  0.16  0.16  

Total 474,871  498,121  524,600  539,762  559,454  

Source: DBD (2009d) 

Based on the Thai SME White Paper of 2008, the number of registered businesses was 

slightly different from the list of business registration due to inclusion of dissolved 

firms (OSMEP, 2009b).  Of 581,596 juristic business entities in 2008, about 98.6 

percent were small and medium-sized businesses (see Table 4.9).  The service sector 

formed the largest proportion, accounting for about 47.6 percent, following by trading 

(around 37.6%) and manufacturing sectors (about 14.3%).   
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Table 4.9 Juristic business entity classification by size and industry in 2008 

Size 

category 

No. of 

entities 
% 

Manufacturing Service Trading N/A 

No. of 

entities 

% within 

size 

No. of 

entities 

% within 

size 

No. of 

entities 

% within 

size 

Small 564,788  97.1  78,299  13.9 268,705  47.6 213,995  37.9 3,789  

Medium 8,704  1.5 3,636  4.2 3,651  41.9 1,403  16.1  14  

SMEs-Subtotal 573,492  98.6  81,935  14.3 272,356  47.5 215,398  37.6 3,803  

Large  4,388  0.8    1,848  42.1     1,329  30.3     1,203  27.4        8  

N/A 3,716  0.6       548  14.7        634  17.1     1,226  33.0 1,308  

Total 581,596  100.0  84,331  1.4 274,319  47.2 217,827  37.5 5,119  

Note. The business entities are classified by using the number of employees and the value of fixed assets, 
excluding land set out in the Thai official definition of SMEs    

Source. OSMEP (2009b) 

Therefore, although the “Companies in Thailand” database does not classify entity by 

employee number or fixed assets, it was apparent that almost all juristic businesses are 

small and medium-sized. Consequently, the “Companies in Thailand” database is 

considered as an appropriate sampling frame for selecting the non-listed SME’s 

statutory financial statements.  

However, at the time of sample selection, the database contains some limitations.  

First, although the registering information of all existing entities is available, the 

financial data presented in the database is limited to only entities filing statutory 

financial statements.  Since 2006, only about 60 percent of registered businesses 

submitted their statutory financial statements (DBD, 2012).  At the end of 2007, there 

were 539,762 companies in existence on business registration statistics, but the 

“Companies in Thailand” database contained up-to-date and searchable information in 

the same year on 309,738 companies.  Such discrepancy between the two numbers 

results primarily from lack of filing.  Second, since the financial data in this database 

was obtained from annual financial statements, in the period of the study, the filing 

information contained up to the year 2007.  Finally, the database was recently 

launched, so it still contains some errors in business registration data.  However, the 

focus of the present study is on the analysis of the actual companies’ financial 

statements, not financial information provided in the database, so such errors do not 

have much effect on the sample selection.  To ensure the accuracy of individual 

business registration data, crosschecking was performed before utilising the data.    
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4.6.5.2 Profile of sampling frame 

All business entities presented in the “Companies in Thailand” database on 10 

December 2009 numbered 309,738.  Based on the scope used by the Office of Small 

and Medium Enterprises Promotion, the database classified by industry is shown in 

Table 4.10.  The service and trading sectors accounted for approximately 44 and 35 

percent, respectively.   

Table 4.10 Business entity in the Companies in Thailand database classified by industry 

Industry  No. of entities   %  

Manufacturing  51,063 16.49 

Service  136,504 44.07 

Trading  109,536 35.36 

Subtotal 297,103 95.92 

Others 12,635 4.08 

Total  309,738 100.00 

Note. The service sector is excluded finance entities (5,637 entities), but is included in 

“others”. 

Source. DBD (2009f) 

Using 2007 annual turnover as a basis, it is found that the distribution of entities’ 

annual turnover was skewed.  From Table 4.11, about 61 percent of all business 

entities presented in the “Companies in Thailand” database had annual turnover less 

than 5 million baht (about £100,000) 
.
9
  In particular, two-fifths of all businesses had 

annual turnover less than 1 million baht (approximately £20,000).  Only 10 percent of 

all sectors had more than 60 million baht annual turnover.  More than half of each 

industry generated up to 5 million baht.  This similar pattern is also found when both 

annual turnover and total assets were set out for classification, about half of all 

businesses has annual turnover and total assets not exceed 5 million baht. 

Table 4.11 Classification of business entity by 2007 annual turnover 
Annual 

turnover 

(THB million) 

Manufacturing Service Trading subtotal % Others Total % 

0-4.99 24,252  98,582  59,476  182,310  61.36  6,524  188,834   60.97  

5.00-9.99 5,509  12,463  9,463  27,435  9.23   3,873    31,308  10.11  

10.00-59.99  12,017  19,084  26,254  57,355  19.30  1,246    58,601  18.92  

60 and over 9,285  6,375  14,343   30,003   10.10  992    30,995   10.01  

Total 51,063  136,504  109,536  297,103  100.00  12,635  309,738  100.00  

Note. Annual turnover is from the 2007 financial statements and refers to the total income namely in the 
“Companies in Thailand” database 

                                                           
9
 £1 is equal to around 50 Thai baht. 
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4.6.5.3 Criteria and method of sample selection 

At the time of sample selection, the database contained around 310,000 business 

entities.  Since the financial service sector is typically subject to specific regulations 

and this entity group is considered as public accountability entities according to the 

SME definition in the IFRS for SMEs, approximately 297,000 remaining entities are 

employed to develop the sample for the study.  The 300 sample companies were 

selected by using a disproportionate stratified random sampling method.  The 

proportion of selection and the thresholds are presented in Table 4.12. 

 

Table 4.12 Stratified random sample by industry and annual turnover 

Size 

category 

Annual turnover  

(THB) 

Manufacturing Service Trading Subtotal 

Micro Less than 1 million  30 30 30 90 

Small Between 1-5 million  30 30 30 90 

Medium More than 5 million  40 40 40 120 

Total  100 100 100 300 

The stratification is based on industrial sector and annual turnover.  The entities are 

firstly divided into manufacturing, service, and trading sectors.  Each sector is further 

subdivided into three categories by annual turnover.  The annual turnover thresholds 

results in strata that are somewhat similar to EU definitions of micro, small, and 

medium enterprises based on the number of employees, allowing for different levels 

of average pay in Thailand compared with the EU.  That is to say that a company with 

a turnover of one million baht might be expected to have about 10 employees.   

 

The stratified sampling technique was chosen to avoid the dominance of very small 

entities in the sample and to ensure better coverage of the population.  It also enables 

the comparison between entity groups.  The proportion of entities with more than 5 

million baht is slightly higher than others since it is expected that this group has more 

complex business transactions and higher economic significance to the nation’s 

economy.   
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4.6.6 Samples of statutory financial statements 

The sample entities whose statutory financial statements were examined covered 

companies and partnerships operating in manufacturing, service and trading sectors.  

Only non-financial entities were included since banking, insurance, and other financial 

institutions are governed by specific rules and regulations of disclosure and reporting.  

In total, 300 entities were selected from the Companies in Thailand Database to obtain 

annual financial statements for the year 2007.  However, 27 entities were excluded 

because they were in liquidation or subsidiaries and their accounts were missing some 

information, leaving 272 usable entities for use in the study (see Table 4.13).   

Table 4.13 Sample size of SME financial statements and distribution 

 

Micro (n=75) Small (n=85) Medium (n=112) Total 

(n=272) Man Ser Trad Man Ser Trad Man Ser Trad 

Samples drawn  30 30 30 30 30 30 40 40 40 120 

Less: Liquidation 8 5 3 1 3 - - - 1 21 

         Subsidiaries - - - - - - - 3 1 4 

         Incomplete FSs - - - - - - 2 - - 2 

Subtotal 22 25 27 29 27 30 38 37 38 273 

Reclassification  -1 4 -2 -2 3 -2 -1 - - -1 

Usable samples 21 29 25 27 30 28 37 37 38 272 

Note.   

(1) Size of entities is measured by annual turnover (in Thai Baht).  Micro entities refer to an entity 

with turnover less than 1 million baht while an entity with turnover between 1 and 5 million baht is 

classified as small.  If an entity has turnover exceeding 5 million baht, it is considered as a medium-

sized entity 

(2) The samples are divided into three main sectors: manufacturing (Man), service (Ser), and trading 

(Trad).  The classification is based on their business registration number, but, in some cases, re-

classification is made according to actual business activities disclosed in the entity’s accounts. 

 

4.6.7 Data analysis for reviewing of financial statements 

Similar to the analysis of the questionnaire survey data, both univariate and bivariate 

data analysis techniques were adopted.  Descriptive statistics, including frequency, 

percentage, means, and standard deviation, were used to describe characteristics of 

financial reporting practice of the sample entities.  The Chi-square test and Mann-

Whitney U test were used to investigate associations and differences among the 

variables.    

In bivariate analysis, the effect of company characteristics on disclosure level scores 

was examined. The results from the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test indicated that the 
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disclosure indices except for mandatory compliance index and some company 

characteristics are not normally distributed (see Table 4.14), so non-parametric tests, 

such as the Mann-Whitney U and the Spearman correlation tests, were used for this 

analysis.   

Table 4.14 Test of normality  

 
Kolmogorov-Smirnov 

Statistic df Sig. 

Characteristics of sample entities:    

Annual turnover .432 272 .000 

Total assets .401 272 .000 

Registered capital .389 272 .000 

Age of business .151 272 .000 

Return on assets .447 272 .000 

Disclosure index:    

Aggregated disclosure .063 272 .012 

Mandatory disclosure .049 272 .200* 

Voluntary disclosure .053 272 .065 

* Significance at .05 level 

 

4.7 Summary 

This chapter describes research methodology and methods adopted for this study.  To 

achieve the research aims, a mixed-method approach was employed.  Both qualitative 

and quantitative data were collected and analysed separately with its associated 

method and then the results from each method were combined at the interpretation 

phase.   

A total of 20 semi-structured interviews were undertaken to obtain the perceptions of 

SMEs, accountants, users, and regulators toward financial reporting by SMEs.  All 

interview data were analysed by using the Strauss and Corbin’s grounded theory 

procedure (1998).  Through several stages of coding, concepts and categories were 

generated and then linked to a core category ‘external reporting by SMEs’ in terms of 

context, conditions, actions, strategies, and outcomes.  

A questionnaire survey was also undertaken with SMEs.  A total of 188 usuable 

responses were received from web-based and paper-based questionnaires.  As 

expected, the response rate was low; however, it provides valuable information about 

the views of owner-managers or directors of SMEs about financial reporting.  

Univariate and bivariate data analysis was carried out with the questionnaire data. 
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A total of 272 financial statements of SMEs filed for the reporting period of 2007 

were drawn from the Companies in Thailand database and these sample accounts were 

reviewed to determine the quality of financial reporting and indicate the frequency and 

importance of items in the company’s accounts.  Disclosure index was selected as a 

research tool to measure the level of disclosure quality.  Similar to the questionnaire 

survey, the data from the financial statements of SMEs were analysed by using non-

parametric statistical tests.   
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CHAPTER 5 ANALYSIS OF INTERVIEW DATA 

5.1 Introduction 

This chapter presents and discusses the results from the analysis of interview data.  As 

noted in Chapter 4, the study aims to examine the SME financial reporting through the 

perceptions of various groups of SME stakeholders.  A total of 20 semi-structured 

interviews were undertaken with owners/directors of SMEs, accountants, regulators 

and external users.  The profile and other details of interviewees are described in 

Chapter 4 section 4.4.5.   

It is noted that, at the time of conducting the interviews, Thai Accounting Standards 

were in the process of being converged with the IFRS and another set of accounting 

standards for SMEs was created but not yet finalised10.  Thus, the existing financial 

reporting framework was that one set of TASs was applicable to all businesses, but an 

option to depart from certain accounting standards was available for non-public 

companies. 

From the analysis of interview data using Strauss and Corbin’s grounded theory 

approach, concepts were identified and grouped into ten main categories, as shown in 

Appendix 6.  The discussion of these emergent categories was organised into three 

main headings as follows: 

� Accounting standards and regulations (Grid 1-3) 

� Preparation and publication of financial statements (Grid 4-8) 

� Use of financial information by internal and external users (Grid 9-10) 

In the last section of this chapter, a diagram of the relationship between the core 

category and other categories is shown.   

                                                           
10 In 2012, the project is finalised.  For the financial reporting year 2011 and onwards, there are two sets 
of financial reporting standards in Thailand: Thai Accounting Standards or Thai Financial Reporting 
Standards (TASs/TFRSs) and Thai Financial Reporting Standards for Non-Publicly Accountable 
Entities (TFRS for NPAEs)  
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5.2 Accounting standards and regulations 

5.2.1 Financial reporting regulations (Grid 1) 

The regulator stated that the main aim of filing financial statements was to provide 

business financial information to all stakeholders of a business entity.  Inspection of 

account records at the Bureau of Business Documentation was evident that there were 

people interested in the financial statements of businesses.  When further asking who 

these inspectors of accounts were, the government agency could not provide the 

evidence since they did not keep the records.  However, this objective of statutory 

reporting was not perceived by some SMEs.  One of owners illustrated his view as 

follows: 

(OM3) I believed that very few people pay attention to filing financial statements.  I knew 
that it is different from tax reporting but I have no idea about the purpose of filing and what 
we gain from such filing. 

By law, the statutory annual financial reports are required to be prepared in 

compliance with accounting standards and related regulations.  These requirements 

aim to provide high quality financial information.  One regulator indicated the 

improvement in the quality of financial statements, resulting from such requirements: 

(RG2) The quality of financial statements is at acceptable level.  It is not so good but not 
too bad.  This results partly from the requirement for company accounts’ preparers to be 
graduated with an accounting degree.  This is like a guarantee that we have someone to 
take care of, no matter whether the accounts prepared by internal accountants or accounting 
firms. 

Nevertheless, several interviewees, especially accountants, raised the issue regarding 

the enforcement of accounting regulations.  Many of them perceived that the 

enforcement level of accounting regulations was weak, as compared to that of tax 

rules.   

(AC1) Everybody used a straight line method and made wrong classification in accounting 
for finance lease but nobody did anything about it.   
 

(AC3) They are not afraid of the Federation of Accounting Professions or the Department 
of Business Development since such agencies do not impose any penalty on them. 
 

(AC1) Most entities are more concerned with tax authorities than the Department of 
Business Development since if you did not file on time, you just pay a fine for 10,000 or 
20,000 baht whereas in the case of tax, they will follow you all your life.  
 

(OM3) Department of Business Development has no role in my business. 
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In this regard, the regulator mentioned that the Department of Business Development 

was mainly responsible for implementing and administering the Accounting Act.  The 

Department conducted an inspection of accounting records and annual statutory 

accounts filed with the Department by registered business entities, but the focus was 

not on compliance and disclosure according to accounting standards, but on reporting 

requirements laid out by the Accounting Act and related regulations.  The regulator 

further suggested that users of financial reports should play a role in enforcing 

compliance with accounting standards. 

5.2.2 Thai Accounting Standards (Grid 2) 

Overall, there was a low level of awareness of financial reporting issues among the 

owner-manager and user groups.  The discussion about accounting standards was 

therefore dominated by groups of accountants and regulators.   

5.2.2.1 Role of accounting standards (Grid 2.1) 

Many interviewees agreed that accounting standards had a key role in adding 

credibility to financial statements.  The regulator believed that business entities, 

especially SMEs, would benefit from provision of high quality information, for 

example, improved access to finance.  There was, however, the view that financial 

reporting was largely irrelevant to smaller businesses.  The use of accounting 

information for business management should be emphasised:   

(RG1) We would like owners to be aware of importance of accounting and use it.  

(RG2) For SMEs, do not emphasise keeping the accounts for financial reporting, but 

promoting the use of accounting information in business management; use as a basis for 

making business decisions, for planning and control.   

  

5.2.2.2 Accounting standards exemption (Grid 2.2) 

Under the current accounting regulations, the exemption from some accounting 

standards is provided for non-public companies in order to reduce costs of 

compliance.  Accountants recognised that the accounting standard exemption reduced 

their burdens, but SME owners did not.  As one owner stated, most of the exempt 

standards were typically not relevant to their business.   
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With respect to the impact of accounting standards exemption, there was no issue of 

lack of comparability of financial information and group accounts, but the exemption, 

to some extent, reduced the financial information quality.  The perceptions of two 

accountants over this negative effect are as follows:   

(AC1) Since impairment of assets is exempted, the entities having the amount of 
accumulated losses over their registered capital still present the value of assets as normal.  
Actually they should have adjusted their accounts to reflect such impairment. 
 
(AC2) No negative effect in general but when there is acquisition or merger, costs will 
occur from adjustment of the financial statements after due diligence. 

5.2.2.3 Compliance with accounting standards (Grid 2.3) 

According to the responses of accountants and regulators, the level of compliance 

with accounting standards depended on several factors, such as the size of entity, type 

of industry, and type of auditors.  Costs associated with disclosure would be one of the 

influential factors causing companies to limit disclosure:  

(RG1) It is difficult to tell because I have not seen any formal report of adjustments in 
financial reports like those of the Securities and Exchange Commission or tax authorities.  
For non-listed firms, there was no statistic information about this.  If asserted, I believed 
that the level of compliance might depend on the size of entity.   
 
(AC2) In my view, all types of entities, not only SMEs, assess costs and benefits resulting 
from compliance and disclosure. …For SMEs, it depends on what the pressure and 
concern are at that time; for example, the estimation of allowance for debtors might be 
over or understated, some might not want to do it since it cannot be deductable for tax or 
might want to do more because they do not want to pay dividends.  There is a possibility 
of non-compliance, it can be found everywhere.   

A local auditor, however, perceived that the level of compliance with accounting 

standards among SMEs was poor.  Full disclosure was almost impossible if the 

auditors had not worked with Big-four firms before.    

5.2.2.4 Change and impact of accounting standards (Grid 2.4) 

For the past three years, Thai Accounting Standards have been changed in response to 

the convergence with the IFRS.  Several interviewees expressed their concerns over 

frequent change and increase in the complexity of revised Thai accounting standards.  

As one accountant commented on the difficulty arising from the application of 

perceived complex standards: 

 (AC4) We are lucky that we are only relevant to basic standards.  If we have to apply 
any complex accounting, we will be more suffering. 
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The need for training among accountants and adjustments in accounting education 

were also identified as a consequence of this change: 

(AC2) In the past, we did not have many changes in TASs but starting from next year 
our TAS will be completely changed.  Everybody in the profession needs to continue 
learning and updating with new standards. 
 
(RG2) In the past, we have not fully adopted IFRS.  We just started in this 2-3 year 
period.  We have informed accounting lecturers in universities that we have to use IFRS 
so we need time for adjustment.  Later we will be ready for it.  
 
(OM5) There is no training course of new accounting standards available in our area.  
We are ready for training but it is inconvenient and too far. 

With regard to the implementation of new accounting standards, the compliance cost 

was an issue that all accountants and regulators expressed concerns.  They agreed that 

the accounting standards were necessary but the complexity of new standards, such as 

fair value accounting for employee benefits, would increase the costs of reporting 

incurred by businesses, particularly excessive costs would be imposed on smaller 

entities: 

(RG3) Some topics in new TASs are complex while not every accountant well 
understands about it, so if businesses have to apply such standards, they have to hire an 
accountant who can do it. 
 
(RG2) It costs higher if employing an accountant who can deal with complex accounting 
standards, like impairment of assets.  
 
 (AC3) Accounting standards are good but we are not ready and it is still costly to comply 
for SMEs.  My friend working in ...[a public listed company]…told me that her company 
has already hired a consultant to help with the calculation of employee benefits.  If 
forcing SMEs to adopt IFRS such as employee benefits or financial instruments, 
businesses cannot do it.  They have to find experts to help them.  A firm in Singapore 
already contacted us to offer a service; they knew that it is problematic. 
 
(AC3) Entities with annual turnover only 1 to 5 million baht should not use it.  Actually 
figures in the accounts of small businesses are already misstated. If applying fair value 
accounting into it, it looks like “acting in the plays” 
 
(AC1) Small entities should not use it. It looks like “dressing up with glitter cloth”.   

These responses were consistent with the views of those who opposed the use of full 

IFRS with SMEs (Evans et al., 2005).  The complexity and frequent change of full 

IFRS, for instance, would make it not cost effective to implement in SMEs.  Likewise, 

the findings from the study of Maingot and Zeghal (2006), undertaken with 

accountants in Canada regarding financial reporting by small business entities, found 

that the respondents ranked “time consuming” as the main weakness of compliance 
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with full GAAP, followed by “too complex”, “too costly” and “lack of relevance” (p. 

522). 

In contrary, from the viewpoint of a venture capitalist with an accounting background, 

the nature of accounting standards used in the preparation of SME accounts were not 

complex.  Any change in accounting standards would have small impact on them: 

(USER6) Transactions in small business are not complex, so no change in their life.   

This was similar to a respondent in an owner group who deemed this recent change on 

would have little effect on their entities: 

(OM5) New TASs have not much effect on the entity.  We have only assets used for 
operating and we have normal trading transactions.  Accounting standards relevant to us did 
not change that much.    

As mentioned earlier, owner and user groups had low awareness of the financial 

reporting issue, so they might not be able to well anticipate the impact of accounting 

standards on SMEs. 

5.2.3 A simpler set of accounting standards for SMEs (Grid 3) 

5.2.3.1 Potential impacts (Grid 3.1) 

There was a general consensus on the desirability of a simpler set of accounting 

standards for SMEs.  Undue SME burden resulting from the application of full TASs 

was mentioned as a primary reason.  Most accountants and regulators believed that the 

simpler standards would lead to reductions in the cost of compliance while would not 

have much of a negative effect on the users of SME financial reports.  This is in line 

with the viewpoints of many users.  They asserted that any change to a simpler set of 

accounting standards would have a small impact on them.  Lack of information in the 

entities’ financial statements resulting from using simpler standards would be 

redeemed by the availability of alternative sources of information.  The following 

statements highlighted non-reliance on the financial statements by various user 

groups:  
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(USER1) No worry about change.  We use our compiled financial statements, not rely on 
statutory accounts.   
 
(USER2) No problem for me, I can look at internal accounts or records. 
 
(USER3) My job does not need in-depth information. We look mainly at cash flow.  
 
(USER4) Taxpayers are required to fill detailed information in our tax returns.  

Tax officers also indicated that even if the measurement methods or accounting 

treatments were changed, tax rules had already governed which methods were 

permitted for tax reporting, so any difference in the methods or treatments would be 

adjusted in the entities’ tax returns.   

However, two of the users argued that most users actually preferred only one set of 

accounting standards and concerned with the standards in which reduce the disclosure 

of financial information.  More time consuming on their tasks and making wrong 

decisions might result from the limited disclosure, as pointed out by a tax audit officer 

and a venture capitalist:  

(USER5) Users do not like any accounting standard which results in reducing the 
disclosure because they have to find additional information.  I understand that owners 
prefer to do less so they can reduce their burdens or not need to do too many things but 
users will certainly not like it since no detail is available.   
 
(USER6) I do not have a negative view on SMEs using a simpler set of accounting 
standards but I think that when we want to make an investment decision, we should have 
enough information at the beginning.  For example, if we have four potential investee 
companies, the financial statements acquired should provide us enough information to 
decide which company is more interesting.  This will help us a lot for making a right 
decision.  If the disclosure in the reports is limited; we have to make a guess of accounting 
figure, we cannot do financial analysis, and we cannot tell what is right or wrong.  Then, 
we cannot make decision which type of errors will be; type I or II.       

Although at present the credit information provider is not a potential user of SME 

financial reports, he warned about supporting SMEs by deregulation of financial 

reporting requirements as follows:  

(USER7) In my view, if deregulation leads to reducing operational costs of SMEs, it 
should be done such as time used for setting up a business or tax incentives given to 
business locating in specific areas.  However, the deregulation should not overrule the 
types of regulations related to discipline... Good financial statements are the reports 
which have disclosure.  If full disclosure is available, the market will decide.  More 
importantly, there are advantages of using accounting standards, such as contingent 
liabilities...if no disclosure of these liabilities in the notes, users would be misled. 
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5.2.3.2 Financial reporting criteria and exempt topics (Grid 3.2-3.3) 

If a separate financial reporting framework for SMEs is established, defining SMEs is 

an issue that needs to be addressed.  The responses from many interviewees, 

especially in the user group, confirmed that SMEs were defined differently by each 

group of stakeholders.  This mirrored the diversity within SMEs.  It was therefore not 

surprising to find that there was little consensus on the issue of criteria used for 

differentiating financial reporting requirements.  In general, the majority of 

interviewees suggested quantitative criteria such as turnover, share capital and the 

number of employees.  It was noted by several interviewees that if such quantitative 

measures were employed, some reporting entities would attempt to avoid the 

application of full standards by, for example, making their turnover or share capital 

lower than the threshold.  Although the qualitative measures, such as type of industry, 

legal form, and existence of financial statement users were suggested, no interviewee 

except regulators mentioned the use of the non-publicly accountable entity concept.  

This reflected the need for a clear definition of publicly accountable entities so that 

business entities can correctly identify the class of accounting standards applicable to 

them.  

With regard to possible exempt topics for SME accounting standards, the findings 

resulted mainly from the discussion with the accountant and regulator groups.  Based 

on the current requirements under full TASs, it was suggested that several 

measurement and disclosure requirements should be simplified.  Overall, the use of 

fair value accounting in several accounting topics, such as financial instruments and 

employee benefits, was pointed out primarily as the application of fair value would 

increase costs of reporting: 

(AC2) No need to fully apply fair value in SME reporting.  We should use it only with 
current assets.  
 
(AC3) We should have the exemption for all topics related to complex valuation e.g. 
employee benefits, impairment of assets, and financial instruments.  
 
(RG1) It is difficult to apply fair value which has no market for reference.  Any fair value 
which is difficult to compute and increase costs of reporting should be exempted. 
 
(RG2) Even for bookkeeping tasks, SMEs have to hire external accountants.  If the fair 
value accounting is required, it will be too much for SMEs. 
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A Big-four auditor added that the requirement for consolidated financial statements 

was not necessary since they were rarely used.  Under the current regulations, related 

party transactions had already been exempted for SMEs.  In this respect, one of 

regulators argued that in fact the disclosure of this transaction would generate benefits 

for regulatory agencies, so he viewed that the related party disclosure should not be 

excluded.  The venture capitalist also agreed with this issue:   

(USER6) We have to know about related party transactions.  They are in our blood and I, 
personally, place more importance on this item because we have to know where the 
money has gone.   

 

5.2.3.3 IFRS for SMEs (Grid 3.4) 

Most interviewees, except a regulator, were not familiar with or not even aware of the 

IFRS for SMEs.  However, when asking SME owners whether they would adopt the 

IFRS for SMEs if it is optional, they stated that they would assess costs and benefits 

before making decisions.  Saving costs and generating benefits to the entities were 

their main consideration.  No concern with the benefit of financial statement users was 

mentioned.  Several accountants stressed that most SMEs had domestic sales, or even 

if they had foreign business partners e.g. customers or suppliers, their partners were 

least likely to require the use of international accounting standards with SME financial 

statements. 

In technical aspects of the IFRS for SMEs, the use of the same conceptual framework 

as that of full IFRS was problematic since this led the IFRS for SMEs to apply the 

same or similar methods employed in the full IFRS.  In turn, the IFRS for SMEs was 

viewed as too burdensome for Thai SMEs: 

(RG1) The IFRS for SMEs started from the same conceptual framework as that of the full 
IFRS, resulting in the uses of methods in the full IFRSs.  Therefore, we cannot avoid such 
complexity in the full IFRS.... Many accounting topics in the IFRS for SMEs still apply 
similar or same methods used in the full IFRS.  It is questionable whether it was simpler 
enough for SMEs, especially those having turnover a million or five million baht.  Thai 
SMEs, in comparison with other countries, might be micro or super micro entities for 
them or large entities in our country might equal to SMEs in other countries.  IFRS for 
SMEs is still too much for our SMEs and further relaxations were necessary.    
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Two accountants also worried that the use of fair value accounting and the treatment 

of borrowing costs in the IFRS for SMEs would not be accepted by tax authorities:    

(AC2) If fair value accounting is used, tax authorities will not accept it, like allowance 
for debtors.   
 
(AC2) Borrowing costs as expenses not permitted by tax authorities, so it will be a 
concern.  
  
(AC3) This will lead to an argument with tax authorities.  They require capitalisation of 
interest.  If used, two sets of records have to be prepared.  

The responses regarding the exempt topics for SMEs also provided some evidence of 

the suitability of the IFRS for SMEs with Thai SME reporting.  Although several 

suggested exempt topics by interviewees were the same as those being exempted in 

the IFRS for SMEs, many topics, such as component approach of fixed assets, 

impairment of assets and deferred taxes, were required for further simplification.    

5.2.3.4 TFRS for NPAEs (Grid 3.5) 

According to a regulator’s response, a simpler set of accounting standard, called Thai 

Financial Reporting Standards for Non-Publicly Accountable Entities (TFRS for 

NPAEs) was under development11.  The criteria used for this simpler reporting 

requirement were similar to those of the IFRS for SMEs.  However, the regulator 

contended that defining this concept was difficult: 

(RG1) Now, it is easier to identify public accountable entities from those who are not if 
we looked at the entities’ status like listed firms and financial institutions, but in some 
type of industries, it was difficult to tell.      

Unlike the international development of simpler accounting standards which was 

primarily based on cost and benefit consideration, the development of TFRS for 

NPAEs additionally took the ability of accounting practitioners into consideration.  

The framework, certainly, would differ from the full TFRSs.  Reliability would be the 

main qualitative characteristic and the main objective would be providing financial 

information to finance providers, shareholders, and management.  However, the 

development had not yet finalised, so further changes would be made in the process of 

public hearings and by accounting standard setter committees.   

                                                           
11 On 6 May 2011 TFRS for NPAEs was issued and officially announced.  The effective date is for 
accounting period starting on or after 1 January 2011.  



 

156 

 

An interesting point mentioned by the regulator was that only two tiers of accounting 

standards might not result in the cost effectiveness for smaller SMEs.  There was a big 

difference within non-publicly accountable entities.  While trying to relax reporting 

burdens of SMEs, accounting standard setters had to concern about opting to stay 

private, rather than go public, by large non-publicly accountable entities in order to 

avoid full reporting requirements.  It would seem irrational but this must be taken into 

consideration.  In his view, three tiers of accounting standards would be appropriate.  

The first tier might be the accounting standards for publicly accountable entities such 

as public listed companies, the second tier is the standards for large non-publicly 

accountable entities, and the third tier might be the standards for SMEs.   

5.3 Preparation and publication of financial statements (Grid 4-8) 

5.3.1 Business conditions (Grid 4.1-4.5) 

5.3.1.1 Ownership structure (Grid 4.1) 

Several important characteristics of SMEs were identified by interviewees.  Consistent 

with the findings in previous studies of such as Page (1984) and Collis and Jarvis 

(2000), this current study found that the ownership structure of most SMEs was likely 

to have low level of separation between ownership and control.  In most small 

companies, major shareholders took part in management of business.  Managing 

directors, for example, normally held a portion of the company’s share capital.  

Several owners indicated that their firms had non-participating shareholders, but these 

shareholders existed just to meet the business registration requirement and to gain tax 

benefits.   

In addition, not only did most small companies have a limited number of shareholders, 

but they were owned and managed by family members.  Several interviewees used 

‘family business’ to describe this type of ownership.  In terms of capital structure, two 

regulators commented that there was little possibility that SMEs would use external 

equity finance, so SME financial reports were unlikely to have equity investors as a 

main user like those of quoted-firms: 

(RG1) Unlike listed firms, SME are likely to have no equity investors, so cut this user out. 
 
(RG2) They [SMEs] prefer to be a close system until they want to become a listed or to 
trade internationally. 
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Finally, there was a variety of operating style among SMEs but owner-managed was 

the nature of most SMEs.  The following statements are the examples of this 

viewpoint:   

(USER6) There is a wide range of size of SMEs so not all of SMEs are run by an 
individual.  A small-sized SME such as a company having 20 million baht turnover is run 
by an owner.  Most of our investee SMEs is run by young blood entrepreneurs. They are 
very open and avoid being a family business. 
 
(AC2) Almost all our medium-sized clients are managed by their owners. 
 
(AC3) Less than 1 percent hired a professional manager to run business; normally owners 
manage by themselves. 

5.3.1.2 Owners’ characteristics (Grid 4.2) 

Low awareness of the value of accounting information among SME owners was an 

issue raised by several interviewees.  It was found that the level of accounting literacy 

varied among SME owners.  Most accountants indicated that SME owners did not 

understand statutory financial reports and their limited financial management skills 

was a reason for this.  However, this inability might be problematic for some.  Several 

SME owners, for example, expressed their awareness of the importance of accounting 

information to business operations and their uses for management and control 

purposes.  

(OM1) Even if not mandatory, we would prepare financial reports to assess our 
performance and know our financial position periodically. 
 
(OM2) It is worth. It supports sustainability in business.  I saw my friends’ businesses fail 
because of not paying good attention to accounting. 
 
(OM5) We are pleased to pay for it. We can use the information for management and 
control. 

The financial literacy of owners also tied with their use of financial reports, as one of 

accountants pointed out: 

(AC3) Owners did not read the accounts since they had no accounting background and they 
run a business themselves.  They know what is going on.   

In respect of the awareness of financial reporting requirements among owners, several 

accountants and users viewed that some small firm owners were not aware of this 

requirements and did not perceived any impact of accounting standards on their 

entities.  Even SME owners were aware of the requirements, they viewed that it was 
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the responsibilities of their accountants and relied on them to fulfill this obligation.  

Two statements of users presented this viewpoint: 

(USER5) Most small and medium businesses hire accounting firms to prepare their 
accounts and shift reporting burden to their accountants.  Companies only collect 
accounting documents.   
 
(USER6) Some owners did not know why loan from directors were in the accounts.  They 
do not know how their accountants record transactions. 

Some SME owners misunderstood that the financial statements were compiled only 

for filing with income tax returns:  

(AC1) Many owners believed that they have to receive the audit report with only three 
paragraphs.   If there is more than that, tax authorities might not satisfy and lead to queries 
or being audited by the tax authorities.  Many owners misunderstood that the financial 
statements were complied only for taxation purpose.   

5.3.1.3 Complexity of transactions (Grid 4.3) 

The relationship between the size of entity and the complexity of accounting 

transactions was emerged from the interviews with accountants, users, and regulators.  

Although the perception of the complexity might be different among interviewees, 

they had a general consensus that small and medium-sized businesses did not have 

many complex accounting transactions in which an interviewee referred to such as a 

financial instrument transaction.   

(AC2) No complex accounting transactions in our medium-sized clients. 
 
(AC1) Our audit clients have no complex transactions.  
 
(AC1) No financial instrument in small businesses, so we apply only some standards. 
 
(USER5) Not many transactions in financial statements of an entity with less than a 
hundred million baht turnover. 
 
(RG1) SMEs do not have too many complex transactions. 

The complexity of accounting transactions was also related to type of business sector 

by a financial controller representing owner-manager group:  

(OM5) No complex transactions in our trading business. 
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5.3.1.4 Accounting system (Grid 4.4) 

Consistent with the findings of Sian and Roberts (2009), all SME owners and 

accountants stated that their firms and their SME clients used computerised 

accounting systems, especially an accounting software package.  A Big-four auditor 

found that more sophisticated computerised accounting system was used in larger 

entities and made it easier to prepare annual accounts.  However, many accounting 

package used could not produce financial reports in a statutory format, so tailoring the 

financial reports to meet legal requirements was needed:  

(AC1) Most clients buy an accounting package except one using a tailor made 
system.....The accounting program used in my office or even my clients cannot do the 
financial reports in the required formats; normally in trial balance report.  However, we 
have to tailor it into the format required by the Department of Business Development, 
especially the comparative financial reports.   

Several interviewees gave some indication of the use of external accountants depends 

on the entity’s size.  Smaller entities tended to use accounting firms, more specifically 

local accounting firms for record keeping and preparation of statutory accounts.  Cost 

was seen as a key factor for hiring accounting firms, as perceived by an accountant:   

(AC1) Hiring an internal accountant is too expensive for such as an entity with turnover 
300,000 baht per month, so using the service from accounting firm is cheaper.  

However, the interviews with owners revealed that cost concern might not be only an 

influential factor for the use of external accountants.  Accounting expertise was 

identified as a reason for a choice of external accountant.  An owner, for instance, 

explained that lack of accounting skills of their in-house accountant led them to 

outsource bookkeeping and statutory compliance tasks to the accounting firm.  

Similarly, another SME owner decided to use service of accounting firms because of 

their accounting expertise.  The results of this study support the work of Everaert, 

Sarens, and Rommel (2007).  They found that the need of accounting expertise of 

SMEs was another reason for using services from external accountants.   
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5.3.1.5 Tax influence level (Grid 4.5) 

All groups of interviewees agreed that tax accounting had strong influence on 

financial accounting and reporting in all types of business entities.  However, the level 

of tax influence was appeared to be stronger on SMEs.  The design of accounting 

system and selection of depreciation policies for instance were pointed out as evident 

of tax influence.  These two statements showed the perception of two interviewees 

about tax influence:  

 (AC2) There is a high tax influence level, I can tell.  Nobody depreciated fixed assets more 
than 5 years even the standards require you to estimate the useful life of assets…  Many 
assets were in use while they were already fully depreciated… this was affected by tax 
rules.  Companies want financial accounting and tax accounting to be the same. 
 
(RG1) Tax rules directly affected on financial reporting of non-quoted firms.  However, it 
also depends on the size of entity.  In large companies who want to trade their shares in the 
stock market, they would have better internal control system and increase in the numbers of 
shareholders and creditors, leading to higher monitoring mechanism.  The market will not 
let it happen.  In contrary, in smaller firms, this mechanism does not exist.  As a result, the 
issues of taxes would happen more. 

However, the regulator viewed that it was not problematic, as the tax influence limited 

to few accounting topics: 

(RG1) I believed that our SMEs have transactions which are not complex.  Tax influence 
tended to be limited in few topics, such as depreciation and non-deductable expenses.  

 

5.3.2 Internal and external accountants (Grid 5.1-5.2) 

5.3.2.1 Role of accounting and auditing firms (Grid 5.1) 

Accounting firms provided several types of work to their SME clients, including 

bookkeeping, statutory accounts and tax compliance.  Some external accountants also 

gave suggestions about accounting and tax rules and do tax planning for their clients.  

Likewise, SME owners viewed accounting firms and auditors as a source of advisory 

e.g. tax advice.  Although the extent of external accountants’ involvement might be 

different, it was apparent that both accounting firms and auditors played the key role 

in production of statutory financial reports of SMEs.  This result is in line with the 

studies on SME reporting indicating that SMEs typically depended on external 

accountants in complying with financial reporting requirements (for example Carsberg 

et al., 1985; Kitching et al., 2011; Marriott et al., 2006; POBA, 2006).   
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5.3.2.2 Competency of accountants (Grid 5.2) 

As mentioned earlier, there was a minimum requirement pertaining to educational 

qualification of the account preparers under Thai reporting framework.  All groups of 

interviewees raised an issue about the competency level of accountants.  Although 

they mentioned in different aspects, their concerns were similar.  Overall, they 

contended that some accountants had low level of technical knowledge and 

professional development.  Some interviewees also viewed that the perceptions of 

users on the quality of accountants affected the users’ reliance on financial statements:     

(OM1) There are more than ten accounting firms in this city but only two firms are 
accepted by government agencies. 
 
(AC3) Who do bookkeeping; they [tax authorities] will make a list and then no need to 
audit too much. 

5.3.3 Financial statement audit (Grid 6.1-6.2) 

5.3.3.1 Quality of audit (Grid 6.1) 

Discussion with interviewees revealed that no matter which type of audit was 

provided the confidence in the quality of audit is very important for users of financial 

statements.  According to the responses, the level of confidence in the audit report 

depended on several factors, such as type of auditors, independence of auditors, 

number of audit clients, and degree of audit.  For example, more confidence was 

perceived by the venture capitalist if the audit was conducted by auditors who 

previously worked with the Big-four firms.  One of tax authorities also revealed that 

she held less confidence in the audit quality of SME financial statements.  She 

perceived that some auditors signed an audit report without a proper audit, resulting 

from having too many audit clients.  In this respect, two auditors confirmed that in 

practice the audit quality was varied: 

(AC1) I comply with auditing standards but in some cases I cannot do it a 100 percent.   
 
(AC2) There are many types of auditing firms; Big 4 or local firms.  We have only one set 
of auditing standards but we work differently.   
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5.3.3.2 Role and extent of audit (Grid 6.2) 

As noted in Chapter 2 regarding the reporting framework in Thailand, the audit is 

required by tax and financial reporting rules.  In practice, the audit of statutory 

accounts undertaken by certified public accountants (CPAs) for financial reporting 

purpose can serve for tax purpose, but not vice versa.  In addition, no specific standard 

or guideline for the audit of small and medium-sized entities was issued by the 

regulatory agencies.   

Two regulators stated that the objective of financial statement audit under accounting 

laws was to provide assurance for users of financial reports:  

(RG1) SMEs might want access funding, looking for new shareholders or loans from 
banks, so the audit will provide assurance in financial reporting for these capital providers. 
 
(RG3) The financial statement audit adds credibility to the financial statements and users 
will use the statements with confidence when making decisions. 

Currently, the audit exemption was available for small registered partnerships to 

reduce their regulatory burdens but when asked whether audit exemption should be 

extended to micro and small companies.  The issue of source of employment for non-

Big four auditors whose clients are mainly SMEs was pointed out by two 

interviewees:   

(AC3) If the audit exemption will be given to small companies, accounted for over 80 
percent of statutory accounts, auditors will have no job.  Big-4s normally do the audit for 
medium and large-sized clients while the remaining, local auditing firms, provide services 
to small businesses.    
 
(RG2) I agree with providing an audit exemption to micro companies but I am afraid that 
there will have an impact on non-Big 4 auditing firms whose customers are in this segment.  
If no financial statement audit, the owners certainly will like it.     

Several interviewees from accountant and regulator groups agreed that SME financial 

statements should have at least tax audit.  For example, an accountant explained that 

the production of financial reports by very small entities was mainly for tax filing so 

only tax audit should be required. 

Contrary to the expectations of regulators and accountants, the role of audit in 

providing assurance to financial statement users was rarely perceived by owners.  

They viewed financial statement audit as useful for verifying the accuracy of their 
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accounting records.  The response of an owner also indicated that the financial 

statement audit was seen as a check for compliance with rules and regulations:  

(OM3) If the audit exemption is available, I will not have an audit since nobody want to be 
checked whether they do it right or wrong....No benefit derived from financial statement 
audit. 

More importantly, from the perception of most users, the assurance benefit derived 

from the auditor’s report was small. This tended to result from the level of confidence 

in the quality of audit and the awareness of tax motivation on SME reporting.  This 

was contributed to the extent of audit required by each user group.   

The venture capitalist stated that the financial statement audit was necessary and the 

annual financial statements of investee companies had to be audited, but who conduct 

the audit had influence on their level of reliance on the audit report.  For example, in 

Thai capital market, the auditors have to be approved by the office of Security and 

Exchange Commission so as to be able to be appointed as auditors of listed 

companies.  The list of SEC-approved auditors would be issued and updated 

frequently.  From the perception of venture capitalist, these listed-auditors i.e. auditors 

whose name on the SEC-approved auditors provided service with higher standards, as 

compare to those who were not:   

(USER6) Annual financial statements are required annually together with the auditor’s 
report.   I am quite confident with the audit report of listed-auditors.  If it was issued by non 
listed-auditors, I am not totally reliant, especially for an investee company having problem 
with stock.  I think in the next year, we will require an audit from auditors whom we can 
accept.   

In contrast, most of tax authorities and bank loan officers seemed to place less 

importance on the auditor’s report.  For example, one tax officer claimed that she read 

the audit report to see whether there was any concern raised by the auditor and this 

would help in reducing the scope of her analysis, but if there was no audit report, it 

was not problematic.   
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5.3.4 Costs and benefits of reporting (Grid 7.1-7.3) 

In general, there was a consensus that proprietary costs are small.  Most owners did 

not view financial reporting as a burden, but perceived it as a part of regulatory 

compliance: 

(OM2) Costs of producing accounts come together with incorporated businesses. 
 
(OM3) Among all my business contacts, nobody pay attention to financial statements, but 
did not view them to be burdensome.  

It was suggested by several accountants that this perception of owners partly resulted 

from the fact that the accounting fee was not expensive and their accountants and 

auditors were responsible for such reporting task.  This finding is consistent with the 

evidence found in the UK studies on small company financial reporting (Barker & 

Noonan, 1996; Carsberg et al., 1985); while the vast majority of SME directors did 

not consider financial reporting to be burdensome, many accounting practitioners 

indicated complying with full reporting standards imposed a high burden on small 

companies. 

However, one user indicated that some small businesses whose resources were limited 

complained about the burden of financial reporting.  On the other hand, two owner-

managers mentioned that they did not face with difficulties in the account preparation 

because they had a skilful accounting staff and an accounting advisor.  This 

inconsistent view of SMEs suggested that the availability of accounting expertise in a 

business entity might influence the SMEs’ perceptions on financial reporting burdens.   

Other disclosure-related costs such as loss of competitive advantage, loss of privacy, 

or risk of litigation were also not their concerns, except for one owner.  Likewise, the 

interviews with SME owners about their uses of competitors’ financial information 

illustrated that there was low level of the use of competitors’ financial information as 

competitive advantages.  Some owners accepted that they were interested in financial 

information of their competitors but one of owners said that he used it for tax planning 

rather than other purposes.   

(OM1) I never use financial information of competitors. 
 
(OM2) I checked their annual turnover from Companies in Thailand Database. 
 
(OM3) I went to online database and compared the profit of entity with others for tax 
planning.  
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In terms of benefit of reporting, there was a consistent view from all interviewees that 

not many benefits were gained by SMEs.  Supporting for loan application was 

suggested by an owner.  Additionally, there was indirect benefit resulting from filing 

of financial statements as follows:    

(USER5) Accounts filed can be used as a source of information to proof legal existence 
of an entity and show that you are actually run a business. 
 
(AC5) Before publish the accounts, the business has to go though many process so 
financial reporting reflects the credibility of business entity. 

The concern over micro entity reporting was also raised by an auditor.  Costs relative 

to benefits was unlikely justified and the entity tended to provide only financial 

information necessary for calculating taxable profit:  

(AC1) Financial statements of very small entities, I felt that, after filing, the reports 
become rubbish.  For example, in the partnerships having turnover a million or two million 
baht, they did not use the reports except only for tax purpose.  If additional requirements 
were imposed on them.  They had to pay higher accounting fee while they still use the 
accounts only for supporting their tax returns.     

 

5.3.5 External reporting and provision of financial statements (Grid 8.1-8.3) 

5.3.5.1 Financial statement production (Grid 8.1) 

All interviewees indicated that SMEs produced only types of financial statements 

required by laws.  Cash flow statement was not prepared except upon request.  Two 

interviewees from accountant and regulator groups, for example, stressed that SMEs 

tended to disclose their financial information as minimum as possible.    

In terms of accounting methods, all accountants stated that they rarely opted for a 

complex accounting policies or treatments, saving time and effort were their main 

reason.   They also accepted that tax accounting had influence on their preparation of 

accounts such as selection of accounting policies and disclose of detailed information 

in the accompanying notes.  This was in line with the responses of SME owners, as 

discussed earlier.  Altogether, it reflected the perceived importance of tax authorities 

as main users of SME financial statements among the account preparers.  

There was little consensus among users about the issue of loans to or from directors.  

For tax authorities, this existence of loans to directors was seen as a means to make 
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accounting figures balance.  In contrary, bank loan officers and venture capitalist 

placed more concern with loans from directors and seen it as a source of equity from 

owners.   

5.3.5.2 Financial statement users (Grid 8.2) 

It was a general consensus that SMEs mainly prepare annual financial statements in 

order to meet regulatory requirements, specifically smaller-sized SMEs prepare their 

accounts primarily for taxation purposes.  Examples of the statements are as follows: 

(OM2) If it is required by laws, we have to do it. 
 
(OM3) We mainly do it for meeting the legal requirements. 
 
(AC2) Small-sized entities do reporting only for regulators and tax authorities. 
 
(AC3) We must accept the fact that SMEs do financial reporting in order to meet the 
legal requirements. 
 
(RG2) Providing information to users is a by-product of complying with the legal 
requirements. 

This is in line with the findings from the responses of owners.  A copy of their audited 

financial statements used for tax filing.  Banks, suppliers or customers were identified 

as another external recipient of their annual accounts.  Further responses from two 

owners revealed that the business partners who required their firms’ financial 

statements were all large or public companies.  

(OM1) Only audited balance sheet and profit and loss statement were sent to our 
suppliers. 
   
(OM2) We sent audited annual balance sheet to one of our customers annually.  The 
format was the same as that of statutory reports.  
 
(OM5) We have to send audited financial statements to banks since we use bank 
overdraft and it is needed to review annually. 

When asked accountants and regulators whom they considered as main users of SME 

financial reports, both internal and external users were listed.  This included 

management, shareholders, banks, business partners, tax authorities and other 

regulatory agencies such as Board of Investment of Thailand.  However, while others 

identified owners of SMEs as financial statement users, one accountant pointed out 

that owners did not read or pay attention to the accounts.  Also, the perception about 
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financial statement users was slightly different between regulators and accountants.  

As expected, no tax authority was identified by the regulator group since the aim of 

general-purpose financial reports was not for tax filing.  In contrary, several 

accountants stated that SMEs, especially who used bookkeeping service from 

accounting firms, used their statutory annual reports for tax filing.  Reporting to 

business partners was rarely seen in SMEs using external accountants for statutory 

account preparation.     

It was surprising that the perception of the use of SME financial reports by banks 

among non-user groups was inconsistent with the findings from the interviews with 

bank loan officers.  While the non-user groups viewed that banks used SME financial 

statements for making lending decisions, banks indeed did not depend on them, 

discussed later in section 5.4.2. 

5.3.5.3 Reporting to shareholders (Grid 8.3) 

In order to obtain information whether additional reporting to their shareholders, 

rather than the statutory annual reporting, SMEs owners were asked what additional 

reporting they have done to shareholders.  According to their responses, it was 

apparent that their shareholders had access to additional financial information one way 

or another.  Shareholders’ involvement in business operations, provision of monthly 

management reports and accounts, and having monthly meeting were indicated of the 

formal and informal access to internal information by shareholders.  The following 

statements illustrate this point: 

(OM1) During the year, we provide monthly profit and loss account and executive reports, 
explaining what have been done during a period.  If there is a new project, although we do 
not have a formal meeting but the reports will be made and sent to ask for their approval  
or report the progress of the project. 
 
(OM2) We have a meeting with shareholders every month and at the end of accounting 
period we do inform them about accounting figures.  
 
(OM3) We do not prepare management reports but we have discussion with each other 
every day.  We work together every day if there is a problem we talk with each other.  No 
official method was done except for at the end of year in which we have a meeting and 
discussion about dividends and bonus.   
 
(OM4) We provide our annual accounts to management and shareholders but additional 
details of annual turnover were attached with the reports.  Our shareholders are not serious 
whether the accounts being audit or not. 
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With regard to audit requirement, one of owner indicated that their shareholders were 

not concerned whether the accounts were audited or not.  This might result from the 

fact that all shareholders of the firm were a family member and two of shareholders 

had already involved in business management, so adding credibility to the financial 

reports by audit seemed unnecessary from their viewpoints.   

5.4 Use of financial information by internal and external users (Grid 

9-10) 

5.4.1 Use of financial information by management (Grid 9.1-9.3) 

The generation and use of financial information for management was different 

between SME owners.  Of the five owners, three owners had some types of 

management reports produced and used in their firms, for example, annual budget, 

monthly management accounts, sales and stock reports.  For the SME owners who did 

not prepare these formal management reports, they assessed their firm’s performance, 

especially their cash flow and position.  Accounting books and cash inflow-outflow 

spreadsheets was pointed out as the sources of information for cash controlling: 

(OM2) I go into the system to look at cash receipt and payment for each project every 
month.   
 
(OM3) I think that I do not use accounting information that much.  I prepare all 
documents to send to the accounting firm myself so I know what it is and it is not.  We 
did not prepare accounting reports.  I do a spreadsheet for all expenses ... I do a cash flow 
report but not in the format of accounting... I do prepare information about cash inflow 
and outflow around two month period.  We will know when and how much we have to 
pay so we can prepare for it.  I keep this record every day. 
 
(AC1) They [audit clients contracted through accounting firms] have their own set of 
information, like cash flow or whatever for management. … For the external audit 
clients, not contacted through accounting firms, usually they closed the accounts 
monthly, for example, clients have turnover 50 to 100 million baht.   

Little use of statutory annual account for management among small business owners 

was indicated by local accountants and auditors, primarily as owners did not 

understand the accounts and the accounts were not provided enough detailed 

information they were of interest.  

(AC1) As the statutory financial statements are required to present in a prescribed format, 
auditors do know it, but owners do not understand.  They [owners] often asked; “finally, 
how much my firm’s costs of operation for the year; the amount of other expenses around 
million baht included what expenses”, so I have to send them the details.    
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This was consistent with the responses from several owners who mentioned that the 

annual accounts were rarely used because they had other management reports whose 

more details or useful information available for management.  They used the accounts, 

in many cases, for estimating tax liability and deciding dividends.   

The use of financial reports of potential business partners to decide on business 

contacts was rarely seen in SMEs.  Two of owners mentioned that they sometimes 

used financial information of their potential business partners available on public 

records.  This gave some indication the importance placed on the financial positions of 

potential business partners.  However, in practice most SMEs did not use the financial 

reports of business partners but other sources of information:  

(OM3) I directly ask them their bank statements but sometime they say no.  If a customer 
makes any reference to a supplier, I will call such referee.   
 
(OM5) If we decide to do business with each other, only legal registration documents, 
VAT registration, and bank statement will be required, but no reporting after that.  
 
(AC5) Nobody care about financial reports, they decide a business contact by looking at 
their premise.  It is very easy to check their financial status; just make a phone call,... 

5.4.2 Use of financial information by external users (Grid 10.1-10.4) 

Overall, there were various sources of financial information in which external users 

used for their decisions.  Access to financial information of SMEs by receiving 

financial reports directly from the entity, retrieving information from internal 

database, paying a site visit to a company and looking for information on the Internet 

were pointed out.  However, the use of SME annual financial statements varied 

greatly among external users.   

5.4.2.1 Bank loan officers (Grid 10.1) 

The loan officers explained that the financial statements requested from small 

business clients when applying for loans were of little used.  They felt that the 

accounting figures in SME statutory reports were not an actual reflection of entity’s 

financial position.  As a result, they placed low reliance on audited financial 

statements of small businesses:   

(USER1) Local business' statutory accounts are not reliant, compared to those of listed 
firms.  We request financial statements from clients but we knew that it was prepared for 
tax purpose.   
 



 

170 

 

(USER2) Looking at assets, liabilities, turnover and then calculating DE ratio but 
certainly the accounts was likely to be misstated for tax avoidance. 
 
(USER3) We not really used statutory reports.  I may look at turnover but need to cross 
check with the entity’s bank statements.  

In the view of some bank officers, financial reports had little usefulness but somewhat 

important in an aspect of checking compliance with the bank policy:  

(USER2) Financial reports are little useful, just to check for compliance with the rules of 
my bank.  We do not allow any loan to an entity with accumulated loss so first I have to 
check whether there is accumulated loss for 3 consecutive years. ... If corporate accounts 
prepared without tax motivation, more benefits would be generated. 

Compilation of financial statement projection of business clients was employed as an 

alternative information source for making lending decision.  The financial information 

was obtained from, such as the entity’s internal records or documents, interviewing 

with owners and/or visiting to company premise.  Financial statements were often 

used as a basis for further enquiry and investigation: 

(USER1) Personal interviews with managers and accounting staff are made to recheck 
the reliability of figure in the statutory reports.  
 
(USER3) I used some items but I have to verify it first.   

This clearly reflected the ability to obtain additional information from the entity to 

meet bank loan officers’ information needs.  Moreover, bank’s internal database, 

credit information report, and published government statistics, for instance, were 

indicated as information used for making lending decisions.  One of bank officers, 

however, contended that Thai banks used collateral based rather than financial 

statement based lending.  Although several criteria were used to make lending 

decisions, including ability to repay loans, business conditions and borrowers’ 

characters, collateral was very important and required for all types of loans except for 

low risk clients.   

The monitoring process of each bank was different but in general there was no 

requirement for annual financial statements from SME clients except for extending the 

loan agreement.  For example, one of bankers described that his bank only required 

annual financial statements for reviewing if the amount of loan exceeded the limit.  

Transaction cost was their main concern.  In contrary, another bank loan officer 

explained his monitoring of a short-term loan as follow: 
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(USER1) Similar information required and process for monitoring short term loans but I 
do with a lesser degree, including requesting annual accounts, conducting personal 
interviews, visiting a company site, and compiling financial statements. 

The above findings are similar to those found in the recent study of Dang-Duc et al. 

(2008).  Banks in Vietnam did not rely on the financial statements of SMEs because of 

its poor quality, so they obtained the financial information of borrowers through other 

means such as site visits.  The recent survey of overseas bankers in the UK, however, 

showed contradicting results (Berry & Robertson, 2006).  The vast majority of the 

respondents indicated that they considered audited accounts as very important sources 

of information and read it thoroughly.  Moreover, many of them used other means, 

such as personal interviews and site visits, to obtain information they wanted and had 

access to the entity’s internal information such as management reports and projected 

financial statements.   

5.4.2.2 Tax authorities (Grid 10.2) 

Similar to bankers, tax audit officers were aware of tax motivation on SMEs but they 

viewed that the financial reports were a part of information used to audit corporate tax 

returns.  Only profit and loss statement and balance sheet were often used.  Tax 

officers assessed that these annual accounts were useful as an initial source of 

information: 

(USER4) Annual accounts are only a part of information used. ...Among my audit tasks 

e.g. analysis of tax returns, paying a site visit, making queries with taxpayers, I put more 

weight on a site visit.   

(USER5) Overall, quite satisfied with information gained from the accounts but further 
investigation was needed.   

 

Tax authorities also revealed that they had internal records and database to facilitate 

their financial statement analysis which aimed primarily to uncover any irregularities 

in tax returns.  This included information acquired from a site visit and other 

government agencies.  Requesting additional information from taxpayers would be 

done only if they found unusual items in the financial reports.  In this respect, it was 

evident that tax authorities have the power to obtain what information they needed for 

tax assessment.  
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5.4.2.3 Venture capitalists (Grid 10.3) 

Of all user groups, the venture capitalist seemed to have more extensive use of SME 

financial reports.  In the process of seeking a deal for investment, the SME financial 

reports were important sources of financial information which they can access before 

approaching their investee companies.  Financial statement analysis and projection, 

for instance, were usually carried out.  However, they felt that the SME statutory 

annual accounts disclosed too limited information and were outdated, leading to more 

time consumption on the analysis of financial information.   

(USER6) …For the entity’s balance sheet, we definitely have in-depth analysis before 
sending it to our board.  Any issues concerned we asked.  Each investee company has 
different issues, might be increase in capital, revaluation of assets, or management and 
operation.  Some entities have affiliated companies and permit competition between one 
another.  We certainly look at financial statements and had found they are problematic.  
Under the current accounting standards, they not provide enough information, like those of 
listed companies.  As a result, we have to spend more attention on it, at least to prove it.      

They further mentioned their concerns over the non-disclosure of related party 

transactions, which under current accounting regulations non-listed companies are not 

required to disclose such information in the statutory financial reports.  They viewed 

related party item as very important information for investment decision. 

(USER6) We, as a venture capitalist, are interested in every aspect of investee companies, 
but we normally can do it when we conduct due diligence.  At the beginning stage, we 
have a lot of concerns such as loans from directors.  We have seen this transaction quite a 
lot.  No detail of the loan agreement and contract parties was available in the reports.  If the 
financial reports of listed companies, this information would be disclosed. … Somehow, 
during due diligence, we have to investigate this further.  If they do not take of their 
clothes, we will not marry with them [if companies do not make full disclose, we will not 
invest in them].   

After the initial stage, a business plan was requested from potential investee 

companies.  Due diligence was also conducted by themselves or external auditors.  

Several methods were used to gather more information about investee companies: 

(USER6) We asked a potential investee to write a business plan, showing what they will be 
in the next 5 to 6 years.  Sometimes, we make queries to get more information about e.g. 
increase in share capital. ...We gather information through various means for example, 
searching the Internet, paying a site visit and asking expert when due diligence, and talk 
with our colleagues.  This includes, Thai-style-method, asking companies’ housekeepers 
when we make a site visit…we do everything…     
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Nevertheless, when further asked about the importance of each source of information, 

the venture capitalist gave their priority to financial statements.  She stated that the 

reports contained useful information of what have been going on in the business.  Not 

only financial information but also non-financial information, such as characters of 

management, could be obtained from the financial statements:  

(USER6)  Financial statements provide you a lot of information.  This extends to the 
process of due diligence.  If users are able to understand balance sheet and profit and loss 
statement, they would see the whole picture of business.  … the reports tell you how the 
business was operated, efficiency of management, and even character of management.  … 
I choose to carry out due diligence by ourselves… when we look at each information item 
deeply, we would see what kind of policies they [investee companies] had. 

As compared to other criteria used for making investment decisions, the character of 

SME owners was considered the most important.  Therefore, they sometimes invested 

in the companies having accumulated losses.   

The venture capitalist was aware of tax motivation in SMEs but they seemed not 

worried.  This resulted from the fact that they would conduct the due diligence, so 

they could verify the financial status of investee companies and then make 

adjustments needed in the financial reports.   

(USER6) Some information items in financial reports of Thai business entities were 
manipulated for tax avoidance… but after we decide to invest, we not allow it.  We cannot 
accept it since we are in a position of shareholders, no guarantee at all.   In sum, we 
concern with financial statements because the accounting figures are linked with how 
much the share price should be and also related to monitoring process. 

The financial information was very important for venture capitalists in monitoring the 

compliance with covenants in the investment contracts.  Controlling debt-to-equity 

ratio and the number of shareholders, for example, were usually set out in the 

agreement.  In addition to the audited annual financial statements, monthly 

management accounts and reports in specified format and content were required in 

order to monitor investees’ business performance:  
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(USER6) We request monthly reports, such as executive report explaining performance for 
the period together with variance analysis, marketing plan, and problems faced.  In some 
companies, we have issues to follow up such as litigation. …We also request financial 
statements: monthly accounts, balance sheet and profit and loss accounts, and if some 
company are able to do it cash flow statement. … After due diligence, we have a set of 
financial statements in the prescribed format, for example, the presentation of loans from 
financial institutions and from directors separately and related disclosure of the amount of 
loans, interest rates, and collaterals.     

Since they had no position in management or the board of directors, paying a site visit 

and having a meeting with the entity’s management every month were also a means to 

have involvement in business operations:  

(USER6) … monitoring by a site visit provides us chance to deal with any problem arise 
and checking information showed in monthly reports. 

The above findings suggested that although SME financial statements were considered 

as important sources of information for an initial investment process.  Venture 

capitalist did not depend on them.  They performed further investigation and obtained 

an investee’s information through various methods before deciding on investment, as 

pointed out by POBA (2006), “investors generally prefer to rely upon their own 

procedures and processes when evaluating potential investments, rather than financial 

accounts” (p. 23). Besides, although venture capitalists might be in a position of 

minority shareholders, they had ability to obtain information from investee companies 

in order to monitor their investments.   

5.4.2.4 Credit information providers (Grid 10.4) 

The interview with the National Credit Bureau (NBC) revealed that the company was 

not a credit rating agency, but an information capital provider.  Its system included 

only information of all types of loans of individuals or business entities received from 

NBC members, including financial institutions and non-bank institutions.  Only such 

information was then used to produce a credit information report, no provision of 

additional information or analysis.  

(USER7) There are two types of credit reports issued; a consumer credit report for 
individual and a commercial credit report for business entities.  The report includes (1) 
personal information e.g. name, identification number or registration number and date of 
birth or establishment, and (2) history of loans and payment in a period of 3 years for 
personal loans and 5 years for commercial loans.   
 
Credit information can be disclosed only to members and information can be used only 
for credit analysis and evaluating credit card application. Users need consent from the 
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information owner to access into the information.  For a business loan, the law does not 
allow financial institutions to directly check credit information on an owner or board 
member of a business entity, even with consent.   

The credit information provider further identified that the financial statement 

information of business entities was not included or used in their company since it was 

not timely and such information was already available in the public records: 

(USER7) No information of financial statements in our system since our credit 
information is updated on monthly basis while the financial statements are only prepared 
on quarterly, haft year and annual basis.   Besides, the information of financial statements 
has already available in Companies in Thailand Database.  

When asking whether they had done credit rating like that found in other countries, 

they stated that only credit scoring for SMEs would be provided in the near future.  

Only one item taken from business entity’s financial statements was the equity 

information so as to use in the model for calculating the credit score: 

(USER7) For this purpose [credit scoring], SMEs are defined as businesses with shared 
capital under 200 million baht [£4 million].   SMEs operating in a format of sole trader or 
SMEs who run their business without any loan will not be in our scoring system.  We 
already have information of liability of business entity so we will take equity information 
from business entity’s financial statement into our model for calculating credit score. 
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Figure 5.1 Relationship between SME financial reporting with its circumstances 

Note. See Appendix 6 for the grid table of concepts and categories derived from interview data
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5.5 Summary: financial reporting by Thai SMEs in context 

Ten main categories emerged from the analysis of interview data were related to the 

core category identified in this study.  Figure 5.1 illustrates the relationship between 

the production and publication of financial statements for external reporting in SMEs 

with its circumstances and the factors influenced the use of SME financial statements 

by internal and external users.   

The first group of categories pertains to financial reporting regulatory environments, 

business features, and roles of accountants and auditors which directly or indirectly 

influence on the production and publication of financial information in general and the 

extent and nature of financial information disclosed in particular.  The other group of 

categories related to the use of financial information by internal and external parties 

and the influence factors: availability of other information sources, ability to acquire 

additional information, and perceived benefit of financial statements.   

According to the interview data, it was apparent that the main driver for preparation 

and publication of annual financial reports by SMEs is a legal obligation rather than 

provision of financial information to users.  However, there appeared to be difference 

in the perceptions of the owner-managers of SMEs and the accountants regarding 

SME financial reporting burdens.  Costs of reporting, especially proprietary costs 

were perceived to be small by most SMEs, but most accounting practitioners and 

regulators perceived compliance with full TASs were too costly for SMEs.  It was, 

however, noted that SME owners might not be in a good position to assess SME 

reporting burdens because they were unaware of the impact of financial reporting on 

SMEs and it might be the case that they relied on their accountants and auditors to 

carry out statutory reporting tasks.      

The main users of SME financial statements identified by non-user groups were 

regulatory agencies, shareholders, entity’s management, tax authorities and lenders.  

Some accounting practitioners revealed that many SMEs, especially in very small 

entities and entities hiring external accountants to keep their accounting records did 

not use their accounts for other purposes except for tax filing.  Nevertheless, the 

responses from the external user groups, including tax authorities and banks, 

suggested that these external user groups did not totally rely on SME financial 
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statements to meet their information needs.  Financial statements were only a part of 

information used for their decision-making.  They normally gathered further 

information by, for example, enquiring with SME owner-managers or paying site 

visits and obtaining additional financial information directly from the entities.  The 

benefits derived from SME financial statements were perceived to be limited among 

the external users.  Banks and tax authorities concerned with the influence of tax 

reporting and the quality of financial statement audit, while venture capitalist and 

credit information provider indicated that the disclosure in the annual financial 

statements of SMEs was too limited and the statements were outdated i.e. not 

providing the most up-to-date picture of the business.   

Similarly, SME owner-managers felt that their annual financial statements were not 

useful sources of information in making business decisions, as compared to other 

information sources such as management information reports.  However, many of 

them used their annual financial statements primarily for estimating taxes and 

deciding dividends.  In many cases, shareholders of SMEs were in a position of the 

entity’s management or involved in day-to-day business operations, so they had access 

to the entity’s financial information and thus not depend on statutory financial 

statements.    

Apart from perceived costs and benefits of reporting by SMEs, other features of the 

business affecting SME external reporting consist of ownership structure, owners’ 

characters, size and type of business, accounting system, level of tax influence and 

level of compliance with accounting standards.  The following discussion highlights 

such characteristics of SMEs found in the study.  

In reviewing the literature, the separation between ownership and control is related to 

the use of financial statements by shareholders on assessing the stewardship of 

management.  In this study, there was a general agreement among interviewees that 

there was little or no separation between ownership and control in SMEs.  As 

discussed above, SMEs were managed and controlled by its major shareholders.  If 

non-participating shareholders existed in an SME, it might due to the purposes of 

gaining tax benefits or fulfilling the number of shareholders required for business 

registration and these shareholders often had family relationships.   
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The level of SME owners’ accounting literacy was another factor having influence on 

the generation and use of financial information.  The study found that the level of 

financial literacy of SME owner-managers varied significantly, but overall it was 

limited, especially with regard to financial reporting regulations and standards.  The 

lack of accounting knowledge among SME owner-managers was also suggested as a 

factor inhibiting SME owner-managers from using financial statements.  

As indicated by interviewees, the nature of business transactions in SMEs was not 

complex and size and industry type of entity were the factors influencing on the 

complexity of business transactions.  This in turn leads to the relevance of accounting 

standards to SMEs; complex accounting standards dealing with financial instrument or 

investments in subsidiaries might not be applicable to many SMEs.   

Type of accounting system used by the entity was also related to the ability of SMEs 

to generate financial information for management and external reporting purposes.  It 

was apparent that computerised accounting system was implemented by SMEs, but its 

sophistication might vary by size of entity; smaller entities tended to use accounting 

software package to keep their business records. The study also found that many 

SMEs, even those having in-house accounting staff, sought the support from external 

accountants for compliance with statutory financial reporting.  Costs, accounting 

expertise, and size of entity were perceived as factors influencing the decision to 

outsource accounting function.  For instance, external accountants could perform 

statutory reporting tasks at lower costs and had more accounting expertise, as 

compared to retaining internal accountants to deal with such regulatory compliance 

work.   

Discussions with interviewees suggested that tax influence was pervasive on 

accounting and reporting practice in many SMEs.  Given that tax authorities were 

viewed as main SME financial statement users, several interviewees from accountant 

and SME owner groups revealed that tax rules were often followed for both tax and 

financial reporting purposes.  Indeed, the most important point made by several users 

was that the accounting figure in the taxation-purposed financial statements was 

potentially prepared with the aim to minimise tax obligation, so the financial 

statements then might not reflect actual financial position of the business.  This would 
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affect on the compliance with accounting standards by SMEs as well as the usefulness 

of SME financial statements.  The latter was apparent from responses from bank loan 

officers, indicating the problem of tax dominance making the SME financial 

statements less useful for making lending decisions.  The influence of tax reporting on 

financial reporting was also seen in the desirability of accounting practitioners to have 

financial reporting rules to be the same as those of tax rules or being permitted by tax 

authorities.  For example, on the question regarding the potential adoption of the IFRS 

for SMEs for SME reporting, there was a concern over the use of fair value and 

capitalisation of interest expenses which were not permitted by tax rules.   

Accountants and auditors played a primary role in financial reporting by SMEs.  As 

discussed earlier, external accountants, specifically bookkeeping firms were employed 

by most SMEs for supporting their regulatory obligations, including compliance with 

financial reporting requirements and tax return filing.  Thus, the competency of 

accountants and auditors were associated with the quality of financial statements, in 

particular compliance with accounting standards.   Nevertheless, there was a concern 

over a lack of expertise among accountants.   

In terms of financial reporting regulatory environment, according to the interviews 

with regulators, the overall objective of financial reporting requirements in Thailand 

was to provide business financial information to stakeholders of business entities.  

Thus, preparation and publication of financial statements annually were legally 

required from business entities, regardless of the size of entity.  To ensure the 

provision of high quality financial information, a number of legal requirements, such 

as mandatory disclosure and compliance with accounting standards, format of 

accounts, financial statement audit and qualification of corporate accountants, were 

imposed on business entity and accountants, but weak enforcement, especially on 

compliance with accounting standards, and lack of competency of corporate 

accountants were pointed out by interviewees.   

The role of financial statement audit in providing assurance for shareholders or 

external parties was less relevant to many SMEs. This resulted from the fact that there 

was low level of separation between ownership and control among most SMEs, so 

shareholders had little demand for the audit.  Entity’s management seemed to be major 
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beneficiaries of the audit, especially in the aspect of verifying the accuracy of 

accounting records or the compliance with tax rules and financial reporting standards.  

Additionally, it was found that small benefits derived from the auditor’s report, as 

several external users were uncertain about the independence of auditors and the 

quality of audit; consequently users did not view the auditor’s report as useful.      

All interviewees agreed with having a separate set of accounting standards for SMEs.  

A high cost of compliance with the full reporting was a main reason.  There was no 

consensus on SME definition for reporting purpose and most interviewees suggested 

using quantitative definition.  It was anticipated that changes in the nature or the 

extent of disclosure would have little effect on the usefulness of financial statements.  

All users indicated that they could rely on other sources of information to meet their 

information needs.  The discussion with regulators suggested that the use of fair value 

concept in the IFRS for SMEs made it unsuitable to be implemented in Thailand.  It 

was viewed as onerous for Thai SMEs.  Another important issue raised by accounting 

practitioners was that fair value accounting was not permitted for taxation reporting.   

The following table presents key findings of this study and makes a comparison with 

the regulatory framework governing SME financial reporting and the results from 

previous studies.   
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Table 5.1 Comparison of key findings on SME reporting with regulatory reporting requirements 

 Regulatory requirements SME financial reporting 

Laws IFRS Prior theoretical and empirical findings  Findings of the present study 

Beneficiaries of 
financial reporting 

Shareholders A wide range of 
users e.g. investors, 
lenders, suppliers 
excluding tax 
authorities 

No needful users; all users are either ‘insiders’ 
who have access to the data or powerful 
external parties (e.g. banks, tax authorities) 
who are in position to demand whatever 
information they need  (for example Collis & 
Jarvis, 2000; Dang-Duc et al., 2006; Maingot 
& Zeghal, 2006; Schiebel, 2008; Sian & 
Roberts, 2006, 2009) 

Shareholders, management, tax authorities and 
lenders (section 5.3.5.2) 
 
All of them had access to the entity’s internal 
information 
 
Little benefits derived from the entity’s financial 
statements due to e.g. tax motivation, too limited 
information disclosed and not up-to date 
information 

Beneficiaries of 
financial 
statement audit  

Shareholders  
 

- Entity’s management gains managerial 
benefits (e.g. internal control) while providing 
assurance on financial statements to external 
users (e.g. lenders) (for example Collis, 
2010a; Collis et al., 2004; Tabone & 
Baldacchino, 2003) 

Entity’s management (who also involve in business 
operations) 
 
Assurance benefits derived from the auditor’s 
reports by external users are low 
 
 

Costs of financial 
reporting  

Reduce reporting 
costs by providing 
exemptions from 
accounting standards 
and statutory audit  

- Undue costs of compliance with IFRS or full 
reporting imposed on SMEs  
(for example Barker & Noonan, 1996; 
Carsberg et al., 1985; Evans et al., 2005; 
Pacter, 2009b) 

Not viewed as burdensome by SME owners, but 
accounting practitioners perceived otherwise 
 
Small proprietary costs 
 
Low awareness of the impact of financial reporting 
on SMEs by the directors of SMEs 
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Table 5.1 Comparison of key findings on SME reporting with regulatory reporting requirements (con’t) 

 Regulatory requirements SME financial reporting 

Laws IFRS Prior theoretical and empirical findings  Findings of the present study 

Quality of 
financial 
statements 

Prescribed format and 
contents of financial 
statements 
 
Mandatory 
compliance with 
accounting standards  
 
Mandatory audit 
 
Qualification of 
accountants 

- SMEs do not fully comply with reporting 
requirements (Di Pietra et al., 2008) 
 
High quality if audited, otherwise, not (FEE, 
2007; Kitindi, 2004) 

Weak enforcement on compliance with accounting 
standards 
 
Lack of accounting competence among some 
accountants  
 
Lack of auditor independence 

Link between tax 
and financial 
reporting 

Separate accounting 
rules for tax and 
financial reporting 
purposes 
 

Not intended for tax 
assessment 

Preparation with tax motivation , resulting in 
financial statements which do not present an 
economic picture of the business (Carsberg et 
al., 1985; Sian & Roberts, 2006) 

One set of GAAP-based financial statements 
produced that also served tax purpose 
 
Dominance of tax requirements on financial 
statement preparation identified by SME owners 
and accountants.   
 
Lenders saw such tax influence made financial 
statements less useful 

Potential adoption 
of IFRS for SMEs 

- Designed for non-
publicly 
accountable entities 
preparing general 
purpose financial 
statements 

Too complex and thus burdensome for SMEs  
(for example IFAC, 2007; Sian & Roberts, 
2008) 

Use of fair value accounting made it burdensome 
for SMEs 
 
Not acceptable by tax authorities because of using 
fair value accounting and treating borrowing costs 
as expenses 
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CHAPTER 6 ANALYSIS OF QUESTIONNAIRE DATA 

6.1 Introduction 

In this chapter, the results from the questionnaire survey of SMEs are presented and 

discussed.  This section begins with characteristics of the sample entities and profile 

of the respondents.  Then, the analysis of the perceptions of directors/owner-managers 

of SMEs on issues related to financial reporting is presented into three main categories 

as follows: 

� Preparation and publication of financial statements 

� Use of financial information 

� Accounting standards for SMEs 

The analysis of the responses consists of descriptive and comparative statistics. 

Bivariate analysis includes such as a cross analysis between the responses, an analysis 

of the effect of company characteristics on the responses and the comparison between 

different sizes of entities.    

6.2 Characteristics of the sample entities 

6.2.1 Size, legal form, industry and age 

Table 6.1 summarises characteristics of the sample entities.  Overall, 82.4 percent of 

the sample entities participated in the survey were established in the form of limited 

companies.  Over half of them have been in business for more than 10 years.  Firms 

from trading sector made up the largest group of respondents with 15 percent in 

wholesale business and nearly 22 percent in retail business; however, less than 1 

percent of the sample entities were in agricultural business.  In terms of size, one-third 

of the respondents had annual turnover less than 5 million baht, while the majority of 

the firms, almost 80 percent, had 50 or less employees. 
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Table 6.1 Business characteristics of the sample entities 

Business form (n=188) No. of 

entities 

% Annual turnover (million 

baht) (n=187) 

No. of 

entities 

% 

Registered ordinary partnership 8 4.3 < 1  12 6.4 

Registered partnership 25 13.3 1-5  50 26.7 

Limited company 155 82.4 6-50  72 38.5 

   51-100 23 12.3 

Type of main business (n=187)  % > 100  30 16.0 

Manufacturing 54 28.9    

Agriculture 1 0.5 Number of employees 

(n=188) 

 % 

Service 63 33.7 < 10 59 31.4 

Wholesale/distribution 28 15.0 10-50 87 46.3 

Retail 41 21.9 51-100 20 10.6 

   101-250 12 6.4 

Years in business (n=188)  % > 250 10 5.3 

Less than 1 year 4 2.1    

1-3 years 20 10.6    

4-6 years 30 16.0    

7-10 years 28 14.9    

More than 10 years 106 56.4    

Note.  

(1) A series of statistical tests for difference between sub-sample groups had been conducted and 

reported in section 4.5.5.2. 

(2) 1 Pound (£) is equal to around 50 Thai baht. 

(3) Percentage was rounded, so in some cases a total figure might be slightly over or under a hundred 

percent. 

Further analysis was carried out to determine whether the entity’s annual turnover is 

associated with the number of employees.  To allow the analysis, the two variables 

were combined into smaller category.  As might be expected, the results of the test 

indicated that there was significant association between turnover and employee 

number of an entity (Kendall’s b = .626, df = 4, p = .000).   

6.2.2 Ownership structure 

With regard to ownership structure (see Table 6.2) the overwhelming majority of the 

respondents (81.1%) reported that directors-managers held 50 percent or more of their 

entities’ share capital, specifically more than 40 percent of them were almost wholly 

owned by directors/managers.  This owner-managed character reflects the low level of 

separation between ownership and control among these firms.  Thus, it is less likely to 

have an agency relationship between an owner and a professional manager, resulting 

in less onerous monitoring costs because the owner can observe the behaviour of an 

employed manager on a daily basis (McMahon & Stanger, 1995).  Also, the 
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stewardship role of financial reporting may be “redundant” (Jarvis & Collis, 2003, p. 

4) because managers are reporting to themselves as shareholders.   

Table 6.2 Ownership structure of the sample entities 

Share held by directors/managers 

(n=185) 

No. of 

entities 

% Non-participating owners 

(n=186) 

No. of 

entities 

% 

0% 4 2.2 Yes 91 48.9 

1-19% 6 3.2 No 95 51.1 

20-49% 25 13.5    

50-69% 46 24.9    

70-89% 29 15.7    

90-100% 75 40.5    

Note. Percentage was rounded, so in some cases a total figure might be slightly over or under a hundred 

percent. 

Nevertheless, almost half of the respondents (48.9%) reported that they had owners or 

shareholders who were not involved in managing the business.  Further analysis by 

size of entity measured by annual turnover showed that a higher proportion of non-

participating owners was found in smaller SMEs, but no significant difference was 

found among different entities’ size, as shown in Table 6.3.  This is inconsistent with 

the finding in the study of German SMEs by Eierle and Haller (2009) suggesting that 

larger entities are more likely to have non-participating owners than small entities did.  

According to the results from interviews, the directors of SMEs indicated that the 

existence of non-managing owners resulted from the need to meet the company 

registration requirement regarding the minimum number of shareholders. 

Table 6.3 Analysis of the existence of non-participating owners in relation to annual turnover 

  
  

Annual turnover (million baht) Total 
(n=185) 

Chi-
square 

df p 

≤ 5 
(n=62) 

6-50 
(n=70) 

≥ 51 
(n=53) 

% % % % 

Having non-participating 

owners 

Yes 58.1 51.4 35.8 49.2 5.868 2 .053 

No  41.9 48.6 64.2 50.8    

*The difference is significant at .05 level 

Note.  
 (1) Difference in a total number of samples was caused by missing data. 

(2) Annual turnover was combined from 5 categories into 3 categories to facilitate an analysis using a 
Chi-square test.  

A series of statistical test analysis was carried out to examine the association between 

the existence of non-participating owners and other variables, such as perceived main 

users of financial statements, audit decisions and perceived costs and benefits of 

financial reporting.  A statistically significant difference was found in their views on 
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costs and benefits of account preparation with respect to heavily reliance on 

accountants (Mann-Whitney U = 3630.50, Z = -2.028, p = .043) and concern with 

competitive advantages (Mann-Whitney U = 3467.50, Z = -2.417, p = .016).  Entities 

that do not have non-participating owners are more likely to agree more with these 

two statements.  Along with source of the previous relationships, these relationships 

may be explained by other variables, such as size, so that the association does not 

persist in the multivariate analysis.  Caution must also be exercised in attributing 

significance where multiple tests have been performed; some significant results can be 

expected by chance alone. 

6.2.3 Foreign business transactions 

Overall, slightly over half of the respondents indicated that they had cross border 

transactions (see Table 6.4).  Trading with customers or suppliers was the most 

common transactions found in the respondent entities, but only a few entities, less 

than 5 percent of the respondents, reported that they had foreign capital providers 

(shareholders or lenders).  The latter finding was in line with the survey of trading and 

service sector of the National Statistic Office of Thailand (2008) which reported that 

less than 1 percent of trading or service business establishments had foreign 

shareholders or partners.   

Table 6.4 Foreign business transactions 

Categories 
No. of 
entities 

% of whole samples 
(n=188) 

No foreign business transaction 82 43.6 

Having foreign business transactions:   

� Customers/suppliers 93 49.5 

� Lenders 7 3.7 

� Subsidiaries 9 4.8 

� Competitors 19 10.1 

� Shareholders/partners 4 2.1 

Note. 
(1) More than one answer was permitted. 
(2) Percentage was based on the number of respondents. 

Similarly, approximately half of German SMEs were regularly involved in import-

export business and over one-third of them reported that had no equity from foreign 

capital providers (Eierle & Haller, 2009).  Nevertheless, the results from the survey of 

SMEs in the UK, Germany, Spain, Hong Kong, and the US indicated that overall the 

majority of SMEs did not trade in overseas market.  For example, it was found that 51 
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percent of SMEs in Hong Kong sold their goods and services in international market, 

whereas only 37 percent and 29 percent were found in the UK and Spanish SMEs, 

respectively (Berry, 2006).  

Table 6.5 summarises the number of entities having cross border activities by the 

entity’s size measured by annual turnover.  The proportion of entities with or without 

foreign business transactions among different entities’ size were slightly different.  Of 

the entities with turnover more than 50 million baht, 60.4 percent had foreign 

transactions whereas slightly over half of the entities having foreign transactions were 

found in the smallest entities.  The result of further analysis suggested that there was 

no association between entities’ size for international activities (Chi-square = .921, df 

= 2, p = .631). 

Table 6.5 Analysis of foreign business transactions in relation to annual turnover 

 

Annual turnover (million baht) Total 
(n=187) 

Chi-
square 

df p 

≤ 5  
 (n=62) 

6-50  
 (n=72) 

≥ 51 
 (n=53) 

% % % % 

Having foreign 

business transactions? 

Yes 51.6 56.9 60.4 56.1 .921 2 .631 

No  48.4 43.1 39.6 43.9    

*The difference is significant at .05 level 

Note. Annual turnover was combined from 5 categories into 3 categories to facilitate an analysis using 

a Chi-square test.  

In terms of foreign transactions among different industries, the majority of 

manufacturing sectors had overseas customers or suppliers, as compared to the other 

two sectors, less than half of the two industry groups reported trading with foreign 

business partners (see Table 6.6).  A Chi-square test revealed that a statistically 

significant relationship existed between types of industry and the presence of foreign 

customers or suppliers (Chi-square = 7.672, df = 2, p = .022).  
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  Table 6.6   Analysis of foreign business transactions in relation to industry 

 

 

Industry  Total 

(n=187) 

Chi-

square 

df p 

Manufacturing 

(n=55) 

Service 

(n=63) 

Trading 

(n=69) 

% % % % 

  Customers and suppliers   Yes 63.6 38.1 49.3 49.7 7.672 2 .022* 

 No 36.4 61.9 50.7 50.3    

*The difference is significant at .05 level 

  Note. 

  (1) Percentage was based on the number of respondents. 

  (2) A small number of responses contained within other categories e.g. foreign lenders or shareholders 

  prohibit statistical evaluation using a Chi-square test among industry type. 

6.2.4 Profile of the respondents 

Regarding the personal characteristics of the respondents (see Table 6.7), nearly 80 

percent of the respondents are directors, managers and owner-managers.  Almost all of 

them had a bachelor or higher academic qualification.  In this survey, the covering 

letter addressed to directors-managers, but there was no guarantee who answered the 

questionnaire.  The results reflected the preferences of directors-managers who 

completed the questionnaire.   

Table 6.7 Profile of respondents 

Level of education 

(n=187) 

No. of 

respondents 

% Job position in the entity 

(n=186) 

No. of 

respondents 

% 

High school 2 1.1 Managing director 87 46.8 

Diploma 10 5.3 Manager 32 17.2 

Bachelor 104 55.6 Assistance manager 10 5.4 

Master 67 35.8 Staff 28 15.1 

Doctoral 4 2.1 Owner/shareholder 12 6.5 

   Owner-manager 17 9.1 

Note.  

(1) A series of statistical tests for difference between sub-sample groups had been conducted and 

reported in section 4.5.5.2. 

Percentage was rounded, so in some cases a total figure might be slightly over or under a hundred 

percent. 

To sum up, the vast majority of respondent entities were private limited companies 

hiring up to 50 employees and managed by quite well-educated owner-managers. The 

substantial proportion of them operated in trading and service sectors for more than 6 

years with annual turnover less than 50 million baht.  Half of respondents conducted 

business with foreign suppliers or customers, but the importance of foreign 

transactions in the respondent entities’ operations outside the scope of this survey. 



 

190 

 

In comparison with the 2009 SME population shown in the Companies in Thailand 

database (see section 4.6.5.2), the structure of the respondent entities differed 

considerably in type of industry and size of entities.  The database indicated that 

service sector represented around 44 percent of business entities, 35 percent were 

from trading and 16 percent from manufacturing industry.  Approximately 60 percent 

of entities had annual turnover less than 5 million baht and the entities with turnover 

60 million baht or more accounted for only 10 percent.   

In the current study, the respondent entities had a similar industry and size coverage, 

but they were over-represented in the manufacturing sector (28.9%) and biased toward 

larger SMEs, as 67 percent of respondent entities indicated having turnover more than 

5 million baht.  The smallest SMEs were under-represented might be due to the fact 

that their businesses were too small, so they did not advertise in the Yellow Pages or 

in SME Alliance, which were used as sampling frames in this study.  The bias of 

sample entities to bigger SMEs was also found in prior study of Collis (2008).  This 

survey of SMEs’ directors indicated that a small number of very small companies 

participated in the survey since these directors had no time and lack of interest in 

financial reporting issues as well as the fact that the smallest companies in the 

sampling frame had already under-represented.    Therefore, it could not be claimed 

that the responding entities participating in this current study were representative of 

the SME population in terms of size and sector.  Consequently, it limits the possibility 

of generalisation the study results to the population, in particular to very small entities.   

6.3 Preparation and publication of financial statements 

6.3.1 Accounting system 

Respondents were asked to identify the system used to keep records of business 

transactions.  As presented in Table 6.8, their responses indicated that almost all 

sample entities (91.5%) used computerised accounting system of one kind or another, 

some of which used both computerised and manual system.  This evidence supports 

previous studies in other countries e.g. McMahon (1998) in Australia and Collis and 

Jarvis (2002) in the UK, which the majority of respondent SMEs employed 

computerised-accounting system.   
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  Table 6.8 Accounting system 

Categories 
No. of 

entities 

% of whole samples 

(n=188) 

Manual record keeping 16 8.5 

Computerised accounting system:   

  Use-off-the-shelf software package 76 40.4 

  Use of tailored-made computerised accounting system 28 14.9 

Combination of manual and computerised accounting system 68 36.2 

Note. Percentage was rounded, so in some cases a total figure might be slightly over or under a 

hundred percent. 

The studies by Sian and Roberts (2009), Collis and Jarvis (2002) and McMahon 

(1998), suggested that larger entities are more likely to use computerised accounting 

system, compared to smaller entities.  In this study, as presented in Table 6.9, 

although larger entities showed higher proportion of using computerised accounting 

system or combined-accounting system.  However, the result of Chi-square test found 

no statistically significant difference between the entity’s size (defined by turnover) 

and types of accounting system because of the high degree of computerisation among 

all size groups.  

Table 6.9 Analysis of accounting system in relation to annual turnover 

Categories 

Annual turnover (million baht) Total 

(n=187) 

Chi-

square 

df p 

≤ 5 

(n=62) 

6-50 

(n=72) 

≥ 51 

(n=53) 

% % % % 

Manual record keeping 14.5 8.3 1.9 8.6 11.659 6 .070 

Computerised accounting system 53.2 48.6 68.0 55.6    

Combination of manual and 

computerised accounting system 

32.3 43.1 30.1 35.8    

Note. Annual turnover was combined from 5 categories into 3 categories to facilitate an analysis using a 

Chi-square test. 

 

  



 

192 

 

6.3.2 Services provided by external accountants 

In order to examine the role of external accountants in SMEs, the respondents were 

asked to indicate the services they employed from external accountants.  Five 

probable services were listed in the questionnaire, with a request to choose one or 

more items from the list.  The results are summarised in Table 6.10.   

  Table 6.10  Services provided by external accountants   

Categories 
No. of 

entities 

% of whole samples 

(n=188) 

Preparation of statutory accounts 139 73.9 

Audit service 134 71.3 

Taxation service 105 55.9 

Bookkeeping  73 38.8 

Business and financial advice  55 29.3 

Others 3 1.6 

Note. 

(1) More than one answer was permitted. 

(2) Percentage was based on the number of respondents.  

The respondents primarily engaged with outside accountants for financial reporting 

compliance.  Of all respondents, almost 74 percent reported that an external 

accountant prepared their annual financial statements. This finding is consistent with 

the recent studies of UK SMEs (such as Collis, 2008; POBA, 2006) and SMEs in 

other countries (such as Berry, 2006).  The explanation for this may be due to the fact 

that the law requires a qualified accountant for preparing statutory accounts and it 

might not be cost effective to retain internal accounting staff to perform accounting 

tasks.  Also, the complexity in accounting and taxation rules might lead to the need of 

expertise to deal with (Everaert et al., 2007).   

Apart from regulatory compliance services, approximately one-third of respondents 

employed external accountants for business and financial advice.  This evidence 

confirmed the advisory role of external accountants in SMEs found in the studies 

carried out in various countries (Blackburn & Jarvis, 2010; Devi & Samujh, 2010; 

Marriott, Marriott, Collis, & Dang-Duc, 2008).   

Further analysis was carried out to compare the difference between the sizes of entity 

with regard to services provided by external accountants, as shown in Table 6.11.  

Overall, the uses of outside accountants for regulatory compliance tasks were found in 

all entities’ size; however, a smaller proportion of using external accountants for 
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bookkeeping, preparing annual accounts, and tax services were found in larger 

entities.  This probably results from that larger entities tended to hire in-house 

accounting staff, so they were less reliance on external accountants.  Likewise, the 

questionnaire survey of 600 UK companies’ directors showed that 85 percent of them 

used external accountants for statutory account preparation and the higher level of this 

support was found in small companies (92%) than medium-sized companies (73%) 

(POBA, 2006).  Notably, in this current study, the preparation of accounts was still 

found in the majority of larger SME category (67.9%).  Again, one explanation could 

be an increase in the complexity and volume of accounting standards for preparation 

of the financial statements (Berry, 2006).   

Table 6.11 Analysis of services provided by external accountants in relation to annual turnover 

Categories 
 

Annual turnover (million baht) Total 
(n=187) 

Chi-
square 

df p 

≤ 5 
(n=62) 

6-50  
 (n=72) 

≥ 51 
(n=53) 

% % % % 

Preparing statutory 

accounts 

Yes 77.4 76.4 67.9 74.3 1.610 2 .447 

No 22.6 23.6 32.1 25.7    

Audit service Yes 66.1 68.1 81.1 71.1 3.668 2 .160 

No 33.9 31.9 18.9 28.9    

Tax service Yes 64.5 58.3 43.4 56.1 5.403 2 .067 

No 35.5 41.7 56.6 43.9    

Bookkeeping Yes 46.8 36.1 34.0 39.0 2.392 2 .302 

No 53.2 63.9 66.0 61.0    

Business and financial 
advice 

Yes 33.9 26.4 28.3 29.4 .942 2 .624 

No 66.1 73.6 71.7 70.6    

 *The difference is significant at .05 level  

  Note. 

(1) Annual turnover was combined from 5 categories into 3 categories to facilitate an analysis using  

a Chi-square test. 

 (2) Category ‘other’ was not included in the test since its frequency was very small.   

The results of the Chi-square test suggested that there were no statistically significant 

differences between sizes of entity defined by annual turnover for all types of services.  

However, Everaert et al. (2007) found that the smallest SMEs relied more on service 

providers for accounting tasks, while larger SMEs relied on their internal staff.  

Services provided by external accountants had no significant difference among types 

of industry. This is in line with the study of Everaert et al. (2007), which indicated that 

“outsourcing strategy for accounting does not appear to be related to the industry in 

which the SMEs belong” (p. 722).  Nevertheless, a Mann-Whitney U test suggested 
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that there was a statistically significant difference between business ages and uses of 

bookkeeping service (Mann-Whitney U = 2926.50, Z = -3.934, p = .000) and business 

advices from external accountants (Mann-Whitney U = 3042.50, Z = -2.039, p = 

.041).  Older businesses relied less on external providers of accounting services. 

In summary, it was apparent that although almost all of the entities surveyed used 

computerised record keeping system, many of them, regardless of their sizes, still 

sought external accountants to assist with statutory financial statement preparation.   

6.3.3 Perceptions on changes in financial reporting regulations 

In recent years, there has been a significant change in financial reporting regulations, 

especially in accounting standards in Thailand.  This certainly has impacts on business 

entities subject to financial reporting regulations.  From the aspect of regulators and 

accounting standard setters, it was clear that they were aware of increasing reporting 

burdens on SMEs, as they had developed the accounting standards specifically for 

SMEs before the new Thai Accounting Standards were effective.  The perceptions of 

the business managers-owners, however, were rarely known.  In this study, the 

attitudes of the respondents toward such changes were examined.   

Table 6.12 presents the perceptions of SME directors toward changes in accounting 

regulations and standards.   

Table 6.12 Perceptions on changes in financial reporting regulations  

Categories 
 

n 
Total (% of whole samples) 

Median Mode 
Mean 
(1-3) Better  Same Worse 

Do not 
know 

1 2 3 4 

  Accounting Act and related regulations 183 23.5 53.6 4.9 18.0 2 2 1.77 

  Thai accounting standards (TASs) 181 23.8 55.8 2.8 17.7 2 2 1.74 

  Note. 

  (1) Response categories, better = 1, same = 2, worse = 3, do not know = 4. 

  (2) Percentage was rounded, so in some cases a total figure might be slightly over or under a hundred  

  percent. 

  (3) Mean was calculated by excluding ‘do not know’ response.  

 

The majority of the respondents felt that financial reporting regulations including Thai 

accounting standards was about the same compared to two or three year ago.  

Approximately one-fifth of the respondents, however, accepted that they did not know 

about the accounting regulations.  Out of the respondents who reported their 

perceptions regarding changes in accounting laws and accounting standards, less than 
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10 percent had a negative view on changes in accounting laws and accounting 

standards over the last two or three years.  

Altogether, there appears to be a low level of concern about changes in the regulatory 

burden arising from reporting regulations.   

6.3.4 Purpose of producing annual financial statements 

Table 6.13 illustrates the main reasons of preparing annual accounts as perceived by 

the respondents. The vast majority of respondents (79.1%) reported that they prepared 

annual accounts to fulfill accounting and tax reporting obligations.  Given that SMEs 

must submit their annual financial statements with a regulatory agency and file their 

tax returns based on their financial statements could explain why SMEs focus on 

meeting regulatory requirements as the main reason for financial statement 

production.   

Table 6.13 Main reasons for producing annual financial statements   

  Categories 
No. of 

entities 

% of whole samples 

(n=187) 

Meeting regulatory requirements of accounting or tax laws 148 79.1 

Providing information to management 25 12.8 

Reporting to owners e.g. shareholders/partners 7 3.7 

Reporting to external parties 5 2.7 

Other 3 1.6 

Note. 

(1) Percentage was rounded, so in some cases a total figure might be slight over or under a hundred 

percent. 

(2) A small number of responses contained within most categories prohibit statistical evaluation using a 

Chi-square test of difference among groups. 

The similar finding was found in the UK and Canadian studies.  Semi-structured 

interviews with fifteen SME owner-managers in the UK revealed that the majority of 

them viewed accounting and reporting as activities carried out to meet requirements of 

external parties such as tax authorities rather than their needs for management 

information (Marriott & Marriott, 2000, p. 483).  Likewise, the results from 162 

responses to mail survey of owners, managers, accountants and users indicated that 

small business entities in Canada prepared financial statements primarily for taxation 

purpose (Maingot & Zeghal, 2006).   
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Given that only a few respondents indicated the purpose of reporting to their 

shareholders and to external parties, implying that the role of financial reporting in 

reducing information asymmetries between firm’s management and shareholders or 

external parties appeared to be less important.  This might suggest that the production 

of financial statements in many SMEs is more likely to serve legal purposes such as 

the determination of taxable or distributable income and other company law and 

insolvency issues (Bertoni & De Rosa, 2010).  In this case, the application of general 

purpose financial reporting model focusing on external shareholders to SME financial 

reporting seems to be less relevant since it is known that the general purpose financial 

statements do not intend to meet the needs of tax authorities.   

6.3.5 Costs and benefits of producing annual financial statements 

Regulators have paid much attention to reduce regulatory burdens from SMEs, 

including the burden from financial reporting. This survey therefore examined how 

SME owner-managers perceived preparation and publication of financial statements.  

The respondents’ views on costs and benefits of annual account preparation were 

illustrated in Table 6.14.  

Table 6.14 Perceptions on costs and benefits of financial reporting 

Categories n Mean SD 

Responses 
(% of total respondents) 

Strongly 
disagree 

 Strongly 
agree 

1 2 3 4 5 

Cost of producing annual accounts exceed 

benefits to the entity 

188 2.79 1.06 9.6 36.2 22.9 28.2 3.2 

Heavily rely on accountants to determine 

the form and content of annual accounts 

188 3.19 1.12 6.4 28.7 11.2 47.3 6.4 

Very concerned that some items disclosed 

in the accounts might cause a competitive 

disadvantage 

188 3.16 1.08 4.8 26.1 27.7 30.9 10.6 

Note. 

(1) Response categories are 1= strongly disagree; 2 = disagree; 3 = neutral; 4= agree; 5 strongly agree.  

(2) Percentage is rounded so in some cases might be slight over or under a hundred percent. 

Overall, the respondents agreed with the statement that they heavily relied on 

accountants to determine the form and content of annual accounts.  While the 

respondents disagreed that the costs of account preparation outweighed its benefits, 

they seemed to agree with loss of competitive advantages resulting from disclosure of 

financial information in their accounts.  In comparison with the study of Carsberg et 
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al. (1985), the perceptions toward the costs and reliance on external accountants found 

in this current study were in general corresponded with the results from 50 interviews 

with small companies’ directors; however, the views of UK small companies 

regarding the costs of account productions appeared to be stronger.      

Table 6.15 provides the responses by three categories of annual turnover.  In 

comparison among different entities’ sizes, the smaller firms, having turnover 5 

million baht or less, tended to agree more with the statements regarding costs of 

account preparation exceeding its benefits while they appeared to concern less on loss 

of competitive advantages.  The non-parametric, Kruskal-Wallis test was carried out 

and found no significant difference between sizes of entities for all categories.   

Table 6.15 Perceptions on costs and benefits of financial reporting in relation to annual turnover 

  Categories 
Annual turnover (million baht) 

≤ 5 6-50 ≥ 51 
n Mean SD n Mean SD n Mean SD 

Cost of producing annual accounts exceed 

benefits to the entity 

62 2.98 1.00 72 2.79 .99 53 2.58 1.18 

Heavily rely on accountants to determine the 

form and content of annual accounts 

62 3.26 1.16 72 3.15 1.10 53 3.13 1.11 

Very concerned that some items disclosed in the 

accounts might cause competitive disadvantages 

62 3.10 1.05 72 3.07 1.08 53 3.36 1.11 

Note. Response categories are 1= strongly disagree; 2 = disagree; 3 = neutral; 4= agree; 5 strongly agree.  

To sum up, the majority of respondents did not consider the costs of account 

preparation was significant and the proprietary costs resulting from disclosure of 

financial information to competitors seems to be small for them.  As might be 

expected, accountants played a key role in the preparation of the small companies’ 

accounts.  

6.3.6 Financial statement audit 

Financial statement audit is an area where many jurisdictions had paid attention to 

reduce financial reporting burdens of SMEs.  This includes Thailand, where a 

relaxation from financial statement audit has been given to small registered 

partnerships.  The questions requesting respondents to indicate their perceptions on 

the purpose of financial statement audit and their audit decisions if the audit is not 

mandatory aim to solicit their views regarding financial statement audit.  In addition, 
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the responses to the latter question also indicate the demands of audit by financial 

statement users.   

Table 6.16 presents the results of the respondents’ perceptions on the purpose of 

financial statement audit.  In general, the respondents tended to agree with all types of 

financial statements audit purposes; however, they tended to agree more with the 

objectives of verifying the entity’s accounts and maintaining the quality of accounting 

information in public records.   

Table 6.16 Purposes of financial statement audit 

Categories n Mean SD 

Responses 
(% of total respondents) 

Strongly 
disagree 

 Strongly 
agree 

1 2 3 4 5 

To provide assurance for shareholders and external 

parties 

183 3.86 .87 3.3 4.9 10.9 63.9 16.9 

To assist an entity in the detection of fraud and error 184 3.85 .88 2.7 5.4 14.7 58.2 19.0 

To verify the accuracy of the entity's accounting 

records 

185 4.00 .83 1.6 4.3 11.4 57.8 24.9 

To maintain the quality of accounting information in 

public record 

184 3.92 .82 2.7 2.2 14.7 60.9 19.6 

Note. 

(1) Response categories are 1= strongly disagree; 2 = disagree; 3 = neutral; 4= agree; 5 strongly agree.  

(2) Percentage is rounded so in some cases a total figure might be slight over or under a hundred percent. 

Although a direct comparison is not possible, the similar evidence was previously 

found by Collis and Jarvis (2000), in which the majority of owner-managers agreed 

that the audit provides check on internal system and records.  In this study, slightly 

over 80 percent perceived that the audit was performed to verify the accuracy of 

accounting records. 

Table 6.17 summarises audit decisions of the respondents in the voluntary audit 

environment.  As seen, when the audit is not required by laws, only 9.6 percent of the 

respondents decided not to audit in order to save costs.  This finding implied that these 

respondents perceived that benefits derived from the audit outweighed its costs.  

Similarly, Collis and Jarvis (2000) found the majority of respondent (62.2%) 

companies chose to have a voluntary audit while the respondents giving up the audit 

was to save time and costs.  The non-parametric, Kruskal-Wallis test was conducted, 

but no significant difference for audit decisions between sizes of entities was found.   



 

199 

 

Reasons for the decisions to have a voluntary audit found in this study support the 

work of the UK Professional Oversight Board for Accountancy (2006).  The main 

reasons cited by the majority of respondents (51.9%) were improving the entity’s 

internal control and reducing queries from tax authorities.  The expectation of the 

value of audit for tax authorities might result from the fact that the financial statement 

audit employed can serve dual reporting purposes: financial and tax reporting.  Thus, 

even if the audit exemption was available under financial reporting laws, the audit for 

the benefit of reducing tax queries was still favored by many respondents.  The 

respondents’ decisions to have an audit for the benefit of internal control objective 

correspond with the responses found in the question regarding the roles of audit in 

checking internal records and detecting fraud and errors.    

Table 6.17 Audit decisions 

Categories 
No. of 
entities 

% of whole samples 
(n=187) 

No audit, to save cost 18 9.6 

Continue to audit:   
� Improve the entity's internal control system 97 51.9 

� Reduce queries from tax authorities 97 51.9 

� Required by owners/shareholders 44 23.5 

� Required by banks 42 22.5 

� Required by trade creditors 9 4.8 

� Other 7 3.7 

Note. 
(1) More than one answer was permitted. 
(2) Percentage was based on the number of respondents 

Only one-fourth of the respondents decided to have audit to fulfill the need of 

shareholders and banks.  However, this revealed the audit requirements by lenders and 

shareholders, suggesting the existence of an agency relationship between the entity’s 

management and other parties.  Thus, the role of audit in improving the credibility of 

financial statements in this aspect was important.   

A series of tests were further carried out to examine association between the entity’s 

size and reasons for voluntary audit decision.  As shown in Table 6.18, there was 

significantly different by the size of entities for the audit to meet the requirement of 

shareholders (Chi-square = 6.138, df = 2, p = .046) and for the audit to meet 

requirement of banks (Chi-square = 9.944, df = 2, p = .007).  Larger entities are more 

likely to have the audit for reporting to shareholders and banks.  The explanation for 
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this might be more dispersed ownership structure and uses of external financing in 

larger firms (Orens, Renders, & Crabb'e, 2010).   

Table 6.18 Analysis of voluntary audit decisions in relation to annual turnover 

Categories 
 

Annual turnover(million baht) Total 
(n=186) 

Chi-
square 

df p 

≤ 5 
(n=61) 

6-50  
 (n=72) 

≥ 51  
(n=53) 

% % % % 

To improve the entity's 

internal control system 

Yes 54.1 44.4 58.5 51.6 2.636 2 .268 

No 45.9 55.6 41.5 48.4    

Reduce queries from tax 

authorities 

Yes 52.5 55.6 47.2 52.2 .864 2 .649 

No 47.5 44.4 52.8 47.8    

Required by 

owners/shareholders 

Yes 18.0 19.4 35.8 23.7 6.138 2 .046* 

No 82.0 80.6 64.2 76.3    

Required by banks Yes 14.8 18.1 37.7 22.6 9.944 2 .007* 

No 85.2 81.9 62.3 77.4    

Required by trade creditors  

see note (2) 

Yes 1.6 4.2 9.4 4.8 3.857 2 .145  

No 98.4 95.8 90.6 95.2    

 *The difference is significant at .05 level 

Note. 

(1) Category ‘other’ was not included in the test since its frequency was very small.   

(2) A small number of responses contained within the category of ‘required by trade creditors’ violates 

statistical evaluation using a Chi-square test. 

(3) Difference in a total number of samples was caused by missing data. 

(4) Annual turnover was combined from 5 categories into 3 categories to facilitate an analysis using a 

Chi- square test. 

Further analysis was also conducted to assess whether there was a relationship 

between the presence of non-participating owner and perceived roles of audit.  The 

test indicated that no statistically significant relationship exists, even for provision 

assurance to shareholders and external parties.   

To sum up, from SME directors’ viewpoints, the role of audit was not limited to 

providing assurance for shareholders and third parties, but it was seen as a means to 

verify the accuracy of accounting records of the entity, to maintain quality of public 

records, and to detect fraud or errors.  The majority of SMEs seem to perceive the 

benefits of audit exceed the costs as they decided to continue having financial 

statement audit even if it was not mandatory.    
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6.4 Use of financial information 

6.4.1 Perceived main users of financial statements  

In Thailand, the general purpose financial reporting model was adopted to SME 

financial reporting, so the question of who uses SME financial statements is of 

interest.  In the study, the respondents were requested to indicate whom they viewed 

as main users of their audited annual financial statements and more than one answer 

was permitted.  As shown in Table 6.19, tax authorities, the entity’s management, and 

banks were in the top three ranked main users, as identified by over 60 percent of the 

respondents.  By contrast, there were a relatively low proportion of respondents 

indicating investors, business contacts, and employees as important users.   

Table 6.19 Perceived main users of SME financial statements 

  Categories 
No. of 

entities 

% of whole samples 

(n=188) 

Tax authorities (the Revenue Department) 131 69.7 

Management e.g. directors/managers 129 68.6 

Financiers e.g. banks and financial institutions 121 64.4 

Shareholders/partners 72 38.3 

Regulatory agency (the Department of Business Development) 59 31.4 

Business contacts e.g. trade creditors/suppliers/customers 25 13.3 

Investors e.g. venture capitalists/business angels 25 13.3 

Employees 7 3.7 

 Note. 

(1) More than one answer was permitted. 

(2) Percentage was based on the number of respondents. 

 

Although the ranks of main users might be different, the range of main user groups 

were the same as those found in previous studies carried out in developed and 

emerging economy countries (e.g. Dang-Duc, Marriott, & Marriott, 2006; Maingot & 

Zeghal, 2006; Sian & Roberts, 2009).  From the interviews with 19 stakeholders of 

small companies in Vietnam (Dang-Duc, Marriott, & Marriott, 2006), tax authorities 

and government agencies were important users of small company financial statements 

and this same result was also found in the survey of Canadian small entities (Maingot 

& Zeghal, 2006).  Also, the study of the UK owner-managers’ accounting needs by 

Sian and Roberts (2009) revealed that a small numbers of companies sent a copy of 

their financial statements to customers or suppliers, employees, and investors.   
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Nevertheless, tax authorities, entities management and finance providers were 

considered as “users with economic and statutory power” (Marriott & Marriott, 1999, 

p. 10), meaning they have ability to acquire or access to additional financial 

information of an entity if they need.  Besides, these user groups might not depend 

primarily on financial statement information as a basis for their decision-making.  

Banks in Vietnam, for instance, employed various information sources for SME 

lending decisions (Dang-Duc, Marriott, & Marriott, 2008) and an interview with the 

representative of British Bankers’ Association revealed that since increasing the audit 

exemption threshold for UK small companies, they did not require annual financial 

statements from their small business clients, but alternative information was used 

(POBA, 2006). 

As presented in Table 6.20, a Chi-square test indicated that that the perception of 

finance providers as main users varied by the entities’ size (Chi-Square = 12.049, df = 

2, p = .002).  For the rest, no statistically significant differences were found.   

Table 6.20 Analysis of perceived main users of SME financial statements in relation to annual turnover 

Categories 

Annual turnover (million baht) Total 
(n=187) 

Chi-
square 

df p 

≤ 5 
(n=62) 

6-50  
 (n=72) 

≥ 51 
(n=53) 

% % % % 

Tax authorities Yes 72.6 70.8 64.2 69.5 1.054 2 .590 

No 27.4 29.2 35.8 30.5    

Management e.g. 

directors/managers 

Yes 66.1 70.8 69.8 69.0 .368 2 .832 

No 33.9 29.2 30.2 31.0    

Financiers e.g. banks  Yes 50.0 63.9 81.1 64.2 12.049 2 .002* 

No 50.0 36.1 18.9 35.8    

Shareholders Yes 37.1 36.1 43.4 38.5 .762 2 .683 

No 62.9 63.9 56.6 61.5    

Regulatory agency Yes 40.3 31.9 20.8 31.6 5.075 2 .079 

No 59.7 68.1 79.2 68.4    

Business contacts e.g. trade 

creditors 

Yes 9.7 12.5 18.9 13.4 2.160 2 .340 

No 90.3 87.5 81.1 86.6    

Investors e.g. venture 

capitalists 

Yes 12.9 11.1 17.0 13.4 .926 2 .630 

No 87.1 88.9 83.0 86.6    

Employees Yes 3.2 4.2 3.8 3.7 .082 2 .960 

No 96.8 95.8 96.2 96.3    

 *The difference is significant at .05 level 

Note. 

(1) Percentage was based on the number of respondents. 

(2) Annual turnover was combined from 5 categories into 3 categories to facilitate an analysis using  

a Chi-square test. 
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A non-parametric, Kruskal-Wallis analysis was also carried out to identify the 

differences between sizes of entity with regard to the perceptions of main users.  The 

test results indicated that larger firms are statistically more likely to report finance 

providers as important users (Kruskal-Wallis H = 11.985, df = 2, p = .002).   

Given that larger entities perceived financiers as main users more than smaller entities 

might result from several reasons.  First, increasing in firm size might indicate the 

increasing need for more funds and therefore debt finance such as bank finance would 

be the next favourable source of funds after internal fund (Holmes et al., 2003; Orens 

et al., 2010).  The claim for the needs of financing support in larger firms was 

confirmed by the survey of Australian manufacturing SMEs, which medium-sized 

firms were more likely to seek external finance than small entities (McMahon, 1999).  

Second, larger firms tend to have collateral to pledge as a security of loans.  Finally, 

banks might vary lending procedures with the amounts of loans.  

A series of Chi-square test was run so as to assess whether there was a difference in 

the perception of main financial statement users among industry groups.  The test 

suggested that the perception of financial reporting regulatory agency as main user 

group varied significantly by industry sectors (Chi-square = 9.119, df = 2, p = .010).  

For the rest, no significant difference existed.  The entities operating in service sector 

are most likely to report a regulatory agency as main user, followed by entities in 

manufacturing and trading sectors.   

In addition, the result of analysis suggested that a significant difference existed 

between business ages and the perception of financiers (Mann-Whitney U = 3273.50, 

Z = -2.422, p = .015) and regulatory agencies (Mann-Whitney U = 3102.50, Z = -

2.253, p = .024) as important users.  Older businesses were more likely to have 

financiers as main users while they were less likely to indicate regulatory agencies as 

main users. 

Altogether, there seems to have general consensus among the respondents on the main 

user groups of SME financial statements; tax authorities, management, and finance 

providers.  Other external user group categories identified in financial reporting 

framework, such as suppliers, customers, or investors rarely existed.    
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6.4.2 Use of financial information by management  

6.4.2.1 Use of annual financial statements  

Further question regarding the extent of use of annual financial statements revealed 

that the financial statements prepared annually had been used for other purposes, 

rather than statutory reporting (see Table 6.21).  Of a total respondent, only 38 percent 

and 21 percent regularly supplied their financial statements to banks for supporting 

loan application and showing compliance with borrowing agreements, respectively.  

In contrast, about half of the respondents reported that they never used their financial 

statements for obtaining credit from suppliers or trade creditors and supporting 

bidding on contracts or obtaining a license.  The results were in line with the 

responses to the question of main financial statement users, in which financiers were 

identified as an important user group of financial statements.   

Only 6.5 percent of the respondents were regularly interested in comparing their 

entities’ accounts with those of competitors, suggesting the usefulness of the financial 

statements in the respect of comparability was irrelevant by the majority of sample 

entities.  Also, this could reflect a low level of use of competitors’ information by 

SMEs.   

Table 6.21 External uses of SME financial statements 

Categories 
 

n 
Total (% of whole samples) 

Median Mode Mean never  always 

1 2 3 4 5 

Applying for capital from banks or 

investors 

186 24.7 8.1 29.0 30.1 8.1 3 4 2.89 

Obtaining credit from suppliers or 

trade creditors  

187 50.8 13.4 23.5 11.2 1.1 1 1 1.98 

Supporting bidding on contracts or 

obtaining a license  

186 54.3 17.2 14.0 10.2 4.3 1 1 1.93 

Comparing the entity's performance 

with that of competitors 

186 56.5 16.7 20.4 6.5 - 1 1 1.77 

Showing compliance with loan 

covenants in borrowing agreement  

186 38.2 11.8 29.0 16.7 4.3 2.5 1 2.37 

  Note. 

  (1) Response categories are 1= never; 2= seldom; 3 = sometime; 4 = usually; 5 = always. 

  (2) Percentage is rounded so in some cases the total figure might be slightly over or under a hundred  

  percent. 
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Table 6.22 provides an analysis of external uses of financial statement by the entity’s 

size measured by annual turnover.  Larger entities used their financial statements more 

frequently for all categories, specifically for applying capital from banks or investors, 

than small companies.   

Table 6.22 Analysis of external uses of SME financial statements in relation to annual turnover 

Categories 
Annual turnover (million baht) 

≤ 5 6-50  ≥ 51 
n Mean SD n Mean SD n Mean SD 

Applying for capital from banks or investors 62 2.24 1.26 70 2.90 1.17 53 3.58 1.12 

Obtaining credit from suppliers or trade creditors  62 1.81 1.06 71 2.00 1.21 53 2.19 1.11 

Supporting bidding on contracts or obtaining a 

license  

62 1.66 .99 70 1.94 1.24 53 2.25 1.37 

Comparing the entity's performance with that of 

competitors 

62 1.65 .94 70 1.77 .99 53 1.92 1.03 

Showing compliance with loan covenants in 

borrowing agreement  

62 2.06 1.21 70 2.39 1.21 53 2.74 1.24 

 Note.  

(1) Response categories are 1= never; 2= seldom; 3 = sometime; 4 = usually; 5 = always.  

(2) Annual turnover was combined from 5 categories into 3 categories to facilitate an analysis. 

A Kruskal-Wallis test suggested that a significant difference existed between small 

and medium-sized entities in terms of their uses of financial statements for loan 

application (Kruskal-Wallis H = 31.916, df = 2, p = .000) and reporting compliance 

with loan covenants in borrowing agreement (Kruskal-Wallis H = 8.182, df = 2, p = 

.017).  This result corresponds with the findings in the previous sections regarding a 

reason for voluntary audit decision and perceived main users, suggesting that larger 

entities are more likely to prepare financial statement and have them audited for 

providers of finance. 

A Kruskal-Wallis test was also conducted to evaluate differences among industry 

types on external uses of annual financial statements.  The test result was significant 

for the use of accounts for loan or capital application (Kruskal-Wallis H = 7.261, df = 

2, p = .027).  Further analysis were carried out and it appeared that manufacturing 

companies used financial statements for capital application more often than service 

(Mann-Whitney U = 1299.00, Z = -2.431, p = .015) or trading companies (Mann-

Whitney U = 1412.50, Z = -2.289, p = .022), but there were no significant difference 

between service and trading sectors (Mann-Whitney U = 2065.50, Z = -.218, p = 

.828). 
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To facilitate a test analysis, categories of business age were combined into smaller 

categories, including less than 4 years, between 4 to 10 years, and more than 10 years.  

A Kruskal-Wallis test revealed that a statistically significant relationship existed in the 

study sample between years in business and provision to banks or investors of 

financial statements (Kruskal-Wallis H = 6.791, df = 2, p = .034).  The higher the 

business age, the more they used their annual accounts for applying capital from banks 

or investors.    

In the SME financial reporting literature, the owner-managers of the business had 

been identified as a main user group of financial statements, so for what purpose this 

user group uses the accounts was examined. Table 6.23 illustrates the purposes of 

using financial statements by the entity’s management.  

Table 6.23 Purposes of using SME financial statements 

Categories 
No. of 
entities 

% of whole samples 
(n=188) 

Estimating income tax liabilities 137 72.9 

Planning (short/long term)  108 57.4 

Deciding employees' pay and bonus 79 42.0 

Capital investments decisions 72 38.3 

Deciding dividends 72 38.3 

Marketing and pricing decisions 65 34.6 

Note. 

(1) More than one answer was permitted. 

(2) Percentage was based on the number of respondents. 

Of all respondents, 73 percent indicated using financial statement information to 

support tax assessment.  This might result from the fact that this set of annual financial 

statements was also used for taxation purposes.  Consequently, it is more likely to find 

the connection between tax and financial reporting.  This evidence is similar to that 

found in the German study, which the majority of SMEs viewed that financial 

statements were important for income tax calculation (Haller & Eierle, 2007).   

Although financial statements contain mainly the entity’s financial position and 

performance in prior period, slightly over half of respondents (57%) felt that the 

financial statements provided the information they required for planning.  In contrast, 

a smaller proportion of the respondents employed financial statement information for 

employees’ pay and bonus (42%) and for profit distribution decisions (38%) although 
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these types of business decisions were typically based on annual financial statement 

information.   

Further analysis using Chi-square test to determine whether there was a significant 

difference between the sizes of entity with respect of purposes of use listed in the 

question was presented in Table 6.24.  The test results suggested no association 

between the size of entity and the purposes of using financial statements.  

Table 6.24 Analysis of purposes of using SME financial statements in relation to annual turnover 

Categories 
 

Annual turnover (million baht) Total 
(n=187) 

Chi-
square 

df p 

≤ 5  
 (n=50) 

6-50 
 (n=72) 

≥ 51  
 (n= 65) 

% % % % 

Estimating income tax 

liabilities 

Yes 74.2 70.8 73.6 72.7 .217 2 .897 

No 25.8 29.2 26.4 27.3    

Planning (short/long term) Yes 56.5 59.7 56.6 57.8 .186 2 .911 

No 43.5 40.3 43.4 42.2    

Deciding employees' pay 

and bonus 

Yes 37.1 40.3 50.9 42.2 2.431 2 .297 

No 62.9 59.7 49.1 57.8    

Capital investments 

decisions 

Yes 30.6 37.5 49.1 38.5 4.140 2 .126 

No 69.4 62.5 50.9 61.5    

Deciding dividends Yes 35.5 36.1 45.3 38.5 1.442 2 .486 

No 64.5 63.9 54.7 61.5    

Marketing and pricing 

decisions 

Yes 33.9 33.3 37.7 34.8 .293 2 .864 

No 66.1 66.7 62.3 65.2    

 *The difference is significant at .05 level 

Note. Annual turnover was combined from 5 categories into 3 categories to facilitate an analysis. 

However, another series of Chi-square test was undertaken and the results suggested a 

statistically significant difference among types of industry for using financial 

statement information as a basis for deciding on dividends (Chi-square = 6.568, df = 

2, p = .037); nearly half of the respondents in service business (49.2%) appeared to 

regularly use annual accounts for dividend decision, followed by manufacturing sector 

(38.2%) and trading business (27.5%).   

The usefulness of specific reports in the financial statements for managerial decision 

as perceived by SME directors/managers was further examined.  As shown in Table 

6.25, supporting previous studies by Collis and Jarvis (2000) and Sian and Roberts 

(2009), profit and loss statement was perceived the most useful report, followed by 

balance sheet statement and cash flow statement.  The least useful source of 

information was statement of change in owners’ equity. 
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Table 6.25 Usefulness of items in SME financial statements 

 

Categories n Mean SD 

Responses 
(% of total respondents) 

Not use  Very useful 

1 2 3 4 5 

Balance sheet statement 188 3.36 .86 3.7 10.1 37.2 44.7 4.3 

Profit and loss statement 188 3.78 .98 3.7 6.4 20.2 47.9 21.8 

Change in equity statement 188 2.69 1.11 20.2 18.1 36.7 22.3 2.7 

Cash flow statement 188 3.09 1.29 18.6 10.1 28.2 30.3 12.8 

Notes to financial statements 188 2.95 1.25 18.1 15.4 31.4 23.9 11.2 

Auditors' report 184 2.96 1.21 13.6 22.8 28.3 24.5 10.9 

Note. 

(1) Response categories are 1= not used; 2 = less useful; 3 = somewhat useful; 4= useful; 5 = very 

useful. 

(2) Percentage was rounded, so in some cases a total figure might be over or under a hundred percent. 

In fact, a cash flow statement is not required for statutory filing, but the responses 

suggested that many SMEs produced cash flow statement for internal use.  The results 

also reflected the importance of liquidity management in SMEs, such as monitoring 

profitability and controlling cash inflows and outflows, as it is crucial for business 

survival (Collis & Jarvis, 2002; McMahon & Stanger, 1995).  Besides, the likely 

reason for the popularity of profit and loss statement might be due to the use for 

estimating tax liabilities by many respondents.  In contrast, change in equity 

statement, notes to financial statements, and auditor’s report were not considered 

useful for managing the business although it was used by the majority of the 

respondents.   

In summary, it appears that many SMEs gained some benefits from producing annual 

statutory accounts both external and internal uses.  The most frequent external usage 

was related to borrowing from financiers, applying for loans and reporting to lenders.  

The internal use of financial statement information to support estimation of income 

tax liabilities was more pervasive than the uses for managerial or control purpose such 

as planning and investment decisions.  There was a general consensus that the profit 

and loss statement was the most useful financial report for management, followed 

closely by the balance sheet.    
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6.4.2.2 Use of management information  

Apart from annual financial statements, approximately 90 percent of the respondents 

regularly produced and used management financial information (see Table 6.26).  

Techniques such as budgeting and variance analysis were employed by the majority of 

the respondents.    Director-managers placed importance on controlling cash and 

credit control, as the aged report of debtor balance had the highest mean.  This was 

followed closely by management accounts prepared on monthly or quarterly basis.   

Table 6.26 Usefulness of management information 

 

Categories n Mean SD 

Responses 
(% of total respondents) 

Not use  Very useful 

1 2 3 4 5 

Management accounts 187 3.54 1.11 7.0 9.6 24.6 40.1 18.7 

Budgets 188 3.30 1.12 10.1 12.2 25.0 43.1 9.6 

Variance analysis 188 3.27 1.20 12.2 12.2 25.0 37.8 12.8 

Aging reports of debtor balance 188 3.70 1.07 5.3 9.0 17.6 46.3 21.8 

Financial ratio analysis 187 3.19 1.11 8.6 17.6 31.0 32.1 10.7 

Note. 

(1) Response categories are 1= not used; 2 = less useful; 3 = somewhat useful; 4= useful; 5 = very 

useful. 

(2) Percentage was rounded, so in some cases a total figure might be over or under a hundred percent. 

As might be expected, in comparison with the items in annual financial reports, the 

mean scores of the items in management information appeared to be slightly higher, 

except for annual profit and loss statement, suggesting that management information 

in general is more useful for management of business than annual financial reports.  

Nevertheless, it was evident that a significant number of SMEs produced management 

information for internal uses and therefore do not depend on financial information in 

the annual financial statements for management decisions.   

6.4.3 Information source for deciding business contacts 

Table 6.27 illustrates the responses to the question asking SME directors to indicate 

the level of importance of financial information source for making decision about 

business contacts.   

Based on the mean score, it suggested that the payment history was the most useful 

source of information for evaluating the creditworthiness of business partners.  

Although the customers’ accounts were perceived less important than the history of 
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payment and reference from banks, around 80 percent of the respondents felt that it 

was still an important source for deciding whether to do business with another entity.  

Specifically, many respondents indicated that the information of related parties was 

also an important information source, but currently the disclosure of this related party 

information is not required under Thai accounting standards for SMEs.   

Table 6.27 Importance of information sources for business contacts 

 

Categories n Mean SD 

Responses 
(% of total respondents) 

Not 
important  

Very  
important 

1 2 3 4 5 

Accounts (balance sheet, profit and loss 

accounts) 

187 3.52 1.15 6.4 13.9 20.3 39.6 19.8 

Information of related party transactions 

e.g. loan to/from directors 

187 3.44 1.08 6.4 12.3 26.2 40.6 14.4 

History of payment with the business  187 4.25 .95 2.7 4.3 6.4 39.0 47.6 

Reference from banks 187 3.56 .96 3.7 10.2 24.1 50.3 11.8 

Reference from other firms 186 3.44 .96 4.3 10.2 33.3 41.4 10.8 

Note. 

(1) Response categories are 1= not important; 2 = slightly important; 3 = moderately important; 4= 

important; 5 = very important. 

(2) Percentage was rounded, so in some case a total figure might be over or under a hundred percent. 

One respondent pointed out that some entities prepared the accounts for tax purpose, 

so the financial statements might not reflect actual economic picture of businesses.  As 

a consequence, the company’s financial statements were not only source of 

information used for making decision on business contacts.  Indeed, more importance 

was placed on the information about history of payment and references from other 

customers.   

Nevertheless, this practice was similar to that of Spanish companies.  An online 

survey with 5,924 customers of the Spanish online credit information service revealed 

that in addition to the accounts of commercial partners, other information sources 

were used by many respondent firms to assess creditworthiness of their clients or 

business partners; 53 percent relied on history of payment, 47 percent on information 

provided by banks (Arrunada, 2008). 
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6.5 Accounting standards for SMEs 

6.5.1 Awareness of accounting standard impact 

Table 6.28 illustrates the results of the question regarding the respondents’ perceptions 

of the impact of accounting standards.  Only 33 percent of the respondents claimed to 

be fully aware of the impact of accounting standards on their entities.   

Table 6.28 Awareness of the impact of accounting standards on business entities  

Categories 
No. of 

entities 

% of whole samples 

(n=188) 

Fully aware 62 33.0 

Know its existence but not know in detail 79 42.0 

Know but it is not related to the business 18 9.6 

Do not know 29 15.4 

  Note. Percentage was rounded, so in some cases a total figure might be over or under a hundred     

  percent. 

 

With respect to their attitudes towards the roles of accounting standards on their 

entities (see Table 6.29) the majority of the respondents (53%) hold a positive view of 

accounting standards, indicating that accounting standards placed no significant 

burden on entities.   However, around 10 percent of them perceived breach of privacy 

resulting from imposition of accounting standards on entities.   

  Table 6.29   Perceptions of the roles of accounting standards 

Categories 
No. of 

entities 

% of whole samples 

(n=187) 

Unnecessary intrusion into the entity's activities 19 10.2 

Desirable and impose no significant burden on the entity 99 52.9 

Desirable but do impose significant burden on the entity 69 36.9 

  Note. Percentage was rounded, so in some cases a total figure might be over or under a hundred  

  percent.  

 

Table 6.30 presents the results of further analysis of the responses by the entity’s size 

measured by annual turnover.  Overall, the positive views regarding the roles of 

accounting standards was found in entities with turnover more than 50 million baht.  

A Chi-square test was conducted and there was no significant difference among 

different sizes of entities in the views regarding this issue.   
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Table 6.30 Perception on the role of accounting standards in relation to annual turnover 

Categories 

Annual turnover (million baht) Total 
(n=186) 

Chi-
square 

df p 

≤ 5 
 (n=62) 

6-50  
 (n=71) 

≥ 51 
(n=53) 

% % % % 

Unnecessary intrusion into the 
entity's activities 

9.7 12.7 7.5 10.2 3.887 4 .421 

Desirable and impose no significant 
burden on the entity 

50.0 47.9 64.2 53.2    

Desirable but do impose significant 
burden on the entity 

40.3 39.4 28.3 36.6    

 Note. 

 (1) Difference in a total number of samples was caused by missing data. 

(2) Annual turnover was combined from 5 categories into 3 categories to facilitate an analysis. 

In sum, the responses to these two questions revealed that the majority of SME owner-

managers had low awareness of the impact of accounting standards on their entities 

and perceived no significant burden from compliance with accounting standards.  

However, lack of financial accounting knowledge, especially accounting standards 

might lead to underestimate the burdens from compliance with accounting standards. 

6.5.2 Decision on accounting standard exemption 

In order to probe reasons for adopting or not adopting accounting standard 

exemptions, the respondents were asked whether their entities chose for accounting 

standard exemptions or not and what was a reason for their choice.  The results to the 

question are provided in Table 6.31.   

Table 6.31 Choice of accounting standard exemptions 

Categories 
No. of 
entities 

% of whole samples 
(n=186) 

Opt 35 18.8 

Not opt 11 5.9 

Do not know, my accountant deals with it 140 75.3 

  Note. Percentage was rounded, so in some case a total figure might be over or under a hundred     

  percent. 

It was surprising that the vast majority of respondents (75.3%) accepted that they did 

not know which choice was made.12  Indeed, the entity’s directors have to sign on 

their financial statements before filing their accounts with regulatory agencies, so in 

this process they would have an opportunity to read the statements and found out 

which reporting choice the entity selected.  Low awareness on financial reporting 

                                                           
12

 A small number of responses contained within categories prohibit statistical evaluation using a Chi-
square test of difference among sizes of entity.  
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regulations and heavy reliance on external accountants to account preparation among 

many respondents found in the responses to earlier questions might explain this 

incident.  Nevertheless, the explanations for selecting or not selecting accounting 

standard exemptions given by some respondents provide a valuable insight into what 

factors would have an influence on their decisions (see Table 6.32).  

Table 6.32 Summary reasons for accounting standard exemption decision 

 No. of entities 

Opt for exemption:   

� Entity is very small 1 

� We just want to meet minimum requirements  4 

� Entity has no benefit from reporting such information/ costs outweigh 

benefits/the standards are too complicated 

4 

� Accounting staff has not enough accounting expertise  1 

Not opt for exemption:  

� We want to show actual entity’s financial position  1 

� The exempt accounting standards are irrelevant to the entity 2 

The respondents who selected accounting standard exemptions cited that, for instance, 

their entities were relatively small, no benefit was gained from applying the exempt 

accounting standards, the costs of compliance outweighed benefits, and the expertise 

of their accounting staff was not enough.  Moreover, some respondents indicated their 

reasons for not adopting the exemption that such exempt accounting standards were 

not relevant to their entities, so they did not need to make a choice.  This latter 

comment is in line with the results shown in the survey of Thai accountants in 

Bangkok regarding accounting standards for SMEs (Sakuljitjinda & Sitchawat, 2008), 

which the majority of them indicated that the exempt accounting standards were 

actually not relevant to SMEs, so this relaxation could not significantly reduce 

financial accounting and reporting costs of SMEs.   

Despite the low number of responses, it appears that costs and benefits of compliance 

with accounting standards was an important factor in decision to adopt accounting 

standard exemption by SME owner-managers.     
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6.5.3 Effect of using simpler accounting standards on financial statement users 

One of the concerns over the implementation of different reporting standards for 

SMEs was a negative effect on decisions of financial statement users.  The view of 

directors-managers on the effect was assessed in the study. The results to this question 

are presented in Table 6.33.  

Table 6.33 Potential effect of using a simple set of accounting standards for SMEs  

Categories 
 

n 

Total (% of whole samples) 

Median Mode Mean 
Very negative 
effect  

Very positive  
effect 

1 2 3 4 5 

Lenders' decision on granting loans 185 1.6 15.7 47.6 30.3 4.9 3 3 3.21 

Investors' decision on investing in 

the entity 

185 2.7 12.4 54.6 23.8 6.5 3 3 3.18 

  Note. 
  (1) Response categories are 1=very negative effect; 2 = negative effect; 3 =no effect; 4= positive effect; 5  
   = very positive effect. 
  (2) Percentage was rounded, so in some cases a total figure might be slightly over or under a hundred  
  percent.    

Overall, the respondents had a mixed-view on this issue, but the vast majority of 

respondents believed that using a different set of accounting standards had no effect or 

even positive effect on applying for loans and investment.  The possible reason for the 

results might be that banks were more interested in information on cash flows and 

security in the form of collateral than balance sheet and income statements.  

Therefore, which set of accounting standards is applied has not much effect.   

Furthermore, the use of simpler accounting standards might make it easier for entities 

to comply with and results in more compliant accounts.  As a consequence, capital 

providers might place more reliability on the accounts provided.   

6.5.4 Views on the IFRS for SMEs   

It was apparent from the response shown in Table 6.34 that the respondents generally 

agreed with the potential costs and benefits from the adoption of the IFRS for SMEs.  

As anticipated, the most expected benefits was reducing the burdens of compliance 

with full TASs, as was indicated by over half of respondents (51.4%), followed by 

improving the entity’s international competitiveness (47%) and ability to obtain 

capital at lower cost (43.2%).   
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Table 6.34 Potential costs and benefits from adoption of the IFRS for SMEs 

Categories n Mean SD 

Responses 
(% of total respondents) 

Strongly 
disagree 

 Strongly 
agree 

1 2 3 4 5 

Improve the ability of the entity to obtain 

capital at lower cost 

185 3.50 .75 .5 6.5 42.7 43.2 7.0 

Increase the competitiveness of the entity in the 

international markets 

185 3.64 .75 .5 3.8 37.8 47.0 10.8 

Reducing burden on the entity in comparison 

with full TASs 

185 3.74 .79 1.6 2.7 30.3 51.4 14.1 

Still too costly for the entity to apply 185 3.21 .85 4.3 8.6 55.1 25.9 5.9 

Reduce users' ability to compare the entity 

financial statement information with those of 

public companies 

184 3.33 .84 2.2 8.2 54.3 25.5 9.8 

Note. 
(1) Response categories are 1= strongly disagree; 2 = disagree; 3 = neutral; 4= agree; 5 strongly agree.  
(2) Percentage is rounded so in some cases might be slight over or under a hundred percent. 

Nevertheless, while the majority of the respondent companies agreed there would be 

the benefits derived from the adoption of the IFRS for SMEs, slightly over half of the 

respondents were uncertain about the high costs of application and loss of any benefits 

arising from comparability with listed companies.   

6.5.5 Decision on potential adoption of the IFRS for SMEs 

Respondents were asked whether they wished to adopt the IFRS for SMEs if it was 

permitted as an alternative to Thai accounting standards (TASs).  From Table 6.35, 

approximately 70 percent of respondents were unable to decide while about 19 percent 

of the respondents were willing to adopt the IFRS for SMEs.  Their uncertainty might 

be caused by their lack of knowledge of Thai Accounting Standards and the IFRS for 

SMEs.  However, the responses implied that SME advisors, certainly accountants or 

auditors, would play an important role in decision to accounting standard option.   

Table 6.35 Potential adoption of the IFRS for SMEs 

Categories 
No. of 

entities 

% of whole samples 

(n=187) 

Adopt the IFRS for SMEs 36 19.3 

Continue to use TASs 19 10.2 

Not sure, would seek advice from advisors before making decision 132 70.6 

By excluding undecided responses, a series of test were carried out to evaluate the 

difference in an adoption decision among sizes of entity, business ages, and perceived 

potential costs and benefits of the IFRS for SMEs.  The test results indicated no 



 

216 

 

significant difference between sizes and ages of business, but it was found that the 

respondents who expected to improve their abilities to acquire capital (Mann Whitney 

U = 223.50, Z = -2.115, p = .034) and to reduce financial reporting burdens tended to 

wish to adopt the IFRS for SMEs (Mann- Whitney U = 197.50, Z = -2.627, p = .009). 

A small number of respondents provided further explanations for their choices, as 

shown in Table 6.36.  For example, the respondents who decided to continue using 

Thai accounting standards (TASs) stated that they were already familiar with TASs, 

so if they adopted the IFRS for SMEs, they had to pay for implementation costs.   By 

contrast, the respondents who preferred adopting the IFRs for SMEs cited that they 

wanted to save costs of reporting and expected that the IFRS for SMEs were not too 

complex, so they could easily understand.   

Table 6.36 Summary reasons for decision to adopt the IFRS for SMEs 

 No. of 

entities 

Opt for Thai Accounting Standards (TASs):   

� Required by shareholders 1 

� Easier to find other companies’ information to compare  2 

� Already familiar with Thai accounting standards; change would lead to 

additional costs 

3 

� Thai accounting standards has already conform with international practice 1 

� Size of Thai SMEs significantly differs from those in other countries  1 

� My entity do business locally 1 

Opt for the IFRS for SMEs:  

� To increase international competition 1 

� Not want to rely on accounting firms; see no benefit from their services 2 

� Save time and costs, provide more benefits to entity 6 

� Easier to read and understand 2 

� Standardised reporting to be the same as international level 3 

� Attract potential foreign investors 2 

Total 25 

In addition, several respondents provided additional comments in open-ended question 

with regard to the adoption of the IFRS for SMEs in Thailand.  For example, one of 

them viewed that although using the same title ‘SMEs’, the size of SMEs is different 

worldwide.  Most of Thai SMEs are quite small, having 1 to 10 million baht annual 

turnover, so using the IFRS for SMEs might be onerous for them.  Another respondent 

stated that financial statement users of Thai SMEs rarely exist since Thai SMEs was 

wholly owned and managed by their shareholders, not like those in the US which 
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managed by professional managers.  Specifically, Thai SMEs have no international 

financial statement users, except for a case of joint investment.   

Despite a small number of responses, it was clear from the respondents’ reasons for 

the adoption of the IFRS for SMEs that they are concerned more with reducing the 

burdens of financial reporting.  Only a few mentioned the benefits for potential 

foreign investors.  Besides, although about half of the respondents reported that they 

sold or bought products from foreign business partners (shown in Table 6.2.3), it 

seems to have no influence on their decisions to opt for the IFRS for SMEs.  This 

might be partly explained by the fact that there was no use of financial statement 

information in their commercial practice.  This finding was correspond with the 

findings of Eierle and Haller (2009) who reported that foreign financial statement 

users were not viewed as important users among German SMEs even if they engaged 

in international activities at a significant level.   

6.5.6 Perceived costs-benefits of selected accounting treatments 

Table 6.37 summarises the perceived costs and benefits of several accounting 

treatments and methods, primarily taken from the IFRS for SMEs and the exposure 

draft of accounting standards for SMEs in Thailand.  Recognising all lease payments 

except for hire-purchase as an expense seems to be in favour by most respondents 

with 40 percent viewed ‘benefits outweigh costs’ and about 26 percent felt ‘costs fit 

with benefits.’  Although it could not directly compare, this similar view regarding 

accounting treatment for leases was found in the survey of UK SME owner-managers 

(Sian & Roberts, 2009), which only 14 percent of accountants felt that recording any 

lease payment as expense on cash basis was not useful while all of them agreed that 

assets purchased on hire-purchase should be recorded as the entity’s asset (p. 300).   
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Table 6.37 Perceived costs and benefits for selected accounting treatments 

Categories 
 

n 

Total (% of whole samples) 

Median Mode 
Mean 
(1-3) 

Costs 
outweigh 
benefits 

Costs 
fit with 
benefits 

Benefits 
outweigh 

costs 
Do not 
know 

1 2 3 4 

Revaluation of property, plant and 

equipment 

183 20.8 22.4 31.1 25.7 3 3 2.62 

Capitalisation of borrowing costs 183 12.6 25.7 34.4 27.3 3 3 2.77 

Treatments of all types of leases 

(except hire-purchase) as expenses 

182 6.0 24.7 40.1 29.1 3 3 2.92 

Amortisation of intangible assets 

with a finite useful life 

182 10.4 25.8 25.8 37.9 3 4 2.91 

Note. 
(1) Percentage is rounded so in some cases might be slight over or under a hundred percent. 
(2) Mean is calculated by excluding the category ‘do not know’.   

 

With regard to accounting method for borrowing costs, there seems to receive high 

consensus from the respondents; only 12.6 percent of the respondents felt that it was 

not justified on cost-benefit consideration. Nevertheless, the recent questionnaire 

survey of SME entrepreneurs in Bangkok area revealed that there was slightly 

different preference among owners for either capitalisation of borrowing costs or 

expensing them since approximately 35.8 percent preferred recording as expense and 

34.8 percent thought that it should be capitalised (Srijunpetch, 2009).   

Although the majority of respondent entities viewed that the costs of revaluing 

property, plant, and equipment fit or outweigh benefits, almost 21 percent of them 

viewed this option as too costly.  Again in the survey of German SMEs to investigate 

cost-benefit consideration regarding specific accounting treatments and methods, 

approximately 60 percent of small and medium-sized companies felt that the 

revaluation asset model provided beneficial information for their managerial purpose 

and external users’ decision-making (Eierle & Haller, 2009).  The findings of Sian and 

Robert (2009) also suggested that due to increasing in property value, the revaluation 

of fixed-assets would provide benefits for owner-managers and finance providers.     

Similarly, about half of the respondents agreed that intangible assets should be 

amortised over a finite useful life.  However, almost 40 percent of the respondents 

indicated that they could not evaluate costs-benefits trade off for amortisation of 

intangible assets.  One possible explanation of this high percentage of the respondents 
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who do not know might relate to the fact that there was no such transaction in their 

entities, so they were unfamiliar with it. 

 

In sum, the respondents did not view that the costs of applying each accounting 

treatment outweighed its benefits and this similar view was found across respondent 

groups.  However, a significant proportion of the respondents indicated that they could 

not assess costs and benefits, so make it difficult to provide a conclusion.  Further 

analysis showed that among the respondents who thought that they were fully aware 

of accounting standard impact, about 20 to 30 percent of them could not make the 

cost-benefit assessment.  This might be due to the fact they had no knowledge about 

accounting standards in general and accounting methods or treatments in particular.   

6.6 General comments on financial reporting by SMEs in Thailand 

In the questionnaire, there was an open-ended question inviting the respondents to 

comment on financial reporting by SMEs.  Although not many of respondents 

provided the responses, but this few comments mirrors their perceptions on the current 

financial reporting regulations.  An important issue raised by these respondents was 

related to the complexity of current accounting system used to prepare and publish the 

accounts and lack of resources, such as accounting expertise, to deal with it, as shown 

in the following statements:    

(QS1) Existing accounting regulations are too difficult for SMEs.  If there is a plan to 
design the accounting system for SMEs, it should consider; first the system should be 
easier to do since normally we, as owners, know our firm performance.  Now, we have 
no ability to do the accounts by ourselves even if we had already implemented a good 
computerised accounting system…second  many SMEs are run by a sole-owner, without 
any assistant, so if the system is too difficult, they would not do it or try to find the way 
to avoid it…  
 
(QS2) We would like to do our accounts by ourselves. We did not concern with money 
or accounting fee, but we do not want to rely on accounting firms, no benefit from them.  

  
 (QS3) We actually do two sets of accounts; one for internal use and another one for 
filing with regulatory agencies.  We hired accounting firms to deal with statutory 
accounts so we can reduce our burdens and do not need to waste our time on answering 
queries from tax authorities if there was a problem with the accounts.  The statutory 
accounts were already approved by auditors for its accuracy.   
 
(QS4) The account preparation in compliance with current accounting standards 
consumes a lot of resource but gain little benefits from this investment. 
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6.7 Summary 

The analysis of the responses of directors or managers of SMEs revealed that the vast 

majority of SMEs used computerised accounting system to keep accounting records; 

however, they purchased services from external accountants to support accounting 

(74%) and taxation (55%) compliance tasks.  Preparation and publication of financial 

statements were regarded as a legal issue by nearly 80 percent of SME directors and 

accountants played a key role in this statutory reporting task.  Overall, the directors of 

SMEs did not consider that costs of producing the financial statements outweigh the 

benefits, nor had much concern over competitive disadvantages arising from 

disclosure of financial information.   

With regard to the objectives of an audit, SME directors perceived the role of audit in 

providing assurance for shareholders and other third parties, but they seems to view 

confirming the accuracy of the entities’ accounting records as a primary audit 

objective.  The vast majority of them (90%) decided to have an audit when it is not 

mandatory, suggesting the SME directors’ perceptions that the benefits of audit 

exceed the costs.   The main reasons for the audit decisions were to improve the 

entities’ internal control and to reduce queries from tax authorities.  Larger entities are 

more likely to choose an audit for the reasons of reporting to shareholders and banks 

(section 6.3.6).  

The perceived main users of SME financial statements were tax authorities (69.7%), 

management (68.6%) and financiers e.g. banks or other financial institutions (64.6%).  

Larger entities are more likely to consider financiers; banks and other financial 

institutions, as their primary users (section 6.4.1).  Other capital providers, such as 

venture capitalists and trade creditors were indicated as important users by only 13 

percent of SMEs.  However, the information from the financial statements was 

regarded as one of the important sources of information for assessing creditworthiness 

of business partners.    

Many SMEs directors used the entities’ annual financial statements for management 

and other purposes.  Around two-fifths of SME directors indicated using the entities’ 

annual financial statements to support loan or capital applications and this is more 

likely to occur in older businesses.  The extent of management uses varied 
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considerably among SME directors, but estimating tax liabilities (72.9%), planning 

(57.4%) and deciding employees’ pay and bonus (42%) were ranked in the top three 

uses.  The most usefulness financial statement for management decisions was profit 

and loss statement, followed by balance sheet and cash flow statements.  Nevertheless, 

management reports were produced and used for day-to-day operations in around 90 

percent of SMEs.   

The majority of SME directors were not fully aware of the impact of accounting 

standards on their entities and a choice of financial reporting under accounting 

standard exemption.  However, they had a low level of concern with changes in 

financial reporting regulations and did not consider complying with accounting 

standards as a significant burden.  If there would be a simpler set of accounting 

standards for SMEs, over 80 percent of the directors of SMEs anticipated no negative 

effect on resource allocation decisions of lenders or investors.  The most expected 

benefit from adopting the IFRS for SMEs was ease of reporting burdens, while lack of 

the comparability of accounts was regarded as a main disadvantage of the adoption.  

However, a decision to adopt the IFRS for SMEs if it is permitted would be influenced 

by accountants, as 70 percent of SME directors indicated consultations with their 

accountants before deciding whether to adopt this standard.   
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CHAPTER 7 REVIEW OF SME FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

7.1 Introduction 

This chapter presents and discusses the findings from the analysis of the financial 

statements of SMEs through the statistical results.  The first part of the chapter 

discusses the results from a preliminary survey of statutory financial statements.  This 

is followed by the findings from the analysis of the financial statement data obtained 

in the main survey.  In this second part, there are four sections.  It starts with a 

description of the characteristics and filing practice of the sample entities.  The next 

two sections provide the results from analysis of balance sheet structure and 

measurement of the disclosure level of the sample financial statements.  

7.2 Preliminary survey of statutory financial statements 

As a part of research instrument development, twenty-five statutory financial 

statements of SMEs were obtained and thoroughly read so that the pattern and 

occurrence of items on the SME reports were familiar and the compliance issue was 

identified.  Since the author is inexperienced in accounting practice, the disclosure 

checklist of Big-four accounting firms was utilized as a benchmark for full 

compliance with the reporting requirements under Thai Accounting Standards (TASs).  

When an item was relevant to a company, but the disclosed information was less than 

the requirements, it was identified as non-compliance.   

To minimise the subjectivity in the assessment, first the industry in which a company 

operates and information items normally related to almost all companies or less likely 

to occur were taken into consideration.  Then, the judgment was exercised to indicate 

the irrelevant items for exclusion from the assessment.  After that, the scoring has 

been given to each relevant item.  However, the findings from the preliminary survey 

of companies’ accounts contained some limitations.  First, although the sample was 

selected from a wide range of businesses: services, trading, and manufacturing, they 

were prepared by three external accounting firms, so the generalisation of the findings 

is restricted to the practice of other firms.  Secondly, although several steps were taken 

in scoring procedure to reduce subjective judgment, the findings still contained some 

degree of subjectivity.     
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The key findings from the preliminary review of the financial statements are 

summarised into three main topics as follows: 

(1) Templates for financial statement presentation and disclosure 

It was apparent that the template for presentation and disclosure of financial 

statements was utilised within accounting firms.  The disclosure made on the face of 

the financial statements and in the notes was presented in the same layout and 

wordings for similar transactions.  This financial statement template, however, differs 

among accounting firms.  The in-house template might be influenced by house style of 

accounting firms, and accounting software package used by accounting firms, and 

accounting regulations, especially the prescribed format for the financial statements of 

the Department of Business Development, the Ministry of Commerce.   

(2) Occurrence of account items in financial statements 

The occurrence of items in SME accounts was quite limited.  Cash and cash 

equivalent, trade accounts receivable and payable, property, plant, and equipment 

were commonly found in balance sheet statements.  About one-fourth of sample 

accounts had liabilities to financial institutions, including bank overdrafts or loans and 

leases.  Half of the finance lease transactions showed the computation of the net 

carrying amount of lease at the end of the reporting period with identifying the current 

portion of finance lease, but no additional information was made.  Complex financial 

instrument transactions, such as derivatives, were rarely found.   

As it was expected, about 76 percent of the accounts had transactions with related 

parties in terms of loans from or to its members of the boards or other connected 

parties.  The accompanying note of the related party item, however, did not provide 

adequate information for users.  For example, in the disclosure of loans from related 

parties, most of the sample accounts stated that such loans were from member of the 

board free of interest.  This might result from opting for non-compliance with the 

related party disclosure.  However, although TAS 24: Related Party Disclosure is an 

exempt accounting standard, it is arguable that financial statements are not fairly 

present the financial position and performance without details of related party 

transactions.   
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With respect to the format of financial statements prescribed by the Department of 

Business Development, the amounts of related party transactions are required to 

present separately on the face of the financial statements, resulting in the additional 

disclosure made in the accompanying notes.  This incident might be explained from 

the overlapping presentation requirements from the accounting standards.  Given the 

fact that some required disclosure items on the face of financial statements are 

governed by more than one accounting standard, so the exemption from one 

accounting standard, but not another, resulting in disclosure of such information in the 

financial reports.  The related party transaction then might fall in to this conflict.  

Given that TAS 1: Presentation of Financial Statements requires the disaggregation of 

amounts of receivables by category of trading, related parties, and others made in the 

primary statements or notes, although TAS 24 is exempted, to comply with TAS 1, a 

company has to provide information of related party in the statements.   

To further investigate this issue, informal interviews with two Thai accountants were 

carried out.  It was found that the disclosure of related parties was mainly influenced 

by the taxation issue.  In the Thai corporate tax return (No. 50), the directors of a firm 

need to report “whether or not the entity has a material transactions regarding 

providing sales, services, loans, or renting without any interests or with interests but 

lower than the market price” as well as “receiving or purchasing any property or 

services with higher payment, compared to the market.”  Therefore, to avoid the audit 

by tax authorities and to qualify the interests received from related parties as a non-

taxable income, accountants chose to disclose the information on loans from or to 

related parties in the balance sheet and notes.  Consequently, for related party 

transaction, the prescribed format of financial statements of the Department of 

Business Development and the corporate taxation income regulation required by the 

Revenue Department has negated the exemption from compliance with related party 

disclosure.  This also supports the fact that tax regulation is strongly influential on 

statutory financial reporting.  
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(3) Compliance with the relevant accounting standards 

Using the disclosure checklist of Big-four accounting firms as a benchmark for full 

compliance, it found that some disclosures made in the notes were less than the 

requirements.  For example, the depreciation rates or useful life of property, plant, and 

equipment were not disclosed.  Some accounts asserted that the depreciation rates did 

not exceed those specified for tax income calculation.  The accompanying note of 

lease also appeared to violate the required disclosures.  The description of lease 

accounting policy, significant leasing arrangements, and future minimum lease 

payments within five-years and over were not provided in a lessee’s financial reports.  

The findings are similar to the report of the Thai Revenue Department (2009), 

indicating violation of disclosures required by the accounting standards among 

companies’ financial reports filed with tax returns.  For example, significant 

accounting policies used for financial statement preparation were incomplete or not 

presented.    Specifically, no accounting policies regarding revenue recognition, 

depreciation of assets, or valuation of inventories were clearly identified.  Wrong 

classification of current assets, current liabilities, and expenses were another flaw 

found in the accounts.   

7.3 Main survey of statutory financial statements 

As mentioned in section 4.6.6, a total of 272 statutory financial statements filed for the 

financial reporting year ending 2007 were drawn from the Companies in Thailand 

database.  The following sections present descriptive statistics and other statistic test 

results of the data in the sample financial statements.  

7.3.1 Characteristics of the sample entities  

Descriptive statistics of the sample entities presented in this section are based on the 

2007 financial statements.  Table 7.1 shows the characteristics of the samples.  

Overall, the vast majority of the sample entities (76.5%) were established in the form 

of limited company with registered capital below 5 million baht (86.8%).  

Approximately half of the sample entities (52.6%) have been operated for 6 years or 

less; however, nearly 35 percent of the entities are in existence over 10 years.  As 

expected, the test result revealed that there was an association between business age 
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and the entity’s size; smaller firms tend to be younger (Kendall’s b = .213, df = 8, p = 

.000).   

Table 7.1 Business characteristics of the sample entities 

Business form  No. of 
entities 

% Type of main business No. of 
entities 

% 

Registered ordinary 

partnership 

1 0.3 Manufacturing 85 31.3 

Registered partnership 63 23.2 Service 96 35.3 

Limited company 208 76.5 Trading 91 33.5 

      

Years in business   Annual turnover (million baht)   

Less than 1 year 20 7.4 < 1  75 27.6 

1-3 years 80 29.4 1-5  85 31.3 

4-6 years 43 15.8 6-50  84 30.9 

7-10 years 35 12.9 51-100 13 4.5 

More than 10 years 94 34.6 > 100  15 5.5 

      

Total assets (million baht)   Registered capital (million baht)   

<1 48 17.6 <1 159 58.5 

1-5 114 41.9 1-5 77 28.3 

5-10 34 12.5 5-10 20 7.4 

10-30 44 16.2 10-30 7 2.6 

30-50 6 2.2 30-50 3 1.1 

50-60 5 1.8 50-100 3 1.1 

60-100 7 2.6 >100 3 1.1 

>100 14 5.1    

Note. 

(1) Percentage was rounded, so in some cases a total figure might be slightly over or under a hundred 

percent. 

(2) The age of the sample entities was calculated by subtracting the year of registration with the 

Department of Business Development, from the year in which the financial statements were analysed 

(the end of 2007). 

(3) 1 Pound (£) is equal to around 50 Thai baht. 

The sample was drawn from the Companies in Thailand database with identified 

annual turnover and business sector to ensure a representative sample of the 

population, so the distribution of annual turnover and sector among micro, small and 

medium entities was not much different.  However, an annual turnover of the sample 

entities spanned a wide range of value, starting from a zero annual sales figure to more 

than two-thousand million baht a year.  Likewise, the majority of the sample entities 

(59.5%) had total assets 5 million baht or less, but the large mean (23.98 million baht) 

and standard deviation (95.58 million baht) appeared due to the skewness of the size 

distribution-a well known feature of SMEs.   
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Figure 7.1 illustrates the distribution of total assets of the sample entities.  In general, 

the higher amount of total assets was found in larger SMEs.  Nearly all of micro 

entities had total assets of less than 6 million baht and the vast majority of small entity 

group had a total asset of 10 million baht or less while slightly over a half of medium 

entities had total assets over 10 million baht.  Nevertheless, three micro companies 

operating in real estate business (4% of the micro entity group) had total assets of 60 

million baht or more.  

 

Figure 7.1  Total assets of the sample entities 

Table 7.2 presents the accounting figures pertaining to the profitability of the sample.  

Overall, the level of profits is quite low; the median of reported profits for the period 

of less than 100,000 baht (£2,00013) and return on assets of 0.03.   

Table 7.2 Profitability of the sample entities 

(n=272) Mean Median SD Max Min 

Net income before interest and tax (million baht) 0.47  0.10  10.21  50.87  -143.48 

Net profits/losses (million baht) -0.14 0.06 9.24 34.58 -143.48 

Return on assets -0.33 0.03 4.14 1.65 -63.17 

Note. Return on assets is measured as the percentage of net income before interest and taxes to the 

book value of total assets at the end of the financial year. 

  

                                                           
13 £1 is equal to approximately 50 Thai baht 
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Further analysis indicated that around 36 percent of the sample entities reported losses 

in the 2007 financial year and this reported loss was found in very small SMEs more 

than in larger SMEs.  As shown in Table 7.3, nearly 67 percent of micro entities had a 

loss figure, whereas only 18.8 percent of medium-sized entities reported losses from 

business operations.  A Chi-square test was undertaken and found an association 

between the entity’s size and reporting of loss figure (Chi-square = 45.190, df = 2, p = 

.000).   

Table 7.3 Analysis of profit or loss figure for 2007 reporting period by the entity’s size 

 

(% in the group) Total 
(n=272) 

Chi-
square 

df p 

Micro 

(n=75) 

Small 

 (n=85) 

Medium 

(n=112) 

Entity reports profit figure Yes 33.3 67.1 81.3 63.6 45.190 2 .000* 

No 66.7 32.9 18.8 36.4    

* The difference is significant at .05 level 

Given that nearly half of micro entities (45.7%) were younger firms, operating for 3 

years or less, their performance during this start-up period might be poorer than that of 

medium entities which more than half of them have been established for more than 7 

years.  Also, it was found that 12 of the micro entities (16%) were non-trading entities, 

meaning that they were not doing business; such entities only have a few non-

significant accounting transactions, so as to keep a business registered.  According to 

the use of annual turnover as a measure for categorizing the entity size in this current 

study, these non-trading entities certainly fell into the micro entity classification.  In 

the aspect of statutory filing, these non-trading entities are still required to prepare and 

publish their audited annual financial statements as usual.   

In sum, except for annual turnover and business sector which were restricted by the 

sample selection criteria, the majority of the sample entities was established as limited 

company with registered capital one million baht.  Most of them had the age of only 5 

years or less with total asset of less than 6 million baht and on average the sample had 

a low level of profitability.   
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7.3.2 Filing of annual financial statements  

The majority of sample entities had 31 December reporting year ends which are 

common in Thailand.  As expected, the mandatory reports, including balance sheet 

and profit and loss statements, were prepared by all entities in the sample.  Only one 

firm voluntarily filed the cash flow statement.  The vast majority of them also filed 

their audited financial statements five-month after the financial year.  This was in 

compliance with the requirement to file the financial statement within five months 

after the ending of the financial years, possibly to avoid any fines for violating the 

accounting laws.  However, the finding from the analysis of statutory financial 

statements of SMEs revealed that all of the sample entities opted for the accounting 

standard exemption that is permitted to non-public companies. 

Similar to the finding from the survey of SMEs in this current study (discussed in 

section 6.3.2), almost 70 percent of the whole sample entities used external 

accountants to prepare their statutory annual financial statements.  This high level of 

support by external accountants in preparation of statutory accounts is also consistent 

with the findings in the recent SME surveys in other countries (e.g. Eierle & Haller, 

2009; POBA, 2006; Sian & Roberts, 2009).  A series of non-parametric Mann-

Whitney test was undertaken and indicated no significant difference between the 

entities with and without support by external accountants for statutory financial 

statement preparation regarding annual turnover (Mann-U test = 7395.0, z = -.863, p = 

.403), or total assets  (Mann-U test = 7673.0, z = -.372, p = .710). 

Under the current financial reporting regulations, financial statement audit is required 

from all entities except registered partnerships with registered share capital not 

exceeding 5 million baht, total assets not exceeding 30 million baht, and total revenue 

not exceeding 30 million baht (mentioned earlier in section 3.4.3.2 ‘statutory audit’).  

In this study, it was found that there were 55 registered partnerships that were 

qualified for statutory audit exemption.  However, some of these qualified entities (42 

entities) filed their statutory accounts with tax audit reports, which are required by tax 

rules.  It is, however, noted that no assurance for fair presentation of financial 

statements had been made in the tax audit reports i.e. it reports on whether the entity 

has complied with the basis of accounting used for income tax purposes, such as 

taxation rules and accounting standards.   
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Table 7.4 summarises types of audit report provided in the sample accounts.  For 

financial statement audit filings (see Panel A), 21 cases (around 10% within this type 

of audit) were accompanied by a qualified audit report, either qualified or disclaimer 

of opinion.  The auditors’ inability to verify the cash or inventory figures, the entity’s 

ability to continue as a going concern, or limitation of the scope of the work of 

auditors by the entity’s management was cited as reason for giving such opinion.   

Table 7.4 Audit reports of the sample entities 

Panel A. Filing of audit reports 

  

 

No. of 

entities 

% of 

total 

Distribution of audit reports 

Unqualified Qualified 
% Qualified  

within type of audit 

Financial statement 

audit 

217 79.8 196 21 9.7 

Audit exemption:      

  Tax audit report 42 15.4 34 8 19.0 

   Not filing 13 4.8 - -  

Total 272 100.0    

Panel B. Financial statement audit reports by the entity’s size 

Size category 
No. of 

entities 

Distribution of audit reports 

Unqual

ified  
Qualified 

% Unqualified 

within size 

category 

% Qualified 

within size 

category 

Micro  64 52 12 81.3 18.8 

Small 63 59 4 93.7 6.3 

Medium 90 85 5 94.4 5.6 

Total 217 196 21   

Note. 

(1) Micro entities refer to entities with turnover less than 1 million baht, small entities refer to entities 

with turnover between 1 and 5 million baht and medium-sized entities refer to entities with more than 

5 million baht. 

(2) For the auditor’s reports provided to sample financial statements, no report of adverse opinion 

was issued for any entities. 

(3) All sample entities have their accounts audited by local accounting firms.   

 

Panel B in Table 7.4 provides some insight into the financial statement audit in 

relation to the size of entity defined by criteria used in this present study.  The 

percentage of qualified reports given to the annual accounts of micro entities was 18.8 

percent, compared to only 5 to 6 percent for the accounts of small and medium 

entities.  Further analysis was carried out to examine an association between the size 

of entity and the likelihood of being given a qualified report.  The test result showed 

that medium entities are likely to have unqualified audit report (Chi-square 8.57; d = 

2; p = .014).  The Mann-Whitney U test was also conducted to determine difference in 
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the types of audit opinion according to annual turnover.  The result of the test 

indicated that there was significant difference in types of audit opinion in relation to 

annual turnover (Mann-U test = 1498.5, z = -2.047, p = .041), in which smaller firms 

are more likely to receive a qualified audit report than larger firms.  Insufficient 

internal accounting control or fail to keep proper accounting records in many small 

firms might be a reason for receiving more qualified report (Farrugia & Baldacchino, 

2005).   

7.3.3 Balance sheet structure  

The analysis of the economic and financial structure of SMEs was carried out by 

relying on statutory annual accounts of the sample for the 2007 financial years.  Table 

7.5 presents the results from the common size analysis of balance sheet of the sample 

entities according to the entity size group.  The items shown conform to the format 

required by the government agency.  As might be expected, not all sample entities 

showed all balance sheet items.  The majority of the sample had ‘zero value’ in most 

balance sheet items, as seen in median line items common size ratio-column (b), the 

result of zero had the highest frequency for most balance sheet items.  Thus, some 

common size ratios of aggregate line items resulted from a small number of entities.  

In addition, some balance sheet items contained ‘unusual cases’-extreme values, so 

some common size ratios of aggregate line items of each size category were 

dominated by a few entities, such as loans to or from directors, property, plant and 

equipment and accumulated earnings or losses.  However, the following section 

highlights several remarks found in the analysis of balance sheet structure of the 

sample SMEs and some of them were discussed in detail.  



 

232 

 

Table 7.5 Balance sheet structure of the sample entities by the entity’s size 

Balance sheet items 
(a) Common size ratio of each entity size group based on aggregate line items (b) Median line item common size ratio 
Unusual case 

Size (%)  

Micro (n=75) Small (n=85) Medium(n=112) Micro 
(n=75) 

Small 
(n=85) 

Medium 
(n=112) %  # Zero  % # Zero  % # Zero  

Cash and deposits  3.75  3 10.50  1 6.09  - 5.65 6.26 3.68 

Receivables, net  0.04  72 11.11  41 16.18  35 .00 .18 11.98 

Short-term loans to directors Medium (4%) 3.93  53 12.90  64 6.91  85 .00 .00 .00 

Inventories  0.75   65 9.19  48 17.85  47 .00 .00 3.21 

Development project costs Micro (27%) 31.37  73 - - 13.09  105 .00 .00 .00 

Other current assets  0.62  52 4.41  14 4.68  11 0.64 1.30 1.34 

Investments  -   75 3.07  81 2.22  101 .00 .00 .00 

Long-term loans to directors Micro (15%) 16.37  67 7.84  70 2.30  95 .00 .00 .00 

Property, plant and equipment, net Micro (36%) 
Small (23%) 

Medium (12%) 

42.84  29 39.89  10 28.99  5 .06 7.59 12.32 

Intangible assets  -   75 0.20  84 0.38  102 .00 .00 .00 

Other non-current assets  0.32  59 0.87  65 1.31  54 .00 .00 .007 

Bank overdraft/bank loans  53.67  70 5.84  79 18.26  77 .00 .00 .00 

Trade creditors  0.18  71 7.59  44 21.59  36 .00 .00 7.97 

Current portion of leases  0.07  71 1.18  75 0.48  86 .00 .00 .00 

Short-term loans from directors Micro (28%) 29.83  65 6.78  68 2.76  91 .00 .00 .00 

Other current liabilities  1.74  1 7.17  0 6.42  0 1.24 4.13 3.28 

Long-term loans from directors Small (10%) 
Medium (6%) 

12.76  62 23.87  67 13.15  79 .00 .00 .00 

Loans from banks  -   75 15.92  81 5.14  97 .00 .00 .00 

Leases  0.08  73 2.05  77 0.6  88 .00 .00 .00 

Provisions and contingent liabilities  - 75 - 85 .01 111 .00 .00 .00 

Other non-current liabilities  -   75 0.90  84 4.74  103 .00 .00 .00 

Share capital incl. reserve  39.38  - 59.08  - 19.79  - 99.19 60.31 21.53 

Retained earnings/losses-unappropriate Micro (61%) 
Small (21%) 

-68.16 - -30.39 - 7.02 - -3.08 3.47 16.05 

Unrealised gain (loss) - revaluation Micro (30%) 30.44  74  -   85 0.002  112 .00 .00 .00 

Total  100.00 100.00  100.00     

Note. (1) Common size ratio of each entity size group in column (a) is based on the value of total assets of all sample entities within each size category. 
(2) #Zero refers to the number of entities having ‘zero value’ in this line item.  
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First, the data revealed no or little relative importance for several items in the 

accounts.  For example, intangible assets accounted for less than 1 percent of total 

assets of small and medium entities while micro entities had no information.  For 

complex transactions like financial assets and leases, little importance of such items 

was found across all sizes of entity.  Although the revaluation of fixed-assets was 

found in micro entities with a percentage of 30.44, only one company reported this 

information.   

Second, the accumulated losses of 68 percent in micro and 30 percent in small firms 

were dominated by a few entities, representing 62 and 21 percent, respectively; 

however, it was still found to be more prominent in smaller firms.  The percentage of 

the sample entities in median value further emphasises that on average the 

accumulated losses of micro companies was 3 percent of total assets.   

Table 7.6 summarises the number of entities with deficiency of assets or accumulated 

losses.  Of the whole sample, 37 entities (13.6%) had accumulated losses or liabilities 

more than assets or equity.  Prima facie an entity with a deficiency of assets may not 

be able to meet its liabilities as they fall due and is not a going concern.  Only 5 cases 

(13.5%) were material and mentioned in the audit report.  For the others, as disclosed 

in the notes to financial statements, a main source of capital for the entities to continue 

their business came from their directors or shareholders.   

Table 7.6 Entities with deficiency of assets by the entity’s size 

Size category n No. of entities % within size category 

Micro 75 15 20.0 

Small 85 9 10.6 

Medium 112 13 11.6 

Total 272 37 13.60 

Note. 

(1) Size category is measured by annual turnover (in Thai Baht):  micro = an entity with 

turnover less than 1 million, small = an entity with turnover between 1 to 5 million, and 

medium = an entity with turnover more than 5 million. 

(2) One of the entities in the micro group is also non-trading firm.  

 

This finding is in line with the recent survey of South African SMEs.  Schutte and 

Buys (2011) reviewed a hundred of financial statements of SMEs, mainly from 

service and retail sectors and found that around one-third of the entities reported 

accumulated losses, but none of them accounted for impairment losses or related 
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expenses in connection with discontinuing operations and activities or disclosed any 

limitations to continue as going concern (p. 19).   

Third, the nature of Thai SMEs was reflected in the significant number of loans to or 

from directors in the balance sheet of all sizes of entity even though they were 

dominated by only one or two companies.  For instance, the percentage of long-term 

loans to directors in micro entity’s accounts (16.37%) was distorted by 15 percent 

from a reported loan to directors by one real estate company.  Likewise, short-term 

loan to directors of one medium company accounted for 4 percent.  

The percentage of short-term and long term loans to directors of individual entity was 

combined and presented according to size of entities in Figure 7.2.   In line with the 

median of zero percent in both short-term and long-term loans to directors, 

approximately 60 percent of entities in each size category did not borrow from its 

directors.  Nevertheless, a high level of loans to directors was more pervasive in 

smaller firms, as nearly 30 percent of micro entities having over 80 percent of loans to 

directors in relation to its total assets whereas a small number of entities were found in 

small (12.9%) and medium (4.5%) entity groups.    

 

Figure 7.2 Level of loans to directors by the sample entities 

With regard to loans from directors, as seen in Figure 7.3, the level of combined short-

term and long-term loans from directors among the sample entities varied, ranging 
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from none to over a hundred percent of its total assets, but the median of zero percent 

was found across all sizes of entity, reflecting the fact that less than a half of sample 

entities in each size category had loan from directors.   

It is noted that a significant number of entities, especially in micro entity group, had 

over a hundred percent of combined loans from directors on their balance sheet.  The 

result from further analysis indicated that many of these firms had a large percentage 

of accumulated losses.  In this respect, a loan from directors might be considered as a 

source of equity acquired to support continuing operation of business.     

 

Figure 7.3 Level of loans from directors of the sample entities 

 

According to interviews carried out with accountants in this study, the existence of 

loans to directors in SME financial statements might result from an unpaid share 

capital; shareholders or owner-directors did not pay for the company’s shares which 

had been issued for them.  From the viewpoint of tax authorities, however, the 

presence of either loan to or from directors on the SME balance sheet was an 

indication for potential non-reporting or underreporting economic activities or 

corporate income so as to minimise tax liability.  Moreover, several interviewees from 

bank loans officer group perceived that such items reflected no separation between 

owners and business.  This latter perception is consistent with the work of Schutte and 
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Buys (2011).  They analysed South African SMEs’ financial statements and indicated 

that loans of directors, especially unsecured and interest-free loans, were prominent 

among South African SMEs and this reflected the close relation between SME owners 

and its managements.  

Nevertheless, it appeared that external sources of finance such as bank loans, trade 

creditors, and leases were also obtained by the sample entities.  By excluding the 

dominant percentage of 53.25 percent in the short-term bank loans of micro entity 

group, bank loans and trade creditors carried more weight in the balance sheet 

composition of small and medium entities while no information or very little 

important of these items in the balance sheet composition of micro entities.  This 

result emphasises that smaller firms are more reliance on internal sources of finance 

(Mac An Bhaird & Lucey, 2010).   

The composition of current assets in larger SMEs showed higher percentage of 

inventories and accounts receivable.  It is of interest to find a relative low percentage 

of inventories in the balance sheet of all size categories and an average of zero percent 

in inventories of micro and small entities.  This can be explained by the information in 

Figure 7.4.  The vast majority of micro entities (86.7%) had no inventory in their 

accounts, followed by approximately half of small (56.5%) and medium entities 

(45.5%).  Specifically, almost all of micro, small and medium entities in service sector 

had no or little inventory due to its nature of business (see Appendix 5 Balance sheet 

structure by industry).  Also, the absence of inventory appeared in a significant 

number of entities from trading and manufacturing sectors (27% of the whole sample). 
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Figure 7.4 Level of inventory of the sample entities 

 

As mentioned earlier, a significant number of the sample was non-trading and start-up 

firms, so this might lead to little or no information of inventory in their financial 

reports.  Also, according to interviews undertaken with SME stakeholders, tax 

motivation might be another reason for non-reporting or underreporting of inventory 

in the entity’s accounts. 

The development of project costs found in micro entity group financial reports at 

about 31 percent, consisting of 27.86 percent from a real estate firm and 3.48 percent 

from a construction company, were the costs of land under the development for sales 

and construction in process, respectively.  In-depth analysis of their accounts revealed 

that both firms reported zero-income for the period, but the financial reports of the 

construction company received a disclaimer audit report since its revenue was not 

recognised using percentage of completion method, so its accounts were misstated.       

With regard to non-current assets, property, plant and equipment were relatively more 

important for larger SMEs even though the percentage was dominated by a small 

number of entities, accounted for 36 percent, 23 percent, and 12 percent in the balance 

sheet of micro, small, and medium entity, respectively.  According to the median 

percentage in property, plant and equipment, the average percentage of less than 1 

percent was found in micro entities, followed by 7.59 percent and 12.32 percent in 

small and medium entities.  This indicates that smaller entities are more likely to have 
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no or little property, plant and equipment in their accounts.  The data shown in Figure 

7.5 further emphasises that property, plant and equipment were fairly important 

among the majority of the sample, as it was not exceed 20 percent of its total assets, 

but 40 percent of micro entities did not have this type of assets in their financial 

reports.       

Whether property, plant and equipment represent a large percentage of total assets 

might depend on the types of business; a travel agency might have fewer fixed-assets 

than that of a manufacturing firm.  Fully depreciated fixed-assets might be an 

explanation for a zero balance of tangible fixed-assets.  However, the absence of 

property, plant and equipment in the balance sheet of many SMEs, especially micro 

entities, might result from lack of proper accounting records and lack of ownership in 

the property.   

 

Figure 7.5 Level of property, plant and equipment of the sample entities 

In conclusion, the SME balance sheet structure showed that Thai SMEs involved 

mainly with basic transactions.  A complex transaction, such as financial instrument, 

intangible assets, and leases which many concerned that it might impose significant 

burdens on SME, were rarely relevant to most SMEs.  Moreover, it was apparent that 

loans to or from directors was relatively important for many Thai SMEs, especially in 

micro entities; however, under the current reporting requirements, a full disclosure of 
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these transactions in the financial reports of SMEs were undertaken on voluntary 

basis.  A significant number was found in many account items, for example, inventory 

and property, plant and equipment, but it was often dominated by a small number of 

entities.  This exceptional case suggests a potential problem regarding SME definition 

for financial reporting purpose and the development of accounting standards for 

SMEs.  For instance, if accounting standard dealing with an impairment of assets is 

implemented for SME reporting, it might have little impact on many SMEs since it is 

irrelevant to their entities, but for a company with annual turnover less than one 

million baht but having a large amount of tangible fixed-assets, the application of this 

standard might be burdensome.   

7.4 Disclosure level of SME financial statements 

All samples had financial reporting year ending within 2007, so their financial 

statements had to be prepared in compliance with Thai accounting standards in effect 

at the calendar year end of 2007.  The disclosure items used to measure the level of 

disclosure compliance consist of mandatory and voluntary items.  In brief, the 

mandatory items were extracted from the items required by relevant accounting laws 

and standards while any disclosed information other than those required by 

accountings laws and standards is treated as voluntary item (see Appendix 5 for a 

disclosure checklist).  Mandatory, voluntary, and aggregated levels of disclosure were 

calculated to indicate the extent of disclosure in the statutory financial statements of 

sample entities.   

Table 7.7 summarises disclosure levels of the whole sample.  Overall, the aggregated 

disclosure index was on average 67 percent.  As might be expected, the higher level of 

mandatory disclosure was found at the mean of 71 percent, compared to only 49 

percent for voluntary disclosure.  

Table 7.7 Level of disclosure by the sample entities 

(n=272) 
Disclosure level 

Aggregated Mandatory Voluntary 

Mean .67 .71 .49 

Median .67 .71 .50 

Std. Deviation .097 .11 .26 

Skewness -.350 -.171 -.038 

Kurtosis .469 .052 -.400 

Minimum .33 .34 .00 

Maximum .94 .98 1.00 
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The results of non-fully compliance with accounting standards and low level of 

voluntary disclosure are consistent with those of previous studies undertaken with 

Thai listed companies (Srijunpetch, 2004; Sutthachai, 2006).  Sutthachai (2006), for 

instance, examined the disclosure practice among Thai listed companies from 1993 to 

2002 and found that the average level of mandatory compliance ranged from 64 

percent to 82 percent and only 8 percent to 18 percent for voluntary disclosure. 

Table 7.8 presents the distribution of the mandatory compliance index among the 

three groups of entities categorised by annual turnover.  The first point to note is that 

almost all entities in each size were found to have the compliance scores of at least 50 

percent, suggesting that entities in all size and type of industry complied with the 

majority of accounting standard disclosure requirements. Micro entities achieved the 

highest level of compliance with accounting standards, with about 29 percent of 

entities having a compliance score of 80 percent or higher.  This compares with 

approximately 12 percent and 16 percent of small and medium entities, respectively.  

However, the majority of the sample entities across all sizes only achieved the 

compliance scores of between 60 and 79 percent.  This suggests that there is 

significant evidence of non-compliance with accounting standards (see section 4.6.4 

for scoring process).   

Table 7.8 Distribution of mandatory compliance index scores  

Score range 

(% of disclosure 

index) 

Micro Small Medium Total 

No. of 
entities 

% in the 

sample 

No. of 
entities 

% in the 

sample 

No. of 
entities 

% in the 

sample 

No. of 
entities 

% in the 

sample 

Below 50% 2 2.7 3 3.5 4 3.6 9 3.3 

50%-59% 8 10.7 8 9.4 16 14.3 32 11.8 

60%-69% 20 26.7 30 35.3 36 32.1 86 31.6 

70%-79% 23 30.7 32 37.7 33 29.5 88 32.4 

80%-89% 21 28.0 10 11.8 18 16.1 49 18.0 

Over 89% 1 1.3 2 2.4 5 4.5 8 2.9 

Total 75 100.0 85 100.0 112 100.0 272 100.0 

Note. Size of entities is measured by annual turnover (in Thai baht):  micro = an entity with turnover 

less than 1 million, small = an entity with turnover between 1and 5 million and medium = an entity 

with turnover more than 5 million. 

The analysis of statutory financial statements revealed that the majority of the sample 

entities voluntarily disclosed information of loans to/from related parties and provided 

the breakdown of selling and administration expenses and the details of costs of goods 
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or service.  Unlike the mandatory disclosure, almost half of the sample entities had a 

very low level of voluntary disclosure (see Table 7.9).  This proportion spreads across 

all sizes of entities.  The further analysis of voluntary compliance with related party 

disclosure indicated the low level of compliance with an average of 43 percent to 47 

percent.   

Table 7.9 Distribution of voluntary disclosure index scores 

Score range 

(% of disclosure 

index) 

Micro Small Medium Total 

No. of 
entities 

% in the 

sample 

No. of 
entities 

% in the 

sample 

No. of 
entities 

% in the 

sample 

No. of 
entities 

% in the 

sample 

Below 50% 37 49.3 40 47.1 50 44.6 127 46.7 

50%-59% 11 14.7 15 17.6 26 23.2 52 19.1 

60%-69% 13 17.3 12 14.1 13 11.6 38 14.0 

70%-79% 6 8.0 5 5.9 8 7.1 19 7.0 

80%-89% 3 4.0 9 10.6 8 7.1 20 7.4 

Over 89% 5 6.7 4 4.7 7 6.3 16 5.9 

Total 75 100.0 85 100.0 112 100.0 272 100.0 

Note. Size of entities is measured by annual turnover (in Thai baht):  micro = an entity with turnover 

less than 1 million, small = an entity with turnover between 1 and 5 million, and medium = an entity 

with turnover more than 5 million. 

According to the interviews carried out with accountants, these voluntary disclosures, 

such as information regarding terms and conditions of loans to or from related parties, 

details of current liabilities and breakdown of operation expenses, were made to 

support tax return filing and were expected to reduce queries from tax authorities.   

In previous studies of the determinants of disclosure quality and compliance with 

accounting standards, a wide variety of potential determinants have been tested for its 

effect on the level of disclosure or compliance with the requirements.  This includes, 

for example, industry sector, company size, profitability, and listing status.  The 

current study tested the effects of selected variables on the disclosure level in general 

and the degree of compliance with financial reporting requirements in particular.  

However, given the current study was conducted with non-listed companies, other 

variables such as the use of external accountants had been tested on the level of 

mandatory disclosure in financial statements.  The following section discussed the 

results from the tests.   
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Firstly, a series of Mann-Whitney U test was carried out to compare the disclosure 

indices of entities of different sizes and the results revealed that there was no 

significant difference in terms of disclosure levels among micro, small and medium-

sized entities.   

Secondly, the analysis of association between types of industry with the extent of 

disclosure levels was examined.  As might be expected, the mandatory disclosure 

level was not significantly different among industry sectors.   However, with respect 

to voluntary disclosure level, it was found that the entities in trading sector scored 

higher than those in manufacturing and service sectors (Kruskal-Wallis = 6.244, d = 2, 

p = .044).   

Finally, further analysis was conducted with other variables e.g. using of external 

accountants and existence of related party transactions.  Table 7.10 shows that 

companies with internal accountants scored significantly higher than those using 

external accounting firms to prepare their statutory accounts.  This may be because 

many SME clients prepare and publish their financial statements mainly for tax 

purposes (section 6.3.4), so external accountants might incline to follow tax rules, 

rather than accounting standards to avoid queries from tax authorities. Accountants 

have also seen it as part of their role to minimise disclosures to reduce proprietary 

costs. 

Table 7.10 Analysis of using external accountants on level of mandatory disclosure   

  Preparers n Mean 

Rank 

Sum of 

Ranks 

Mann-

Whitney U 

Wilcoxon 

W 

Z p 

Mandatory 

disclosure index 

External 187 127.03 23754.50 6176.50 23754.50 -2.947 .003* 

Internal 85 157.34 13373.50     

* The difference is significant at .05 level  

 

Similarly, it was found that companies with or without related party transactions 

played the role in the degree of compliance with financial reporting requirements.  As 

shown in Table 7.11, the mean rank of mandatory disclosure index of the companies 

having related party transactions was higher than those without related party 

transactions.  This implies that the companies with loans to or from related parties 

tend to be more compliant with the accounting standards requirements.   
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Table 7.11 Analysis of existence of related party transactions on level of mandatory disclosure   

  Related party 

transactions 

n Mean 

Rank 

Sum of 

Ranks 

Mann-

Whitney U 

Wilcoxon 

W 

Z p 

Mandatory 

disclosure 

index 

Yes 215 143.55 30862.50 4612.50 6265.50 -2.871 .004* 

No 57 109.92 6265.50     

 * The difference is significant at .05 level  

 

In addition to such analyses, the Spearman rank correlation was run to examine the 

association between the mandatory disclosure index and firm characteristics, including 

business age, annual turnover, total assets, registered capital, return on assets 

(continuous independent variables).  The test results are shown in Table 7.12.  The 

company size, regardless of measures used to determine the size of entity, has no 

significant influence on the level of mandatory disclosure.   

Table 7.12 Analysis of mandatory disclosure index with selected variables 

(n=272) 
Mandatory disclosure index 

Spearman Correlation Coefficient Sig (2-tailed) 

Business age -.188* .002 

Company size:   

  Annual turnover -.066 .281 

  Total assets -.027 .662 

  Registered capital .102 .092 

Return on assets -.158* .009 

* Significance at the .05 level  

The evidence found in this present study does not support the argument that large 

companies are likely to be more compliant than do small companies since larger 

entities have resources and expertise necessary for the preparation of accounts 

(Srijunpetch, 2004).  However, business age and return on assets was company’s 

characteristics in explaining the level of mandatory disclosure.  Business age and 

return on assets has a negative significant correlation with the mandatory disclosure 

level, being lower level of compliance among older entities and lower return on assets.  

As mentioned earlier in section 4.6.3, while examining compliance with disclosure 

requirements by the sample entities, the relevance of accounting standard topics and 

policies, especially complex ones such as financial instruments, revaluation of fixed-

assets and borrowing costs, was noted.  As might be expected, specific accounting 

standards directly related and essential for preparing the entities’ statutory financial 

statements were adopted by all sample entities, such as financial statement 
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preparation, revenues and accounting policies.  The application of more complex 

accounting standards was found in a small number of entities. For example, 

accounting standards for intangible assets other than goodwill were relevant to only 4 

percent of the sample entities and capitalisation of borrowing costs were adopted by 2 

percent of the sample entities. 

The influence of tax regulations on external financial reporting was also evident from 

accounting policy selection.  For instance, almost 20 percent of the sample entities 

explicitly stated that the depreciation rate of property, plant, and equipment did not 

exceed the limit that is permitted by tax rules.  Even if such assertion statement was 

not made in the remaining sample firms, it was normal to find the uses of 5 years or 

20 years useful life for equipment and building respectively, which are the same as 

those permitted in tax rules.   

7.5 Summary 

The analysis of balance sheet structure of the sample financial statements of SMEs 

filed with the government agency showed that overall SMEs engaged in simple 

business transactions.  Many of complex accounting standards like investments in 

securities or financial instruments were rarely found in the vast majority of SMEs. 

Transactions with related parties in terms of loans to/from directors were pervasive 

among SMEs, reflecting reliance on internal sources of equity for business operations 

and low separation between owners and business.  With regard to the audit reports 

filed with annual financial statements, smaller entities tend to receive qualified audit 

reports more than larger entities.   

The results of statistical analysis of disclosure index indicated that the overall 

disclosure level of the sample entities was 67 percent.  In particular, the extent of 

mandatory compliance of the sample entities was, on average, 71 percent. Non-

compliance with disclosures required by accounting standards was found in all sizes 

of entities.  Further analysis showed that the level of mandatory compliance does not 

vary by firm size or industry, but it is likely to be higher for entities with a related 

party transaction presence and those preparing the financial statements by internal 

staff.  The mandatory compliance level is also negatively associated with business age 

and return on assets.  Although a low level of voluntary disclosure (49%) existed, the 
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information disclosed by the sample entities regarding, for example, related parties 

transactions, expenses, and current liabilities reflected the importance of tax 

authorities as financial statement users to many SMEs.   
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CHAPTER 8 SUMMARY AND DISCUSSIONS 

8.1 Introduction 

The purpose of this chapter is to discuss the findings and implications of the study and 

its contribution to theory and practice.  The chapter is divided into five sections.  In 

the first two sections, a brief summary of research objectives and research methods is 

presented.  The findings of this study are integrated and discussed in the third section.  

This is followed by recommendations and policy implications. The third and fourth 

sections deal with the limitations of the study and suggestions for future research.   

8.2 Aims of the study and research methods 

The current study investigates financial reporting by SMEs in the context of financial 

reporting framework of Thailand.  The aims of the research are to: 

� Identify the main users of SME financial statements 

� Investigate the uses of SME financial statements by different user groups 

� Examine the perceptions of SMEs, users and other stakeholders on the costs 

and benefits of SME financial reporting  

� Evaluate the likely costs and benefits of adopting IFRS for SMEs 

� Inform worldwide debate on SME financial reporting through evidence-based 

critical evaluation of prior research 

To achieve the objectives of this study, a mixed-method approach was adopted.  Both 

qualitative and quantitative methods were combined for data collection and analysis.  

Semi-structured interviews were undertaken with users, SMEs and other stakeholders.  

The interview data was then analysed using Strauss and Corbin’s grounded theory 

approach.  The quantitative data was collected from a web-based and paper-based 

questionnaire survey of SMEs and financial statements of SMEs filed with the 

Department of Business Development (‘the Registrar’s Office’).  Univariate and 

bivariate data analysis was performed on the questionnaire and financial statement 

data. 
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8.3 Integration of the findings 

In this section, the main findings from qualitative and quantitative methods 

undertaken in the current study are summarised in relation to six research questions of 

this study.   

RQ1: Who are the users of SME financial statements? 

From the discussions with non-user groups, various parties were identified as potential 

users of SME financial statements, including management, shareholders, banks, 

business partners, tax authorities and regulatory agencies. Tax authorities, banks and 

management were mentioned most frequently.  Some accountants also noted that 

small entities, especially those who purchased bookkeeping services from accounting 

firms, often prepare their financial statements only for tax purposes.  Similar evidence 

was found in a questionnaire survey of SMEs.  More than 60 percent of the 

respondents rated tax authorities, management and financiers as important users 

(section 6.4.1).  Larger entities are more likely to identify financiers, e.g. banks, as 

their primary users.   

The questionnaire study found that SME directors were typically in the position of the 

entity’s shareholders and other shareholders were also involved in business 

operations.  From a survey, around 80 percent of the respondents indicated SME 

directors/managers held 50 percent or more of the entity’s share capital.  Also, nearly 

half of them reported having shareholders who were not involved in business 

operations, regardless of the size of the entity.   

Nevertheless, it is apparent in this study that the main drive of reporting by SMEs is to 

meet legal requirements rather than to provide information to users.  Of the survey 

respondents, 79 percent indicated producing financial statements in order to comply 

with financial reporting regulations.  This purpose of reporting was also pointed out in 

the discussions with non-user groups.  
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RQ2: How do different user groups use SME financial statements? 

Tax authorities  

Unlike banks and venture capitalists, tax authorities used financial statements to assess 

tax liability rather making decisions related to the provision of capital.  Interviewees 

from the tax authorities considered financial statements as a part of information used 

for their tax audits, and, for such an initial source of information they were satisfied 

with the information provided in the annual statements. The information analysis was 

normally undertaken to verify information items in the financial statements and 

several sources of information were used to support this analysis, such as tax 

authorities’ internal records and database.  In some cases, additional financial 

information was obtained by paying a site visit, conducting interviews with SME 

directors-owners, or requesting other financial information directly from the entities.   

Entity’s management   

Business operations 

Overall, SME directors/managers used their entity’s annual financial statements 

primarily for tax liability assessment rather than for management purposes.  From the 

survey, around three-fifths of the respondents indicated using the financial statements 

for estimating tax liabilities, while planning and deciding employees’ remunerations 

or bonus were used by less than 60 percent of them.  The profit and loss statement was 

regarded as the most useful source for management decisions, followed by the balance 

sheet and cash flow statement.  However, management information, both formal and 

informal reports, was available and used for managerial and control purposes and was 

perceived to be more useful than annual financial statements.  From the survey of 

SMEs, it appears that 90 percent of the respondents produced management 

information for internal use.  Aging reports of debtor balances, management accounts 

and budgets were ranked in the top three most useful management reports.    
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Business contacts 

The results from interviews and surveys suggest that financial statements are typically 

not used in forming business relationships; a copy of financial statements is not 

directly provided to potential customers or trade creditors.  However, there is a 

potential use of published accounts of another business as a part of information to 

assess creditworthiness of business partners.  As some directors of SMEs mentioned, 

they checked the financial position of their potential business partners through its 

published accounts on the public record and their customers requested the entity’s 

financial statements.  From the survey, SME directors attached a high degree of 

importance to the accounts of potential business partners, followed by the history of 

payment with the business and references from banks.  None of the respondents 

mentioned using a credit report, implying no indirect use of SME financial statements 

via the credit reference agencies.  

Banks 

Based on interviews with bank loan officers, financial statements were normally 

required for loan applications.  However, they did not totally rely on them.  Further 

investigation was usually made in order to verify information in the financial 

statements.  Several methods were also used to obtain information they wanted, for 

example, interviews with managers or accounting staff and visits to the entity’s 

premises and by requesting additional information directly from clients.  In addition, 

compilation of financial statement projection of the business clients was a regular 

process undertaken to assess a client’s ability to repay loans.  Other information (e.g. 

credit information reports, SME owners’ characters and collateral) was employed for 

making lending decisions.  For monitoring loan agreements, banks used different 

methods depending on the type of loan (short-term or long-term) or the amount of 

loan.  Thus, a submission of annual financial statements was not required for all cases.   

With regard to the usefulness of SME financial statements, they perceived small 

benefits gained from SME financial statements.  Preparation of financial statements 

with a motivation to minimise tax liabilities was indicated by bankers as a main 

weakness in SME financial statements.   
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Venture capitalists and credit information providers 

The discussion with venture capitalists revealed that various information sources were 

employed in their investment decisions.  Audited financial statements were required 

and regarded as important sources of information for their investment process.  Often, 

a very detailed analysis of the financial statements was undertaken.  Other methods 

were also employed to gather information about the business and the company’s 

management, for example, paying site visits, obtaining information directly from an 

investee company, and other forms of due diligence.     

While recognising that SME financial statements might be prepared with a tax 

motivation, venture capitalists had no concern about it since the figure in the financial 

statements can be adjusted during a due diligence process. They were, however, 

concerned more with insufficient information disclosed in SME financial statements, 

especially in comparison with those in listed companies.  Not up-to-date information 

in the financial statements was also pointed out.  Once an investment had been 

undertaken they monitored the operations of investee companies very closely.  

Financial statements were often required to be submitted annually and more frequent 

management reports had to be provided during the year. These reports were typically 

tailored to meet the investors’ information needs.  Apart from reporting, site visits and 

meetings with the company’s management were regularly undertaken.  

As is currently the situation, credit information reports of NCB only provide 

information with respect to debt finance made with member-financial institutions.  

However, in the near future, some information items in published financial statements, 

such as equity information, might be used as part of the information to calculate credit 

scores.   

Related party transactions 

The analysis of balance sheet structure revealed that transactions regarding loans to or 

from directors were pervasive in financial statements of SMEs.  It appears from 

interviews and questionnaire surveys that the information regarding related party 

transactions was considered important for all external users although it varied in the 

degree of importance.  However, under the existing financial reporting framework, 

disclosure of related party transactions is not mandatory.   
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RQ3: To what extent do SME stakeholders require independent attestation? 

In this study, as noted above, the vast majority of SMEs had shareholders who were 

involved in the management of the business.  This implies that an independent audit 

for this group of shareholder seems less relevant.  However, it is found that many of 

the survey respondents were not wholly owner-managed, implying a demand of audit 

for non-participating shareholders.   

The need of audit of other parties who are interested in SME financial statements is 

evident from the interviews.  There was a demand of financial statement audit by tax 

authorities, banks and venture capitalist although this varied in the level of assurance 

and importance. At present, they perceived the assurance benefit gained from the audit 

report was low.  Audit quality and auditor’s independence were identified as factors 

influencing their confidence in the audit report.  The analysis of SME financial 

statements indicated an association between the size of entity and a qualified audit 

report; smaller entities tend to have a qualified audit report more than larger entities.   

Under current Thai financial reporting framework, financial statement audit is legally 

required for all business entities except for small registered partnerships.  Overall, 

both regulators and accountants disagreed with granting the audit exemption to SMEs.  

However, some of them suggested extending the exemption to very small entities, 

especially those who prepare their accounts mainly for tax purpose, but interviewees 

thought a tax audit for taxation purpose should be required.     

The findings in this study, however, imply that SMEs perceived the benefits gained 

from auditing exceed its costs.  From the questionnaire survey, about 90 percent of 

SMEs decided to continue an audit even if it is exempted.  Slightly over half of the 

respondents cited improving the entities’ internal control system and reducing queries 

from tax authorities as their reasons, while only around one-fifth of them chose an 

audit because it was required by shareholders and banks.  The results also suggest that 

larger entities are more likely to continue an audit for the benefits of shareholders and 

banks.  Discussions with SME owners also provide a similar result; all, except one 

SME director, decided to have an audit because it can help checking accuracy of 

accounting records.    
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RQ4: What are the costs and benefits of SME financial reporting as perceived by 

SMEs, users of their financial statements and other stakeholders? 

It seems that, from SMEs’ perspectives, financial reporting is not considered to be 

burdensome.  From the survey, SMEs directors disagreed that costs of producing 

accounts outweigh the benefits.  Although the directors in smaller entities agreed more 

with costs of producing accounts outweigh benefits, there is no relationship between 

the size of the entity and the perception on costs and benefits of reporting.  Moreover, 

the survey results suggest a low level of concerns among SME directors with respect 

to change in regulatory reporting burdens.   

The evidence from this study also indicates that the proprietary costs related to 

competitive disadvantages are relatively small.  All SME directors being interviewed 

expressed no concern over this issue.  In the survey of SMEs, around 72 percent of the 

respondents indicated little or no use of competitor’s information.  However, 40 

percent of the survey showed some concern with a loss of competitive advantage 

resulting from disclosure in their financial statements.   

The benefit that SMEs often derive from their accounts is to support their borrowing 

from banks or other financial institutions.  Large entities, however, more frequently 

use their accounts for applying for loans than small entities.  Other external usage of 

the accounts such as obtaining credits from suppliers, supporting bidding on contracts 

or obtaining a license was rarely seen.   

In addition, a copy of SME statutory accounts is normally filed with tax returns. 

Interviews with SME directors and accountants suggest that tax requirements 

influence preparation of financial statements.  The analysis of published SME 

accounts also provides evidence on the influence of taxation on statutory reporting in 

terms of accounting measurement and disclosure, for example, the use of depreciation 

rate that follows tax rules and voluntary disclosure of details of expenses, current 

liabilities and fixed-assets in accompanying notes.  Notably, such practice is in 

compliance with accounting standards. 

The analysis of SME statutory financial statements found a significant number of non-

trading entities.  At present, no relaxation from reporting requirements is granted for 

this type of entity.   The balance sheet structure of SMEs was very simple, mainly 
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arising from basic business transactions such as cash, inventory, and fixed assets.  

However, loans to or from directors are prominent, irrespective of the size of the 

entity.  This implies that relevant accounting topics in SME reporting are limited. 

With regard to the impact of new Thai accounting standards on SMEs, the findings 

were somewhat mixed. From the discussions with accountants and regulators, the 

complexity of new Thai accounting standards would impose undue burdens on SMEs.  

Venture capitalist and SME manager, however, felt that the impact would be small 

because SMEs had no complex business transactions.  However, the finding from the 

analysis of statutory financial statements of SMEs reveals that all of the sample 

entities opted for the accounting standards exemption that is permitted to non-public 

companies. 

Nevertheless, they generally supported a separate set of accounting standards for 

SMEs.  From users’ perspectives, one set of accounting standards was favoured. Some 

users expressed concerns that less information would be disclosed in the financial 

statements and this might result in more time and effort used for analysing 

information.   They, however, asserted that the implementation of a simpler set of 

accounting standards for SMEs would have no or little effect on them because they 

can use other information sources or obtain information they need by other means.  

Consistent with the views of external users, the survey of SMEs showed that 50 to 55 

percent of the respondents felt that the use of separate accounting standards in SME 

reporting would have no negative effect on lenders or investors’ decision making. As 

might be expected, there was no consensus among interviewees on the issue of criteria 

used to identify which entities qualify for a simpler based-reporting.  However, the 

use of quantitative size criteria was often suggested by most interviewees. 

The findings in this study suggest that SME directors in general have limited 

knowledge on financial reporting regulations and related issues.  Only 33 percent of 

the respondents in the survey claimed they were fully aware of the impact of 

accounting standards, while 75 percent of them did not know whether their entities 

opted for accounting standards exemption or not. Likewise, this study found that 

accountants and auditors play significant roles in financial reporting of SMEs and in 

providing advice to SMEs on taxation and other business issues.  Overall, SME 
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directors relied on their accountants to fulfill financial reporting obligations and most 

of them lacke internal accounting expertise to perform such tasks.  Of the survey 

respondents, 74 percent indicated that they engaged external accountants to assist 

them in preparation of statutory financial statements.  Such a high percentage was also 

found in companies with annual turnover 50 million baht or more.  This is surprising 

because larger entities are more likely to have in-house expertise than smaller entities.   

RQ5: What is the quality of SME financial statements? 

Using a disclosure checklist based on Thai Accounting Standards effective in 2007, 

the mean of the mandatory disclosure compliance found in the sample was 71 percent 

(0.71).  This implies lack of compliance with financial reporting regulations and 

standards.  This in turn affects the information disclosed in SME financial statements 

and can reduce the usefulness of financial statements to users.  Further analysis of 

association between the entity’s attributes and the level of mandatory compliance 

shows that (section 7.4): 

� Where the entity’s financial statements are prepared by internal accounting 

staff, it tends to achieve higher level compliance with accounting regulations 

and standards. 

� The entity having related party transactions, regardless of loans to or from 

directors, is more compliant with accounting requirements.     

� The company’s characteristics including business age and return on assets 

have negative association with the degree of mandatory compliance. 

The results from interviews also suggest a weakness of enforcement mechanisms.  

From the viewpoints of several interviewees, the enforcement of compliance with 

accounting standards was weak.  In addition, there appears to have a general 

agreement among all groups of interviewees about lack of competency among some 

accountants.  However, one regulator felt the improved quality of SME financial 

statements arose as a result of the introduction of the requirement for professional 

education and training for accountants.   

The study also found voluntary disclosure of information that was not required by 

accounting laws and standards.  Examples include the detail of expenses, current 

liabilities and fixed assets and accompanying notes to related party transactions.  
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Based on the interviews with accountants, such information was intended for tax 

authorities.  Further analysis indicated that the entities in the trading sector are more 

likely to voluntarily disclose such information than those in manufacturing and service 

sectors.   

RQ6: What are the potential costs and benefits of adopting the IFRS for SMEs to 

SME stakeholders? 

The results from the survey and interviews suggest that SMEs and their stakeholders 

were not aware of the IFRS for SMEs.  When directors of SMEs were asked whether 

they would adopt the IFRS for SMEs, if it were permitted, 70 percent of the 

respondents indicated that they would seek advice from their accountants before 

making a decision. However, approximately one-fifth of the respondents were in 

favour of adopting the IFRS for SMEs, while 10 percent of them chose to use existing 

Thai accounting standards.  The reasons for such adoption decision were provided by 

only a small number of respondents and varied considerably, so it is difficult to draw a 

conclusion.   

Overall, SME directors agreed with the suggested costs and benefits resulting from 

adoption of the IFRS for SMEs.  From the benefit side, they gave priority to reducing 

the entity’s reporting burdens, followed by increasing international competitiveness 

and improving the ability to acquire capital.  However, they also agreed with the 

potential costs, implying their concerns that the application of the IFRs for SMEs 

would be too costly for them and impair the comparability of financial information.   

With regard to some accounting methods proposed to be simplified for SMEs, SME 

directors generally perceived that the benefits outweigh its costs.  These include 

revaluation of fixed assets, capitalisation of borrowing costs, recording any lease 

payment as expenses and amortisation of intangible assets with definite useful life.  

However, a significant number of respondents, ranging from 26 to 38 percent, 

indicated that they could not make the assessment.      

Interviews with regulators indicated that the IFRS for SMEs was too complex for Thai 

SMEs because it was based on the same conceptual framework as that of full IFRS.  

Although the IFRS for SMEs was simplified, accounting principles were extracted 

from the full IFRS.  Accounting practitioners, in contrast, expressed concerns with the 
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acceptance by tax authorities regarding the use of fair value accounting and the 

treatment of borrowing costs as expenses.    

Altogether, there is an overall concern over an increase in costs arising from reporting 

under the IFRS for SMEs, even though SME directors seem to be less concerned than 

regulators and others.  However, it appears that directors’ fear of tax effects far 

outweighs any other considerations.  

8.4 Discussions of the findings 

The study provides evidence that the primary users of SME financial statements, in 

order, are tax authorities, entities’ managements, and lenders.  This finding is 

consistent with previous studies, which have addressed the issue of SME financial 

statement users (see, for example, (Dang-Duc et al., 2006; Maingot & Zeghal, 2006; 

Sian & Roberts, 2009).  Nevertheless, the results of this study further indicate that 

smaller entities are less likely to have lenders as financial statement users.  This 

implies that financial reporting to external users is less relevant to smaller entities.  

The findings also support the critiques of the adoption of a conceptual framework for 

financial reporting designed for large and listed firms for SME reporting; the 

framework is intended for investors who are considered as the main external users and 

the needs of management or owner-directors and tax authorities are ignored.    

However, under the recent conceptual framework for financial reporting revised by 

the IASB and FASB, the objective of financial reporting is to provide useful 

information to capital providers, including investors, lenders, and other creditors, in 

making decisions about providing resources to the entity (IASB, 2010).  Although this 

revised framework does not entirely fit with the financial reporting needs of SMEs, it 

may apply to SMEs that produce financial statements for capital providers (such as 

banks or suppliers), or that intend to acquire external capital.   

The conceptual framework for financial reporting is based on a decision-usefulness 

model; the main objective of financial statements is to provide information that is 

useful to external users for decision making (IASB, 2009).  Based on the findings in 

this study, it seems that such objective is not met.  SME financial statements are of 

limited value in supporting users in making their decisions. Tax motivation, level of 

disclosure and timeliness of information are the main concerns expressed by most 
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external users.  The users do not make decisions on the basis of the financial 

statements alone, but other information sources are obtained and used to support their 

decision-making.  The study also suggests that the role of financial statements in 

stewardship reporting is less relevant to many SMEs, as the majority of them are 

closely-held, implying little or no separation between ownership and control.    

Nevertheless, other than providing financial information to stakeholders, it has been 

argued that the rationale for requiring SMEs to prepare and publish financial reports is 

to ensure that they have a system in place to measure the financial health of their 

business and/or to foster financial discipline in SMEs (Ministry of Economic 

Development, 2011).  SMEs themselves can benefit from compiling such information 

in terms of understanding their financial position or having information to support the 

running of the business.  In particular, the requirement of financial statement 

publication might deter the entity’s management from fraudulent activities (Eierle, 

2008; FEE, 2007).  This, in turn, contributes to not only public confidence in the 

healthy functioning of the business but also the efficient development of the national 

economy.   

There is also an argument that the legal requirement for preparation and publication of 

the accounts is a price of limited liability entities (Davies, 2007; Harvey & Walton, 

1996).  A legal entity such as a registered company that operates with limited liability 

for its members, are legally required to fulfill several obligations, including disclosure 

of financial information in order to protect those who deal with the entity (Blair, 

2000).  Thus, it is the price that the entity has to pay when it trades in this legal form.    

The results of this study tend to support the argument that the audit is of limited 

relevance to SMEs’ shareholders and other stakeholders (see for example Fearnley et 

al., 2000; Keasey et al., 1988).  The study found that many SMEs are owner-managed.  

Also, external users indicated small benefits received from the audit report due to a 

low quality of SME audit in Thailand.  This implies that the role of audit in providing 

an assurance to external users is not met.  In addition, the study found many SMEs 

perceived the value of audit in terms of improving internal control of the business and 

reducing queries from tax authorities rather than providing assurance to shareholders 

or other third parties.  
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Another issue raised in the small entity reporting literature is about the compliance 

with accounting standards by SMEs (Di Pietra et al., 2008).  While there is an 

argument for granting an audit exemption to SMEs to reduce administrative burdens, 

the requirement can assist in enforcing compliance with accounting standards by 

SMEs. The quality of financial statements affects the usefulness of the statements.  

Based on the evidence of prior studies, a low quality of financial statements inhibits 

bankers from using the financial statements (Dang-Duc et al., 2008).  However, 

previous studies on the quality of SME financial statements provide mixed results (for 

example Barker & Noonan, 1996; Carsberg et al., 1985; POBA, 2006).  In the current 

study, there is evidence of non-compliance with accounting standards among SMEs, 

although a monitoring of compliance with accounting regulations is in place and the 

audit is mandated.  Lack of compliance in turn could reduce the usefulness of SME 

financial statements.  Weak accounting enforcement, as indicated by some accounting 

practitioners, may encourage some SMEs to ignore their financial reporting 

obligations.  A lack of accounting skills in some accountants who can assist in 

improving the quality of financial statements is also found in this study. 

In addition to the user needs framework, cost and benefit considerations affect the 

model on which SME reporting is based.  Concern is more focused on costs than 

benefits (Jarvis & Collis, 2003).  Prior studies on the cost and benefit of financial 

reporting provided mixed responses (Evans et al., 2005). In this study, the fulfillment 

of financial reporting requirements is indicated as a key driver of SME reporting, not 

the needs of SMEs.  The findings, however, suggest that the directors of SMEs are not 

much concerned with compliance costs, including proprietary costs.  In particular, a 

significant number of SME directors did not perceive that costs of producing annual 

accounts exceed benefits to the entity.   

The evidence found in this study also suggests that, in general, complying with 

accounting standards by SMEs may be not too costly.  The analysis of financial 

statements reveals that the business transactions that are encountered by most SMEs 

are not involved with complicated accounting standards.  Moreover, the options for 

accounting standard exemption and publication of cash flow statement that are 

introduced in order to reduce costs of complying with accounting standards are 

adopted by the sample SMEs.  It is, however, noted that, accounting software package, 



 

259 

 

in many cases, has abilities to automatically generate cash flow statements, so 

producing this report might not impose a significant burden on SMEs (EC, 2009b). 

Both internal and external uses of financial statements appear in SMEs, but there is a 

varying degree in such usage.  As a consequence, it is difficult to assess the benefits of 

financial statements.  In addition, the findings suggest a low awareness of financial 

reporting issues among SMEs and a prominent role of accountants in compliance with 

financial reporting requirements.  This may influence the perceptions of SME 

directors regarding the costs and benefits of financial reporting.  However, as 

mentioned earlier, the findings in this study suggest that the value of SME financial 

statements to management and capital providers is limited.   

The study found wide use of computerised accounting systems, especially accounting 

software package among SMEs, implying that financial information can be easily 

generated from such computerised system for management uses and for statutory 

reporting. It is, therefore, not surprising to see a high percentage of the use of 

management information among SMEs.  In particular, there is evidence that cash flow 

information, not in a format required by accounting standards, is produced for 

management purposes, which confirms prior studies (e.g. Collis & Jarvis, 2002).  

However, for the production of statutory financial reports, SMEs rely on their 

accountants and auditors.  In this study, it appears that the majority of SMEs, 

regardless of the entity’s size, seek support from external accountants for this 

reporting task.  This implies that SMEs lack of internal accounting expertise and/or 

the existing accounting standards are overly complex; therefore, they need outside 

assistance to comply with such standards.  

Simplifying accounting standards for SMEs is an approach which many jurisdictions 

have adopted as a solution to reduce financial reporting burdens for SMEs (Devi, 

2003; Sian & Roberts, 2006).  In the current study, there is overall support for setting 

a separate set of SME accounting standards for SMEs in Thailand.  As pointed out in 

the literature, when more than one set of accounting standards are implemented, there 

will be adverse effects on comparability and consistency (Harvey & Walton, 1996).  

For this study, an important concern among users appears to be a reduction of 

disclosure in the financial statements.  However, using alternative information sources 
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and demanding additional information directly from SMEs are indicated by users as 

solutions to such potential problem.   

The IFRS for SMEs is designed for SMEs that are non-publicly accountable entities 

and prepare financial statements for external users (IASB, 2009).  In the current study, 

finance providers (together with tax authorities) are identified as primary users of 

SME financial statements.  In this respect, the IFRS for SMEs may apply to SMEs in 

Thailand.  However, the standards were considered to be too complicated for many 

Thai SMEs, leading to a high cost burden.  Another concern associated with the IFRS 

for SMEs is incompatibility with tax rules.  This emphasises the importance of 

reporting for taxation purposes to Thai SMEs.  Furthermore, a simple balance sheet 

structure found from analysis of SME financial statements suggests that a significant 

number of accounting topics in the IFRS for SMEs are not relevant to Thai SMEs, 

especially micro and small entities.   

To sum up, from a legal perspective, several financial reporting requirements imposed 

on business entities, such as compliance with accounting standards, statutory audit, 

and qualification of the account preparers, aim to ensure provision of good quality 

information to business stakeholders. These requirements certainly increase costs and 

add complexity in SME reporting.  However, the study found widespread non-

compliance with accounting standards among SMEs. Also, the perceived usefulness of 

financial statements by users is low.   

8.5 Recommendations and policy implications 

The findings of this study have implications for not only SMEs and their accountants, 

but also national standards setters and regulators who are now considering the 

development of accounting standards for SMEs in Thailand.  The study provides 

information on the financial reporting needs of SMEs and users of SME financial 

reports and the current financial reporting practice of Thai SMEs.  It also demonstrates 

the reactions of SMEs and other stakeholders to a separate set of accounting standards 

for SMEs and their views on the likely costs and benefits of adoption of the IFRS for 

SMEs.  The following highlights policy implications and recommendations of this 

study: 
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First, the results of this study show that the information contained in SME financial 

statements, as they are currently produced, is not sufficient to satisfy information 

needs of users, including lenders.  This supports a call for more attention on 

improving the usefulness of SME financial statements to users.  The study suggests 

that users demand the financial statements that provide more timely and detailed 

information and that reflect the actual economic picture of the business.   

Second, for the majority of SME directors/managers, the costs of producing financial 

statements do not exceed the benefits, but financial reporting is merely viewed as 

fulfilling reporting obligations. There is also a low awareness among Thai SME 

directors/managers of financial reporting issues that have impacts on their entities. It 

is thus important to make SME directors/managers aware of the impacts and, in 

particular, the benefits that they can derive from preparation and publication of 

financial statements.  This may in turn encourage them to produce good quality 

financial information for internal and external uses.   

Third, the results demonstrate an important role of external accountants in supporting 

statutory reporting of Thai SMEs.  However, there exists lack of competency among 

some accountants, suggesting the need to enhance professional and accounting skills 

of accountants. 

Fourth, a monitoring system of compliance with accounting regulations and standards 

of non-listed entities is already in place.  However, it seems that the current capability 

of enforcement bodies is not sufficient to monitor compliance with accounting rules 

and standards in SMEs. Thus, the improvement in capability of the enforcement 

bodies may be necessary.  Given there is a large number of SMEs, monitoring costs 

would be high.  Thus, other measures should be also implemented to encourage 

producing better quality accounting information in SMEs. 

Finally, a significant number of non-trading entities is found in this study, some 

relaxations from reporting requirements may be granted to this type of entities.   
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8.6 Limitations and suggestions for future research  

Apart from the limitation of research design pointed out in Chapter 4, this research 

study contains several limitations.  First, the limitation relates to the 

representativeness of the samples of SMEs chosen for the survey.  The SME Alliance 

database used as a sampling frame for a survey of SMEs probably contains a lot of 

listings that are no longer trading.  The respondents are, therefore, mainly from those 

having financially sound businesses.  As only entities having e-mail addresses were 

included in a sampling list, a sampling frame is subject to a coverage bias.  In addition 

to its potentially unrepresentative sampling frame, the survey of SMEs overall had a 

low response rate.  The responding entities were over represented in manufacturing 

sector and in larger size of turnover exceeding 5 million baht.  Altogether, this results 

in the samples that were not representative of the population.  The generalisation of 

the survey results to Thai SME population is restricted.   Second, the results from a 

qualitative study are based on relatively small numbers of interviewees, especially in 

an external user group and perceptions of those who participated in the study.  The 

results should be interpreted in that light.  Third, although the choice of a stratified 

sample of SME financial statements allowed a comparison between the entity sizes, 

generalisation to the population of Thai SMEs, mainly micro entities would need to 

recognise the stratified nature of the sample. The analysis of financial statements 

employs a disclosure checklist method to assess the quality of disclosure.  Although 

several means were used to minimise the subjectivity in constructing a disclosure 

checklist and scoring a disclosure index, this method is still subject to the problem of 

coding errors and bias inherent in this kind of scoring process.  Finally, the data are 

collected from SMEs in Thailand.  Different countries have different institutional 

arrangements and define SMEs differently.  Therefore, generalisation of the findings 

to other countries may be restricted.  

Based on limitations identified in this study, a number of suggestions for further 

research are as follows.  Firstly, it is worth noting that it is difficult to find a list of 

SMEs with their email addresses.  For those available, such as SME Alliance database 

and Yellow Pages website, it is out of date and not representative.  A lot of time and 

effort was also used in compiling and screening a sampling list.  For the future studies 

of SME reporting, it is suggested using another sampling frame.   Secondly, the 
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questionnaire survey could be distributed indirectly to SMEs, for example via trade 

associations or accounting firms, in order to achieve a higher response rate, although 

such an approach also has its limitations arising from the loss of control of sample 

selection.  Thirdly, the use of social network, such as introduction from friends and 

family, to assist in contacting with targeting interviewees is an effective means to 

receive their acceptance of interview invitation.  Finally, more qualitative studies of 

Thai SME reporting should be carried out.  Although this type of research has its 

limitations, it provides insight into a problem and issue being studied together with 

triangulation of the results of other studies, such as the current one.  

This study has also identified a number of areas that can be seen for further research.  

From the discussion with regulators, there exists an inspection of published SME 

financial statements via public records by a significant number of interested parties, so 

future study may be undertaken to investigate for what purposes the published SME 

accounts are used.  The study is carried out during the process of development of a 

simpler set of accounting standards for non-publicly accountable entities in Thailand, 

so further studies should be conducted after the implementation of the standards to 

examine whether this set of standards is able to meet the needs of Thai SMEs and their 

users.   

8.7 Contributions of the study 

The findings in this research study provide several contributions to the existing 

literature on SME reporting.  First, this study addresses a gap in the literature relating 

to the costs and benefits of reporting by SMEs and the information needs of SME 

financial statement users, especially in developing countries.  Second, the study 

carried out with SMEs, users and other stakeholders, such as local accounting firms 

providing services to SMEs, national standards setters, and regulators.  This provides 

the findings that enhance our understanding of SME financial reporting.  In the 

literature, it is contended that the need of separate accounting standards is dominated 

by accounting practitioners.  This study reports the views and the needs of SME 

directors and users on this issue.  Third, this study makes another contribution through 

its methodology, which can be applied to the study on SME reporting.  The mixed-

method approach employed in this study not only assists in achieving a better 
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understanding of SME reporting in a wider context, but also provides reliable and 

valid results.   

Fourth, the current study provides empirical evidence that will inform worldwide 

debate regarding financial reporting of SMEs.  In particular, there is ongoing debate 

on relaxations of financial reporting requirements for small entities.  The findings on 

the uses of SME financial reports by various user groups provide an input into the 

development of users’ need conceptual framework for financial reporting.  Finally, the 

findings of this study should be of interest to financial reporting policymakers and 

regulators in Thailand and other jurisdictions and other parties such as SME directors, 

accounting practitioners and users of SME financial reports (e.g. lenders or creditors).  

8.8 Summary 

This research study examines financial reporting by Thai SMEs through a 

combination of qualitative and quantitative methods.  The findings reported in this 

study reveal several important features of SME reporting.  Firstly, tax authorities, 

entities’ managements and lenders, in order, are identified as the most important users 

of SME financial statements.  Many SMEs have shareholders who are entities’ 

managements, implying a limited need for financial reports to provide information for 

investors.  Most of external users perceived little decision usefulness of SME financial 

statements and small assurance benefit from a financial statement audit.  Secondly, 

SME directors often use their accounts for the purposes of estimating tax liabilities 

and supporting loan/capital applications.  For day-to day operations, they normally use 

management information.  They do not view financial reporting requirements to be 

burdensome.  However, most of them have a limited knowledge of financial reporting 

regulations and issues and rely on their accountants to fulfill reporting obligations.  

Finally, all SME stakeholders support the use of a simpler set of accounting standards 

for SMEs.  The IFRS for SMEs is, however, considered to be too complex for many 

Thai SMEs and inconsistency with tax rules is an issue.  SME directors agree with 

potential costs and benefits of adopting the IFRS for SMEs, but the majority of them 

will seek advice from their accountants before making adoption decisions.  
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APPENDICES 

Appendix 1 Comparison of TASs with IFRS for SMEs  

At the time of comparison, many exposure drafts of new TASs are in the process of 

public discussion, resulting from the convergence with the full IFRS (Ernst&Young, 

2009).  For the purpose of the current study, only TASs effective for financial 

statement preparation as of the year 2009 are used for the comparison.   

In the following section will be discussed major differences between the IFRS for 

SMEs and Thai Accounting Standards (TASs) with the focus on the accounting 

requirements for non-listed SMEs.  The topics in which differences are found are also 

assessed whether such difference is likely to increase or decrease a reporting burden 

of an entity.  For example, if the accounting standards have changed from permitting 

more alternatives for accounting and reporting to restricting to only one method, so a 

reporting entity has no flexibility in selecting a method suitable for its circumstance.  

Consequently, the burden is likely to increase.  Likewise, if currently a reporting 

entity has to disclose extensive information in its financial reports, but such required 

disclosure is lessen under the IFRS for SMEs, so it is expected that the reporting 

burden will decrease.   

Scope and applicability 

According to the accounting regulations, TASs is imposed on incorporated entities, 

including public companies, private companies, limited partnerships, joint venture 

registered under tax regulations, and foreign businesses.  Unlike the IFRS for SMEs, 

the entities to be eligible for departing from full TASs are based on their legal forms 

of business (public or private company) and types of business (financial or non-

financial institution).  However, most non-listed SMEs have been included in this 

exemption criterion.  If the concept of publicly accountable entity identified in the 

IFRS for SMEs is employed, no matter how ‘publicly accountable entity’ is defined, 

most non-listed SMEs are still included.    

  



 

293 

 

GAAP and disclosure requirements 

Unlike the IFRS for SMEs approach, certain TASs are waived from enforcement.  

This includes relaxations such as segment reporting, asset impairment, cash flow 

statement, and related party disclosures.  Although both TASs and IFRS for SMEs do 

not address or waive from enforcement of segment reporting, Thai reporting 

requirements for non-public companies, including non-listed SMEs are inconsistent 

with those of IFRS for SMEs in major areas presented as follows:    

(1) Cash flow statements 

Cash flow statement preparation will be an area subject to much debate since this will 

totally change the current reporting requirements.  Although a statement of cash flows 

is included in the complete set of financial statements, stated in the ‘financial 

statement presentation’ topic in TASs, neither preparing nor statutory filing 

requirements of cash flow statements are imposed on private companies and limited 

partnerships.  Only a public company is legally required to prepare cash flow 

statements for statutory reporting as well as to comply with cash flow statement 

accounting standard.  Unlike TASs, the IFRS for SMEs has no exemption for non-

preparation of cash flow statements.  It is expected that the change will increase a 

burden on an entity which has not previously prepared a statement of cash flows, no 

matter for statutory or tax filing, loan application, or internal use.  However, for an 

entity having a computerised accounting system, the preparation of the statement 

might be easier or less burdensome since the statement could be generated from the 

system. 

(2) Income Taxes  

Currently, no TASs covers income taxes.  In practice, the majority of companies 

recognise only current tax expenses, calculated by using reported profits in accordance 

with the provisions of the Thai Revenue Code, after taking account of any applicable 

exemptions or privileges grants (KPMG, 2009, p. 11).  Unlike TASs, the IFRS for 

SMEs address accounting for not only the current but also future tax consequences.  

Since income tax is an area which is related to all entities.  This inconsistency may 

have significant affects to most entities.   
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(3) Impairment of assets 

TAS regarding impairment of assets is mainly applied to non-financial assets, 

including property, plant and equipment, goodwill, and other intangible assets.  

Currently, non-public entities can opt to apply this standard, but not under the IFRS 

for SMEs.  This difference, however, may not be very significant since the impairment 

testing for asset other than inventory under the IFRS for SME is only undertaken 

when there is an indication of impairment.  The frequency of accounting for asset 

impairment therefore is less than those required under full TASs.   

(4) Consolidation of financial statements 

In general, the IFRS for SMEs requires an entity considered as a parent, not itself a 

subsidiary to prepare consolidated financial statements.  However, there is no such 

requirement under TASs with exemption and statutory financial reporting filing.  The 

parent company qualified for TAS exemption can select whether or not to prepare 

consolidated financial statements.  It is noted that the requirement for consolidation of 

financial statements is typically relevant to group companies.  It is believed that only 

limited numbers of small entities are group companies, so the impact of this 

inconsistency might not be pervasive.   

(5) Related party transactions 

The related party transaction is an area providing information about firms’ 

profitability, solvency, and liquidity.  This information is of interest to users of 

financial statements of SMEs.  The requirements for disclosure under the IFRS for 

SMEs in general are less than those of TASs.  However, Thai SMEs will not have any 

gain from such relaxation since currently they can opt to disclose information about 

their related party transactions or not.  Instead, more reporting burden is expected to 

be on non-public companies if the IFRS for SMEs is implemented.  

(6) Biological assets and agricultural produce 

At present, there is no specific accounting standard or guidance for biological assets.  

Thus, other guidance such as those provided in the IFRS or U.S. GAAP could be 

applied for such transactions.  In the IFRS for SMEs, accounting for biological assets 

and agricultural produce are addressed   In general, measurement at fair value is 
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required for biological assets and agricultural produce if such fair value can be 

determined without undue cost and effort.   

(7) Property, plant and equipment 

In the IFRS for SMEs, initial recognition of property, plant and equipment is 

measured at cost.  At the end of reporting period, property, plant and equipment are 

carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (if any).  

Revaluation of this class of asset at fair value is not permitted.  In addition to the 

requirement to measure property, plant and equipment at cost, revaluation is optional 

in TASs.   

The following table summarises major differences between the IFRS for SMEs and 

TASs applicable to financial reporting of non-public entities before new Thai 

accounting standards are in effect for the financial reporting period of 2010. 
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Table A1-1 Summary major differences between IFRS for SMES and TASs 

IFRS for SMEs 

TAS 

Differences 

IFRS for SMEs 

more (+) or less (-) 

burdensome 

Number (new)* Based on 

IAS/IFRS 

Financial Statement 

Presentation 

(section 3) 

TAS 1-

Presentation of 

Financial 

Statements 

(2007) 

IAS 1 (2006) 

 

 

GAAP Differences: 

Under IFRS for SMEs, the combined statement of comprehensive income and 

retained earnings is allowed if the conditions are met.   

- 

Level of Disclosure: 

More extensive disclosure requirements are required by TAS.   

- 

 

However, by Thai accounting law, only limited partnerships are not required to 

present comparative statutory financial statements. 

- 

 

Statement of 

Comprehensive Income 

and Income Statement 

(section 5.5(e)) 

TFRS 5-Non-

current Assets 

Held for Sale and 

Discontinued 

Operations 

IFRS 5 

(2006) 

GAAP Differences: 

TAS requires the amounts of discontinued operations be shown in statement of 

comprehensive income and statement of cash flows while IFRS for SMEs 

requires only the former.  

- 

Non-current asset held for sale is not addressed in IFRS for SMEs but this 

circumstance is treated as an indicator of impairment. 

- 

Level of Disclosure: 

The additional disclosure requirements for discontinued operation exist under 

TAS. 

 

- 

Statement of Cash Flows 

(section 7) 

TAS 7-Cash 

Flow 

Statements** 

(2007) 

 

IAS 7 (2006) GAAP Differences: 

None 

 

Level of Disclosure: 

None 

 

Non-public companies are exempted from this TAS and only public companies 

have to prepare statement of cash flows as a part of statutory financial 

statements. 

- 
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IFRS for SMEs 

TAS 

Differences 

IFRS for SMEs 

more (+) or less (-) 

burdensome 

Number (new)* Based on 

IAS/IFRS 

Consolidated and 

Separate Financial 

Statements 

(section 9) 

TAS-27 

Consolidated and 

Separate Financial 

Statements** 

 

IAS 27 (2006) GAAP Differences: 

The circumstances of a parent entity to be exempted from presenting 

consolidated financial statements differs in which TAS are more restrictive than 

those of IFRs for SMEs.   

- 

 

 

Under TAS, difference in reporting dates between a parent and its subsidiaries 

is no longer than 3 months, but such limitation is not specified in IFRS for 

SMEs. 

- 

 

Under IFRS for SMEs, the cumulative amount of any exchange differences 

related to a foreign operation is not reclassified to profit and loss on disposal. 

- 

 

Separate financial statements and combined financial statements are not 

required by IFRS for SMEs. 

- 

 

Special purpose entities and combined financial statements are not addressed in 

TAS, but IFRS for SMEs do. 

+ 

 

Level of Disclosure: 

TAS requires more extensive disclosure of separate financial statements. 

- 

 

Non-public companies are exempted from this TAS and only public companies 

have to prepare consolidated financial statements for statutory filing. 

+ 

 

Accounting Policies, 

Estimates and Errors 

(section 10) 

TAS 8-

Accounting 

Policies, Changes 

in Accounting 

Estimates and 

Errors 

(2007) 

IAS 8 (2006) GAAP Differences: 

None,  

except under the IFRS for SMES no requirement to make cross reference to full 

IFRS in topics not addressed in IFRS for SMEs.  Only IAS 39 Financial 

Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, however, is permitted. 

 

 

Level of Disclosure: 

None 
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IFRS for SMEs 

TAS 

Differences 

IFRS for SMEs 

more (+) or less (-) 

burdensome 

Number (new)* Based on 

IAS/IFRS 

Basic Financial 

Instruments (section 11)  

 

Other Financial 

Instruments Issues  

(section  12) 

TAS 32-Financial 

Instruments: 

Disclosure and 

Presentation** 

(TAS 48) 

IAS 32 (1998) 

(financial 

instruments: 

presentation) 

No existing TAS directly addresses accounting for financial instruments, 

specifically in measurement and recognition aspect.  According to a recent 

comparison of TAS and IFRS by (KPMG, 2009), in practice the following TAS 

are applied to accounting for financial instruments:  

 TAS 11- Doubtful Accounts and Bad Debts 

 TAS 34- Troubled Debt Restructuring 

 TAS 40- Investment in Debt and equity Securities 

 TAS 42- Accounting for Investment Companies 

Therefore, there is under IFRS for SMEs extensive scope, definition, and 

disclosure requirements than those of applied TAS.   

+ 

Inventories 

(section 13, 27.2-27,4) 

TAS 2-Inventories 

(2007) 

 

 

IAS 2 (2006) GAAP Differences: 

Similar, except under TAS in certain situations borrowing costs might be 

included in costs of inventories, but in the IFRS for SMEs it is treated as 

expenses. 

 

- 

Level of Disclosure: 

None 

 

Investments in 

Associates 

(section 14) 

TAS 28-

Investment in 

Associates** 

IAS 28 (2006) GAAP Differences: 

Cost, equity or fair value models are permitted for accounting investments in 

associates under IFRS for SMEs, but TAS allows only the use of equity method 

except cost and fair value models can be used in separate financial statements.  

 

- 

 

 

Level of Disclosure: 

Similar disclosure exists, especially in response to a model applied.  

 

Non-public companies are exempted from this TAS. + 
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IFRS for SMEs 

TAS 

Differences 

IFRS for SMEs 

more (+) or less (-) 

burdensome 

Number (new)* Based on 

IAS/IFRS 

Investments in Joint 

Ventures 

(section 15) 

TAS 31-Interests  

in Joint Ventures** 

IAS 31 (2006) GAAP Differences: 

For an investment classified as a joint controlled entity, IFRS for SMEs allows a 

venturer to account its investment using cost, equity, or fair value methods, but 

TAS requires a venturer to use either proportionate consolidation or equity 

methods for this investment.  A joint controlled entity is further required by 

TAS to prepare its separate financial statements.  

 

- 

 

 

 

 

Level of Disclosure: 

A proportionate consolidation method is not permitted under IFRS for SMEs, so 

there is no detailed disclosure related to this method or equity method.  Only 

disclosure in response to a method applied is required. 

 

- 

Non-public companies are exempted from this TAS. + 

Property, plant, and 

equipment  

(section 17) 

TAS 16-Property, 

plant, and 

equipments 

 

IAS 16 (1998) GAAP Differences: 

IFRS for SMEs requires borrowing costs to be recognised as expenses and the 

revaluation of PPE is not permitted. 

 

+ 

Level of Disclosure: 

None 

 

Intangible Assets other 

than Goodwill 

(section 18) 

TAS 38- Intangible 

Assets 

IAS 38  (2006) GAAP Differences: 

IFRS for SMEs considers all intangible assets to have finite useful lives so 

amortisation is required while under TAS some intangible assets might have 

indefinite useful lives, so no amortisation is required for these assets. 

 

+ 

 

TAS has an option of revaluation of intangible assets. + 

Under TAS, research and developments costs might be expensed or capitalised, 

but IFRS for SMEs treats all research and development expenditures as 

expenses.  

+ 

Level of Disclosure: 

None.  Same general disclosure requirements are required. 

+ 
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IFRS for SMEs 

TAS 

Differences 

IFRS for SMEs 
more (+) or less (-) 

burdensome 
Number (new)* Based on 

IAS/IFRS 

Business Combinations 
and Goodwill 
(section 19) 

TFRS 3- Business 
Combination 
 
 

IFRS 3 (2006) 
 

GAAP Differences: 
Similar, except goodwill is amortised for specified useful lives under IFRS for 
SMEs, but TAS does not permit amortisation for goodwill. 

 
- 
 

Level of Disclosure: 
IFRS for SMEs requires less extensive disclosure. 

 
- 

Leases 
(section 20) 
 
 
 
 

TAS 17-Leases IAS 17 (2006) GAAP Differences: 
IFRS for SMEs allows non-application of leases when certain situation is met 
such as onerous operating lease, but no such permission under TAS.   

 
- 
 

IFRS for SMEs requires the assessment of impairment in every reporting 
period, but TAS does not specify. 

+ 

Level of Disclosure: 
TAS requires more extensive disclosure regarding finance leases such as 
reconciliation amount between minimum lease payment and its present value. 

 
- 

Provisions and 
Contingencies 
(section 21) 

TAS 37-Provisions, 
Contingent liabilities 
and Contingent 
Assets 

IAS 37 (1998) GAAP Differences: 
None, except IFRS for SMEs excludes executory contracts from its scope. 

 

Level of Disclosure: 
None 

 

Revenue 
(section 23) 

TAS 18-Revenue IAS 18 (1993) GAAP Differences: 
In general, TAS is not different from IFRS for SME.  

 
 

However, there is a TAS: Revenue Recognition for Real Estate Business, 
describing estate business as sales of land, building, or condominium.  The 
standard allows an entity to recognise revenue when risk and reward are 
transferred, by percentage of completion, and instalment.   

+ 

Level of Disclosure: 
None 

 

Revenue 

(section 23: 23.17-

23.27) 

TAS 11-

Construction 

Contracts 

(2007) 

IAS 11 (2006) GAAP Differences: 

None 

 

Level of Disclosure: 

None 
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IFRS for SMEs 

TAS 

Differences 

IFRS for SMEs 

more (+) or less(-) 

burdensome 

Number (new)* Based on 

IAS/IFRS 

Borrowing Costs 

(section 25) 

 

TAS 23-Borrowing 

Costs 

 

 

IAS 23 (2006) GAAP Differences: 

IFRS for SMEs treats all borrowing costs as expenses but TAS allows an 

alternative to capitalise if the conditions are met.  

 

+ 

Level of Disclosure: 

None 

 

Impairment of Assets 

(section 27) 

TAS 36-

Impairment of 

Assets** 

IAS 36 (2006) GAAP Differences: 

TAS requires goodwill, not-yet-available-for-use and indefinite-useful lived 

intangible assets to be annually tested for impairment, but IFRS for SMEs only 

do if there is an indication of impairment.   

 

- 

Level of Disclosure: 

IFRS for SMEs requires less disclosure compared to TAS. 

- 

Non-public companies are exempted from this TAS. - 

Foreign Currency 

Translation 

(section 30) 

TAS 21-The Effects 

of Changes in 

Foreign Exchange 

Rates 

IAS 21 (1993) GAAP Differences: 

TAS does not discuss the concept of functional currency.  The reporting and 

presentation have to be in Thai Baht. 

 

+ 

IFRS for SME does not permit reclassification of cumulative exchange 

differences that were previously recognised in equity on disposal of a foreign 

operation, but under TAS such differences must reclassified to profit or loss on 

disposal. 

- 

Level of Disclosure: 

Similar general disclosure requirements exist, but additional requirements may 

be required if an entity reports on neither function nor presentation currency 

 

Events after the End of 

the Reporting Period 

(section 32) 

TAS 10- Events 

after the Balance 

Sheet Date 

(2006) 

IAS 10 (2005) GAAP Differences: 

None 

 

Level of Disclosure: 

None 

 



 

302 

 

IFRS for SMEs 

TAS 

Differences 

IFRS for SMEs 

more (+) or less(-) 

burdensome 

Number (new)* Based on 

IAS/IFRS 

Related Party 

Disclosures 

(section 33) 

TAS 24-Related 

Party Disclosures** 

IAS 24 (1994) GAAP Difference: 

Related party definition in IFRS for SMEs is more extensive than TAS’s. 

 

+ 

Level of Disclosure: 

TAS requires disclosure of transfer pricing policy, but not under IFRS for 

SMEs.  

 

- 

IFRS for SMEs requires a disclosure of key management personnel 

compensation, but not under TAS. 

+ 

Non-public companies are exempted from this TAS. + 

N/A TAS 14- Segment 

Reporting**  

IAS 14 (1993) IFRS for SME does not address this topic and non-public companies are 

exempted from this TAS. 

- 

N/A TAS 30-Disclosures 

in the Financial 

Statements of Banks 

and Similar 

Financial 

Institutions 

IAS 30 (2005) IFRS for SME does not address this topic since this type of entities are publicly 

accountable entities, excluded from the scope of IFRS for SMEs. 

Not applicable 

N/A TAS 33-Earnings 

per share 

IAS 33 (1997) IFRS for SME does not address this topic, but TAS requires a reporting entity to 

present earning per share. 

- 

N/A TAS 34-Interim 

Financial Reporting 

IAS 34 (2006) IFRS for SME does not address this topic but TAS does.   

However, this standard is relevant only to listed companies. 

Not applicable 

 -  No comparable guidance on the following accounting topics: Investment Property

 (section 16), Liabilities and Equity (section 22), Government Grants (section 

24), Share-Based Payment (section 26), Employee Benefits (section 28), Income Tax 

(section 29), Hyperinflation(section 31), Specialised Activities (section 34) 

Not applicable 

Notes. * new numbering system is announced on 15 May 2009 and  

** represents TAS which are waived from enforcement for a reporting entity which is not a public company 
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Appendix 2 TFRS for NPAEs 

The TFRS for NPAEs is a stand-alone set of financial reporting standards organised 

by accounting topics with only 88 pages long.  The short length, as compared to the 

IFRS for SMEs, might result from the fact that fewer accounting topics are covered in 

the standards for NPAEs.  In addition, the TFRS for NPAEs contains mainly the 

framework and the standards; no example of application or disclosure checklist is 

available like those in the IFRS for SMEs.   

The small volume of the standards might enable ease of use, but it was found to be 

problematic for practitioners when applying TFRS for NPAEs, specifically during the 

process of transition.  As the standards does not provide specific guidance for some 

areas, such as depreciation of assets using a component approach, amortisation of 

intangible assets with indefinite useful life, and accounting treatment for goodwill, it 

results in different interpretations among preparers of financial statements.  

Consequently, in June 2011 only a month after the standards for NPAEs were 

effective, the Federation of Accounting Profession issued the announcement to clarify 

the applications of several accounting issues and to provide specific guidance for 

transition to the TFRS for NPAEs.   

Scope and objective   

Although the Thai Accounting Standards Board did not explicitly state how the 

conceptual framework for financial reporting in the TFRS for NPAEs was developed, 

it appears that accounting concepts and principles contained in the TFRS for NPAEs 

were mainly based on the 2007 version of TASs, but some changes and 

simplifications have been made.  This method is similar to that used for developing 

the IFRS for SMEs, known as a top-down approach.   

Initially, the proposed standard is intended to be applicable to SMEs, which are 

defined as non-public accountable entities in specified size of entities, measured by 

fixed assets or number of employees which the same as the size threshold used to 

define SMEs in the SME Promotion Act B.E. 2543.  However, in the final version of 

the standards, the size criteria are removed from the scope of applicability.  In turn, all 

sizes of non-public accountable entities, including large but unlisted companies are 
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qualified to use this standard.  Public accountable entities are defined similarly to that 

of the IFRS for SMEs. 

In the standards for NPAEs, the decision usefulness objective of financial statement is 

adopted.  The objective of financial statements prepared under the TFRS for NPAEs is 

to provide information about the financial and performance of an entity that is useful 

for economic decisions.  This includes evaluating the ability of an entity to generate 

cash flows and assessing the stewardship of the entity’s management.   

The standard identifies owners as primary users.  The use of financial statements for 

the entity’s financial management by the owners is further prescribed.  This implies 

that owners who are in position of management are included in its scope.  Other 

external users: lenders, suppliers, other creditors, and governments and regulatory 

agencies, and their uses of financial statements are also listed.  Furthermore, the use of 

financial statements to support tax reporting is explicitly identified.  This contrasts to 

the IFRS for SMEs that aims to provide information to external users who do not have 

power to obtain information from the entity and does not intend for tax reporting.   

Figure A2-1 outlines qualitative characteristics of financial statements prepared in 

accordance with the standards.  The two primary qualitative characteristics required 

for information to be useful for users in making economic decisions are reliability and 

relevance.  In the revised the IASB conceptual framework, the term ‘reliability’ is 

replaced by the term ‘faithful representation’.  The enhancing qualitative 

characteristics are comparability, verifiability, timeliness and understandability.  The 

definitions of these concepts are the same as the full TFRSs.   

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 
Figure A2-1 Qualitative characteristics of useful financial information under TFRS for NPAEs 

Useful information for 

economic decision 

Objective 

Going concern Accrual Assumption 

Principal qualities Reliability Relevance 

Understandability Timeliness Verifiability Secondary qualities Comparability

y 

Balance between benefit and cost Prudence Threshold for consideration Materiality 
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Topics covered  

The standards consist of 18 accounting standards that cover topics such as 

presentation of financial statements, accounting policies, and inventories considered 

relevant to typical Thai NPAEs (see Table A2-1).   

Table A2-1 Topics in TFRS for NPAEs 

Section Topic 

4 Financial Statement Presentation 

5 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Correction of Errors 

6 Cash and Cash Equivalent 

7 Accounts Receivable 

8 Inventories 

9 Investments 

10 Property, Plant and Equipment 

11 Intangible Assets 

12 Investment property 

13 Borrowing Costs 

14 Leases 

15 Income Taxes 

16 Provisions and Contingencies 

17 Events after the End of the Reporting Period 

18 Revenue Recognition 

19 Revenue Recognition for Real Estate Business 

20 Construction Contracts 

21 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates 

Note. Section 1-3 discuss background, framework and scope of the standards 

Some accounting topics, such as impairment of assets and employee benefits, are not 

addressed in separate sections, but these topics are instead incorporated into other 

sections.  For example, the accounting treatment for employee benefits is mentioned 

in section 16 Provisions and Contingent Liabilities.  Several topics which have been 

previously exempted for SMEs were still excluded in TFRS for NPAEs, including 

related party disclosure, financial instrument presentation and disclosure, and segment 

reporting.  More complicated or irrelevant topics such as hedge accounting, share-

based payment, deferred taxes, and interim financial reporting are omitted from the 

standards.  However, in case that any reporting entity voluntarily present or disclose 

information which is not required, such as cash flow statement, segment reporting, 

related party disclosure, and financial instrument disclosure, applying full TFRSs 

dealing with such topics is suggested.   
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The tax-driven reporting is found in section 7: Accounting for Accounts Receivable; 

the area of accounting for allowance for bad debts in which methods for estimation of 

bad debts are the same as permitted by taxation rules. In addition, accounting for 

investments and real estate sales were influenced by U.S. GAAP.  The detail of major 

GAAP and disclosure requirements for each accounting topics are provided later in 

this section. 

Similar to the IFRS for SMEs, there is no mandatory default to full TFRSs if there is a 

topic not covered in the standards.  Three sources of accounting policies which 

preparers can use are identified; firstly by obtaining the requirements and guidance in 

the standards dealing with similar or related issues, secondly by applying the concept 

and pervasive principles for financial reporting contained in the standards, and finally 

by using full TFRSs dealing with a topic of interest.  In practice, a selection of 

accounting policy for omitted areas is likely to be influenced by auditors and the 

application of the full TFRSs in omitted areas seems more practical for justification.  

Besides, tax rules might be used as guidance among entities viewing tax authorities as 

main users.   

GAAP and Disclosure Requirements 

This section discusses some accounting topics in the TFRS for NPAEs and when it is 

possible, a comparison with the IFRS for SMEs or the TAS effective until the year 

2009 is presented.   

(1) Financial statement presentation 

In line with statutory filing requirements, statement of financial position, income 

statement, statement of change in equity, and notes are required.   Cash flow statement 

is not mandatory.  The Thai standards setter also presumed that users of NPAE 

financial statements are interested in individual financial statements rather than 

consolidated financial statements, so there is no requirement for consolidated financial 

statements.  Nobes and Parker (2008) indicated that in a country where there is a 

strong influenced by tax regulations on financial reporting, individual financial 

statements are of interest rather than group accounts since income taxes are levied on 

individual basis.   
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 (2) Leases 

In the draft standards, simplification in an area of accounting for leases was 

substantial; all leases except hire-purchase were treated as operating leases.  However, 

in the final version of standards although there is no significant difference from full 

TFRSs as well as from the IFRS for SMEs in an area of accounting for leases, the 

effective interest method is not required for apportionment of lease payment.    

(3) Basic financial instruments and investment in subsidiaries, associates and joint 

venture 

As mentioned earlier, the NPAE standards employed U.S. GAAP pertaining 

accounting for investments.  Indeed, this standard is familiar by Thai practitioners 

since it has been previously applied before the full adoption of IFRS.  This standard is 

applicable to basic financial instruments e.g. investments in equity securities, bonds, 

and other debt instruments.  As compared to the IFRS for SMEs regarding accounting 

for basic financial instruments, this standard is less complex.  Investments are 

measured at either fair value or cost depending on the type of investments: marketable 

or non-marketable and debt or equity investments.  In order to be consistent with no 

requirement of consolidated financial statements, investments in subsidiaries, 

associates, and joint ventures are instead measured at cost.   

(4) Biological assets and agricultural produce 

With regard to biological assets and agricultural produce, no specific guidance for 

measurement is available in the standards.  This might result from the fact that this 

transaction is less likely to be relevant to typical SMEs.  Besides, even in the financial 

reporting framework for public accountable entities requiring application of full 

TFRSs, accounting for agriculture, same as IAS 41 Agricultural, has not yet been 

implemented. 

(5) Intangible assets 

Overall, amortisation of all intangible assets is required by the standard.  The 

interpretation of TFRS for NPAEs in the FAP announcement No. 29/2554 further 

indicates that entities having intangible assets with cannot determine the useful life are 

required to amortise such intangible assets for 10 years, starting from the year in 
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which TFRS for NPAEs are effective.  This same useful life is also applied to 

goodwill, but under this standard goodwill is not considered as an intangible asset. 

 (6) Employee benefits and income taxes 

Accounting for employee benefits is quite new to Thai practitioners.  For NPAEs, this 

area is simplified substantially.  Accounting treatment for employee benefits is the 

same as those applied to contingent liabilities.  However, preparers have an option of 

using full TFRSs.  Likewise, deferred taxes are not applied in this standard.  Instead, 

all income taxes are recognised on accrual basis but the application of full TFRSs for 

this transaction is optional. 

(7) Borrowing costs 

The borrowing costs, same as the full TFRSs, capitalisation or expense are permitted 

when conditions are met.  However, in TFRS for NPAEs either effective interest 

method or another method yielding no significant different result is permitted when 

capitalise borrowing costs.   This is contrary to IFRS for SMEs which the borrowing 

costs are expensed.   

Table A2-2 highlights similarities and differences in some of accounting requirements 

in the IFRS for SMEs and TFRS for NPAEs and TASs version 2007 with exemptions.   

Table A2-2 Similarities and differences of selected GAAP in three sets of accounting standards  

Area 

Thai GAAP 

IFRS for SMEs TASs version 2007  
(with exemptions) 

TFRS for NPAEs 

Cash flow statement Exempted for non-
public companies 

Exclusion from a complete 
set of financial statements 

Inclusion in a complete set of 
financial statements 

Inventory valuation Lower of cost or net realisable value 

Depreciation of PPE Depreciated by component of assets 

Revaluation of 
property, plant, 
equipment 

Revaluation is optional No option for revaluation but 
disclosure of fair value in 

notes is permitted 

No option for revaluation 

Impairment of assets Exempted for non-
public companies 

Assessment of  impairment at each reporting period 

Leases Finance or operating 
leases 

Finance or operating leases 
but no requirement for 

effective interest method 

Finance or operating leases 

Research and 
development costs 

Expensed for research costs and capitalised for 
development costs 

Expensed 

Borrowing costs Capitalised and amortised Expensed 

Intangible assets Indefinite or definite 
useful lives 

Indefinite or definite useful 
lives (10 years if cannot 

determined) 

Definite useful lives 
(10 years if cannot 

determined) 

Note.  
(1) TASs version 2007 refers to accounting standards prior to the convergence with IFRS bound volume 2009.  
(2) This requirement is indicated in the FAP Announcement No. 29/2554 on 17 June 2001. 
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Appendix 3 Research instruments for interviews 

A3.1 Covering letter and consent form for interviews 
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INFORMED CONSENT FORM FOR INTERVIEWS 

Portsmouth Business School 

University of Portsmouth 

Portland Street 

Portsmouth PO1 3DE 

United Kingdom 

 

Financial Reporting by Small and Medium Enterprises (SMEs) in Thailand 

Dear Participants,  

You are invited to participate in a study designed to investigate the financial reporting by 
small and medium enterprises (SMEs) in Thailand.  The study seeks to identify SME financial 
statement users and their information needs and to evaluate the costs and benefits of SME 
financial reporting. The results will have implications for policy makers, academics, and 
business community.   

This study is a part of my PhD research programme, undertaken at the Department of 
Accounting and Finance, Portsmouth Business School, University of Portsmouth.  This 
project is supervised by Professor Mike Page, whose contact details are telephone: 44 (0)23 
9284 4148 and email: mike.page@port.ac.uk.  

Your participation is entirely voluntary and you are free to withdraw from the interview at any 
point.  The interview will be taped so that I can accurately reflect on what is discussed.  All 
information supplied during the data gathering will be kept strictly confidential and only 
aggregated data will be reported in the study so as to ensure your anonymity.  All data 
collected will be destroyed within 12 months after award of degree.    

If you have any questions about this interview, please contact: 

Sutthirat  Ploybut 
281/10-11 Moo. 3 Naimuang 
Phichai, Uttaradit, Thailand 53120 
Telephone: 66 (0)55 421 101   Mobile:  087 571 4653 
Email: sutthirat.ploybut@port.ac.uk  
 

Should you have any complaints concerning the manner in which this research conducted, 
please contact:  
The Complaints Officer  
Academic Registry, University House 
Winston Churchill Avenue 
Portsmouth, Hampshire PO1 2UP 
Telephone: 44 (0)23 9284 3642 
Email: complaintsadvice@port.ac.uk 

 

Yours sincerely, 

Sutthirat  Ploybut 
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CONSENT FORM FOR INTERVIEWS  

Portsmouth Business School 

University of Portsmouth 

Portland Street 

Portsmouth PO1 3DE 

United Kingdom 

 

 
Research Title: Financial Reporting by Small and Medium Enterprises (SMEs) in 

Thailand 
 

  Please tick in 

box 

 

1. I have read the information presented in the covering note about 

the research project being undertaken by Sutthirat Ploybut, a 

doctoral student at the Department of Accounting and Finance, 

University of Portsmouth. 

 

� 

2.  I have had an opportunity to have my questions related to this 

study answered and I know that should I have any comments or 

concerns resulting from my participation in this research, I may 

contact the researcher or her supervisor. 

 

� 

3.  I understand that my participation is voluntary and that I am free 

to withdraw at any time, without giving reason 

 

� 

 

Signature___________________________________ 

 

 

Date_______________________________________ 

 

 

Thank you very much for your valuable time and contribution 
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A3.2 Research instrument for interviews with SMEs, users and other stakeholders 

Group 1: Managers or directors of SMEs 

Date:       Time of interview:     

Name of interviewee:     Position of interviewee: 

Introduction Introduce myself and say thank you to owner/manager for agreeing to meet with me 

Explain briefly about the project (with an informed consent form), 

- the purpose of research and its contributions 

- how interviews will be conducted: taping and taking some notes 

- how responses will be treated: confidentiality  

If needed, provide a brief overview of the financial reporting by business entities e.g. keeping accounting records and preparing and 

publishing annual financial statements 

Ask for permission to tape record and obtain the participant’s signature on a consent form 

Topic Question Probe Prompt 

A. Background information 

 

Could you tell me about your 

business?  

What is your main type of business?   

- Is there any foreign business relationship? If yes, 
what is it? 

Foreign businesses: imports, 

exports, loans, 

shareholders/partners 

 How many years has your business been in operation?   

 What was the annual turnover for last year?  

 How many employees currently work in your 

business? 

 

 Is your business a subsidiary or controlled by another 

business?  If yes, who is it? 

Controlled by another business: 

listed or non-listed Thai or foreign 

company 

 What is the ownership structure? (e.g. number of 

directors or shareholders and non-participating 

owners) 

 

How long have you been working in/ 

with the SME sector? 

  

How do you see the business climate   
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for SMEs at the present time? 

What do you see as the main problems 

which SMEs are facing at the 

moment? 

  

How are businesses/your business you 

work with affected by regulations of 

one kind and another? 

What are the most burdensome regulations?  

 

 

How the burden of financial reporting regulations is 

as compared to other problems facing SMEs or e.g. 

tax regulations? 

 

B. Use of financial 

information 

 

- Management 

What information sources do you 

normally use to manage your 

business? 

 

Do you use your annual financial statements for the 

management of your business?  

If no, why not use it? 

If yes, how?  

- what are the main purposes of using it?  
- which specific information or parts of financial 

statements are used for business decisions e.g. 
balance sheet, profit and loss account or notes?   

- how important/useful is it? 
- does information provided in financial statements 

meet your information needs? If not, why? 

 

 

 

 

- Business partner What are information sources you 

normally use to decide whether to 

have business contacts with another 

business? 

Do you use financial information of your 
customers/suppliers? 
If no, why not use it? 

If yes, how? 

- what types of financial information do you 
usually use? 

- how do you acquire such information? 

 

Do you use their audited annual financial statements?  
If not, why not use it? 
If yes,  
- which parts of information in financial statements 
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do you find useful? 
- does information provided in financial statements 

meet your information needs? If yes, how/If no, 
why? 

- Competitor Do you use the financial information 

of your competitors? 

If yes,  
- what types of financial information do you 

usually use? 
- how do you acquire such information? 
- for what purposes, do you require such 

information? 
- have you ever used their audited annual financial 

statements? If yes, which parts of information in 
financial statements are you interested in? 

How competitors’ information is 
acquired?  Public records or other 
sources 

- Shareholder/partners How do you report to your 

shareholders/partners? 

How often?  
What type of reports is provided?  

 

C. Preparation and 

publication of financial 

statements 

What system do you use to prepare 

financial information?  

Who usually prepares the annual financial statements? 

- do you use accounting software? (If the financial 
statements are prepared internally) 

 

What do you think about financial 

statement audit? 

What are the purposes of requiring a financial 
statement audit? 

 

Are there benefits for your business from a financial 
statement audit? 

 

What are the benefits and costs of 

preparation and publication of annual 

financial statements? 

Are you concerned with competitive disadvantages or 
loss of privacy arising from the disclosure of 
information in annual financial statements? 

time, money, effort or other costs 

Who do you normally provide your 

annual financial statements to? (e.g. 

internal and external users) 

Which types of information do you prepare? 

- what are the purposes of providing such 
information in your annual financial statements? 
(If such provision is more than the minimum 
requirements) 

Information provided:  detail of 

expenses, cash flow statement etc. 

Do these parties require an audit of your annual 

financial statements? 

 

Apart from annual financial If yes,   
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statements, is there any other financial 

information you prepare for these 

users? 

- what are they?  
- for what purpose? 
- how often?  
- is there an audit requirement or other 

assurances for such information? 

D. Accounting Standards 

for SMEs 

Are you aware of the impact of Thai 

Accounting Standards on your 

business? 

What do you think about the effect of accounting 

standards on your business operations? 

 

To what extent do taxation rules 

influence your decision on accounting 

treatments and disclosure of 

information? 

  

What are the effects of accounting 

standard exemption on your business? 

Does the exemption reduce the burden/costs of 
compliance? 

 

Are there any negative effects resulting from using 
such exemptions on your business? What are they? 

 

If simpler accounting standards are 

developed for SMEs, which 

companies should use the simpler 

standards?   

  

E. IFRS for SMEs If the IFRS for SMEs is adopted in 

Thailand, what effects would it have 

on your business? 

  

Closing Those were all of the questions that we wanted to ask. 

Is there anything else you want to add? 

Thank you for your time 

Group 2: Accountants and auditors 

Date:       Time of interview:      

Name of interviewee:     Position of interviewee: 

Introduction Introduce myself and say thank you to accountants and auditors for agreeing to meet with me. 

Explain briefly about the project (with an informed consent form), 
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- the purpose of research and its contributions 

- how the interview will be conducted: taping and taking some notes 

- how responses will be treated: confidentiality  

Ask for permission to tape record and obtain participant’s signature on a consent form 

Topic Question Probe Prompt 

A. Background information  Could you tell me about your firm?  How many years has your firm been in operation?   

How many staff currently work in your firm?  

What kinds of services are provided by your firm?   

Which types of services do you normally provide for 

SME clients who are juristic businesses? 

 

What are the ownership structures of your SME 

clients? 

 

How do you see the business climate 

for SMEs at the present time? 

  

What do you see as the main problems 

which SMEs are facing at the 

moment? 

  

How are your clients affected by 

regulations of one kind or another? 

What are the most burdensome regulations?   

How is the burden of financial reporting regulations 

compared with other problems facing SMEs e.g. tax 

regulations? 

Note: if tax regulations were 

mentioned, point out the 

differences between costs of 

compliance regulations and tax 

payment itself 

B. Preparation and 

publication of financial 

statements 

What financial reports do you usually 

prepare for your SME clients? 

 Types of financial reports: annual 

financial statements, cash flow or 

management reports etc. 

How do you prepare annual financial 

statements for SME clients? 

Do you use accounting software?  

For what purposes are annual 

financial statements prepared for SME 

Which types of statements/information are provided in 

annual financial statements? 
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clients?  - If the information disclosed is more than 

required, what incentives are your SME 

clients expected to receive from providing 

such information? 

Whom do you view as the main users 

of SME annual financial statements? 

Do these parties demand an audit of annual financial 

statements? 

 

Which information items in financial statements do 

you think is useful for the main users? 

 

Do SMEs really need an audit?  What 

are the costs and benefits? 

  

What are the costs and benefits of 

preparation and publication of annual 

financial statements? 

Are your clients concerned with the competitive 

disadvantage or loss of privacy arising from the 

disclosure of information in annual financial 

statements? 

time, money, effort or other costs 

C. Uses of financial 

statements 

- Management  

How do your SME clients manage 

their businesses?  

Do your SME clients use annual financial statements? 

- If no, why not use it? 

- If yes, how?  

 

- Business partners 

or competitors 

Have you ever acquired financial 

information from other businesses 

(e.g. a competitor or customer) for 

your SME clients? 

If yes,  

- what types of financial information? 

- for what purposes? 

- how do you acquire such information? 

How: directly request from  

customers or acquire from e.g. 

public records or other sources 

D. Accounting Standards for 

SMEs 

What do you think about the effect of 

accounting standards on SMEs? 

  

Can you tell me your experience of 

non-compliance with accounting 

standards by your SME clients? 

If so, what are the reasons for such deviation from 

accounting standards? 

 

To what extent do taxation rules influence your SME 

clients’ decisions or your decisions on accounting 

treatments and disclosure of information? 

 

What are the effects of accounting 

standard exemption on SMEs? 

Does the exemption reduce the burden/costs of 

compliance? 
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Are there any negative effects resulting from using 

such exemptions to SMEs? 

 

What do you see as the most 

important exemption from full Thai 

accounting standards for SMEs? 

Which recognition or measurement principles do you 

find too complex or irrelevant for SMEs? 

 

If simpler accounting standards are 

developed for SMEs, which 

companies should use the simpler 

standards?   

Why?  

E. IFRS for SMEs If the IFRS for SMEs is adopted in 

Thailand, what effects would it have 

on SMEs? 

   

Closing Those were all of the questions that we wanted to ask 

Is there anything else you want to add? 

Thank you for your time 

Group3: Regulatory agency and standard setters 

Date:       Time of interview:      

Name of interviewee:     Position of interviewee: 

Introduction Introduce myself and say thank you to regulators and standard setters for agreeing to meet with me. 

Explain briefly about the project (with an informed consent form), 

- the purpose of research and its contributions 

- how the interview will be conducted: taping and taking some notes 

- how responses will be treated: confidentiality  

Ask for permission to tape record and obtain participant’s signature on a consent form 

Topic Question Probe Prompt 

A. Background information  Could you tell me about your 

function/role?  

  

How long have you been working in 

this position? 
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B. Preparation and 

publication of financial 

statements 

What are the purposes of financial 

reporting in Thailand?  

  

Whom do you view as the main users 

of SME annual financial statements? 

Do these users/parties require an audit of annual 

financial statements? 

 

What difficulties are SMEs facing in 

terms of preparation and publication of 

financial statements?  

  

What are the costs and benefits of 

preparation and publication of annual 

financial statements? 

Do SMEs really need an audit?  

What are the costs and benefits for SMEs from a 

financial statement audit? 

 

For a regulatory agency, what is the 

quality of financial information in 

statutory financial statements?  

  

C. Accounting Standards 

for SMEs 

What are the effects of accounting 

standards on SMEs? 

  

What do you think should be the role of 

accounting standards for SMEs? 

  

What are the effects of accounting 

standard exemption on SMEs? 

Does the exemption reduce the burden/costs of 

compliance? 

 

Are there any negative effects resulting from using 

such exemptions on SMEs? 

 

What is the level of compliance with 

accounting rules and standards by 

SMEs? 

Why does non-compliance with accounting rules and 

standards exist? 

 

To what extent do taxation rules 

influence SMEs’ decision on 

accounting treatments and disclosure of 

information? 

  

What do you see as the most important 

exemption from Thai accounting 

Which recognition or measurement methods do you 

think too complex or irrelevant for SMEs? 
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standards for SMEs? 

If simpler accounting standards are 

developed for SMEs, which companies 

should use the simpler standards? 

Why?  

D. IFRS for SMEs If the IFRS for SMEs is adopted in 

Thailand, what effects would it have on 

SMEs? 

  

Closing Those were all of the questions that we wanted to ask 

Is there anything else you want to add? 

Thank you for your time 

Group4 : External users 

Date:       Time of interview:      

Name of interviewee:     Position of interviewee: 

Introduction Introduce myself and say thank you to external users for agreeing to meet with me. 

Explain briefly about the project (with an informed consent form), 

- the purpose of research and its contributions 

- how the interview will be conducted: taping and taking some notes 

- how responses will be treated: confidentiality  

If needed, provide a brief overview of financial reporting by business entities (e.g. keeping accounting records and preparing and 

publishing annual financial statements) 

Ask for permission to tape record and obtain participant’s signature on a consent form 

Topic Question Probe Prompt 

A. Background information  Could you tell me about your entity’s 

function/job?  

How long have you been working in this position?  

How do you see the business climate 

for SMEs at the present time? 

What do you see as the main problems SMEs are 

facing at the moment? 

 

B. Uses of financial 

statements  

What information sources about SMEs 

do you normally use for your job? 

How do you access such information?  

Do you use the annual financial statements in your 

job? 
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If not, why do you not use them? 

If yes, how?  

- what are the purposes of using it? 

- Which specific information or parts of 

financial statements are used for your job?   

- how important/useful is it? 

- does information provided in financial 

statements meet your information needs? 

how or how do they not? 

Do you require the audit of financial statements?  

C. Preparation and 

publication of financial 

statements 

What difficulties are SMEs facing 

when preparing and publishing 

financial statements?  

  

What are the costs and benefits of 

preparation and publication of annual 

financial statements? 

  

D. Accounting Standards for 

SMEs 

What do you see as the impact of Thai 

Accounting Standards on SMEs? 

  

What do you think the role of 

accounting standards for SMEs should 

be? 

  

What do you think about using simpler 

accounting standards for SMEs? 

Do you foresee any impact on your decisions or the 

usefulness of information resulting from using 

financial statements prepared by simpler standards? 

 

If the simpler accounting standards are 

developed for SMEs, which companies 

should use the simpler standards?   

Why?  

E. IFRS for SMEs If the IFRS for SMEs is adopted in 

Thailand, what effects, if any, would it 
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have on your work or SMEs?  

Closing Those were all of the questions that we wanted to ask 

Is there anything else you want to add? 

Thank you for your time 

Note. 

Unlike credit rating agencies in other countries, a credit information agency, who being interviewed in the current study, does not provide a credit rating based on 

businesses’ financial statements, so the interview instrument was adjusted to obtain information regarding the functions of the credit information agency as follows: 

1. What kind of credit information do you currently provide to your clients? 

2. How is such credit information obtained, processed, and reported? 

- Are businesses’ financial statements used as a source of credit information? why or why not? 

- Do you have a credit rating of business information? If yes, how do you do it? 

3. Who are the users of your credit information? 
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Appendix 4 Research instruments for questionnaire surveys 

A4.1 Data requirements table for development of questionnaire instrument 

Investigative questions Detail in which data measured Link to 

question no. 

Sources 

RQ1: Who are the users of SME financial statements?   

Who use the entity’s annual 

financial statements? 

Q: Whom do you view as the main users of your annual financial statement?  

A: List of users (internal and external) 

Q8    

 

Previous studies and financial reporting 

framework of  Thai Accounting 

Standards (TASs) and the IFRS for 

SMEs 

Q; What is the primary reason that your entity prepares audited financial 

statements? 

A: List of reasons  

Q4 

Do these user groups have 

other information the entity 

provides? 

Q: What additional information do you find useful for business decisions? 

A: List of  reports: 5 rating with  not use, less useful to very useful 

Q12 Previous studies and list of reports 

extracted from findings of the study of 

SMEs in Thailand  

RQ2. How do different user groups use financial statements?     

What information in the 

annual financial statements is 

used? 

 

Q: How useful are the following financial statements in annual accounts of 

your entity to you, personally, as sources of financial information for business 

decisions? 

A: List of reports: 5 rating with  not use, less useful to very useful 

Q11 

 

 

 

Previous studies regarding internal use of 

financial statements and other reports, 

such as Sian & Roberts (2009) 

Dang  (2007), Collis & Jarvis (2003) 

What are the purposes of 

using the annual financial by 

the entity’s management? 

 

Q: Have you ever used the annual financial statements of your entity for the 

following purposes? 

A: List of purposes: 5 rating with never, seldom to always 

Q9 Adapted from previous studies e.g. 

AICPA, (2005) and Dang-Duc (2007)  

Q: For what purposes do you use your entity’s annual financial statements? 

A: List of (internal) uses 

Q10 Previous studies e.g. Page (1984)  

What information in the 

annual financial statements is 

used by trade creditors? 

Note: the entity management 

is also in a position of trade 

creditor of other SMEs 

Q: If you sell goods on credit or have another business relationship with an 

SME, how important are the following sources of information to you for 

making decision? 

A: List of items normally contained in the financial statements; 5 rating with 

not used, less useful to very useful 

Q13 Studies regarding information needs of 

external users of public and private 

companies; asking the respondents to 

identify their uses or assess the 

importance of the information items 

contained in the annual statements 
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Investigative questions Detail in which data measured Link to 

question no. 

Sources 

RQ3. To what extend do SME stakeholders require independent attestation (e.g. audit)?   

What is the purpose of 

requiring audit of financial 

statements? 

Q: What is in your view on the purpose of requiring audit of financial 

statements in accounting laws? 

A: List of functions of audits 

Q5 Studies regarding auditing, especially 

statutory audit of small company e.g. 

Collis et al. (2004), Page (1991), Rennie 

and Senkow (2009), Senkow et al. 

(2001), Tabone and Baldacchino (2003)   

How do different user groups 

require independent audit? 

Q: Would your entity continue to have its financial statement audit if it was 

not required by law?  

A: List of reasons for continue to audit, including benefit for the entity and 

other parties 

Q6 Prior studies pertaining identification of 

reasons for voluntary audit e.g. Collis 

and Jarvis (2000) 

RQ4. What are the costs and benefits of SME financial reporting as perceived by SMEs, users of their 

financial statements and other stakeholders? 

  

What are the perceptions of 

SMEs toward costs and 

benefits of financial reporting 

requirements? 

Q: In general, do you feel that rules and regulations governing your entity’s 

preparation and publication of accounts have become better or worse in the 

past few years? 

A: Two main regulations: (1) Accounting Act and related regulations and (2) 

Thai Accounting Standards: 3 rating with better, same, worse and option for 

‘do not know’ 

Q3 Lyle (2008) 

Q: Are you aware of the impact of Thai Accounting Standards (TASs) on your 

entity? 

A:  4 choices pertaining to different levels of awareness  

Q15 - 

Q: What is your view on the role of accounting standards? 

A: 3 choices with different perceptions 

Q16 Beattie, Goodacre, and Thomson (2006)  

Q: To what extent do you agree or disagree with the following statements? 

A: Statements regarding costs and benefits of financial reporting: 5 rating with 

strongly disagree to strongly agree 

Q7 Previous studies e.g. Carsberg, et al. 

(1985) 
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Investigative questions Detail in which data measured Link to 

question no. 

Sources 

What are the effects from 

using differential financial 

reporting standards on the 

entity? 

Q: Does your entity currently use accounting standard exemptions available 

in TASs? 

A: Yes/No/Do not know with option to provide reason for the selected 

choice 

Q17  

Q: If your entity used financial statements based on simpler rules than those 

published by public companies, what effect would it have on applying for 

loans or investment? 

A: Two user groups: (1) lender (2) investors with 5 rating with very negative 

effect, no effect to very positive effect  

Q18 Study of differential reporting for private 

entities in Canada by Rennie and Senkow 

(2009) 

RQ 6. What are the potential costs and benefits of adopting the IFRS for SMEs to SME stakeholders?   

What effect would the 

adoption of the IFRS for 

SMEs have on SMEs? 

Q: Thailand may adopt the IFRS for SMEs, rather than using Thai standards, 

what effect would that have? 

A: List of potential costs and benefits: 5 rating with strongly disagree to 

strongly agree 

Note: a brief explanation for the IFRs for SMEs is provided in this question 

Q19 The potential costs and benefits from the 

adoption of the IFRS for SMEs on entities 

mentioned in literature and articles 

regarding the IFRS for SMEs 

Q: How do you rate the following accounting treatments used for 

preparation of financial statements in terms of costs incurred in relation to 

benefits to your entity? 

A: List of accounting treatments for selected accounting topics: 5 rating with 

costs outweigh benefits, costs fit with benefits, benefits outweigh costs and 

do not know 

Q20 Beattie, Goodacre, and Thomson (2006)  

Q: If the IFRS for SMEs is permitted in addition to the existing TASs, what 

would you entity do? 

A: Adopt, Not, and Not sure 

Q21  
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Investigative questions Detail in which data measured Link to 

question no. 

Sources 

Data for cross analysis Q: How does your entity keep record of business transactions? 

A: Different types of accounting systems e.g. manual, computerised system, 

combination 

Q1 the study of  Collis (2003) 

 Q: Which of the following services are supplied by external professional 

accountants to your entity? 

A: Different types of services 

Q2  

 Q: Which foreign businesses affect your entity? 

A: List of business contacts 

Q24  

 Q: Does your entity have owners who are not directors/managers or not 

involved in the management of business? 

A: Yes/No 

Q25  

 Q: Please give your best estimate, the proportion of share capital held by 

directors/managers 

A: Percentage of share capital 

Q26  

 Questions regarding characteristics of businesses: legal form independence 
of entity, industry, age of business, number of employees and annual 
turnover 

Q22-23 

and 

Q27-30 

 

 Questions regarding profile of respondents: 
education level and job position 

Q31-32  

Note. 

(1) RQ5 was not investigated through questionnaire surveys. 

(2) Question 14 and 33 are opened-questions asking for comments regarding financial reporting requirements   

(3) Other prior studies used as sources for develop questionnaire instruments are, for example (Bollen, 1996), Barker and Noonan (1996) and Maingot and Zeghal (2006) 
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A4.2 Invitation and follow-up letters for web-based survey 

 

Invitation letter (send via e-mail) 

 
Portsmouth Business School 
University of Portsmouth 
Portland Street 
Portsmouth PO1 3DE 
United Kingdom 
 

October 2010 

Dear Sir/Madam,  

My name is Sutthirat Ploybut.  I am a PhD student at the Department of Accounting and 

Finance, Portsmouth Business School, University of Portsmouth, United Kingdom.  As part of 

my degree, I am currently conducting a research study and I would like to invite you to 

participate.   

I am investigating the financial reporting by small and medium enterprises (SMEs) in 

Thailand which aims to identify SME financial statement users and their information needs 

and to evaluate the costs and benefits of SME financial reporting. The results will have 

implications for policy makers, academics, and business community.   

It should take 15-20 minutes to complete this questionnaire.  Taking part in this survey is your 

decision and you are free to withdraw from the survey at any point.  All information supplied 

during the data gathering will be kept strictly confidential and only aggregated data will be 

reported in the study so as to ensure your anonymity.  All data collected will be destroyed 

within 12 months after award of degree.    

If you would like to participate, please click on the following link: ... 

If you have any questions, please contact me at telephone xxx-xxxxxx or email: 

sutthirat.ploybut@port.ac.uk 

Thank you in advance for your cooperation. 

Yours sincerely, 

Sutthirat Ploybut 

Doctoral Student 
University of Portsmouth 

Please note: If by some chance we make a mistake and you are not involved in neither the 

uses of financial reports or preparation and publication of financial statements, please click the 

link below, and you will be automatically removed from our mailing list.   Thank a lot.  

[RemoveLink] 
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Follow up letter to non-responses (two week after) 

 
Portsmouth Business School 
University of Portsmouth 
Portland Street 
Portsmouth PO1 3DE 
United Kingdom 
 

October 2010 

Dear Sir/Madam,  

I am inviting your participation in the research study designed to investigate the financial 

reporting by small and medium enterprises (SMEs) in Thailand.  The study seeks to identify 

SME financial statement users and their information needs and to evaluate the costs and 

benefits of SME financial reporting.  The results will have implications for policy makers, 

academics, and business community.   

It should take 15-20 minutes to complete this questionnaire; however, your participation is 

entirely voluntary and you are free to withdraw from the survey at any point.  All information 

supplied during the data gathering will be kept strictly confidential and only aggregated data 

will be reported in the study so as to ensure your anonymity.  All data collected will be 

destroyed within 12 months after award of degree.    

 
If you would like to participate, please click on the following link…………………… 

 
If you have any questions, please contact me at telephone xxx-xxxxxx or email: 

sutthirat.ploybut@port.ac.uk 

Thank you very much for your valuable time and contribution. 

Yours sincerely, 

Sutthirat  Ploybut 

Doctoral Student 
University of Portsmouth 

Please note: If by some chance we make a mistake and you are not directly involved in neither 

the uses of financial reports or preparation and publication of financial statements, please click 

the link below, and you will be automatically removed from our mailing list.   Thank a lot.  

[RemoveLink] 
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Follow up letter to non-responses (four weeks after) 

 
Portsmouth Business School 
University of Portsmouth 
Portland Street 
Portsmouth PO1 3DE 
United Kingdom 
  

November 2010 

Dear Sir/Madam,  

About four weeks ago, I have written the letter to you  requesting for your participation in the 

research study designed to investigate the financial reporting by SMEs in Thailand.  I am 

writing to you again, due to the importance of your response to my study.  By receiving 

responses from everyone who is selected, I can be sure that the results of the study are 

representative. 

I would be very grateful if you would fill out the questionnaire as soon as possible.  Your 

participation in the study is your decision. You are free to withdraw from the survey at any 

point.  All information supplied during the data gathering will be kept strictly confidential and 

only aggregated data will be reported in the study so as to ensure your anonymity.  All data 

collected will be destroyed within 12 months after award of degree.    

 

To complete the survey please click on the following link…………………… 

 
If you have any questions, please contact me at telephone xxx-xxxxxx or email: 

sutthirat.ploybut@port.ac.uk 

Thank you very much for your valuable time and contribution. 

Yours sincerely, 

Sutthirat  Ploybut 

Doctoral Student 

University of Portsmouth 

 

Please note: If by some chance we make a mistake and you are not directly involved in neither 

the uses of financial reports or preparation and publication of financial statements, please click 

the link below, and you will be automatically removed from our mailing list.   Thank a lot.  

[RemoveLink]  
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A4.3 Covering letter and questionnaire instrument (English version) 

Financial Reporting by SMEs in Thailand 

Welcome to the survey 
 
Dear Participants, 
 

This research seeks to identify SME financial statement users and their information needs and 
to evaluate the costs and benefits of SME financial reporting. The results will have 
implications for policy makers, academics, and business community.  
 
This study is a part of my PhD research programme, undertaken at the Department of 
Accounting and Finance, Portsmouth Business School, University of Portsmouth. This project 
is supervised by Professor Mike Page, whose contact details are telephone: 44 (0)23 9284 
4148 and email: mike.page@port.ac.uk. 
 
Your participation is entirely voluntary and you are free to withdraw from the survey at any 
point. All information supplied during the data gathering will be kept strictly confidential and 
only aggregated data will be reported in the study so as to ensure your anonymity. All data 
collected will be destroyed within 12 months after award of degree. 
 
If you have any problems with, or queries about this questionnaire, please email me at 
sutthirat.ploybut@port.ac.uk 
 
Should you have any complaints concerning the manner in which this research conducted, 
please contact: 
The Complaints Officer 
Academic Registry 
Winston Churchill Avenue 
Portsmouth PO1 2UP United Kingdom 
Telephone: 44 (0)23 9284 3642 
Email: complaintsadvice@port.ac.uk 
Website: www.port.ac.uk/compliants  
 
Your sincerely 
Sutthirat  Ploybut 
 
Instructions:  

 
This questionnaire consists of 4 parts. It should take about 15-20 minute to complete. 
 
Part 1 Preparation and publication of financial statements  
Part 2 Use of financial information  
Part 3 Accounting standards for SMEs  
Part 4 Demographic information 
 
1. Please answer all questions by checking or writing in the appropriate boxes.   
2. In some instance you may give more than one answer and provide reasons for your choice.  
3. Please ensure that you respond to each statement contained in the question.  
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Financial Reporting by SMEs in Thailand 

Part 1: Preparation and publication of financial statements 

Good financial management requires businesses to keep records of their business 
transactions and use this financial information from time to time for making business 
decisions. The law in Thailand requires businesses to prepare annual financial statements, 
have them audited, and send a copy of their audited annual financial statements e.g. balance 
sheet, profit and loss statement to shareholders and to the Department of Business 
Development, the Ministry of Commerce. These audited annual financial statements become 
public documents that anyone can inspect. 

1. How does your entity keep records of business transactions? 

O Manual record keeping O Use a tailored-made computerised accounting system 

O Use an off-the-shelf accounting software package O Combination of manual and computersied system 

O Other (please specify)  

 

2. Which of the following services are supplied by external professional 
accountants to your entity? (tick all that apply) 

� Bookkeeping � Audit service 

� Preparation of statutory accounts � Business/financial advice 

� Taxation service  

� Other (please specify) 

 

3. In general do you feel that rules and regulations governing your 
entity's preparation and publication of accounts have become better or 
worse in the past few years? 
 Better Same Worse Do not 

know 

1. Accounting Act and related regulations O O O O 

2. Thai Accounting Standards (TASs) O O O O 

4. What is the primary reason that your entity prepares audited financial 
statements? 

O Reporting to owners e.g. shareholders/partners O Meeting regulatory requirements of accounting or tax laws 

O Reporting to external parties e.g. banks, trade creditors O Providing information to your entity management 

O Other (please specify) 
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Financial Reporting by SMEs in Thailand 

5. What is in your view on the purpose of requiring audit of financial 
statements in accounting laws? 

 
Strongly 

agree Disagree Neutral Agree 
Strongly 
disagree 

1. To provide assurance for shareholders and other external 

parties 

O O O O O 

2. To assist an entity in the detection of fraud and error O O O O O 

3. To verify the accuracy of the entity's accounting records O O O O O 

4. To maintain the quality of accounting information in public 

record 

O O O O O 

6. Would your entity continue to have its financial statements audited if it 
was NOT required by law? (tick all that apply) 

� Yes, required by owners � Yes, to detect fraud 

� Yes, required by banks � Yes, to reduce queries from tax authorities 

� Yes, required by trade creditors � No, to save cost 

� Yes, to improve the entity's internal control system  

� Other (please specify)  

 

7. To what extent do you agree/disagree with the following statements? 
 Strongly 

agree Disagree Neutral Agree 
Strongly 
disagree 

1. The costs of producing annual accounts exceed benefits to 

the entity 

O O O O O 

2. I heavily rely on my accountant to determine the form and 

content of our annual accounts 

O O O O O 

3. I am very concerned that some items disclosed in the 

accounts might cause a competitive disadvantages for the entity 

O O O O O 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  



 

333 

 

Financial Reporting by SMEs in Thailand 

Part 2: Use of financial information 

8. Financial statement information is potentially read by a wide range of 
people (users) to help them make business decisions. 

Whom do you view as the main users of your annual financial 
statements? (tick all that apply) 

� Your entity management e.g. directors/managers � Financiers e.g. banks/financial institutions 

� Your shareholders/partners � Investors e.g. venture capitalists/business angels 

� Your employees � Department of Business Development 

� Business contacts e.g. trade 

creditors/suppliers/customers 
� Revenue Department (tax authorities) 

� Other (please specify) 

 

9. Have you ever used the annual financial statements of your entity for 
the following purposes? 

 Never Seldom Sometime Usually Always 

1. Applying for capital from banks or investors O O O O O 

2. Obtaining credit from suppliers or trade creditors O O O O O 

3. Supporting bidding on contracts or obtaining a license O O O O O 

4. Comparing your entity's performance with that of competitors O O O O O 

5. Showing compliance with loan covenants in borrowing 

agreement 

O O O O O 

10. For what purposes do you use your entity's annual financial 
statements? (tick all that apply) 

� Deciding dividends � Estimating income tax liabilities 

� Marketing and pricing decisions � Planning (short/long-term) 

� Capital investment decisions � Deciding employees’ pay and bonus 

� Other (please specify) 
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Financial Reporting by SMEs in Thailand 

11. How useful are the following financial statements in annual accounts 
of your entity to you, personally, as sources of financial information for 
business decisions? 
 

Not used Less useful 
Somewhat 

useful Useful Very useful 

1. Balance sheet O O O O O 

2. Profit and loss statement O O O O O 

3. Statement of changes in equity O O O O O 

4. Cash flow statement O O O O O 

5. Notes to financial statements O O O O O 

6. Auditors’ report O O O O O 

7. Other reports (please rate and specify in 

box) 

O O O O O 

Name of reports 

 

12. In addition to the statements in Q11, what additional financial 
information do you find useful for business decisions? 
 

Not used Less useful 
Somewhat 

useful Useful Very useful 

1. Management accounts (monthly or 

quarterly) 

O O O O O 

2. Budgets O O O O O 

3. Variance analysis O O O O O 

4. Aging reports of debtor balance O O O O O 

5. Financial ratio analysis O O O O O 

6. Other reports (please rate and specify in 

box) 

O O O O O 

Name of reports 

 

13. If you sell goods on credit or have another business relationship with 
an SME, how important are the following sources of information to you 
for making decision to grant more credit or carry on sales? 
 Not 

important 
Slightly 

important 
Moderate 
important Important 

Very 
important 

1. Their accounts (balance sheet, profit and loss 

accounts) 

O O O O O 

2. Information of related party transactions e.g. loans 

to/from directors 

O O O O O 

3. Their history of payment with your business O O O O O 

4. References from banks O O O O O 

5. References from other firms O O O O O 

6. Other sources (please rate and specify in 

box) 

O O O O O 

Name of informaiton sources 
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Financial Reporting by SMEs in Thailand 

14. What information would you find useful but it is not currently shown 
in the annual financial statements? 

 

 

 

 

Part 3: Accounting standards for SMEs 

Statutory annual financial statements have to be prepared in accordance with Thai Accounting 
Standards and related regulations. Currently, non-public companies are exempted from 8 
accounting standards, such as, preparation of cash flow statement and disclosure of related 
party transactions. 

15. Are you aware of the impact of Thai Accounting Standards (TASs) on 
your entity? 

� Yes, I am fully aware of the impact of TASs � Yes, I know, but it is not related to my business 

� Yes, I know its existence but not know in detail � No, I do not know 

16. What is your view on the role of accounting standards? 

O Unnecessary intrusion into your entity's activities  

O Desirable and impose no significant burden on your 
entity 

 

O Desirable but do impose significant burden on your entity  

17. Does your entity currently use accounting standards exemptions 
available in TASs? 

O Yes (please give your reason in box) O Do not know, my accountant deals with it 

O No (please give your reason in box)  

18. If your entity used financial statements based on simpler rules than 
those published by public companies, what effect would it have on 
applying for loans or investment? 

 

Very 
negative 

effect 
Negative 

effect No effect 
Positive 
effect 

Very 
positive 
effect 

1. Lender's decisions on granting a loan O O O O O 

2. Potential investor's decisions on investing in the 

entity 
O O O O O 
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Financial Reporting by SMEs in Thailand 

19. Currently, there is another set of international accounting standards designed mainly for 

SMEs worldwide, called IFRS for SMEs. In comparison with TASs, the measurement and 
recognition methods are simplified and the disclosure requirements are significantly reduced, 
only 10 percent of current requirements. 

Thailand may adopt International Accounting Standards for SMEs (IFRS 
for SMEs), rather than using Thai standards, what effect would that have? 
 Strongly 

agree Disagree Neutral Agree 
Strongly 
disagree 

1. Improve the ability of the entity to obtain capital at lower costs O O O O O 

2. Increase the competitiveness of the entity in international 

markets 

O O O O O 

3. Reducing burden on the entity in comparison with full TASs O O O O O 

4. Still too costly for the entity to apply O O O O O 

5. Reduce users' ability to compare the entity’s financial 

statement information with those of public companies 

O O O O O 

Other (please specify) 

 

 

20. In practice, it costs money to provide financial statement information. Costs include 

information collection and processing costs and potential indirect costs such as competitive 

disadvantages. The benefits expected from the provision of such information include uses 

and usefulness of such information in making decisions of one kind or another of internal 

and/or external users. 

How do you rate the following accounting treatments used for 
preparation of financial statements in terms of costs incurred in relation 
to benefits to your entity? 

 Costs 
outweigh 
benefits 

Costs fit 
with 

benefits 

Benefits 
outweigh 

costs 
Do not 
know 

1. Revaluation of property, plant and equipment O O O O 

2. Capitalisation of borrowing costs O O O O 

3. Treatment of all types of leases (except hire-purchase) as 
expenses 

O O O O 

4. Amortisation of intangible assets with a finite useful life O O O O 

21. If the IFRS for SMEs is permitted in addition to the existing TASs, 
what would your entity do? 

O Adopt the IFRS for SMEs (please give your reason in box) 

O Continue to use TASs (please give your reason in box) 

O Not sure, would seek advice from advisor before making decision 

Reason for your choice 
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Financial Reporting by SMEs in Thailand 

Part 4: Demographic information 

22. Business format of your entity 

O Sole proprietor O Limited company 

O Registered ordinary partnership O Public limited company 

O Registered partnership  

23. Is your entity a subsidiary of or controlled by another business? 

O Yes, a Thai non-quoted business O Yes, an oversea business 

O Yes, a Thai quoted business O No, we are an independent entity 

24. Which foreign businesses affect your entity? (tick all that apply) 

� Customers/Suppliers (Import/Export) � Competitors 

� Lenders (e.g. banks) � Shareholders/partners 

� Subsidiaries � None 

� Other (please specify) 

  

25. Does your entity have owners who are NOT directors/managers or 
NOT involved in the management of the business? 

O Yes O No 

26. Please give your best estimate, the proportion of share capital held 
by 
directors/managers 

O 0% O 50-69% 

O 1-19% O 70-89% 

O 20-49% O 90-100% 

27. Type of main business 

O Manufacturing O Retail 

O Agriculture O Wholesale/distribution 

O Service  
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Financial Reporting by SMEs in Thailand 

28. Year(s) in business 

O less than 1 year O 7-10 years 

O 1-3 years O more than 10 years 

O 4-6 years  

29. Number of employees (current year) 

O less than 10 O 101-250 

O 10-50  O more than 250 

O 51-100  

30. Annual turnover (last year) 

O less than 1 million baht O 51-100 million baht 

O 1-5 million baht O more than 100 million baht 

O 6-50 million baht  

31. Your highest level of formal education 

O High school or equivalent O Master 

O Diploma or equivalent  O Doctoral 

O Bachelor or equivalent  

32. Your position in the entity 

O Managing director O Staff 

O Manager O Owner-manager 

O Assistant manager O Owner/shareholder 

O Other (please specify) 

 

33. If you have any general comments regarding financial reporting by 
SMEs, please state below 
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Financial Reporting by SMEs in Thailand 

End of survey 

Thank you again for completing this questionnaire. 
 
Please now click "finish" to submit the data and exit the survey. 

 

34. If you would like to have a summary of the finding of the research, 
please provide your contact address 
 
Name:   

Address 1: 

Address 2: 

Province: 

Postal code: 

Email Address: 

Phone Number: 
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A4.4 Covering letter and questionnaire instrument (Thai version) 
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Appendix 5 Disclosure checklist and balance sheet structure 

A5.1 Disclosure checklist for SME financial statements 

Disclosure Checklist 

Section 1: Information of Business Entity  

Business name:   Reference number:  

Main business operations:   

Legal form of business:   

 1: Private limited company   4: Joint venture 

 2: Limited partnership   5. Foreign business company 

 3. Registered ordinary partnership 

 

Characteristics of business:    2007 Information of 

financial statements 

in the database 

available up to 2007  

1 Age of business (as of ending the year 2007)  

2 Total assets  

3 Annual turnover   

4 Profitability  

Section 2: Statutory Financial Report Filing  

  
2007  

Yes/No 
 

5 Filing of financial statements as required by laws:   

6 Do financial statements include comparative figure?  Only apply if an 

entity is a limited 

company 

7 Are financial statements audited?   

If yes;   

What is the type of audit and opinion? 

Type of audit 1: financial statement audit    2: tax audit 

  

Auditor’s opinion: 

 1: Unqualified  2: Qualified 

 3: Disclaimer  4: Adverse 

 Reasons for issuing 

a report other than 

unqualified opinion 

8 Does the entity opt to be exempted from non-mandatory accounting 

standards of not-public limited companies? 

  

Section 3: Disclosure Items  

 
Balance Sheet 

2007 

Y/N/NA 
 

Sources 

 Assets    

1 Cash and cash at financial institutions   DBD 

(2009c) 

 
2 Temporary investments   

3 Trade accounts receivables, net   

4 Short-term loans to related parties   

5 Short-term loans to others   

6 Inventories   

7 Other current assets   

8 Investment in associates or joint venture   

9 Long-term investments    

10 Long-term loans to related parties   

11 Long-term loans to others   
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12 Property, plant, and equipment, net   

13 Intangible assets    

14 Other non-current assets   

15 Other financial assets   TAS 35 

 Liabilities    

16 Bank overdraft and short-term loans from financial institutions   DBD 

(2009c) 

 

 

17 Trade  accounts payable   

18 Current portion of long-term loans or leases   

19 Short-term  loans from related parties   

20 Short-term  loans from others    

21 Other current liabilities   

22 Long-term loans from related parties   

23 Long-term loans from others    

24 Leases   DBD 

(2009c) 

25 Provisions    

26 Other non-current liabilities   

 Equity    

27 Company: authorized share capital (preferred/common shares): 

amount, number and par value per share of authorized shares  or 

Partnership: partners’ capitals 

  DBD 

(2009c) 

28 Issued and paid-up shares: amount, number, and par value per share   

29 Additional paid-in capital: premium on shares   

30 Appropriated retained earnings: legal and other reserves   

31 Unrealised gain (loss) from e.g. investments or revaluation     

 32 Unappropriated retained earnings (losses)   

 Profit and Loss Statement 
2007 

Y/N/NA 
  

33 Revenues from sales or services    DBD 

(2009c) 34 Other incomes   

35 Equity gain (loss) from associates and/or affiliate companies   

36 Costs of sales or services   

37 Selling and administrative expenses   

38 Other expenses   

39 Equity loss from associates and/or affiliate companies   

40 Finance costs   

41 Income tax expenses    

42 Profit (loss) from operation   

43 Extra ordinary items   

44 Net profit (loss)   

 Earnings per share   

45 � Profit (loss) from operation   

46 � Extra ordinary items   

47 � Net profit (loss)   

 Statement of Changes in Shareholder’s Equity    

48 Share capital at the beginning and ending of the period   DBD 

(2009c) 

and  

TAS 35 

49 Movement in share capital for the period e.g. issuance of new shares   

50 Retained earnings (losses) at the beginning and ending of the period   

 Movement in retained earnings (losses) for the period:   
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51 � Profit (loss) for the period   

52 � Effects from changes in accounting policies, correction of 
errors 

  

53 � Unrealised gain (loss) e.g. from investments and revaluation    

54 � Dividends and/or legal reserves   

 Notes to Financial Statements 2007 

Y/N/NA 
  

 General Information (accounting policy)    

55 � Domicile and legal status of an entity, address   TAS 35 

56 � Nature of business operations and main activities   

57 � Parent or subsidiaries (if any)   

58 � Number of employees at the end of period or average for 
period  

  

59 � Changes in accounting period, business names or status   

60 � Liquidation of an entity   

61 � Going concern issue (if any)   

62 � Problems in discontinuing operation   

 Basis of financial statement preparation (accounting policy)    

63 � Financial statements prepared in accordance with Thai 
GAAP and the Accounting Profession Act B.E. 2547 and its 
presentation compliance with the Dept. of Business 
Development requirements 

  TAS 35 

64 � Non-compliance with the exempt accounting standards   

65 � Basis used for financial statement preparation e.g. historical 
cost, current cost, NRV, FV, PV 

  

66 � Application of accounting standards before the effective 
dates 

  

67 � Adoption of new accounting standards during the 
accounting period 

  

68 � Changes in accounting policy for the period   

69 Use of accounting estimate   TAS 35 

70 Employee benefits policy e.g. wage, salary, so on   Benchmark 

 Cash and cash at financial institutions     

71 � Definition of cash and cash equivalent    policy TAS 35 

72 � Restrictions or pledged as security for liabilities  notes 

73 � Disaggregation of cash on hand / at financial institutions (v)  notes Sutthachai 

(2006) 

 Temporary investments    

74 � Measurement basis used: cost or fair value models  policy TAS 40 

75 � Cost formula used e.g. weighted average  policy  

76 � Treatment of changes in FV of current investments   policy  

77 � Breakdown of investments by category  notes Sutthachai 

(2006) 78 � Fair value of investments if different from the carrying 
amount 

 notes 

79 � Provision for unrealized gain (loss) on investments  notes 

80 � Amount of dividends, gain (loss) from investments in profit 
and loss statement 

 notes TAS 40 

81 � Restriction or pledge as security for liability  notes 

 Trade accounts and notes receivable    

82 � Policy for allowances of trade and other receivable  policy TAS 11 

and  83 � Breakdown of accounts receivable: director, employees,  notes 
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related parties Ministerial 

Rules no. 7 

 
84 � Total amount of accounts receivable –original (if > 20% of 

total amount, breakdown)  
 notes 

85 � Amount of allowance for doubtful  notes 

86 � Commitments or pledge as security for liabilities  notes 

 Inventories    

87 � Valuation basis: lower of cost or NRV  policy TAS 31 

88 � Cost formula used: FIFO, weighted average, LIFO  policy 

89 � Breakdown inventories into e.g. RM, WIP, and FG at cost  notes Sutthachai 

(2006) 90 � Total amount of inventories at NRV   notes 

91 � Allowance for declining value of inventories  notes 

92 � Events leading the reversal of an inventory write-down  notes 

93 � The carrying amount of inventories pledged as collaterals   notes 

94 � If LIFO adopted, amount different from FIFO or average  notes TAS 31 

 Investment in associates, joint venture, and subsidiaries (see note 

1) 

   

95 � Accounting policy for investments e.g. cost or equity 
method used for investment in subsidiaries 

   

96 � Name of e.g. associates, joint venture or subsidiaries     

97 � Country that e.g. subsidiaries or associates originated from 
or operate 

   

98 � Type of business   Benchmark  

99 � Percentage of holding shares    

100 � Amount of investment at costs   Benchmark  

 Other current assets    

101 � Disaggregation of major items included in total amount (v)  notes  

 Long-term investments    

102 � Measurement basis used  policy Sutthachai 

(2006) 103 � Revaluation basis  policy 

104 � Breakdown into types: marketable and non-marketable  notes 

105 � Fair value of marketable investment (if any)  notes 

106 � Provision for unrealized gain (loss) of investment  notes 

107 � Details of revaluation of investments: frequency, date  notes 

108 � Pledge as security for liability   notes 

 Property, plant, and equipment     

109 � Measurement basis  policy Sutthachai 

(2006) 110 � Depreciation method  policy 

111 � Depreciation rate or useful life  policy 

112 � Revaluation basis  policy 

113 � Breakdown into groups: land, buildings, machine, 
equipment 

 notes 

114 � The carrying amount of PPE and  accumulated depreciation 
at the beginning and end of the period 

 notes 

115 � Movement in carrying amount of PPE: acquire, disposal and 
depreciation for the period 

 notes 

116 � Restriction or pledge as security for liabilities  notes 

117 � Commitments of the PPE acquisition   notes 

118 � Chang in estimates e.g. depreciation method, rates, and 
disposal expense 

 notes 

119 � Information about the revaluation of the PPE  notes 

120 � Others e.g. PPE held for sale  notes 
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 Intangible assets    

121 � Amortisation method  policy TAS 35 

and  

TAS 51 

122 � Useful life or amortization rate  policy 

123 � Brief description of how useful life is determined  (< 20 
years) 

 policy 

124 � Breakdown into groups: patent, copyright, license, 
franchises) 

 notes TAS 51 

 and 

Sutthachai 

(2006) 

125 � The carrying amount of intangible assets, accumulated 
amortization at the beginning and the end of the reporting 
period 

 notes 

126 � Movement in carrying amount of intangible: acquire, 
disposal, and amortisation for the period 

 notes 

127 � Change in estimates e.g. amortisation method and rates  notes TAS 39 

128 � Information about the revaluation of the intangible assets  notes TAS 51 

129 � Research and development expense for the period  notes 

130 � Others   notes 

 Other non-current assets    

131 � Disaggregation of major items included in the total amount 
(v) 

 notes Sutthachai 

(2006) 

 Bank overdrafts and short-term loans from financial institutions  notes  

132 � Disaggregation amount of bank overdraft and loans from 
financial institutions 

 notes Sutthachai 

(2006) 

133 � Information about bank overdraft and loans e.g. interest rate  notes 

 Other current liabilities    

134 � Details of major items included in the total amount (v)  notes  

 Other long-term/short-term loans     

135 � Amount of loans, details of loans in foreign currencies (if 
any) 

 notes TAS 48 

136 � Loan repayment term   notes 

137 � Interest rate and term of interest payment  notes 

138 � Collaterals  notes 

139 � Conditional agreements (e.g. financial  ratios, dividend 
payment) 

 notes 

 Leases/hire-purchase (lessee)    

140 � Amount of lease or hire purchase at carrying amount     

Benchmark 
141 � Deferred interest expense   

142 � Amount of current-portion   

143 � Details of lease agreement e.g. amount of lease assets and 
liabilities, term, and payment 

  TAS 29 

 Provisions    

144 � Policy for provisions  policy TAS 53-

37 145 � Amount of each provision (e.g. warranties for the product or 
for refunds policy) at the beginning and the end of the 
reporting period  

 notes 

146 � Movement in each provision for the reporting period  notes 

147 � Provision expense for the period  notes 

 Other non-current liabilities    

148 � Details of major items included in the total amount (v)  notes  

 Share capital and retained earnings    

149 � Nature and objective of appropriated retained earnings: legal 
reserves  legal and other specified reserves 

 notes TAS 35 

150 � Issuance of new share during the period  notes  
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151 � Dividend payment   Benchmark 

 Revenue recognition    

152 � Revenue recognition method of main income (e.g. sales, 
service, construction contract, real estate)  specifying 
starting and ending points 

 policy TAS 37 

TAS 49 

TAS 26 

153 � Other incomes: interest, rent, royalty, dividend  policy TAS 37 

154 � Disaggregate amount of revenues in sales, interest, royalty, 
and dividends (if material) 

 policy TAS 37 

155 � If stage of completion adopted, method to determine the rate 
of completion (construction contract and estate business) 

 notes TAS 49 

156 � Details of in progress contracts at the end of period: costs, 
deposit, and guarantee,   

 notes TAS 26 

 Costs of sales or services    

157 � Details of costs of goods sold, manufacture, or services (v)  notes  

 Selling and administration expenses    

158 � Details of selling and administration expenses  (v)  notes  

 Borrowing costs    

159 � Treatment policy for interest costs: expense or capitalisation  policy TAS 33 

160 � Amount capitalised during the period  notes 

161 � Method for determine the capitalised amount  notes 

 Corporate taxes     

162 � Policy for income tax (v)  policy Benchmark  

163 � Amount of current tax expense/revenue (v)  notes Benchmark  

164 � Details of income tax calculation e.g. tax rate (v)  notes Benchmark  

 Earnings per share    

165 � Profit (loss) used for calculation and  method  policy TAS 38 

166 � Number of weighted average shares used as a divisor   policy 

 Extra ordinary items    

167 � Details and information about extra ordinary items  notes Sutthachai 

(2006) 

 Research and development    

168 � Treatment policy for research and development expenditure  policy TAS 14 

169 � Amortisation of capitalised research and development costs  notes 

 Foreign currency transactions    

170 � Policy for translation of foreign currency transactions  Policy Sutthachai 

(2006) 171 � Basis of conversion of foreign currency transactions   notes 

172 � Treatment of gain/loss from foreign currency transactions  notes 

173 � Amount of gain (loss) from foreign currency translation in 
profit and loss statement and gross carrying amount of assets 

 notes TAS 30 

 Changes in accounting policies and correction of errors    

174 � Details of change in accounting policies: reason and effects  notes TAS 39 

175 � Details of errors: nature and effects  notes 

 Contingent liabilities    

176 � Details of e.g. liabilities from taxes    notes TAS 53-

37 

177 � Disclosure of litigation (if any)  notes  

178 Guarantee by the entity or by bank for the entity  notes TAS 35 

179 Commitments e.g. future rental payment  notes TAS 35 
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 Events after the end of the reporting period    

180 � Authorised date for the issuance of financial statements    notes TAS 52 

181 � Disclosure of non-adjusting events : nature and estimation 
of financial effect (if possible) 

 notes 

 Related parties (not required for non-public company)    

182 � Definition of related parties (v)  notes TAS 35 

183 � Nature of  relationship with related parties (v)   notes TAS 47 

184 � Name of related parties that the company has transactions 
with and outstanding balance (v) 

  notes Sutthachai 

(2006) 

185 � Disclose details of transactions with related parties e.g. 
trading assets, guarantees, financial support (v) 

 notes 

186 � Details of loans or trading transactions: e.g. interest rate, 
term of interest payment , loan repayment term, pricing (v) 

 notes 

Note. 

(1) Investment in subsidiaries is exempted from consolidation of financial statements 

(2) For the reporting year ended 2007, the accounting standard exemptions were the following: 

1. Cash flow statement       TAS 7 
2. Segment reporting       TAS 14 
3. Related party disclosure       TAS 24 
4. Consolidation of financial statements     TAS 27 
5. Investments in associates and joint venture     TAS 28 and TAS 31 
6. Impairment of Assets       TAS 36 
7. Disclosure of financial instruments      TAS 48 (TAS 32 & TFRS 

7) 
(3) The following items were excluded, resulting from initial survey and previous studies: 

1. Business combination 
2. Consolidated financial statements 
3. Investment in subsidiaries, associates, and joint venture 
4. Impairment of assets 
5. Debt restructuring 
6. Cash Flow statement 
7. Segment reporting 
8. Discontinued operation 
9. Financial instruments: presentation and disclosure 
10. Interim financial reports 
11. Accounting for investment company 
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A5.2 Balance sheet structure by industry 

Micro Small Medium 

Manu. Service Trading Manu. Service Trading Manu. Service Trading 

Current assets 

Cash and deposits 26.97 2.05 12.50 11.09 5.00 18.38 3.99 11.28 3.91 

Receivables, net - 0.01 0.94 10.31 4.21 22.13 23.68 14.67 12.85 

Loans to directors 9.03 2.12 43.24 7.03 6.44 27.00 0.92 4.08 12.20 

Inventories 6.39 - 11.73 13.33 0.39 19.44 14.57 0.78 30.84 

Development project 

costs - 34.42 - - - - - 44.71 - 

Other current assets 2.14 0.38 4.62 2.70 6.15 3.06 1.98 3.67 6.89 

44.52 38.98 73.03 44.45 22.19 90.01 45.15 79.18 66.69 

Non-current assets                   

Investments - - - - 6.27 0.49 0.02 0.38 4.67 

Loans to directors 13.64 16.63 13.59 4.49 12.76 2.89 1.11 4.09 1.81 

Property, plant and 

equipment, net 40.86 44.09 13.34 50.39 57.92 4.90 52.84 14.71 24.62 

Intangible assets - - - - - 0.65 0.14 0.84 0.23 

Other non-current assets 0.98 0.30 0.04 0.67 0.85 1.05 0.75 0.79 1.98 

  55.48 61.02 26.97 55.55 77.81 9.99 54.85 20.82 33.31 

Current liabilities                   

Bank overdraft/bank 

loans 3.30 58.55 3.54 6.03 3.89 8.65 13.50 6.68 28.54 

Trade creditors 1.39 0.09 0.65 4.70 4.24 14.80 18.25 21.22 23.75 

Current portion of 

leases - 0.02 1.62 1.07 1.78 0.36 0.32 1.30 0.04 

Loans from directors 5.81 31.46 24.10 7.89 6.26 6.75 0.42 4.33 3.09 

Other current liabilities 2.35 0.63 29.73 2.52 5.97 12.41 5.35 13.16 2.64 

12.84 90.75 59.64 22.20 22.14 42.96 37.85 46.69 58.06 

Non-current liabilities                   

Loans from directors 125.46 6.54 2.22 33.74 28.77 9.18 13.51 8.46 16.00 

Loans from banks - - - 15.64 8.81 26.86 6.84 9.76 1.17 

Leases - 0.05 1.11 0.90 3.77 0.31 0.24 1.63 0.17 

Provisions and cont. 

lias. - - - - - - - 0.05 - 

Other non-current lias. 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 1.94 0.00 0.14 13.80 1.47 

125.46 6.59 3.33 50.28 43.29 36.35 20.73 33.70 18.82 

Owner's equity                   

Share capital incl. 

reserve 118.89 31.71 117.53 58.94 52.93 68.47 34.35 11.52 16.84 

RE-unappropriate -157.19 -62.45 -80.50 -31.42 -18.36 -47.79 7.08 8.09 6.28 

Unreliased gain (loss) 

from revaluation - 33.40 - - - - - - .003 

-38.30 2.66 37.04 27.52 34.57 20.69 41.42 19.62 23.13 

Note. Size of entities is measured by turnover (in Thai Baht):  micro = an entity with turnover less than 1 million, 

small = an entity with turnover between 1 to 5 million, and medium = an entity with turnover more than 5 million  
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Appendix 6 Concepts and categories from interview data analysis 

Grid 1 Financial reporting regulations 

Concepts Categories Dimensions and 

Properties 

� Being a source of information for stakeholders of 
an entity 

� Providing a database of business information to 
public 

� Filing for what purpose 

Objective of statutory 
reporting 

Tax oriented  versus 
Users oriented versus 
Mixed  

� Require accounts’ preparers to graduate with an 
accounting degree 

Qualification of 
account preparers 

Quality financial 
information 

� No or weak enforcement by regulatory agencies 
� Only being fined if not compliant 
� Users responsible for evaluating quality of 

disclosure 

Enforcement of 
financial regulations 

Strong versus Weak  
 
Active versus Passive 
(role) 

Grid 2 Thai Accounting Standards 
Concepts Categories Dimensions and 

Properties 

2.1 Role of accounting standards   

� Adding credibility to financial statements 
� Develop accounting profession 
� Promoting financial management in business 

operations 

Role of accounting 
standards 

Benefits of high 
quality information 

2.2 Accounting standard exemption   

� Reducing costs of reporting  
� Too complex for non-public companies 

Objective of 
accounting standard 
exemption 

Costs of compliance 
 
 

� No negative effect in general 
� Had little effect on users of accounts of medium-

sized entities 
� Not reflect actual financial position of an entity 
� Feeling no relief by owners but accountants do   

Effect of accounting 
standard exemption 
 

Costs of compliance 
 
Quality of 
information 

2.3 Compliance with accounting standards   

� Costs to the entity 
� One set of accounting standards but applying 

differently 

� Likely to depend on size  
� Who audit 
� Industry type  

Level of compliance 
 
 
 
 

Fully compliant 
versus Partially 
compliant 

2.4 Change and impact of accounting standards    

� Often change  
� For what purpose 

Frequency of change 
in accounting 
standards 

Frequently versus 
Rarely 
 

� Difficult to understand and interpret 
� Burdensome for auditors and accountants, owners 

rarely aware  
� Unfamiliar by Thai accountants/auditors and 

education system 
� Need for training  
� Little effect on small entities 

Impact of change in 
accounting standards 
 
 
 
 

Large impact versus 
Small impact 

� Higher pay for a competent accountant 
� Consume more time and costs for preparation  
� Need of highly competent accountants to deal with 

it 
� Too much and unnecessary for small entities 

Costs of compliance 
with new standards 
 
 

Costs of compliance 
 
 
 
Size of entity 
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Grid 3 A simpler set of accounting standards for SMEs 

Concepts Categories Dimensions and 

Properties 

3.1 Potential impacts   

Might lose an opportunity to grow 
� Reducing burden of SMEs (burden reduction) 
� No complex transaction in SMEs, audit fee not too 

high 

Potential impact on 
preparers 
 
 

Cost of compliance 
 
Lower information 
quality  

� Worried with limited disclosure 
� Having other sources of information 
� Not concerned with unable to compare information 

with others 
� No effect on our lending or investment decisions 
� Measurement methods governed by our tax rules 
� Having impact on estate business 
� Increase costs of acquisition or merger 

Potential impact on 
users 

Large versus Small 
impact 
 
 
 
 

� Generating more tax benefits for government 
� Reducing good governance   

Potential impact on 
public interest 

Large versus Small 
impact 
 
 

3.2 Financial reporting criteria   

� Quantitative criteria e.g. turnover, assets, shared 
capital 

� Able to avoid from full reporting if using e.g. 
turnover or shared capital 

� Existence of stakeholders or users 
� Public accountability 
� Industry  
� Combining several criteria 
� Defining SMEs differently,  in practice 

Criteria for a separate 
set of accounting 
standards 
 
 

Quantitative versus 
Qualitative criteria 

3.3 Potential exempt topics   

� Fair value in agricultural business 
� Component approach in property, plant, and 

equipment 
� Consolidated financial statements 
� Deferred taxes 
� Employee benefits 
� Fair value accounting 
� Financial instruments 
� Functional currency concept 
� Government grant  
� Petrochemical industry 
� Impairment of assets 
� Related party transactions 
� Segment reporting 
� Requiring cash flow statements  

Accounting topics Recognition and 
measurement versus 
Disclosure and 
presentation 

3.4 IFRS for SMEs   

� Might not accept by tax authorities 
� No international influence 
� Least likely to have international trade or partners 

among SMEs 
� Limited resources in SMEs 
� No concern by business owner, if not increase 

costs of reporting 

� Smaller size of SMEs, compared to other countries 

Impact from the 
adoption of the IFRS 
for SMEs 

Costs of compliance 
 
Quality of 
information 
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3.5 TFRS for NPAEs   

� Costs and benefits and practitioners' ability 
� Reliability placed as a main characteristic 
� Providing information to financial providers, 

minority shareholders, and management 
� Heterogeneous in non-listed firms or SMEs 
� Suitable with Thai business context 

Basis for 
development of Thai 
accounting standards 
for SMEs 

Top down versus 
Bottom up approach 
 
Preparers’ versus 
Users’ benefits 

Grid 4 Business conditions 

Concepts Categories Dimensions and 

Properties 

4.1 Ownership structure   

� Incorporated to obtain tax benefit, good image, 
and limited liability  

� Owning and managing the business by a family 
member 

� Same set of shareholders and management 
� Filling up a number of shareholders to meet legal 

requirement  
� Limited number of shareholders 

Ownership structure 
 
 
 
 
Level of separation 
between ownership 
and control 

Family–owned-
business versus Non-
family-owned 
business 
 
Highly separate 
versus Not separate  

� More complex capital structure in medium 
business 

� Not aiming to be a listed firm 

Capital structure Debt versus Equity 
finance 
 
Internal versus 
External finance 

� More concerned with day to day operation  
� Owner-managed  

Operating style Owner-managed 
versus Professional-
managed 

4.2 Owners’ characteristics   

� No or limited accounting knowledge/background  
� Not separate personal and entity's assets 
� Perceived benefits derived from accounting 

information 
� Owners not read since no accounting literacy  

Level of accounting 
literacy 

High versus Low  

� Alert to tax rules, but not aware of duty of 
accounting and reporting 

� No impact of accounting requirements on their 
businesses 

Level of awareness in 
accounting and 
reporting 
requirements 

High versus Low  

� Clients rely on us 
� Owners know nothing in their financial statements 
� Pass duty of compliance to accounting firms 

Level of reliance on 
accountants and 
auditors 

High versus Low 

4.3 Complexity of transactions   

� Relevant accounting standards to SMEs are not 
complex 

� No complex transactions in our trading business 

Complexity of 
transactions 
 
 

Size of entity 
 
Type of business 
sector 

4.4 Accounting system   

� More complicated computerised system used by 
medium or large entities  

� Use an accounting package to prepare accounts in 
small business 

Type of accounting 
system 

Computerised versus 
Manual 
 
 

� Better skills of accounting firms 
� Lower costs  
� Turnover of internal accounting staff  
� Mostly used by smaller businesses 

Use of external 
accountants 

Cost of service 
 
Accounting expertise 
 
Size of entity 
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4.5 Tax influence level   

� Design accounting system based on taxes 
� Selection of accounting policies 
� Similarity and differences between accounting and 

tax rules 
� Under-overstated profits in accounting and 

reporting 

Level of tax influence 
on accounting and 
reporting 

Strong versus Weak 
influent 
 
 
 

Grid 5 Internal and external accountants 
Concepts Categories Dimensions and 

Properties 

5.1 Role of accounting and auditing firms   

� Contact with auditors  
� Dealing with regulatory agencies e.g. tax 

authorities 
� Inform clients about new regulations  
� Accounting, reporting, and tax consulting 
� Presentation of financial statements 
� Receive complaints about new regulations 

Role of accounting 
and auditing firms 
 
(extent of the roles) 
 

Statutory compliance 
versus Consulting  
 
Local versus 
International 
accounting or audit 
firms 
 

� Requiring guarantee from incorporated accounting 
firms 

� Risk of being fined 

Legal responsibility 
for accounting firms 

Fully responsible 
versus None 

5.2 Competency of accountants   

� Rating quality of accounting firms by tax 
authorities 

� Able to comply with accounting standards 
� Hiring accounting advisor 
� Lack of basic accounting skills 

Level of competence Poor versus Good 
 
Internal versus 
External accountants 

Grid 6 Financial statement audit 
Concepts Categories Dimensions and 

Properties 

6.1 Quality of audit   

� Competency of auditor 
� Large business hired big audit firm  
� Too many clients resulting in signing without a 

proper audit 
� Varying in degree of audit 
� Who audit (e.g. listed auditors or Big 4) 
� Select audit clients 

Confidence in quality 
of audit 

Less confident versus 
More confident 

� Same team with accounting firms 
 

Independence of 
auditor 

Dependent versus 
Independent 

6.2 Role and extent of audit    

� Adding credibility to financial reports 
� Filtering the data for government agencies 
� Keeping a job for auditors 
� Providing assurance for external parties 
� Verifying accounting records 
� Rarely see benefit from small company audit 

Function of financial 
statement audit 

Internal versus 
External purpose 

� No audit to reduce costs in smaller entities Objective of audit 
exemption 

Cost of compliance 

� Requiring audit from small businesses but varying 
the extent of audit 

� Two tiers of audit, in practice 

Extent of financial 
statement audit 
 

No audit versus Tax 
audit versus Financial 
statement audit (Non-
users’ perceptions) 
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� Requiring an audit (all users) 
� No benefit from audit, perceived  misstatement in 

accounts (banks) 
� Confident in the auditor's report depending on e.g. 

who audit and  previous concerns (venture 
capitalist) 

� Limited use and less reliant on the auditors’ report 
(tax authorities)  

Audit requirement by 
users  
 
 
Benefits of auditor’s 
report 

No audit versus 
Financial statement 
audit 
 
Not useful versus 
Very useful 
 
(Users’ perception) 

Grid 7 Costs and benefits of reporting 
Concepts Categories Dimensions and 

Properties 

7.1 Costs of reporting    

� Owners not perceived as burden  
� Received a complaints of reporting burdens from 

small businesses 

Costs of compliance 
(direct costs) 

Costs of compliance 
 

� No litigation risk resulting from insufficient 
disclosure 

Litigation risk from 
disclosure 
(direct costs) 

High risk versus Low 
risk 

� Able to compare financial information with others  
� Not want others knew their financial position  

Loss of privacy from 
disclosure 
(indirect costs) 

Loss of privacy 

� Competitors knew what you have on hands 
� Larger businesses quite concerned with it 
� No worry since owners themselves do not 

understand their accounts 
� Other entities also disclosed their information 

Loss of competitive 
advantage from 
disclosure 
(indirect costs) 

Loss of competitive 
advantage 

7.2 Use of competitor’s financial information   

� Ask suppliers about competitors 
� Checking financial information from Companies 

in Thailand Database 
� Compare the profit of entity with others for tax 

planning 
� Never use financial information of competitors 

Source of information  
 
 
 
 
 
 
Purpose of acquiring 
information 
 
 
 
 
Frequency of use  

Public record versus 
Private source 
 
Annual accounts 
versus Other types of 
information 
 
Taking as 
competitive 
advantage versus 
Other  purpose (e.g. 
tax planning) 
 
Often use versus Not 
used  

7.3 Benefits of reporting   

� Owners not expecting benefit from reporting (e.g. 
information for management or external users) 

� Using for loan application 
� Showing a corporate governance 
� Establishing financial standing and credit-

worthiness 

� Unjustified costs and benefits for micro entities 

Benefits to entity Provision of financial 
information for 
business decisions 
versus Other benefits  

Grid 8 Preparation and publication of financial statements 
Concepts Categories Dimensions and 

Properties 

8.1 Financial statement production   

� Produce accounts in a format laid out by 
Accounting Act 

� Using the same set of statutory accounts for tax 
filing 

Format of accounts  
 
(presentation) 

All purposed format 
versus Specific 
purposed format 
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� Not produce cash flow statement for statutory 
reporting 

� Only legally required reports prepared for filing  
� Cash flow statement prepared if banks require 

Set of statutory 
accounts 
 
(presentation and 
disclosure) 

Mandatory reports 
versus Voluntary 
reports   

� Not opt for complex accounting treatments  
� Availability of reliable accounting information  
� Select a policy convenient for us 
� Use a template for presentation and disclosure 

Selection of 
accounting policy and 
presentation 
 
(measurement, 
presentation and 
disclosure) 

Self benefit versus 
User’s benefit 

� No separation assets of owner and business 
� Operating even if accumulated losses over 

registered capital 

Reporting entity 
 
(recognition) 

Completely versus 
Partially separation 

� Correct unbalance figures of client's accounting 
records 

� Equity from directors if loans from directors  

Existence of loans 
to/from directors  

As a source of 
finance versus As a 
means to make 
accounts balance  
 
Preparers’ versus 
Users’ perception 

� Subject to liability disclosure  
� Required by a foreign parent company 

Disclosure of related 
party transactions 

Independent 
company versus 
Controlled by another  
company 

8.2 Financial statement users   

� Meeting regulation requirements 
� Filing corporate tax returns 

Purpose of  reporting Financial accounting 
versus Tax 
accounting 
 
Provision of financial 
information to users 
versus Compliance to 
regulations 

� Banks 
� Shareholders or owners 
� Owners as management 
� Tax authorities 
� Business contacts e.g. suppliers and customers 
� Other regulatory agencies e.g. BOI 
� Department of Business development 

Perceived main users 
of annual accounts 

External versus 
Internal users 

� Provide annual statutory accounts to suppliers or 
customers 

� Audit required by business partners 

Reporting to external 
users 
 
(business partners) 
 

Type of financial 
report 
 
Type of business 
 
Entity’s size of 
business partner 

 

� Annual balance sheet and profit and loss statement 
with an audit report 

 

(banks) 
 

Short-term loan 
versus Long-term 
loan 

8.3 Reporting to shareholders   

� Shareholders knew what going on in business  
� Participating in running a business by shareholders  

 

Access to business 
information by 
shareholder 
 
Role of shareholders 

Fully access versus 
Limited access 
 
 
Passive versus Active 
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� Cash flow report (i.e. cash receipt and payment)  
� Monthly balance sheet and profit and loss  
� Preparing annual accounts with further details of 

e.g. turnover 

Type of reports  
 
 
Frequency of 
reporting 

Management 
accounts versus 
Statutory accounts 
Monthly versus 
Annually 

� No requirement of audit  
 

Audit requirement No audit versus Tax 
audit versus Financial 
statement audit 

Grid 9 Use of financial information by management 
Concepts Categories Dimensions and 

Properties 

9.1 Management information   

� Have internal accounting staff Availability of 
management 
information 

Formal versus 
Informal  

� Owner having another set of accounting records 
for management  

� Budgets  
� Prepared cash flow statement for clients upon 

request 
� Monthly management accounts 
� Management reports e.g. turnover, stock, cash 

receipt and payment 
� Use personal experience as management 

information  

Type of management 
reports or information 
 
 
 
Frequency of 
management reports 

Management 
accounts versus Other 
management reports 
 
 
Daily versus Monthly 
versus Annually 

9.2 Entity’s financial statements   

� Financial statement analysis 
� Only interested in profit and loss statement  
� No use of annual accounts 
� More details available in management reports 

Uses and Usefulness 
of annual accounts 

Balance sheet versus 
Profit and loss  
 
Not used versus Very 
useful 

� Deciding on dividends and bonus 
� Estimating tax liability  
� Estimating next year sales and expenditure 
� Checking our financial position and performance 

for the year 

Purpose of using the 
entity’s annual 
accounts  

Types of business 
decisions 

9.3 Another business’s financial statements for 

business contacts 

  

� Public records of government agencies 
� Bank statements 
� History of payment 
� Proof of legal existence e.g. VAT registration 
� References from another business 

Sources of 
information for 
making decision for a 
business contact 
 

Financial statements 
versus Other sources 
of information 

Grid 10 Use of financial information by external users 
Concepts Categories Dimensions and 

Properties 

10.1 Bank loan officers   

10.1.1 Use of financial statements in lending 

decisions 

  

� Need verification  before using any information 
item 

� Rarely use statutory accounts since unreliable and 
misstated 

� Limited use; only selected items e.g. assets, 
turnover, accumulated loss 

� Still important but less than our compiled financial 
statements 

� Almost not useful for lending decision 

Use and usefulness  
for making lending 
decision 
 
Reliability of 
statutory accounts 

Not used versus Very 
useful 
 
 
Not reliant versus 
Very reliant 
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10.1.2 Use of other financial information for lending 

decision 

  

� Compiling financial statements or running 
projection 

� Running ratio analysis from compiled financial 
statements 

� More confident, compared to client’s statutory 
accounts 

Financial statements 
or projection 
compiled by bank 
loan officers 
 
 

Less versus More 
reliant, compared to 
statutory accounts 

� Checking cash flow from bank accounts 
� Internal records or accounts 

Internal accounts or 
documents of clients 

Loan to small 
business versus Loan 
to medium or large 
business 

� Bank's internal database, records, or reports e.g. 
industry information 

� Credit information report from National Credit 
Bureau 

� Discussion with colleagues or other clients 
� Internet and newspaper 
� Interviews with owners and staff 
� Published government statistics 
� Visits to company premises 

Other sources of 
information for 
making lending 
decision 

Business versus 
Industry versus 
Macro-economic 
information 
 
Financial versus Non 
financial information 
 
Publicly available 
versus Non-publicly 
available 

� Ability to repay loans 
� Assessing conditions surrounding business e.g. 

industry issues 
� Borrowers' character 
� Collateral largely necessary 

Lending decision 
criteria 

Collateral based 
versus Financial 
statement based 

10.1.3 Use of financial information in monitoring 

process 

  

� More monitoring with short term loan e.g. sending 
accounts annually 

� No requirement of loan covenant with financial 
statement information 

� Paying a site visit 

Monitoring loans by 
bank loan officers 

Short-term versus 
Long-term loan 
 
 

10.2 Tax authorities   

10.2.1 Use of financial statements in tax audit   

� Not reflect actual transactions 
� Analysis of financial statements for irregularities 
� Mainly use profit and loss statement and balance 

sheet 
� More details but difficult to read the accounts of 

large entities 
� Satisfied as an initial source; only a part of 

information needs 

Use and usefulness of 
annual accounts for 
tax assessment 
 
 
 

Not used versus Very 
useful 

10.2.2 Use of other financial information in tax 

audit 

  

� Experts' advice 
� Internal records and database 
� Internet e.g. entity's website 
� Other government agencies 
� Paying a site visit 
� Requesting additional information if irregularities 

are found 
� Credit information report 

Other sources of 
information for tax 
assessment 
 

Internal versus 
External information 
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10.3 Venture capitalist   

10.3.1 Use of financial statements for investment 

decision 

  

� Seeking deals 
� Due diligence by ourselves or external auditors 
� Approval by our board 
� Monitoring investee companies  

Investment process 
 
 
 

Investment process 

� Main source of financial information for initial 
stage 

� Analysis of financial statements 
� Limited disclosure and out-dated information in 

SME’s accounts  

Use and usefulness of 
annual accounts for 
investment decision 
 

Not used versus Very 
useful 

10.3.2 Use of other financial information for 

investment decision 

  

� Business plan 
� Internet 
� Discussion with colleagues 
� Experts' advice 
� Due diligence 
� A site visit 

Other sources of 
information for 
making investment 
decisions 
 
 

With recourse versus 
Without recourse 

10.3.3 Use of financial information in monitoring 

process 

  

� Monthly reporting from an investee company 
� Monthly visit to investee companies 
� Placing a condition of investment agreement with 

figures in financial statements 

Monitoring process  Monthly versus 
Annually reporting 
 
 

10.4 Credit information provider   

10.4.1 Use of financial information for credit report   

� Loans of individual or business entities having 
with financial institutions 

� Sent by our member e.g. financial institutions 

Input information 
 
(sources and type) 

Loans market versus 
Capital market 

� Summary all information received into a specific 
format  

� No analysis or modification 

Processing of 
information 

Personal loans versus 
Business loans 
 

� Summary history of loans and payment by 
individual or business entity 

Credit report Consumer credit 
report versus 
Commercial credit 
report 

� Members with a consent from the information 
owner 

� Information owners 

Users of credit report Financial institutions 
versus Information 
owners 

10.4.2 Credit scoring   

� Focusing on loan market  
� Factors used to compute the credit score 

Credit scoring on 
SMEs registered as a 
business entity 

Loan market versus 
Capital market 

 


